INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UMI®

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

.

University of Alberta

Structural and Functional Studies of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase

by



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Department of Biochemistry

Edmonton, Alberta Spring 2000

.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Weilington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-59978-7



University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author: Michael A. Joyce

Title of Thesis: Structural and Functional Studies of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Year this Degree Granted: 2000

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta to reproduce single copies of this thesis to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as herinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

ager

Michael Á. Joyce 9617-83 Avenue Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6C 1C1

1

Date submitted: Dec 21, 1999

Quote Page



B. Breathed

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommended to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled Structural and Functional Studies of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase submitted by Michael A. Joyce in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

A. Bridger

W.T. Wolod

Dr. W. T. Wolodko

Dr. M. N. G. James

Dr. B. Lemire

Dr.W. Gallin

Date: Dec 6, 1999

Abstract

Succinyl-CoA synthetase (SCS) catalyzes the reversible interchange of purine nucleoside diphosphate, succinyl-CoA and P_i with purine nucleoside triphosphate, succinate and CoA via a phosphorylated histidine (H246 α) intermediate. Two major themes have been investigated. The first theme was the folding of a thermostable form of SCS, and the second, and more prominent, was the investigation of the location of the nucleotide binding site and its implications for enzymatic catalysis.

To study the folding of a thermostable form of SCS, the enzyme from *Thermus* aquaticus was cloned and expressed. Examination of the folding of *T. aquaticus* SCS revealed that, although more stable than the *E. coli* enzyme, the value of $\Delta G_u^{H_2O}$ for *T. aquaticus* SCS was in the mid-range for mesophilic proteins, indicating that the stabilization of *T. aquaticus* SCS was due to a change in the dependence of $\Delta G_u^{H_2O}$ on temperature. Comparison of the unfolding and refolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS to that of *E. coli* SCS revealed that, although the equilibrium intermediates may be similar, the kinetics of refolding are very different.

Investigation of the nucleotide binding site in SCS began with the identification of two potential nucleotide binding sites in the β -subunit. These have been differentiated by photoaffinity labeling with 8-N₃-ATP, by site-directed mutagenesis, and by x-ray crystallography. Using 8-N₃-ATP as a suitable analogue for ATP, two tryptic peptides from the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit (an ATP-grasp fold) were labeled with 8-N₃-ATP. Furthermore, mutant protein with changes in the N-terminal domain (G53 β V-R54 β E) could be phosphorylated by succinyl-CoA and P_i but not by nucleoside triphosphate. Mutant protein designed to probe nucleotide specificity (P20 β Q) had a lower K_{m(app)} for GTP by over five times compared to wild-type SCS. Mutations in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit designed to disrupt one loop of the Rossmann fold (I322 β A, and R324 β N-D326 β A) had the greatest effect on the binding of succinate and CoA.

To determine the x-ray crystallographic structure of the enzyme with nucleotide bound, crystals of phosphorylated *E. coli* SCS were soaked in a series of different solutions successive experiments. The first experiment revealed only that the enzyme was dephosphorylated; and the successful experiment revealed ADP-Mg²⁺ bound in the ATP-grasp fold of the N-terminal domain of each β -subunit. Thus, the nucleotide-binding site is located in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit. The specific interactions of the nucleotide-Mg²⁺ complex with SCS were described and compared to other nucleotide-

binding proteins. Nucleotide binding in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit implies that there are two partial active sites ~ 35 Å apart, and that the H246 α loop moves between them during catalysis. A hypothetical model of the histidine-containing loop in the "down" position to interact with the nucleotide was constructed. In part to test this model, mutagenesis of a glutamate residue in each of the active sites was carried out, and indicated that a charged residue in proximity to His 246 α is required in both sites.

Acknowledgments

I am indebted to, and grateful for the help of both of my supervisors Dr. Bridger, and Dr. Wolodko . I would like to thank Dr. Bridger for providing resources and opportunities over the course of my graduate studies, and for allowing me to pursue my own direction in my investigations. I would like to thank Dr. Wolodko for his help and advice throughout my graduate studies, particularly for his careful inspection of manuscripts, his seemingly endless patience, and the carrot cakes.

I am grateful for the assistance and advice of everyone in the laboratory: Dr. Marie Fraser for teaching me crystallographic data processing, and refinement techniques; Ed Brownie for his advice and assistance with protein purification, and his relaxed attitude; the other graduate students, Dave Ryan, Darrin Bailey, and Chris Rochet, for scientific discussions, and for turning off gels late at night when I wanted to go home; and the undergraduate students, Jennette Vander Velde for her efforts at mutagenic PCR and Ziya Scaper for her charming presence.

I would also like to thank a number of people who have assisted me in my graduate work: members of my supervisory committee, Dr. Michael James, and Dr. Bernie Lemire for their guidance and advice during my graduate studies; Dr. Cyril Kay, Kimio Oikawa, and Les Hicks for their help in carrying out the circular dichroism, and sedimentation experiments; Dr. Bob Hodges, Brian Trippet, and Lorne Burk for their assistance with the mass spectrometry, and for allowing me to invade their laboratory to do HPLC; Jack Moore for protein and peptide sequencing; Jo Parish for writing the PLOTDIST set of programs, and for early-morning coffee; Perry D'Obrenan and Rita Witford for the DNA sequencing and oligonucleotide synthesis; and Roger Bradley for his photography work, and for finding me a corner to finish writing in; University Parking Services for price gouging, countless tickets in an empty parking lot, and numerous late-night towing experiences, including one on Christmas eve which was especially pleasant.

I would especially like to thank Dr. Richard Morgan whose advice in all matters was excellent, and interest in all subjects infectious. Dr. Morgan taught me to be curious about things simply because you were interested, that even small observations were at least interesting, and often the most informative observations. His influence is one of the major reasons that I have endeavored to do biochemistry.

I would like to thank my family and friends whose support, encouragement and social gatherings make life worth living. I would like to offer an apology to any members of the waterpolo team who may have caught a stray elbow after a failed experiment.

My most sincere and heartfelt thanks goes to my mate, Agnes Barabas, for her support and patience, and for putting up with many late nights and not enough attention.

My research was supported by a studentship from the Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research, and Walter Johns tuition scholarships and the resources in the laboratory were funded by a grant from the Medical Research Council of Canada.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Introduction	1
Part A. Succinyl-CoA Synthetase in Metabolism	2
Part B. Structural Organization of Succinyl-CoA Synthetases	8
Sources of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase	8
Subunit Composition and Quaternary Structure of SCS	9
Part C. Primary Structure of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase	10
Genetic Polymorphism of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase	10
Structural Organization of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase Genes	25
Part D. The Reaction Catalyzed by Succinyl-CoA Synthetase	28
The Specificity of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase for Substrates	28
The Reaction Mechanism of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase	29
Substrate Synergism	34
Conformational Changes Associated with Catalysis	37
Kinetic Measurements and Binding Constants	39
Alternating Sites Cooperativity	43
Regulation of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase	44
Part E. Structural and Functional Relationships of SCS	47
Folding of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase	47
The Crystal Structures of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase	49
Part F. Thesis Objectives	56
References	59

Chapter 2. Cloning and Expression of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase	66
Introduction	66
Materials and Methods	67
Section I: Cloning of Neurospora crassa SCS.	67
Purification of Neurospora crassa SCS.	67
Protein Sequencing of N. crassa SCS.	68
PCR of N. crassa Genomic DNA and cDNA Libraries.	68
Screening of N. crassa cDNA Libraries Using a Fragment of the β -subunit cDNA.	69
Purification of Antibody Specific for the α -Subunit of <i>N. crassa</i> SCS.	70
Expression Screening of N. crassa cDNA Libraries.	71
Section II: mRNA Expression Studies of Pig SCS.	71
Isolation and Reverse Transcription of mRNA from Pig Tissues.	71
PCR of Reverse Transcribed mRNA from Pig Tissues.	71
Cloning and Sequencing of the PCR Products.	72
Section III: Cloning and Expression of T. aquaticus SCS.	72
Cloning and Sequencing of the Translationally Linked Genes for the α - and β -Subunits of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	72
Expression of the Translationally Linked Genes for the α - and β -Subunits of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	73
Mutagenesis of the Start Codon and the Ribosome Binding Site of the α -Subunit Gene of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	75
Expression of T. aquaticus SCS from $pT7-7Taq_{ATG}$ and $pT7-7Taq_{RBS}$.	76
Purification and Refolding of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS from Inclusion Bodies.	77

Direct Sequencing of the PCR Product Generated from <i>T. aquaticus</i> Genomic DNA.	78
Independent Cloning of the <i>T. aquaticus</i> α - and β -Subunit Genes, and Their Assembly in an Expression Vector that is Not Translationally Coupled.	78
Comparison of the Levels of Expression of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS Subunits and Whole Enzyme when Cells are Grown at 22 °C and 37 °C.	82
Labeling of the T. aquaticus SCS with [³⁵ S]-Methionine.	82
N-Terminal Sequencing and Mass Spectrometry of the Subunits of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	83
Results and Discussion	84
Section I: Cloning of Neurospora crassa SCS.	84
Cloning a Fragment of the β -Subunit of N. crassa SCS.	84
Screening a cDNA library of <i>N. crassa</i> for the α - and β -Subunit Genes.	87
Section II: Expression of mRNA for the GTP-Specific β-Subunit of SCS in Newborn Pig Tissues.	90
Section III: Cloning and Expression of T. aquaticus SCS	92
Cloning and Expression of Translationally Coupled SCS Subunit Genes from <i>T. aquaticus</i> .	92
Mutagenesis of the Start Codon and Ribosome Binding Site of the T. aquaticus SCS α -Subunit Gene.	95
Purification and Refolding of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS from Inclusion Bodies.	96
Direct Sequencing of PCR Products from the T. aquaticus SCS Genes.	99
Independent Cloning and Expression of the Subunits of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	100
Expression of Active, Thermostable, and Soluble <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	102
Labeling of T. aquaticus SCS with $[^{35}S]$ -Methionine.	106
References	110

Chapter 3. Folding of T. aquaticus SCS	112
Introduction	114
Materials and Methods	116
Purification of T. aquaticus SCS.	116
Analysis of the pH Profile of T. aquaticus SCS.	119
Steady State Kinetic Analysis of T. aquaticus SCS.	119
Activity of <i>T. aquaticus</i> , <i>E. coli</i> , and Pig Heart SCS at Different Temperatures and Denaturant Concentrations.	120
Gel Filtration Chromatography of T. aquaticus SCS.	120
Far UV-CD of <i>T. aquaticus</i> Whole Enzyme and Isolated Subunits in Guanidine HCl.	121
Sedimentation Equilibrium Analysis.	122
Refolding of T. aquaticus SCS.	123
Correlation Between Relative Stability and Amino Acid Substitutions in Pig heart, <i>E. coli</i> and <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	123
Potential Ion Pairs in Pig heart, E. coli and T. aquaticus SCS.	124
Comparison of the Pig heart, E. coli and T. aquaticus SCS Amino Acid Sequences for Residues that Stabilize Secondary Structure.	126
Results	127
Characterization of the Quaternary Structure of T. aquaticus SCS.	125
Enzymology of T. aquaticus SCS.	128
Equilibrium Unfolding of T. aquaticus SCS.	129
Refolding of T. aquaticus SCS.	145
The Kinetics of Refolding T. aquaticus SCS.	146
Characterization of the Partially Folded T. aquaticus SCS.	149
Comparison of the Pig Heart, E. coli and T. aquaticus SCS Amino Acid Sequences.	153

Discussion	158
Equilibrium Unfolding of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS, and Comparison to <i>E. coli</i> SCS.	158
Thermodynamic Constants Derived from the Equilibrium Unfolding.	1 60
Kinetics of Refolding T. aquaticus SCS.	162
An Intermediate in the Refolding of T. aquaticus SCS.	163
Sequence Analysis of Three SCS Enzymes of Increasing Stability.	164
References	166
Chapter 4. Photoaffinity Labeling of E. coli SCS with $8-N_3-ATP$	170
Introduction	170
Materials and Methods	173
Photolabeling of <i>E. coli</i> SCS by $[\alpha - {}^{32}P]-8-N_3-ATP$.	173
Inactivation of SCS Activity by $8-N_3$ -ATP.	174
Determination of the $K_{m(app)}$ of SCS for 8-N ₃ -ATP.	174
Investigation of the Kinetic Relationship between $8-N_3$ -ATP and ATP.	175
Photolabeling and Mass Spectrometry of SCS Subunits.	175
Photolabeling of SCS by 8-N ₃ -ATP for Purification and Sequencing or Mass Spectrometry of Labeled Peptides.	176
Results	177
Photolabeling of SCS by 8-N ₃ -ATP.	177
Is 8-N ₃ -ATP a Substrate for SCS?	180
Does 8-N ₃ -ATP Compete with ATP for Binding to SCS?	183
Inactivation of SCS by $8-N_3$ -ATP.	183
Mass Spectrometry of SCS Subunits Labeled by $8-N_3$ -ATP.	183

Isolation of $8-N_3$ -ATP Photolabeled Peptides from SCS.	190
Discussion	
References	
Chapter 5. Mutagenesis of Residues in Two Potential Nucleotide Binding Sites in <i>E. coli</i> SCS	202
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Construction of Site-Directed Mutants in the β -Subunit of SCS.	206
Expression and Purification of SCS Mutants.	207
Steady State Kinetic Analyses of SCS Mutants.	208
Phosphorylation Reactions Catalyzed by SCS Mutants.	211
Results	211
Site-Directed Mutagenesis of Residues in the N-Terminal Domain of the β -Subunit.	211
Site-Directed Mutagenesis of Residues in the C-Terminal Domain of the β -Subunit.	219
Site-Directed Mutagenesis of Residues in Both Domains of the β-Subunit.	227
Discussion	232
References	235

Chapter 6. Studies of the ADP-Bound Form of SCS	237
Introduction	237
Materials and Methods	238
Protein Purification and Crystallization.	238
Soaking of ADP into Crystals of SCS.	238
Data Collection, Processing and Refinement.	239
Site Directed Mutagenesis of Glu 208 α and Glu 197 β .	241
Expression and Purification of SCS Mutants.	242
Steady State Kinetic Analyses of SCS Mutants.	242
Phosphorylation Reactions Catalyzed by SCS Mutants.	242
Results	243
Crystallographic Structures of SCS Soaked with ADP.	243
Modeling of the Active Site Loop into Site II.	249
Site-Directed Mutagenesis of a Glutamate Residue in Each of Site I and II.	256
Discussion	266
Crystallographic Structures of SCS Soaked with ADP.	266
Comparison of the ADP-Bound Form of SCS to Other Nucleotide Binding Proteins.	273
Modeling and Mutagenesis of E. coli SCS.	281
References	283

Chapter 7 Conclusions and Final Discussion	287
Summary	287
Folding and Stability of T. aquaticus SCS.	287
The Nucleotide Binding Site of SCS.	288
Significance and Future Prospects	290
Investigation of the Folding of T. aquaticus SCS.	290
Comparison of the Folding of Thermophilic and Mesophilic SCS.	291
The Substrate Binding Sites of SCS.	292
Comparison of the Catalytic Mechanism of SCS to that of Other Synthetases and Phosphotransferases.	292
Investigation of the Proposed Conformational Change in SCS.	293
Investigation of Residues Directly Involved in Catalysis by SCS.	296
Investigation of the Function of the Rossmann Fold in the C-terminal Domain of the β -Subunit.	299

Appendices

Appendix 1.	Data base Accession Numbers for SCS Subunits	304
Appendix 2.	Strains of E. coli	305
Appendix 3.	Diagram of Site-Directed Mutagenesis by Overlap Extension	306
Appendix 4.	Residues Used in the Structural Alignment of the Small Subdomain of the N-Terminal Domain of the β -Subunit of <i>E. coli</i> SCS with DD-ligase.	307
Appendix 5.	Residues Used in the Structural Alignment of the Large Subdomain of the N-Terminal Domain of the β -Subunit of <i>E. coli</i> SCS with DD-ligase.	308
Appendix 6.	Residues Used in the Structural Alignment of <i>E. coli</i> and Pig Heart SCS.	309
Appendix 7.	Residues Used in the Structural Alignment of Native E. coli SCS and the ADP-Soaked Models of SCS.	310

Table of Figures

Figure 1-1.	Metabolic pathways that utilize succinate or succinyl-CoA.	3
Figure 1-2.	Alignment of the α -subunits of SCS.	13
Figure 1-3.	Alignment of the β -subunits of SCS.	17
Figure 1-4.	Phylogenetic tree of the amino acid sequences of the α -subunits of SCS.	20
Figure 1-5.	Phylogenetic tree of the amino acid sequences of the β -subunits of SCS.	21
Figure 1-6.	Use of the binding energy of substrates by enzymes to achieve catalysis.	31
Figure 1-7.	Some of the resonance structures that are available to both phosphoguanidines and to phosphohistidine.	32
Figure 1-8.	Reactions of succinate, phosphate and CoA.	35
Figure 1-9.	Schematic representation of the conformational changes of the active site phosphohistidine.	38
Figure 1-10.	Kinetic schemes for SCS from E. coli and pig heart.	40
Figure 1-11.	Model for the regulation of expression of the genes for <i>E. coli</i> SCS.	46
Figure 1-12.	Ribbon diagram of the physiologically relevant tetramer of <i>E. coli</i> SCS.	51
Figure 1-13.	Close-up view of one active site of E. coli SCS.	54
Figure 1-14.	Superposition of the ribbon diagram for an $\alpha\beta$ -dimer of <i>E. coli</i> SCS with pig heart SCS.	55
Figure 2-1.	Cloning scheme for the cloning and assembly of the α - and β -subunits of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	80
Figure 2-2.	Sequencing the N-terminus of the subunits of N. crassa SCS.	85
Figure 2-3.	Sequence of a fragment of the β -subunit of <i>N. crassa</i> SCS.	86
Figure 2-4.	Western blot with antibodies to the α -subunit of rat liver SCS.	88
Figure 2-5.	Representative secondary screening of either N. crassa expression library or N. crassa cDNA library.	89

Figure 2-6.	PCR of reverse transcribed mRNA from pig tissues.	91
Figure 2-7.	Time course of expression of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS from the plasmids pT7-7Taq12 and pT7-7Taq13.	93
Figure 2-8.	Expression of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS from the plasmids $pT7-7Taq_{ATG}$ and $pT7-7Taq_{RBS}$.	97
Figure 2-9.	Refolding of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS extracted from inclusion bodies.	98
Figure 2-10.	Expression of the α -subunit and β -subunit of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	103
Figure 2-11.	Time course for the expression of soluble T. aquaticus SCS.	104
Figure 2-12.	Expression of soluble, active, and thermostable T. aquaticus SCS.	105
Figure 2-13.	Time course of degradation of $[^{35}S]$ -methionine labeled subunits and whole <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	107
Figure 2-14.	Quantification of the degradation of [³⁵ S]-methionine labeled subunits and whole <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	108
Figure 3-1.	SDS-PAGE analysis of the purification of T. aquaticus SCS.	118
Figure 3-2.	Initial evaluation of potential ion pairs in the α -subunit of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	125
Figure 3-3.	Determination of the quaternary structure of T. aquaticus SCS.	130
Figure 3-4.	The pH profile of the activity of T. aquaticus SCS.	131
Figure 3-5.	Hanes-Wolf plots for T. aquaticus SCS.	132
Figure 3-6.	Temperature profile of SCS.	133
Figure 3-7.	Denaturation of SCS.	134
Figure 3-8.	Denaturation of T. aquaticus SCS monitored by CD.	137
Figure 3-9.	Quaternary structure determination of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS in 0.9 M guanidine HCl, pH 7.4.	138
Figure 3-10.	Quaternary structure determination of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS in 1.8 M guanidine HCl, pH 7.4.	139
Figure 3-11.	Gel Filtration chromatography of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS in 1.8 and 3 M guanidine HCl.	140
Figure 3-12.	Separated subunits of <i>T. aquaticus</i> retain their native conformation in benign buffer.	142

Figure 3-13.	Denaturation of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS subunits monitored by far-UV CD.	143
Figure 3-14.	The refolding of <i>T. aquaticus</i> requires high concentrations of arginine and buffer exchange.	147
Figure 3-15.	Temperature and concentration dependence of the kinetics of refolding of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	148
Figure 3-16.	Temperature dependence of native and refolded T. aquaticus SCS.	150
Figure 3-17.	Hanes-Wolf plots for refolded T. aquaticus SCS.	151
Figure 3-18.	Gel filtration chromatography of refolded T. aquaticus SCS.	152
Figure 3-19.	Comparison of the amino acid composition of different SCS enzymes.	154
Figure 3-20.	Amino acid replacements in more stable SCS enzymes (pig heart to <i>E. coli</i> to <i>T. aquaticus</i>).	155
Figure 3-21.	Models of the dependence of free energy on temperature.	161
Figure 4-1.	Stereo ribbon diagram of an $\alpha\beta$ -dimer of SCS with ATP modeled into the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit.	171
Figure 4-2.	Modeling of ADP into the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS.	172
Figure 4-3.	Autoradiogram of SCS photolabeled at pH 6.4 and 7.8 as analyzed by SDS-PAGE.	178
Figure 4-4.	Saturation of photolabeling of SCS by $[\alpha-^{32}P]$ -8-N ₃ -ATP, and prevention of photolabeling by ATP and GTP.	179
Figure 4-5.	Photolabeling of SCS in the absence and presence of substrates.	181
Figure 4-6.	Plot of the initial velocity of SCS activity versus concentration of $8-N_3$ -ATP.	182
Figure 4-7.	Reciprocal plots showing the "inhibition" of SCS by $8-N_3$ -ATP with ATP as the variable substrate.	184
Figure 4-8.	Correlation of photolabeling of the β -subunit with inhibition of SCS.	185
Figure 4-9.	Reverse phase HPLC of SCS photolabeled by 8-N ₃ -ATP.	187
Figure 4-10.	Electrospray mass spectra of the subunits of SCS.	188

Figure 4-11.	Electrospray mass spectra of the subunits of SCS irradiated in the presence of a saturating concentration of $8-N_3$ -ATP.	189
Figure 4-12.	Purification of photolabeled peptides of SCS by Al ⁺³ affinity chromatography.	1 92
Figure 4-13.	Purification of photolabeled peptides of SCS by reverse phase HPLC.	193
Figure 4-14.	Electrospray mass spectra of tryptic peptides from photolabeled SCS.	194
Figure 4-15.	Ribbon diagram of one $\alpha\beta$ -dimer of <i>E. coli</i> SCS.	198
Figure 5-1.	Diagram of ATP modeled into the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS showing some residues that may interact with the nucleotide.	204
Figure 5-2.	Modeling of ADP into the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS.	205
Figure 5-3.	SDS-PAGE of purified mutants of E. coli SCS.	209
Figure 5-4.	Analysis of wild-type and mutant SCS by far-UV circular dichroism.	210
Figure 5-5.	Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for SCS with the mutation G53 β V-R54 β E.	212
Figure 5-6.	Time course of phosphorylation by NTP of wild-type and one mutant of SCS with changes in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit.	213
Figure 5-7.	Time course of phosphorylation by succinyl-CoA and P_i of wild-type and one mutant of SCS with changes in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit.	214
Figure 5-8.	Stereo view of the superposition of residues from the N-terminal domains of <i>E. coli</i> and pig heart SCS on the ADP from DD-ligase.	217
Figure 5-9.	Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for SCS with the mutation $P20\beta Q$.	218
Figure 5-10.	Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for SCS with the mutation I322 β A.	220
Figure 5-11.	Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for SCS with the mutation I322 β G-R324 β P.	221

Figure 5-12.	Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for SCS with the mutation I322 β A-D326 β N.	222
Figure 5-13.	Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for SCS with the mutation R324 β N-D236 β A.	223
Figure 5-14.	Time course of phosphorylation by NTP of wild-type SCS and mutants with changes in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit.	225
Figure 5-15.	Time course of phosphorylation by P_i and succinyl-CoA of wild-type SCS and mutants with changes in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit.	226
Figure 5-16.	Hanes-Wolf plots for protein with the mutations $G35\beta V-R54\beta E-I322\beta A$.	228
Figure 5-17.	Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for SCS with the mutations G35 β V-R54 β E-R324 β N.	229
Figure 5-18.	Time course of phosphorylation by NTP of wild-type SCS and mutants with changes in both domains of the β -subunit.	230
Figure 5-19	Time course of phosphorylation by P_i and succinyl-CoA of wild-type SCS and mutants with changes in both domains of the β -subunit.	231
Figure 6-1.	Stereo diagrams of difference electron density in the α -subunit.	244
Figure 6-2.	Stereo diagrams of difference electron density in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit.	245
Figure 6-3.	Stereo diagrams of electron density in the α -subunit.	246
Figure 6-4.	Stereo diagrams of electron density in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit.	247
Figure 6-5.	Superposition of native and dephosphorylated SCS around the phosphohistidine.	250
Figure 6-6	Nucleotide binding site of SCS.	251
Figure 6-7.	Stereo diagrams showing the coordination of the Mg^{2+} ion in the β -subunit of SCS.	252
Figure 6-8.	Superposition of native and dephosphorylated SCS around the CoA.	253
Figure 6-9.	Model of the His 246 α loop at site II.	255
Figure 6-10	. Hanes-Wolf plots for the <i>E. coli</i> SCS mutant E208αD.	257

Figure 6-11.	Hanes-Wolf plots for the E. coli SCS mutant E208aQ.	258
Figure 6-12.	Time course of phosphorylation by NTP of wild-type SCS and the Glu 208β mutant protein.	259
Figure 6-13.	Time course of phosphorylation by succinyl-CoA and P_i of wild-type SCS and the Glu 208 β mutant protein.	260
Figure 6-14.	Hanes-Wolf plots for the E. coli SCS mutant E197BD.	262
Figure 6-15.	Hanes-Wolf plots for the <i>E. coli</i> SCS mutant E197βQ.	263
Figure 6-16.	Time course of phosphorylation by NTP of wild-type SCS and the Glu 197 β mutant protein.	264
Figure 6-17.	Time course of phosphorylation by succinyl-CoA and P_i of wild-type SCS and the Glu 197 β mutant protein.	265
Figure 6-18.	Stereo diagram superposing the ADP-bound and native models of an $\alpha\beta$ -dimer to show the conformational shift.	269
Figure 6-19.	Changes in the vicinity of the Mg ²⁺ ion.	270
Figure 6-20.	Stereo diagram of the superposition of the ADP in SCS with that in DD-ligase.	272
Figure 6-21.	Stereo diagram of the superposition of the ADP in SCS with that in cyclic AMP dependant protein kinase	278
Figure 6-22.	Stereo diagram of the superposition of the ADP in SCS with that in Ribonucleotide reductase.	279
Figure 6-23.	Stereo diagram of the superposition of the ADP in SCS with that in p12 ras.	280
Figure 7-1.	Proposed mechanism of the attack of the thiol group of CoA on succinyl-phosphate.	298

Table of Tables

Table 1-1.	The Exchange Reactions Catalyzed by Succinyl-CoA Synthetase.	30
Table 1-2.	Apparent Michaelis Constants for Succinyl-CoA Synthetase.	41
Table 2-1.	SCS Activity During the Purification of Inclusion Bodies.	100
Table 3-1.	Thermodynamic Parameters for the Unfolding of <i>T. aquaticus</i> SCS.	144
Table 3-2.	Ion Pairs in SCS from Pig Heart, E. coli, and T. aquaticus.	157
Table 4-1.	Summary of Kinetic Parameters of SCS for ATP, ADP or 8-N ₃ -ATP.	195
Table 5-1.	Primers for Mutagenic PCR.	206
Table 5-2.	Apparent Kinetic Parameters of Wild-Type SCS Proteins.	215
Table 6-1.	Statistics for the Two X-ray Diffraction Data Sets.	240
Table 6-2.	Primers for Mutagenesis via PCR.	241
Table 6-3.	Refinement Statistics.	248
Table 6-4.	Kinetic Parameters of Wild-type and Mutant SCS Proteins	266
Table 6-5.	Equivalent Residues that Contact the ADP-Mg ²⁺ Complex in SCS and DD-ligase.	274

List of Abbreviations and Symbols

ADP	adenosine 5'-diphosphate
AMPPCP	β , γ -methyleneadenosine 5'-triphosphate;
ATP	adenosine 5'-triphosphate
ATPyS	adenosine 5'-O-(3 thiotriphosphate)
·ADPβS	adenosine 5'-O-(2 thiodiphosphate)
8-N ₃ -ATP	8-azidoadenosine 5'-triphosphate
cAPK	cyclic adenosine monophosphate dependent protein kinase
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CoA	coenzyme A
Da	Dalton
$\Delta G_{u}^{H} 2^{O}$	free energy of unfolding in the absence of denaturant
DD-ligase	D-ala:D-ala ligase
DTT	dithiothreitol
E _{260 nm}	molar extinction coefficient at the designated wavelength
E	activation energy
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
E-P	covalent enzyme-phosphate intermediate
E-succinyl-P	non-covalent enzyme with bound succinyl-phosphate
far-UV CD	far-ultraviolet circular dichroism
GDP	guanosine 5'-diphosphate
GTP	guanosine 5'-triphosphate
GuHCl	guanidine hydrochloride
[GuHCl] _{1/2}	concentration of GuHCl resulting in half maximal
	denaturation
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
IDP	inosine 5'-diphosphate
IPTG	isopropyl-β-D-thiogalactopyranoside
ITP	inosine 5'-triphosphate
k _{cat}	catalytic constant (turnover number)
K _d	dissociation constant
K	equilibrium constant
K	Michaelis constant
MOPS	3-[N-morpholino]propanesulfonic acid
mRNA	messenger RNA
NDP	adenosine or guanosine 5'-diphosphate
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
NTP	adenosine or guanosine 5'-triphosphate
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PDB	protein data base
P _i	inorganic phosphate
PMSF	phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
RNR R1	ribonucleotide reductase
rpm	revolutions per minute
PRR	proton relaxation rate
RT-PCR	reverse transcribed PCR
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride
SCS	succinyl-CoA synthetase
SDS	sodium salt of lauryl sulfate
Tris HCl	tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane hydrochloride
U	Units: µmoles of succinyl-CoA produced per minute
5'-UTR	5' untranslated region
3'-UTR	3' untranslated region
V _{max}	maximum rate of enzyme activity under saturating substrate conditions
X-gal	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl- β -D-galactopyranoside

Specific amino acid residues in given subunits of SCS are designated by the one or three letter code followed by the residue number and either α or β to indicate the subunit.

Abbreviations used in x-ray crystallography:

k	scale factor to minimize the difference between data sets
F _{o(native)}	structure factor amplitude observed for the native crystal
F _{o(soak)}	structure factor amplitude observed for the crystal after
	soaking
CL _(native)	phase calculated from the native structure
I.	individual measurement of an intensity
I	observed intensity averaged from all equivalent reflections
IF, I	observed structure factor amplitude
IF _e I	calculated structure factor amplitude
rms	root mean square
σ	standard deviation

Chapter One Introduction

In 1937, Hans Krebs proposed that the reaction of pyruvate with oxaloacetate to produce citrate led to the closure of the citric acid cycle. His hypothesis for this cycle was based on previous work, which had shown that succinate, malate, α -ketoglutarate and citrate were rapidly oxidized by muscle tissue during respiration. As well, the addition of succinate, fumarate, malate or oxaloacetate to muscle tissue stimulated respiration beyond that required for simple oxidation of these compounds (1). It had also been shown that succinate could be converted to fumarate, malate or oxaloacetate in that order. This sequence made up the four carbon dicarboxylic acid portion of the citric acid cycle. Martius *et al.* showed that citrate was rearranged to isocitrate, and subsequently decarboxylated to yield α -ketoglutarate (1). This sequence made up the tricarboxylic acid portion of the citric acid cycle, and accounted for the oxidation of the unification of the two halves of the citric acid cycle, and accounted for the oxidation of pyruvate by muscle tissue.

Elucidation of the reaction catalyzed by succinyl-CoA synthetase (SCS) began when it was observed that enzyme preparations capable of the oxidative decarboxylation of α -ketoglutarate to succinate also esterified inorganic phosphate (2, 3). Furthermore, these preparations produced inorganic phosphate from ATP when incubated with both succinate and CoA. Kaufman proposed that the oxidative decarboxylation of α -ketoglutarate took place in two steps with succinyl-CoA as an intermediate (4). Subsequently he found that the activity which catalyzed the formation of succinyl-CoA from α -ketoglutarate was separable from the activity which catalyzed the conversion of succinyl-CoA to succinate (5). These two activities were catalyzed by α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase and succinyl-CoA synthetase, respectively. Succinyl-CoA synthetase was shown to be responsible for both the esterification of inorganic phosphate if succinyl-CoA was provided, and the release of inorganic phosphate from ATP if CoA and succinate were provided (6, 5). Thus, the reaction catalyzed by succinyl-CoA synthetase was firmly established to be part of the citric acid cycle. SCS catalyzes the interconversion of the high-energy thioester bond $(\Delta G_{hydrolysis}^{o'} = -7.53 \text{ kcal/mol})$ in succinyl-CoA with the high-energy phosphoanhydride $(\Delta G_{hydrolysis}^{o'} = -7.29 \text{ kcal/mol})$ bond in nucleoside triphosphates (7), by the following reaction:

succinyl-CoA + NDP + $P_i \rightleftharpoons$ succinate + CoA + NTP

(where NDP and NTP are purine nucleoside di- and triphosphates, respectively).

Part A. Succinyl-CoA Synthetase in Metabolism

In respiring aerobes the reaction catalyzed by SCS in the forward direction (as shown above) is the substrate-level phosphorylation step of the citric acid cycle, which conserves the energy of the thioester bond as a nucleoside triphosphate, and results in the conversion of succinyl-CoA to succinate (Fig. 1-1 [I]). This is thought to be the primary function of SCS in most organisms (8, 9). Some primitive eukaryotes, which lack the reactions of a complete citric acid cycle, still use SCS in a manner analogous to its function in the citric acid cycle. Rumen ciliates and trichomonad flagellates lack mitochondria and metabolize carbohydrates by fermentation (10). In these organisms, organelles, which morphologically resemble mitochondria and are called hydrogenosomes, convert the pyruvate generated by glycolysis to acetyl-CoA. The high-energy thioester bond in acetyl-CoA is conserved by CoA transferase which transfers the CoA moiety to succinate, generating succinyl-CoA. The subsequent substrate-level phosphorylation of ADP is catalyzed by SCS (Fig. 1-1 [II])(10). Thus, the succinyl-CoA is recycled to succinate and the energy from the thioester bond of acetyl-CoA is ultimately conserved in ATP. These



Figure 1-1. Metabolic pathways that utilize succinate or succinyl-CoA. The reactions catalyzed by SCS are shown by the bold arrows. The roman numerals denote the following pathways: I, citric acid cycle; II, pyruvate reduction in hydrogenosomes; III, ketone body metabolism; IV porphyrin synthesis; V, methionine synthesis; VI, lysine synthesis. Adapted from Voet and Voet (7). The direction of the reversible reaction catalyzed by SCS has been postulated to be dependent on the ratio of the concentration of NTP to NDP in a cell or organelle, and thus this dependence and the direction of the reaction is indicated by the bold arrows and the appropriate nucleotide.

reactions are also used for energy metabolism in the mitochondria of Trypanosomastids, which are the first eukaryotes to diverge from the common eukaryotic lineage and retain mitochondria (11). The existence of the same metabolic pathway in mitochondria and hydrogenosomes supports the hypothesis that mitochondria and hydrogenosomes have a common origin (12).

In the reverse direction the reaction catalyzed by SCS is important in ketone body metabolism (Fig. 1-1 [III]). In mammals, ketone bodies such as acetoacetate and D- β -hydroxybutyrate are produced in liver mitochondria when acetyl-CoA accumulates in amounts greater than can be oxidized by the citric acid cycle. These ketone bodies are released into the blood and are catabolized by peripheral tissues. Some tissues, such as heart and kidney, use ketone bodies as their major source of metabolic energy. Other tissues, such as skeletal muscle and brain, increase their use of ketone bodies when blood glucose levels are low. The utilization of ketone bodies begins with the conversion of D- β -hydroxybutyrate to acetoacetate by β -hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase. The acetoacetate is activated by the transfer of CoA from succinyl-CoA by succinyl-CoA:3-ketoacid CoA transferase (CoA transferase) yielding acetoacetyl-CoA. A second molecule of coenzyme A is then added by thiolase yielding two molecules of acetyl-CoA which can be oxidized by the citric acid cycle (7).

High levels of succinyl-CoA must be maintained during ketone body metabolism (13, 14) because the K_m of CoA transferase for succinyl-CoA is 4.2 mM (15), approximately two orders of magnitude greater than the K_m of SCS for the same substrate (30 μ M) (16). Under conditions where ketone bodies are the major source of metabolic energy, and in the absence of any control on the activity of SCS, the breakdown of succinyl-CoA by SCS to make NTP would be greater than the use of succinyl-CoA by CoA transferase to activate acetoacetate . Thus, the citric acid cycle would eventually come to a halt due to the lack of acetyl-CoA, because succinyl-CoA is not available for the activation of acetoacetate by CoA transferase. It has been proposed that the direction in

which the reaction catalyzed by SCS proceeds is determined by the ratio NTP to NDP (17, 14). Since the K_m for the reaction catalyzed by SCS is approximately one (18), a high ratio of NTP to NDP will lead to the production of succinyl-CoA which can then be used by CoA transferase to activate acetoacetate. Thus, there appears to be an apparent contradiction: the reaction catalyzed by SCS is required to proceed in the forward direction (in the citric acid cycle) and also in the reverse direction (to supply succinyl-CoA for acetoacetate activation). This contradiction may be resolved by the simultaneous existence of two different SCS activities, one that is specific for adenosine nucleotides, and one that is specific for guanosine nucleotides. Thus, SCS specific for ADP/ATP (functioning in the citric acid cycle), will readily respond to the energy changes of the cell because the ratio of ATP to ADP varies about one depending on the metabolic state of the cell (see bold arrow in Figure 1-1 section [I]) (17, 14). Since the value of the GTP to GDP ratio in mammalian mitochondria has been estimated to be 100 or higher, a GDP/GTP specific enzyme would be expected to maintain the high level of succinyl-CoA required by CoA transferase during ketone body metabolism (see bold arrow in Figure 1-1 [II]) (17, 14).

Studies of the levels of citric acid cycle enzymes of *Trypanosoma brucie* suggested that the ADP/ATP-specific SCS is associated with the citric acid cycle (19). The life cycle of *T. brucie* consists of two dramatically different stages, one occurs in the bloodstream of the mammalian host, and the other in the gut of the insect vector. In the bloodstream, *T. brucie* is entirely dependent on glucose and cannot utilize fatty acids or amino acids because in this stage the parasite lacks a functional citric acid cycle. However, in the insect gut, glucose is scarce and the main energy source is amino acids (20). *T. brucie* has both an ADP/ATP-specific SCS activity and a GDP/GTP-specific SCS activity. Depressed levels of citric acid cycle enzymes, including the ADP/ATP-specific SCS activity, were observed when lysates of the bloodstream form of *T. brucie* were examined. In contrast, lysates from the procyclic form found in the insect gut revealed a functional citric acid cycle and elevated levels of ADP/ATP-specific SCS activity. The levels of GDP/GTP-specific

activity remain approximately the same in both forms of T. brucie (19). This is consistent with the role of the ADP/ATP-specific SCS activity in the citric acid cycle.

Studies with mammalian tissues have suggested that a GDP/GTP-specific SCS activity is responsible for the high levels of succinyl-CoA required during ketone body metabolism. In support of this, a correlation between a GDP/GTP-specific SCS activity and the utilization of ketone bodies has been shown in various tissues (17, 21, 14, 22, 23) For example, in rats, diabetic ketoacidosis can be induced by treatment with streptozotocin (22). During this condition, elevated levels of ketone bodies are present in the blood, and tissues such as the brain, which normally use glucose as an energy source, now use ketone bodies. There is a 5-10 fold increase in the levels of GDP/GTP-specific SCS activity when lysates of brain tissue from streptozotocin treated rats are compared to those from untreated rats (22). This is consistent with the role of the GDP/GTP-specific SCS activity in ketone body metabolism.

Succinyl-CoA is also an essential anabolic precursor in the synthesis of porphyrin, methionine and lysine (Fig. 1-1, [IV-VI]). This role is best illustrated by the observation that anaerobic organisms, which can not oxidize acetate via the citric acid cycle, still require SCS activity for biosynthesis. When *E. coli* is grown on glucose, the activity of the glycolytic pathway is high, and thus enzymes that play a role in energy metabolism would be expected to have high activity. However, there is a 10-fold decrease in SCS activity when *E. coli* is grown on glucose (24). Therefore, SCS is regarded as serving a predominantly biosynthetic role in enteric bacteria.

Porphyrins are metal binding compounds including heme, cobalamine, phycobilin, and chlorophyll, that are all synthesized from a common precursor, δ -aminolevulinic acid. This precursor is synthesized by the condensation of succinyl-CoA and glycine, liberating CO₂ and CoA in the process (Fig. 1-1 [IV]). Studies with mice concluded that a GDP/GTP-specific SCS activity was responsible for the elevated levels of succinyl-CoA required during porphyrin synthesis (25, 26). Administration of 3,5-dicarbethoxy-1, 4dihydrocollidine to the mice caused chemically induced hepatic porphyria, a condition characterized by failure of the negative feedback inhibition which normally regulates the porphyrin biosynthesis pathway. This led to increased levels of porphyrin precursors, and thus an increased demand for succinyl-CoA. Consistent with this, an increase in the levels of GDP/GTP-specific SCS activity was observed when 3,5-dicarbethoxy-1, 4-dihydrocollidine was administered to mice (26). This is consistent with the hypothesis that a GDP/GTP-specific SCS activity is responsible for the synthesis of succinyl-CoA used as a precursor of δ -aminolevulinic acid. In other studies, SCS isolated from soybean callus and *Rhodopseudomonas sphearoides*, a photosynthetic bacterium, was inhibited by protoporphyrin and hemin (27, 28). The negative regulation of SCS by the products of heme biosynthesis further solidifies the role of SCS in heme biosynthesis.

One of the precursors in the synthesis of methionine is cystathionine. In plants and bacteria, cystathionine is synthesized from homoserine and cysteine (7). The succinate portion of Succinyl-CoA is added to homoserine, liberating CoA, in a reaction catalyzed by homoserine acyl transferase. In the subsequent reaction the succinate is displaced by cysteine. Thus succinyl-CoA serves to activate homoserine for the attachment of cysteine to generate crystathione (Fig. 1-1 [V]). Succinyl-CoA is used to facilitate the ring opening of Δ^1 piperidine-2,6 dicarboxylate in the early stages of the synthesis of lysine (Fig. 1-1 [V]).

Recently, Johnson *et al.* (29, 30) have carried out a thorough study on the tissuespecific expression of SCS. They purified both ADP/ATP- and GDP/GTP-specific activities from various pigeon tissues, and found that only the GDP/GTP-specific activity was present in liver, and only the ADP/ATP-specific activity was present in breast tissue. Other tissues contained a mixture of the two activities: the ratios of GDP/GTP-specific activity to ADP/ATP-specific activity in kidney, brain, and heart were 7, 1, and 0.1, respectively. Tissues that were highly dependent on oxidative metabolism contained high levels of ADP/ATP-specific SCS activity, while tissues that utilized ketone bodies or played a predominately biosynthetic role, contained high levels of GDP/GTP-specific activity (30). This is consistent with the hypothesis that ADP/ATP-specific SCS participates in the citric acid cycle and GDP/GTP-specific SCS participates in ketone body metabolism and in biosynthetic roles. Thus, the combination of separate nucleotide pools and the nucleotide specificity of SCS alleviates the apparent conflict between the requirement for the degradation of succinyl-CoA (in the citric acid cycle) and the synthesis of succinyl-CoA for use in ketone body metabolism and biosynthesis (the bold arrows in Figure 1-1).

Part B. Structural Organization of Succinyl-CoA Synthetases

Sources of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase

SCS from a number of sources has been studied, (31-36, 28, 37-40, 22, 23, 26, 41, 30) but the highest yields of pure enzyme have been obtained from *E. coli* (42-46) and pig heart (47-49), and thus these enzymes are the best characterized ones. Initially, SCS was purified from *E. coli* grown on succinate as the carbon source (50). The development of an overexpression system (51, 52) has led to the production of sufficient amounts of *E. coli* SCS for characterization and for x-ray crystallography (53-55). Improvements in the purification of the GDP/GTP-specific enzyme from pig heart (56, 57), and the development of an expression system (58, 59) has also led to the purification of sufficient quantities for x-ray crystallography (60). The recent cloning of GDP/GTP- and ADP/ATP-specific SCS from pigeon (29) foretell the development of expression systems for these enzymes. Thus, sufficient amounts of these enzymes will be produced, and will allow for the examination of the basis for the differences in the nucleotide specificity. As has been discussed above, this is one of the major functional distinctions between SCS from different organisms and tissues.

Subunit Composition and Quaternary Structure of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase

Characterization of the quaternary structures of SCS has revealed that oligomeric structure is another major distinction of SCS from different organisms. All SCS enzymes characterized thus far are comprised of two subunits, designated α and β , with approximate molecular masses of 31 kDa and 42 kDa, respectively (9, 61, 58, 62, 29, 30). However, SCS with two different quaternary structures have been observed in different species, one from all gram negative bacteria that have been examined (63, 38, 64), and a second from all other organisms and eukaryotic tissues (48, 38, 39, 64, 65). The molecular mass of purified E. coli SCS had been estimated by gel filtration to be between 140 and 160 kDa (42, 43, 46), indicating an $\alpha_2\beta_2$ tetrameric enzyme. The existence of tetrameric E. coli SCS has been confirmed by cross-linking studies (66), and also by x-ray crystallography which showed that E. coli SCS was a dimer of $\alpha\beta$ -dimers (54, 55). Active enzyme sedimentation studies proved that the active species were non-dissociating α_{β_2} -tetramers (65). SCS from pig heart, on the other hand, has a molecular mass of approximately half that of E. coli SCS as estimated by gel filtration, indicating an $\alpha\beta$ dimeric enzyme (48, 56-58, 67). Active enzyme sedimentation studies showed that SCS from pig heart was a non-associating $\alpha\beta$ -dimer (65). This has also been confirmed by xray crystallography (60). The enzyme from other eukaryotic species is similar in size to pig heart SCS (38, 39), as is SCS from a number of gram positive bacteria (38, 64). Given the clear distinction between the species which have dimeric SCS and those that have tetrameric SCS, it is surprising that SCS from Trichomonas vaginalis has been reported to have a molecular mass of 150 kDa whereas SCS from Trichomonas foetus has a molecular mass of 70 kDa (41).

The functional significance of the tetrameric/dimeric quaternary structure is not known. Reasons for the formation of higher oligomers in multi-subunit enzymes include, formation of a shared active site, increased stability and solubility, decreased osmotic
pressure within the cell, and the formation of a functional unit (68). A dimeric form of E. *coli* SCS has been constructed by specific mutagenesis of residues at the tetramer interface (67). This dimeric enzyme had kinetic properties which were identical to those of the wild-type tetrameric enzyme (67). Thus, the tetrameric quaternary structure is not required *per* se for catalysis. It is possible that the tetrameric structure is required for the increased stability of *E. coli* SCS. In support of this idea, it was noted by Bailey *et al.* (67) that the dimeric form of *E. coli* SCS was somewhat less stable and less soluble than the wild-type enzyme.

Part C. Primary Structure of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase

Genetic Polymorphism of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase

The large number of amino acid sequences of different SCS now available permits the examination and comparison of the primary structures of SCS in order to determine evolutionary relationships. Moreover, such comparisons often provide clues as to the basis for, and significance of, structural and functional differences between SCS enzymes. The genes encoding SCS have been characterized from a number of sources. Genome sequencing projects have contributed greatly to the number of known sequences of SCS (69-82). An alignment of the deduced amino acid sequence of various SCS is shown in Figure 1-2 for the α -subunits, and in Figure 1-3 for the β -subunits. These alignments were done initially with the PIMA multiple sequence alignment program (83, 84) and subsequently improved manually. The data base accession numbers for each sequence are given in Appendix 1. Three sequences have not been included in this alignment, the genes from Synechocystis sp., the α -subunit gene of Pyrococcus horikoshii and a second α subunit gene from E. coli. These sequences are much more divergent than the other SCS sequences, and they do not contain the active site histidine at the position equivalent to 246 (using the E. coli numbering system). Although they are similar to other SCS genes,

they are not likely to function in a manner similar to the well characterized species of SCS, and may represent pseudo-genes or other activities entirely. Thus, comparison of these sequences to the other SCS sequences is not likely to yield productive information because these genes are no longer subject to evolutionary pressure. The corresponding secondary structure of *E. coli* SCS (derived from the x-ray crystallographic structure of *E. coli* SCS) is also noted in Figures 1-2 and 1-3. The position of an amino acid located in a loop on the surface of the protein is denoted in red. Similar to other proteins, insertions and deletions of amino acids most often occur in these surface loops.

Figures 1-4 and 1-5 show dendograms for the α - and β -subunits, derived from these sequence alignments using the ClustalX (85) and TREEVIEW (86) programs. The length of the lines joining the different species is proportional to the number of differences between SCS enzymes. The α - and β -subunits fall into three major groups that correspond to the taxonomic domains, eubacteria, archaebacteria, and eukaryotes. The majority of the eukaryotic sequences have extensions at the N-terminus, which are most likely mitochondrial signal sequences. In the sequence alignments, the segregation of the three groups is most obvious in the β -subunit, where there is a seven residue insertion in the sequences from eukaryotes, and a separate seven residue deletion in the sequences from archaebacteria. The SCS amino acid sequences from three species, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Streptomyces coelicolor, and Aquifex aeolicus 2, do not segregate into the group that corresponds to their taxonomic group, but align in the group corresponding to the archaebacteria. There are examples of other proteins from Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Streptomyces coelicolor whose amino acid sequences align within the archaebacterial domain (87, 88). The similarity between the primary structure of SCS from the two mesophilic parasitic eubacteria, and that from thermophilic archaebacteria may be due to the relatively high G+C content of the genomes of these two organisms (89, 80). It is thought that the high G+C content of the genomes of thermophilic organisms is due to the required increase in the melting point of their DNA. The increased G+C content is reflected

Figure 1-2. Alignment of the amino acids of the α -subunits of SCS. Amino acid positions that are 85% identical over all species are highlighted in pink, and those which have 85% similarity, if conservative substitutions are allowed, are highlighted in blue. The allowed substitutions are: E or D; K or R; S or T; F Y or W; M L I or V. The abbreviations are: ECOLI, Escherichia coli; HAEIN, Haemophilis influenzae; COXBU, Coxiella brunetii; RICPR, Rickettsia prowazekii; AQUAE, Aquifex aeolicus; BASCU, Bacillus subtilis; CHLTR, Chlamydia trachomatis; MYCTU, Mycobacterium tuberculosis; STRCO, Streptomyces coelicolor; ARCFU, Archaeoglobus flugidus; METJA, Methanococcus jannachii; METTH, Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum; THEAQ, Thermus aquaticus; THEFL, Thermus flavus; Malate, malate thiokinase from Methylobacterium extroquens; PIG108/57, pig heart isoforms PH108 or PH57; RAT, rat liver; BIRD-A/G, ATP-specific pigeon breast or GTP specific pigeon liver, (note: these sequences are the same for this subunit); CAEEL, Caenorhabditis elegans; ARATH, Arabidopsis thaliana; DICDI, Dictyostelium discoiduem; SACCE, Saccharomyces cerevisiae; SCHPO, Schizosaccharomyces pombe; TRIVA, Trichomonas vaginalis; CIT-HU, human ATP citrate lyase; CIT-SO Sordaria macrospora ATP citrate lyase. Data base accession numbers are listed in Appendix 1. The sequences were obtained from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI @ www.ncbi.nlm.nin.gov). The alignment was initially done using the PIMA program (83, 84), and then adjusted manually. The secondary structure from E. coli SCS (55) is indicated. α -helix is denoted by an 'a', β -sheet by a 'b', a 3₁₀ helix by a '3', and turns by 'T'. Positions shown in red indicate residues in exposed loops.

2.	Struct					TITTITTaaaaaT '	Essessesses	25
1	ECOLI					-MSILIDANTAVICO	FIGSOGIFISEDAL	29
2	HAEIN					-MAILIDENTRYICO	GETIGGOGTPHSEOAL	29
3	COLEU					-MSILIDRETRYLOD	GPTGKQGTTHSEQAI	29
4	RICPR					-MAILINKKERVICE	GETTOSOGITHSEDAL	29
2	AQUAEL					-MALLVNKUURVVVQ	GUTGRUGSPHARQUR	29
7	CHLIR					-MLELLSKOEPETTO	GITGKAGSFHITIOCV	29
-								
8	MYCTU				ти	HMSIFLSRDHWIVQ	GITGSENTVHTARML	32
9	STRCO					-MAIYLINESKULVO	GARGAEGARATTREML	29
10	ARCPUL					-MATLVDENERVIVO	GTIGE COSCONNEL	_3∡ 29
12	MERTA				MVLR	DESCLIPTION	GITGROGSPHTCOL.	34
- 13	METTH				MRG	SIMILLDEDERCLVO	GITIGKOGSPHITROML	33
14	THEAQ					MILVNRETRVLVQ	GITTEREDGOPHTKOML	28
15	THEFL	*********				VILVNRETRVLVQ	GILIGREGOPETKOML	28
16	Malate					-WOILVIDERGISTING	GUUGDKGIWHAKOMI	28
17	PTC108	MA908921 A	ANTLISPETIONS	TRN	CSVTAS	RELATION	GENERAL SOCIET	63
18	PIGS7	ALESSERM	AARLLSRSFLLOONG	IRH	CSYTAS	RELYVERNERVICE	GFTCKOGTFRSOOAL	63
19	RAT	MV9GS9GLA	AARLLSRTPLLOONG	IRH	GSYTAS	RIGNIYIDKWIKVICO	GFTGKQGTTHSQQAL	63
20	BIRD-A				CSYTAS	RIGHLYISKNERVICO	GETGROOTPHSQQAL	36
21	BIRD-G				CSYTAS	HANLYISKNIKVICO	Gengevontheodyr	36
22	CAPPELI 2	MLS	QUIARNARTLUNGAA	1779	KFINST	INNUMBER OF STREET	GETGRUGITEGRUM.	55
24	ARATHI	LKOPCLORSROPSDL	FATFAAAAAARORSA	LSLHWSLAPS	GOLLRL	LROVEVENNERVICO	GITIGRAGITANTEDAL	77
25	ARATH2	MSROVARL	IGSLSSKARRCST	GGSEVFPSCQSL	TSLTOSRSFASDPHP	PAAVEVERNERVLCO	GITGINGITHIEQAL	78
26	DICDI		ISA-GILARN	FG	KRFFST	KPSVLINKNIKVICO	GFTGNQGTFHSKQAI	48
27	SACCE	MR	STVSKASLICICRHFH	RES	IPYDKT	IKNLLLPKDIKVIFQ	GETGKQGITHASISQ	57
28	SCHPO	MERIOTTLITSLR	RFSSSSQLKN	SK	SLYEUT	IPNLMINSDERVIPO	GETGROOTPHACHAM	- 61
29	TOTOT				MLSSSFERMUN	OPLIFIC TONDARY TO	GT-GNOGODINGATINK	40
31	TRIVAL				MLACDESRNLH	KPLLFIDKDERVVIO	GI-GNOGOFISRLAR	40
32	AQUAE2			MAKSLLFITSF	LKPRYNKPIMERNMN	VGTKYLNDKIRIIVV	GITGREASOWTESE	A 57
- 33	CIT-HU				RSLQGR	T -TLFSRHTAIVH	GNOmQGHLDPDYVC	515
34	CIT-SO				RPLSPL	PA HALFNERURCEVY	GLQ.QGALDEDFIC	80
34	CIT-SO Struct	aTIbbbbbFFFFF		hbbhTasaasaaa	TTDDDDJTTT333aaa	A HALFNENTREFVY	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC	80
34	CIT-SO Struct	aTTbbbbbbTTTTT		bbbbTTaaaaaaat	TTDDDDTTT333aaa	aaaaaaTTTTTbbbb	CLO-QCHLDFDFIC	80
34 2. 1	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI	aTTEEDEEDETTTTTT	ToobTT	bbbbTTaasaasaat	TTDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIWBAPFCO	A HALFNERINGFVY	TTTTTBaaaaaaa TTTTTBaaaaaaaa INGIPILMLTVK	80 111 109
34 2. 1 2	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN	aTTbbbbbbTTTTTT AYSZINANGAVTRONG AYSQULAGAVSRANGG RWXYMAGAVTRONG	TDODTT GTTHLG GTSHLG	bbbbttassassast EPVENTVRENVAATG EPVENTVRENVAATG EPVENTVRENVAATG	TTDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCKO VIAVIYVBASFCKO ADAMTERAPFCKO	A HALFNEKIRCFVY AGAGGGATTTTTTDDDD SILEAIDAGHCLEIT ALIEAIDAGHCLEIVC SILEANDAGHCLEVC	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTITTTBasaasaa IJBGIPTIDHLTVK IJBGIPTIDHLVK IJBGIPTIDHLVK	80 111 109 109
34 2. 1 2 3 4	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXEU RICPR	ATTEEDEDEDETTTTT ANGUNAGATRONG ANGUNAGATRONG ENGUNAGATRONG	TDODTT GTTHLG GTTHLG GQSHLG GRTHLN	bbbbttassassat Leventyrenvaatg Leventyrenvaatg Leventyrenverts Leventyrenverts Leventyrenverts	TTDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCID VTATVIYVBAPFCID ADAULFVBAPFCID ADAULFVBAPFCID ANASVITVVBAPFCID	A HALFNEKIRCFVY AAAAAATTTTTTDDDD SILLAIDAGIGLLIT AI DANDAGIGLIVC SILLAIDAKDEVVVC	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTITTTBAAAAAAA ITEGIPTLDHLTVK ITEGIPTLDHLEVK ITEGIPVLDHLEVK	80 111 109 109 109
34 2* 1 2 3 4 5	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXEU RICPR AQUAEL	ATTEDEDEDETTTTT ATGENINGSVTRONG ANGENINGSVTRONG ENGLINGSVTRONG ANGENINGSVTRONG ENGLINKSSVTRONG	CITHLG GITHLG GISHLG GHTHLN GMEVEG	DDDDTTaaaaaaaa LEVENTVRENVAATG LEVENTVRENVAATG LEVENTVRENVERTS LEVENTVRENARTG LEVENTVRENARTG	TTEDEDETTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCCO VTAVVIYVBASFCCO ADAGUTYVBASFCCO ANASVIYVPGFGAD ANCSLIPVPAPFAD	A HALFNEKIRCYY AABAAATTTTTDDDD SILEAIDAGUCLCIT AIIEAIDAGUCLCIVC SILEAIDAGEVVC AIVEADAGEVVC	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTITTTBAAAAAAA ITEGIPTLDHLTVK ITEGIPTLDHLEVK ITEGIPVLDHLEVK ITEGIPVLDHIKVK	80 111 109 109 109
34 2. 1 2 3 4 5 6	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXEU RICPR AQUAEI BASCU	aTT5555557TTTTT ANGELINGAVTRONG ENGLUNGAVTRONG ENGLUNAGAVTRONG ENGLUNAGAVTRONG ENGLUNAGAVTRONG ENGLUNGAVTRONG	TEDEDTT GTTHLG GQSHLG GHEVBC GHEVBC	DDDDTTaaaaaaaa LEVENTVREEVAATG LEVENTVREEVAATG LEVENTVREEVESTS LEVENTVALEVAKTG VEVENTVALEVACTG	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCCD VTATVIXVBAPFCCD ADAMEFVBAPFCCD ANASVIYVBAPFAD ANASVIYVBAPFAD ANASVIYVBAPFAD	A HALFNEKTELYV aaaaaaTTTTTDDDD SILEAIDAGIKLEIT AI EAIDAGIKLEIT SILEAIDAGIKLEIT SILEAIDAGEKVU AIVEALDAKIELAVC AIMEVUAELDAKIC	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTBaaaaaaa ITBGIPTLDHLTVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHLKVK ITBEHPVLDNVKVK	80 111 109 109 109
34 2. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXBU RICPR AQUAEI BASCU CHLTR	aTTEDEDEDE/TTTTTT ANGINAMOGVTRONG ENGINAMOGVTRONG ENGINAMOGVTRONG ENGINAMOGVTRONG ENGINAMOGVTRONG ANGENEVOGVTRONG ANGENEVOGVTRONG	TbbbTT GTTHLG GQSHLG GMEVEG GEQFLD GEQFLD	DDDJTTasaasaaaT LEVENTVREDVAATG LEVENTVREDVAATG LEVENTVREDVENTG LEVENTVREDVETS LEVENTVREDVRETG LEVENTVREDVRETG LEVENTVREDVRETG	TTEDEDOTTT333aaa ATASVIYVPAPFCID VTATVIYVPAPFCID ADAMMIFVPAPFCID ANASVIYVPAPFAAD ANISLIFVPAPFAAD CRASHIFVPPPFAAE	A HALFNEKIRCYY aaaaaaTTTTTDDDD SILEAIDAGIKLIIT AIIEAIDAGIKLIIT SILEAIDAGIKLIIK SILEAIDAGEKKU SILEAIDAGEKKU AIVEALDAGELIKU AIMEAVDAELDIKIC	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTaaaaaaaa ITEGIPTLDMLTVK ITEGIPTLDMLKVK ITEGIPVLDMLEVK ITEGIPVLDMLKVK ITEGIPIKDMLEVA	80 111 109 109 109 109 109
34 2. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXEU RICPR AQUAEL BASCU CHLTR	aTTEDEDEDEDTTTTTT AMOZENGAGOVTRORG AMOZENGAGOVTRORG AMOZENGAGOVTRORG EMOZENGAVTRORG EMOZENGAVTRORG AMOZENFUGAVTRORG EMOZENFUGAVTRORG RAGENFUGAVTRORG RAGENFUGAVTRORG	TbbbTT GTTHLG GTTHLG GSILG GHTHLN GEQFLD GEQFLD GEQFLD	bbbbttaaaaaaat Leventyreavaatg Leventyreavaatg Leventyreaventg Leventyreaventg Leventyreaventg Leventyreaventg Leventyreaventg Leventyreaventg Leventgaaa	TTDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCO VTAVIAVBAPFCO ADAMEFVBAPFCO ANASVIYVBAFFAA ANASVIYVBAPFAAD CRASHIFVBPFFAAE ADVSI IFVPPFFAAE	A HALFNEKIREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTDDDD SILJAIDAGIKLIIT AIIBAIDAGIKLIIT AIIBAIDAGIEVVK AIVBALDAGIEVVK AIVBALDAGIELIVK AIMBANDAGIELIVK AITBAIDAGIELIVK	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	80 111 109 109 109 109 109 109
34 2. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXBU RICPR AQUAEI BASCU CHLTR MYCTU STRCO	aTTEEDEDEDE/TTTTTT ANGENINGGVTRONG ANGENINGGVTRONG ANGENINGGVTRONG EXIGENINGGVTRONG EXIGENINGGVTRONG EXIGENINGGVTRONG RAGEDEVINGGVNARIA AMGEDVINGGVNARIA	TbbbTT GTTHLG GTTHLG GSSHLG GHTHLN GEOFLD GOFLD GOTLTHEDROGRLLIK GRTVDFDRNT	bbbbttaaaaaaat LEVENTVREIVAATG LEVENTVREIVAATG LEVENTVREIVANTG LEVENTVREIVARTG LEVENTVREIVATG LEVENTVREIVATG LEVENSVREILERTG VEVENTVRSVREILERTG	TTDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVTYVBAPFCKO VTATVTYVBAPFCKO ANASVTYVBASFCKO ANASVTYVBASFAD ANASVTYVBAPFAD CRASHIFVBPFFAAE ADVSLIFVPPFFAAE ADVSLIFVPPFFAAE	A HALFNEKIRCPVY ABAGAGATTTYTDDDD SILEAIDAGIKLIIT AIIEAIDAGICLIVC SILEAIDAGICLIVC SILEAIDAGICLIVC AIVEADAGICLIVC AIMENDARICLIVC AIMENDARICLIVC AIMENDARICLIVC	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTITTTBAGGAGGGG ITEGIPTIONLIVK ITEGIPTIONLEVK ITEGIPVIONLEVK ITEGIPVIONKKK ITEGIPVIONKKK ITEGIPVIOTAVAN ITEGIPVIOTAVAN ITEGIPVIOTAVAN	80 1111 109 109 109 109 109 109 109
34 2. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXEU RICPR AQUAEI BASCU CHLTR MYCTU STRCO ARCFUI	ATTEBEBBB ATTEBEBBB ANGENGGATRONG ANGENMIGATRONG ANGENMIGATRONG ANGENMIGATRONG ANGENMIGATRONG ANGENVIGATRONG ANGENVIGATRONG DIGENVIGATRONG DIGENVIGATRONG	TbbbTT GTTHLG GTSHLG GSSHLG GHTHLN GHTHLN GEQFLD GTTVTHEDKGGRLIK GRTVDFDNRT GSEVHC	bbbbttassassat LEVENTVRENVAATG LEVENTVRENVENTG LEVENTVRENVENTG LEVENTVAENVRETG LEVENTVAENVRETG LEVENTVAENVRETG LEVENSVREIGERTG UPVIRGSVREIGERTG UPVIRGSVREIGERTG	TTDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIXVBAFCO VTATVIXVBAFCO ANASVIXVPSASCO ANASVIXVPGFAAD ANASVIXVPGFAAD ANASVIXVPPGFAAD ANASVIXVPAPFAAD CRASHIFVPPTFAAD ADVXVPVPPAFAAD ADVXVPVPPAFAAD ADVXVPVPPAFAAD	A HALFNEXIBLYY AGAGAGATTTYTDDDD SILEAIDAGHCLIT AIIBAIDAGHCLIT SILEAIDAGHCLIY SILEAIDANGELYYC AIVEADAGHCLIYC AIFEAEDAGHCLIYC AIFEAEDAGHCLIYC AIFEAEDAGHCLIYC	CLO-COLDEDFIC TTITTEAAAAAAA ITEGIPTIDHLTVK ITEGIPVIDHLVK ITEGIPVIDHLVK ITEGIPVIDHLVK ITEGIPVIDHVKK ITEGIPVIDHVKK ITEGIPVIDSVALT ITEGIPVIDSVALT VTEGIPVIDSVALT	80 111 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109
34 2* 1 2 3 4 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXEU ACCAEL BASCU CHLTR MYCTU STRCO ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI	aTTEDDODD/TTPTT ABGIERANGOVTRONG ANGRUMAGAVTRONG ENGRUMAGAVTRONG ENGRUMAGAVTRONG ENGRUMAGAVTRONG ENGRUMAGAVTRONG ANGENFVIGAVTRONG ANGENFVIGAVTRONG NIGELTVAGAVTRONG NIGELTVAGAVTRONG NIGELTVAGAVTRONG	TbbbTT GTTHLG GTTHLG GSTHLA GHTHLN GEVIC GEVID GITVHEDKGGRLIK GRTVDFDRT GSEVIC GSEVIC	bbbbttaaaaaaat Leventvrenvaatg Leventvrenvaatg Leventvrenvests Leventvaanvortg Leventvaanvortg Leventvaanvortg Leventvaanvortg Leventvaanvestg Vevesvaeneetg Vevesvaeneetg Vevesvaeneetg	TTEDEDETTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCKD VTAXVIXVBASFCKD ADACHIFVBAPFCKD ANASVIYVBPGFBAD ANASVIYVBAPFBAD CRASHIFVPPFFAAE ADVSIIFVPPFFAAE ADVSIIFVPPFFAAE ADVSVIFVBAFFAAD ANDSVIFVPAAFFAAD	A HALFNEKTERPYY AABAAAATTTTTDDDD SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC AIVEAIDAGICLUC AIVEADAGIGLIUC AITEAFDAGIELUC AVVEADAGIGLIUC AVEADAGIGLIUC AVEADAGIGLIUC	CLO-COLDEDFIC TTITTEBAGAGAGA IPEGIPTIDMLTVK ITEGIPTIDMLKVK ITEGIPVIDMLKVK ITEGIPVIDMLKVK ITEGIPVIDMLKVK ITEGIPVIDMLKVK ITEGIPVIDMLKVK ITEGIPVIDSVALT ITEGIPVIDSVALT ITEGIPVIDSVALT ITEGIPVIDSVALT	80 1111 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109
34 2° 1 2 3 4 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9 10	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXEU RICPR AQUAEI BASCU CHIR MYCTU SIRCO ARCFUZ METUA	aTTEDEDEDE/TTPTTT ATGENANGAVTRONG EXECUMAGAVTRONG EXECUMAGAVTRONG EXECUMAGAVTRONG EXECUMAGAVTRONG EXECUMAGAVTRONG AXEENFVOOVTRONG DAGTOVVOOVTRONG DAGTOVVOOVTRONG DAGTOVVOOVTRONG DAGTOVVOOVTRONG DAGTOVVOOVTRONG DAGTOVVOOVTRONG DAGTOVVOOVTRONG DAGTOVVOOVTRONG	TDDDTT QTTHLG QQSHLG GQSHLG GEQFLD GEQFLD GEQFLD	bbbb/Tasaasaaa LEVENTVRENVAATG LEVENTVRENVENTG LEVENTVRENVESTS LEVENTVRENVESTS LEVENTVRENVESTG LEVENTVRENVASTA LEVENSVRENTVRENVASTA VEVENSVRENVASTA VEVENSVRENVASTA VEVENSVRENVASTA	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVPAPFCO VTATVINVPAPFCO ADATHIFVPAPFCO ADATHIFVPAPFCO ANSJIYVPAPFAAD ANSJIYVPAPFAAD ADVSIIFVPPPFAAC ADVSIIFVPPPFAAC ADVSIIFVPPPFAAC ADVSIIFVPPPFAAC ADVSIIFVPPPFAAC ADVSIIFVPPPFAAC	A HALFNEXTREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTDDDD SILBAIDAGIGLIUC SILBAIDAGIGLIUC SILBAIDAGIGLIUC SILBAIDAGIGLIUC AITEADAGIGLIUC AITEADAGIGLIUC AITEADAGICLIUC AITEADAGICLIUC AITEADAGICLUUC AITEADAGICLUUC AITEADAGICLUUC AITEADAGICLUUC	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTBaaaaaaa ITEGIPTLDHLTVK ITEGIPTLDHLVK ITEGIPVLDHLEVK ITEGIPVLDHLVK ITEGIPVLDHVKVK ITEGIPVLDHVKVK ITEGIPVLDHVKVK ITEGIPVLDHVKVK ITEGIPVLDHLVV VTEGIPVLDSLKVY ITEGIPVLDELKY ITEGIPVLDSLKY ITEGIPVLDSLKY	80 1111 1099 1099 109 109 109 109 109 109
34 2. 1 2 3 4 5 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9 10 11 11 13	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN AQUAEI BASCU CHLTR MYCTU STRCO ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI METUA METUA	aTTEDEDEDE/TTTTTT AMSTELMGAVTECHG AMSTELMGAVTECHG EMSTELMGAVTECHG EMSTELMGAVTECHG EMSTELWGAVTECHG AMSTELWGGAVTECHG AMSTELWGGAVTECHG DYGTELWGGAVTECHG EMSTELWGGAVTECHG EMSTELWGGAVTECHG EMSTELWGGAVTECHG EMSTELWGAVTECHG EMSTELWGAVTECHG	TbbbTT QTHLG QSHLG GPTLD	DDDJTTasaaasaaT LEVENTVRENVAATG LEVENTVRENVAATG LEVENTVRENVEETS LEVENTVRENVEETS LEVENTVRENVRETG LEVENSVRENCATG UVVRSVRENTERTG UVVRSVRENVEETD VFVIDSVRENVRETD VFVIDSVRENVRETD UVVRSVRENVEEDD	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCXD ATASVIYVBAPFCXD ADATHIFVBAPFCXD ADATHIFVBAPFCXD ADATHIFVBAPFAAD CRASHIFVBAPFAAD CRASHIFVBAPFAAD ADVSIIFVBAPFAAD ADVSIIFVBAPFAAD ANGSVIFVBAPFAAD ANGSVIFVBAPFAAD ANGSVIFVBAPFAAD	A HALFNEXTREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTDDDD SILEAIDAGIOLIVC SILEAIDAGIOLIVC SILEAIDAGIOLIVC SILEAIDAGIOLIVC AITEAIDAGICLIVC AIVEADAGICLIVC AVERADAGICLIVC AVERADAGICLIVC AVERADAGICLIVC AVERADAGICLIVC AVERADAGICLIVC AVERADAGICLIVC AVERADAGICLIVC	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTTaaaaaaaa ITEGIPTLDMLTVK ITEGIPTLDMLVK ITEGIPVLDMLEVK ITEGIPVLDMLEVK ITEGIPVLDMVKVK ITEGIPVDDMLW ITEGIPVDDMLH ITEGIPVHDEJANJ ITEGIPVHDEJANJ ITEGIPVHDEJANJ ITEGIPVHDEJANJ ITEGIPVHDEJANJ ITEGIPVHDEJANJ	80 1111 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 1
34 2. 1 2 3 4 5 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9 10 11 11 13 14	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COMBU RICER AQUAEL BASCU CHLTR MICTU ARCFUZ METLA METTHEAQ THEEA	aTTbbbbbb/TTTTTT AMSIZNAMGGVTRCHG AMSIZNAMGGVTRCHG AMSIZNAMGGVTRCHG EYGIZNAMGGVTRCHG EYGIZNAGGVTRCHG AMSIZNAMGGVTRCHG AMSIZNAGGVTRCHG AMSIZNAGGVTRCHG DYGHTLVAGVTRCHG EXGIELLVAGVTRCHG EXGIELLVAGVTRCHG DYGHTLVAGVTRCHG DYGHTLVAGVTRCHG	TbbbTT	bbbbtTaaaaaaaat LPVENTVRENVAATG LPVENTVRENVERTS LPVENTVRENVERTS LPVENTVRENVRETS LPVENTVRENVRETG LPVENSVREIGUERTG LPVENSVREIGUERTG LPVENSVREIGUERTG LPVENSVREIGUERTG LPVENSVREIGUERTG LPVENSVREIGUERTG UPVENSVREIGUERTG VFVENSVREIGUERTG VFVENSVREIGUERTG VFVENSVREIGUERTG	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCO VTATVIXVBAPFCO ADADIIFVBAPFCO ADADIIFVBAPFCO ANASVIYVBAPFAAD ANASVIYVBAPFAAD CRASHIFVBPPFAAE ADVSIIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD VDASIIFVBAPFAAD VDASIIFVBAPAAAD	A HALFNEKTREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTDDDD SILIAIIAGIKLIIT AIIBAIDAGIKLIIT AIIBAIDAGIKLIIT AIIBAIDAGIKLIVC AIIBAIDAGIELIVC AIMENDAELLIVC AIMENDAELLIVC AIMENDAELLIVC AIMENDAELLIVC AIMENDAELLIVC AVEBAIDAGIKVIVC AVEBAIDAGIKVIVC AVEBAIDAGIKLIVC AVEBAIDAGIKLIVC AVEBAIDAGIKLIVC AALEAAHAGIPLIVL AALEAAHAGIPLIVL	CLO-COLDEDFIC TTTTTBaaaaaaa ITEGIPTIOMITVK ITEGIPTIOMIKVK ITEGIPVIOMIEVK ITEGIPVIOMIEVA ITEGIPVIOMIEVA ITEGIPVIOTAJAW ITEGIPVIOTAJAW ITEGIPVIOTAJAW ITEGIPVIOTAJAW ITEGIPVIOTAJAW ITEGIPVIOTAJAW ITEGIPVIOTAJAW ITEGIPVIOTAJAW ITEGIPVIOTAJAW ITEGIPVIOTAJAW ITEGIPTIOMIRAV ITEGIPTIOMIRAV	80 1111 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 1
34 2* 1 2 3 4 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 10 11 11 13 14 15	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COMBU RICPR AQUAEL BASCU CHLTR MYCTU STRCO ARCFUL ARCFUL METTA METTH THEAQ THEFL HALACE	aTTEDEDEDED/TTTTTT AMOZENIA/GG/TTECHG AMOZENIA/GG/TTECHG AMOZENIA/GG/TTECHG EMOZENIA/GG/TTECHG EMOZENIA/GG/TTECHG AMOZENIA/GG/TECHG DYGEX/WGG/TECHG EMOZENIA/GG/TECHG DYGEX/WGG/TECHG AMOZENIA/GG/TECHG DYGEX/WGG/TECHG AMOZENIA/GF/TECHG AMOZENIA/GF/TECHG AMOZENIA/GF/TECHG AMOZENIA/GF/TECHG	TbbbTT	bbbbtTaaaaaaaat LEVENTYREAVAATG LEVENTYREAVAATG LEVENTYREAVAATG LEVENTYREAVATG LEVENTYREAVATG LEVENTYREAVATG LEVENSVAEMMENTG LEVENSVAEMMENTG LEVENSVAEMMENTG LEVENSVAEMMENTG VEVENSVEEMTEEMD VEVENTYREAVAEM VEVENTYREAVAEM	TTDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCO VTATVIYVBAPFCO ADADEFVBAPFCO ADADEFVBAPFCO ADADEFVBAPFAD ANSVIYVBAPFAD CRASHIFVBPPFAAB ADVSIIFVBAPFAAD ADVSVIFVBAPFAAD ANSVIFVBAPFAAD VDASIIFVBAPFAAD VDASIIFVBAPFAAD ATTSITTVAPPFAAD ATTSITTVAPPFAAD	A HALFNEKTREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTTDDDD SILLAIINGUKLETT AIIBAIDAGUCLIVC SILLAIDAGUEVVC AIIBAIDAGUEVVC AIIBAIDAGUEVVC AIFEALDAGUELLVC AIFEAADAGIKUVC AVEAADAGIKUVC AAFRSIK-HEDIAVI AALEAAHGIPLVL ALEAAHGIPLVL ALEAAHGIPLVL ALEAAHGIPLVL ALEAAHGIPLVL	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTBAGGAGGGG TTBGIPTIDMLTVK ITBGIPTIDMLVK ITBGIPVIDMLEVK ITBGIPVIDMLEVK ITBGIPVIDMLEVA ITBGIPVIDVIDKLVA ITBGIPVIDVIDKLVA ITBGIPVIDELMYV ITBGIPTIDMVRAV ITBGIPTIDMVRAV ITBGIPTIDMVRAV ITBGIPTIDMVRAV	80 1111 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 1
34 2* 1 2 3 4 4 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9 10 11 11 13 14 15 16	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXBU RICPR AQUAEI BASCU SIRCO ARCFUZ METIA METTH THEAQ THEAT	aTTEEDEDEDE/TTTTTT ANGENINGGVTRCHG ANGENINGGVTRCHG ANGENINGGVTRCHG EXGLUNGGVTRCHG EXGLUNGGVTRCHG EXGLUNGGVTRCHG ANGENFVGGVTRCHG DYGENIVGGVTRCHG EXGLUNGGVTRCHG EXGLUNGGVTRCHG DYGENIVAGVTRCHG DYGENIVAGVTRCHG ANGENIVGGVTRCHG EXGLUNGGVTRCHG DYGENIVAGVTRCHG	TbbbTT	DDDDTTaaaaaaaa LEVENTVRERVAATG LEVENTVRERVAATG LEVENTVRERVEETS LEVENTVRERVARTG UPVENTVAERVARTG LEVENTVAERVARTG LEVENTVAERVARTG UPVERSVAERMENTG UPVERSVAERUKETD UPVERSVAERVARTD VEVEDTVRERVARTD VEVEDTVRERVARTE UPVEDTVRERVARTE UPVEDTVRERVARTE VEVEDTVRERVARTE	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCCO VTAXVIYVBAPFCCO ADACHIFVBAPFCCO ANASVIYVBAPFGAD ANASVIYVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ADVSIIFVBAPFAAD ADVSIIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD	A HALFNEXTREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTDbbb SILEAIDAGIQUIVC SILEAIDAGIQUIVC SILEAIDAGIQUIVC SILEAIDAGIQUIVC SILEAIDAGICUIVC AIVEAIDAGIELIVC AIVEADAGICIVC AVEADAGICUIVC AVEADAGICUIVC AVEADAGICUIVC AVEADAGICUIVC AAFESIK-HEDIAVI AALEAAHAGIPLIVL AIMEADAGICUIVC	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	80 1111 1099 1099 109 109 109 109 109 109
34 2. 1 2 3 4 5 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 10	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXBU RICFR AQUAEI BASCU CHITR MACTU SIRCO ARCFUZ METHE HEAQ THEFL MATTH METHE METHE METHE METHESO M	ATTEREDUCED/TTPTT ATTEREDUCED/TTPTTT ATTEREDUCED/TTPTTT ATTEREDUCED/TTPC/ ATTEREDUCED/TTPC/ ATTEREDUCED/TTPC/ EXCENT/AG/TTPC/ CONTENT/AG/TTPC/ EXCENT/AG/TTPC/ DYGEN/VAG/TTPC/ DYGEN/VAG/TTPC/ DYGEN/VAG/TTPC/ DYGEN/VAG/TTPC/ DYGEN/VAG/TTPC/ ATTEREDUCED/TTPC/ ATTEREDUCED/TTPC/ ATTEREDUCED/TTPC/ ATTEREDUCED/TTPC/ ATTEREDUCED/TTPC/ ATTEREDUCED/TTPC/ ATTEREDUCED/TTPC/ EXCENT/AG/TTPC/ E	TbbbTT GTTHLG GQSHLG GHTHLN GHEVEG GTEAEG GTEAEG GTEVLG GTEVLG GTEVLG GTEVLG	DDDDTTaaaaaaaa LEVENTVREAVAATG LEVENTVREAVAATG LEVENTVREAVAATG LEVENTVREAVARTG LEVENTVREAVARTG UPVINTVAEAVATG LEVENTVREAVARTG UPVINTVREAVARTG VFVIDSVREAT VFVIDSVREAVARTA VFVIDSVREAVARTA VFVIDTVREAVARTG VFVIDTVREAVARTG VFVIDTVREAVARTG VFVIDTVREAVARTG VFVIDTVREAVARTG	TTEDEDUTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCKD VTAXVIXVBASFCKD ADAMIFVBAPFCKD ANASVIYVPGFBAD ANCSLIFVBAPFFAD ANCSLIFVBAPFFAD CRASHIFVBPFFAA ADVSILFVBAPFFAA ADVSILFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ATSIITEVBAPAAAD ATSIITEVBAPFAAD ATSIITEVBAPFFAA	A HALFNEKTREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTDDDD SILEAIDAGICLEIT ALTEAIDAGICLEIT SILEAIDAGICLEIT SILEAIDAGICLIVC SILEAIDAGICLIVC AIVEAIDAGICLIVC AIVEAADAGICLIVC AVEAADAGICLIVC AVEAADAGICLIVC AAFESIKCHELIVV AALEAAHAGIPLIVL AALEAAHAGIPLIVL AIMEADAGEKINCS AINEAIDAGEVPLVC	GLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTITTTBaaaaaaa ITBGIPTLDHLTVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHKVK ITBGIPTLDKVKVK ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV	80 1111 1099 1099 1099 1099 1099 1099 10
34 2. 1 2 3 4 5 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 10 17 18	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXEU RICPR AQUAEI BASCU CHLTR MCTU STRCO ARCFUL ARCFUL MEITA MEITH HEALA THEFL HALACE PIGL08 PIGL08 PIGS7 RAT	aTTEDEDEDE/TTTTTT ATGENANGGVTRGNG ANGRULMGGVTRGNG ENGRUMNGGVTRGNG ENGRUMNGGVTRGNG ENGRUNGGVTRGNG ANGENFVGGVTRGNG DYGREVVGGVTRGNG ENGRUVNGGVTRGNG DYGREVVGGVTRGNG DYGREVVGGVTRGNG DYGREVVAGVTRGNG DYGREVVAGVTRGNG DYGREVVAGVTRGNG DYGREVVAGVTRGNG ENGRUNGGVTRGNG ENGRUNGGVTRGNG ENGRUNGGVTRGNG	TDDDTT	DDDJTTaaaaaaaa LEVENTVRERVAATG LEVENTVRERVAATG LEVENTVRERVESTS LEVENTVRERVESTS LEVENTVRERVACTG VEVENTVRERVACTG LEVENTVRERVACTG VEVENTVRERVACTG VEVENTVRERVACTG VEVENTVRERVACTG VEVENTVRERVACTG VEVENTVRERVACTG VEVENTVRERVACTG VEVENTVRERVESTG LEVENTVRERVESTG	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCXD VTAXVIXVBAPFCXD ADATHEFVBAPFCXD ADATHEFVBAPFCXD ADATHEFVBAPFCXD ADATHEFVBAPFAAD ANCSLIPVBAPFAAD ADVSI IFVBAPFAAD ADVSI IFVBAPFAAD ADVSI IFVBAPFAAD ANASVITVBAPFAAD VIASI IFVBAPFAAD VIASI IFVBAPFAAD ATSSVIYVPPPFAAA ATASVITVPPPFFAAA ATASVITVPPPFFAAA	A HALFNEXTREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTDDDD SILBAIDAGIGLIJT AI BAIDAGIGLIJT SILBAIDAGIGLIVC SILBAIDAGIGLIVC SILBAIDAGIGLIVC AI BAIDACIELIVC AIVEADAGIGLIVC AIVEADAGIGLIVC AUFEADAGIGLIVC AUFEADAGIGLIVC AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL AALEAAHAGIFLIVL	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTBAAAAAAA ITBGIPTLDMLTVK ITBGIPTLDMLKVK ITBGIPTLDMLKVK ITBGIPVLDMLEVK ITBGIPVLDMLEVX ITBGIPVLDMLEVX ITBGIPVLDMLEVX ITBGIPVLDMLEVX ITBGIPVLDMLEVX ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV ITBGIPTLDMVRAV	80 1111 1099109 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 100100 100100 100100000000
34 2* 12 3 3 4 5 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 10 17 18 15 20	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN AQUABI RICPR AQUABI BASCU CHLTR MYCTU STRCO ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI MEIJA MEIJA MEIJA MEIJA MEIJA BIRO-A BIRO-A	aTTEDEDEDE/TTTTTT AMSTEDMIGGVTEGIG EMSTEDMIGGVTEGIG EMSTEDMIGGVTEGIG EMSTEDMIGGVTEGIG EMSTEDMIGGVTEGIG AMSTEDVIGGVTEGIG AMSTEDVIGGVTEGIG EMSTEDVIGGVTEGIG EMSTEDVIGGVTEGIG EMSTEDVIGGVTEGIG EMSTEDVIGGVTEGIG EMSTEDVIGGVTEGIG EMSTEDVIGGTTEGIG EMSTEDVIGGTTEGIG EMSTEDVIGGTTEGIG EMSTEDVIGGTTEGIG EMSTEDVIGGTTEGIG EMSTEDVIGGTTEGIG EMSTEDVIGGTEGIG	TbbbTT GTTHLG	DDDJTTasaaasaat LEVENTVRENVAATG LEVENTVRENVERTS LEVENTVRENVERTS LEVENTVRENVERTS LEVENTVRENVERTS LEVENTVRENVARTG UPVINSVRENTERTG UPVINSVRENVREN VFVIDSVRENVREN VFVIDSVRENVREN VFVIDSVRENVREN VFVIDSVRENVREN VFVIDSVRENVREN LEVENTVRENVREN LEVENTVRENVRENG LEVENTVRENVRENG	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCO ATASVIYVBAPFCO ADATHIPVBAPFCO ADATHIPVBAPFCO ADATHIPVBAPFCO ADATHIPVBAPFAAD CRASHIPVBAPFAAD CRASHIPVBAPFAAD ADVSIIPVBAPFAAD ADVSIIPVBAPFAAD ADJSIIPVBAPFAAD ADASVIPVBAPFAAD VDASIIPVBAPFAAD ATASVIYVPPPFAAA ATASVIYVPPPFAAA ATASVIYVPPPFAAA ATASVIYVPPPFAAA	A HALFNEXTREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTTDDDD SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AVEEADAGICLIUC AVEEADAGICLIUC AVEEADAGICLIUC AALEAAHGIPLIUL AALEAAHGIPLIUL AALEAAHGIPLIUL AALEAAHGIPLIUL AALEAAHGIPLIUL AALEAAHGIPLIUL AALEAAHGIPLIUL AALEAAHGIPLIUL AALEAAHGIPLIUL AALEAAHGIPLIUC AINEAIDAEUPLIUC	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	80 1111 1099109 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 100100 100100 100100 100100000000
34 2. 12 3 3 4 5 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 12 20 21	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN AQUAEI BASCU CHLTR MCTU SIRCO ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI METLA METLA METLA METLA METLA METLA METLA METLA METLA METLA METLA METLA METLA METLA	aTTbbbbbb/TTTTTT ANGENMGGVTRGRG ANGENMGGVTRGRG ANGENMGGVTRGRG EYGLWAGVTRGRG EYGLWAGVTRGRG EYGLWAGVTRGRG ANGENFVGGVTRGRG NGCHTVAGVTRGRG DYGRTVAGVTRGRG DYGRTVAGVTRGRG ANGENVAGVTRGRG DYGRTVAGVTRGRG ANGENVAGVTRGRG DYGRTVAGTTRGRG ANGENVAGUTRGRG DYGRTVAGTTRGRG DYGRTVAGTTRGRG DYGRTVAGTTRGRG DYGRTVAGTTRGRG DYGRTVAGTTRGRG DYGRTVAGTTRGRG DYGRTVAGTTRGRG DYGRTVAGTTRGRG DYGRTVAGTTRGRG DYGRTVAGTTRGRG DYGRTVAGTTRGRG DYGRTVAGGTSCRGG DYGRTVAGTSCRGG DYGRTVAGGTSCRGG DYGRTVAGGTSCRGG	TbbbTT	DDDDTTaaaaaaaaT LEVENTVREEVAATG LEVENTVREEVAATG LEVENTVREEVETS LEVENTVREEVETS LEVENTVREEVKETG VEVENTVREEVKETG VEVENTVREEVAETG VEVENTVREEVAETG VEVENTVREEVAETG VEVENTVREEVAETG VEVENTVREEVAETG LEVENTVREEVAETG LEVENTVREEVEETG LEVENTVREEVEETG LEVENTVREEVEETG LEVENTVREEVEETG LEVENTVREEVEETG LEVENTVREEVEETG LEVENTVREEVEETG	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCXD VTAVINVBASFCXD ADATHIFVBAPFCXD ADATHIFVBAPFCXD ADATHIFVBAPFAXD ANGSVIYVBAPFAXD CRASHIFVBPPFAXE ADVSI IFVBAPFAXD ANGSVIFVBAPFAXD ANGSVIFVBAPFAXD ANGSVIFVBAPFAXD ATASVIXVPPFFAXA ATASVIXVPPFFAXA ATASVIXVPPFFAXA ASAVIXVPPFFAXA ASAVIXVPPFFAXA ASAVIXVPPFFAXA	A HALFNEKTERFYY aaaaaaTTTTTTDDDD SILIAIINGDKLITT AIIBAIDKGDLITT AIIBAIDKGDLITT SILIAIDKGDKLITT AIBAIDKGELITT AIBAIDKGELITT AIFEADKGELITT	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTBAAAAAAA ITBGIPTLDMLTVK ITBGIPTLDMLVK ITBGIPVLDMLEVK ITBGIPVLDMLEVK ITBGIPVLDMLEVK ITBGIPVLDMKVK ITBGIPVLDMKVK ITBGIPVLDMEVA ITBGIPVLDMEVA ITBGIPTLDMRAV ITBGIPTLDMRAV ITBGIPTLDMRAV ITBGIPTLDMRAV ITBGIPQDDMRVK ITBGIPQDDMRVK ITBGIPQDDMRVK ITBGIPQDDMRVK	80 1111 10991099109 1099109 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 109100 100100000000
34 2* 12 3 4 4 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 10 11 11 12 13 14 15 10 17 18 19 20 21 22	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN RICPR AQUAEI BASCU CHLTR MICTU STRCO ARCFUL ARCFUL ARCFUL ARCFUL ARCFUL ARCFUL ARCFUL ARCFUL BIRD-A BIRD-C BIRD-C CAEELL	ATTENDODOTTETT AIGTEMAGAVTRONG ANGULMOGATRONG ANGULMOGATRONG ENGULMOGATRONG ENGULMOGATRONG ENGENERICA ANGENERICA ANGENERICA ANGENERICA DIGTENERICA ENGENER	TbbbTT GTTHLG GTTHLG GSENLG GEQFLD	DDDDTTaaaaaaaa LEVENTVRBAVAATG LEVENTVRBAVAATG LEVENTVRBAVAATG LEVENTVRBAVAATG LEVENTVRBAVACTG LEVENTVRBAVACTG LEVENTVRBAVACTG UPVRGSVRBQLERTG UPVRGSVRBQLERTG UPVRGSVRBQLERTG UPVRGSVRBQLERTG UPVRGSVRBQLERTG UPVRGSVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE UPVDTVRBAVAHE	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCKD VIAXVIYVBAPFCKD ADACHIFVBAPFCKD ANASVIYVBAPFCKD ANASVIYVBAPFGAD ANASVIYVBAPFAAD ANASVIIVBAPFAAD ADVSIIVVBAPFAAD ADVSIIVVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIFVBAPFAAD ATASVIYVBPPFAAA ATASVIYVBPPFFAAA ASAVIFVBPPFFAAA ASAVIFVBPPFFAAA ASAVIFVBPPFFAAA	A HALFNEXTREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTDbbb SILEAIDAGIGLGUIVC SILEAIDAGIGLGUIVC SILEAIDAGIGLIVC SILEAIDAGIGLIVC SILEAIDAGIELIVC AIVEADAGIGLIVC AIVEADAGIGLIVC AIFEAFDAGIELIVC AVEADAGIGLIVC AVEADAGIGLIVC AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIKA	GLQ-QCHLDPDFIC TTITTTBAAAAAAA IPBGIPTLDHLTVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHKVK ITBGIPVLDHKVK ITBGIPVLDSVALT VTBGIPVDSVALT VTBGIPVDSVALT ITBGIPVDSVALT ITBGIPVDSVALT ITBGIPVDSVALT ITBGIPVDSVALT ITBGIPVDSVALT ITBGIPVDSVALT ITBGIPVDSVALT ITBGIPVDSVALT ITBGIPVDSVALT ITBGIPVDSVALT ITBGIPQDHVKVK ITBGIPQDDWKVK ITBGIPQDDWKVK ITBGIPQDDWKVK ITBGIPQDDWKVK ITBGIPQDDWKVK	80 1111 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 1
34 2* 12 3 4 4 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 10 111 12 13 14 15 10 17 18 19 20 21 22 22 22 22	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXBU RICFR AQUAEI BASCU CHIR MACTU SIRCO ARCFUZ MEILA METHE MEILA MEILA MEILA MEILA BIRD-A BIRD-C CAELI CAELI CAELI CAELI CAELI	ATTEREDUCED/TTPTT ATTEREDUCED/TTPTTT ATTEREDUCED/TTPTTT ATTEREDUCED/TTPCHC ATTEREDUCED/TTPCHC ATTEREDUCED/TTPCHC EXCENTRACINTERIC ATTEREDUCED/TTPCHC EXCENTRACINTERIC DYGENCUCAD/TTPCHC EXCENTRACINTERIC DYGENCUCAD/TTPCHC EXCENTRACINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC DYGENCUCAGINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC DYGENCUCAGINERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC EXCENTRACINTERIC	TbbbTT	DDDDTTaaaaaaaa LEVENTVREENVAATG LEVENTVREENVAATG LEVENTVREENVAATG LEVENTVREENVAATG LEVENTVREENVACTG UPVINTVAENVACTG UPVINTVAENVATG UPVINTVREENVACTU VPVIDSINGENVERAD VPVIDSINGENVERAD VPVIDTVREENVACTU VPVIDSINGENVERAD VPVIDTVREENVACTU UPVIDTVREENVACTU UPVIDTVREENVACTU LEVENTVREENVERTG LEVENTVREENVERTG LEVENTVREENVERTG LEVENTVREENVERTG LEVENTVREENVERTG LEVENTVREENVERTG LEVENTVREENVERTG	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCKD VTAXVIXVBASFCKD ADACHEFVBAPFCKD ADACHEFVBAPFCKD ANASVIYVPPGFAA ANCSLIEVPAPFFAAD ANCSLIEVPAPFFAAD ADXIIEVPAPFFAAD ADXIIEVPAPFFAAD ADXSIIEVPAPFFAAD ANASVIEVPAPFFAAD ATSIIEVPAPFFAAD ATSIIEVPAPFFAAA ATSIIEVPAPFFAAA ATSVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ASXVIYVPPFFAAA ASXVIYVPPFFAAA ASXVIYVPPFFAAA ASXVIYVPPFFAAA	A HALFNEKTERPYY aaaaaaTTTTTDDDD SILEAIDNGIGLUIT AIDAIDNGIGLUIC SILEAIDNGIGLUC SILEAIDNGIGLUC SILEAIDNGIGLUC SILEAIDNGIGLUC AIVEAIDNGIGLUC AIVEAIDNGIGLUC AVEAADNGIGLUC AVEAADNGICLUC AVEAADNGICLUC AAFESIKCHELUC AAFESIKCHELUC AAFESIKCHELUC AINEAIDNGEVPLUC AINEAIDNGEVPLUC AINEAIDNGEVPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC AINEAIDNEYPLUC	GLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTITTTBaaaaaaa ITBGIPTLDHLTVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHIKVK ITBGIPTLDHVKVK ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPGQDMKVK ITBGIPQDHJKVK ITBGIPQDHVKVK ITBGIPQDHVKVK ITBGIPQDHVKVK ITBGIPQDHVKVK ITBGIPQDHVKVK	80 1111 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 1
34 2* 1 22 3 3 4 4 5 5 66 7 7 8 9 9 100 111 13 14 15 20 21 21 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXEU RICFR AQUAEI BASCU CHITR MCTU STROO ARCFUZ METTH METH ME	aTTEDEDEDE/TTETT ATTEDEDEDE/TTETTT ATGENARGA/TEGRG EXGLUMGA/SENIG EXGLUMGA/TEGRG EXGLUMGA/TEGRG EXGLUMGA/TEGRG AXGENFVGG/TEGRG RAGIQIVGG/TEGRG DYGENV/GG/TEGRG DYGENV/GG/TEGRG DYGENV/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG EXGLU/GG/TEGRG	TbbbTT	DDDDTTaaaaaaaaT LEVENTVREEUVAATG LEVENTVREEUVAATG LEVENTVREEUVESTS LEVENTVREEUVESTS LEVENTVREEUVESTS LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG VEVENTVREEUVACTG VEVENTVREEUVACTG VEVENTVREEUVACTG VEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG LEVENTVREEUVACTG	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCO VTATVIXVBAPFCO ADASHIFVBAPFCO ADASHIFVBAPFCO ADASHIFVBAPFCO ADASHIFVBAPFCO ADASHIFVBAPFAAD ADASVIYVBAPFAAD ADVSI IFVBAPFAAD ADSI IFVBAPFAAD ADSI IFVBAPFAAD ADASVIYVBAPFAAD ATASVIYVPPFFAA ATASVIYVPPFFAA ATASVIYVPPFFAA ATASVIYVPPFFAA ASATVIYVPPFFAA ASATVIYVPPFFAA ASATVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA	A HALFNEXTREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTTDDDD SILEAIDAGIQLIYC SILEAIDAGIQLIYC SILEAIDAGIQLIYC SILEAIDAGIQLIYC SILEAIDAGIQLIYC AITEAIDAGICLIYC AITEAIDACEPLIYC AITEAIDAGIQLYYC AITEAIDAGICLIYC AITEAACACLIYC	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTBAAAAAAA ITBGIPTLDHLTVK ITBGIPTLDHLVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHLEVK ITBGIPVLDHLEVA ITBGIPVLDHLEVA ITBGIPVLDHLEVA ITBGIPVLDHLEVA ITBGIPVLDHLEVA ITBGIPTLDWRAV ITBGIPTLDWRAV ITBGIPTLDWRAV ITBGIPTLDWRAV ITBGIPCQDHWKVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDDWRVK ITBGIPQDWRVK ITBGIPQDWRVK ITBGIPQDWRVK ITBGIPQDWRVK ITBGIPQDWRVK ITBGIPQDWRVKK ITBGIPX ITBGIPX ITBGIPX ITBGIPX ITBGIPX ITBGIPX ITBGIP	80 1111 1099 1092 1133 1002 1022 1132 1132 1132 1132 1133 1134 1155 1155 1153 1154 1155 11
34 2 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN AQUAEI BASCU CHLTR MCTU STRCO ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI MEINA HEINA HEINA HEINA FIGIOS FIGS7 RAT BIRD-A BIRD-A BIRD-A CAEELI CAEELI CAEELI CAEELI CAEELI CAEELI CAEELI CAEELI CAEELI CAEELI CAEELI	aTTEDEDEDE/TTTTTT ATTEDEDEDE/TTTTTT ATGENIAGAVTRORG EYGIQIMAGAVTRORG EYGIQIMAGAVTRORG EYGIQIMAGAVTRORG EYGIQIMAGAVTRORG EYGIRIMAGAVTRORG DYGIRIWAGAVTRORG DYGIRIWAGAVTRORG DYGIRIWAGAVTRORG DYGIRIWAGAVTRORG DYGIRIWAGAVTRORG DYGIRIWAGAVTRORG DYGIRIWAGAVTRORG DYGIRIWAGATTRORG EYGIRIMAGGISRORG EYGIRIMAGGISRORG DYGIRIMAGGISRORG EYGIRIMAGGISRORG DYGIRIMAGGISRORG EYGIRIMAGGISRORG DYGIRIMAGGISRORG EYGIRIMAGGISRORG DYGIRIMAGGISRORG EYGIRIMAGGISRORG	TbbbTT GTHLG	EDDDTTaaaaaaaaT LEVENTVREEVAATG LEVENTVREEVAATG LEVENTVREEVAATG LEVENTVREEVAATG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG VEVENTVREEVACTG VEVENTVREEVACTG VEVENTVREEVACTG VEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG LEVENTVREEVACTG	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVPAPFCID VTATVINVPAPFCID ANASVIYVPAPFCID ANASVIYVPAPFAAD ANSJIYVPAPFAAD CRASHIPVPAPFAAD CRASHIPVPPFAAA ADVSIIPVPPPFAAA ADVSIIPVPPFFAAA ADVSIIPVPPFFAAA ADVSIIPVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA ATASVIYVPPFFAAA	A HALFNEXTREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTTDDDD SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC AITEAIDAGIGLIUC	CLO-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTBAAAAAAA ITBGIPTLDMLTVK ITBGIPTLDMLTVK ITBGIPTLDMLKVK ITBGIPTLDMLEVK ITBGIPVLDMLEVK ITBGIPVLDMLEVX ITBGIPVLDMLEVA ITBGIPVLDMLEVA ITBGIPVLDMLEVA ITBGIPVLDMLH ITBGIPVLDMLH ITBGIPVLDMLH ITBGIPVLDMLHV ITBGIPVLDMLHV ITBGIPVLDMLHV ITBGIPVLDMLHV ITBGIPVLDMVKVK ITBGIPQDMVKVK ITBGIPQDMVKVK ITBGIPQDMVKVK ITBGIPQDMVKVK ITBGIPQDMVKVK ITBGIPQDMVKVK ITBGIPQDMVKVK	80 1111 1099 1009 1092 1133 1100 1066 1052 1142 1155 1155 1155 1155 1155 1155 1155 1155 1157 11
34 2 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN AQUAEI BASCU HAEIN MCTU STRCO ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI METJA METJA METJA METJA METJA METJA METJA METJA METJA METJA METJA METJA METJA	aTTEDEDEDE/TTTTTT ATGENMAGAVTRONG BYGIQIMAGAVTRONG BYGIQIMAGAVTRONG BYGIQIMAGAVTRONG BYGIQIMAGAVTRONG ANGENFVGGAVTRONG ANGENFVGGAVTRONG DYGIRIMAGAVTRONG DYGIRIMAGAVTRONG BYGIRIMAGAVTRONG BYGIRIMAGATTRONG BYGIRIMAGATTRONG DYGIRIMAGATTRONG BYGIRIMAGATTRONG DYGIRIMAGATTRONG BYGIRIMAGATTRONG DYGIRIMAGATTRONG BYGIRIMAGATTRONG DYGIRIMAGATTRONG BYGIRIMAGATTRONG	Tbbb/TT GTHLG	DDDDTTasaaasaat LEVENTVRENVAATG LEVENTVRENVAATG LEVENTVRENVERTS LEVENTVRENVRETG UPVENTVRENVRETG UPVENTVRENVRETG UPVENTVRENVRETG UPVENTVRENVRETTG UPVENTVRENVRETTG UPVENTVRENVRETG LEVENTVRENVRETG	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVINVBAPFCRD VTAVINVBAPFCRD ADAMERYBAPFCRD ADAMERYBAPFCRD ADAMERYBAPFCRD ADAMERYBAPFADD ANGSVINVBAPFADD ADAMERYBAPFADD ADAMERYBAPFADD ADAMERYBAPFADD ADAMERYBAPFADD ADAMERYBAPFADD ADAMERYBAPFADD ADAMERYBAPFADD ATASVINVBAPFFADA ATASVINVBPPFFADA ACASVINVBPPFFADA ASAVVINVBPPFFADA ADASVINVBPPFFADA ADASVINVBPPFFADA ADASVINVBPPFFADA ADASVINVBPPFFADA ADASVINVBPPFFADA ADASVINVBPPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA ADASVINVBPFFADA	A HALFNEXTREPVY aaaaaaTTTTTTDDDD SILIFAIDAGICLITT AI IFAIDAGICLITT SILIFAIDAGICLITT SILIFAIDAGICLITT SILIFAIDAGICLITT SILIFAIDAGICLITT AI IFAIDAGICLITT AIVEALDAGICLITT AIVEALDAGICLITT AIVEALDAGICLITT AIFEAFDAGICLITT AALFAAHAGICLITT AALFAAHAGICLITT AALFAAHAGICLITT AALFAAHAGICLITT AALFAAHAGICLITT AALFAAHAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT AIREALDAGICLITT	GLQ-QCHLDEDFIC TTTTTTRAAAAAAA ITHGIPTLDHLTVK ITHGIPTLDHLVK ITHGIPTLDHLVK ITHGIPVLDHLEVK ITHGIPVLDHLEVK ITHGIPVLDHVKVK ITHGIPVLDHVKVK ITHGIPVLDHVLHVKVK ITHGIPVLDHVLHVKVK ITHGIPVLDHVRAV ITHGIPVLDHVRAV ITHGIPVLDHVRAV ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVK ITHGIPQDHVRVKK ITHGIPQDHVRVKK ITHGIPQDHVRVKK ITHGIPQDHVRVKK ITHGIPQDHVRVKK ITHGIPQDHVRVKK ITHGIPQDHVRVKK ITHGIPQDHVRVKK ITHGIPQDHVRVKK ITHGIPQDHVRVKK ITHGIPQDHVRVKK ITHGIPQDHVRVKK	80 1111 1099 1097 10
34 2 · 1 2 2 3 3 4 4 5 5 6 6 7 7 8 9 9 100 112 133 14 1 15 2 0 2 2 2 4 2 5 0 2 2 2 4 2 5 0 2 2 2 4 2 5 0 2 2 2 4 2 5 0 2 2 2 4 2 5 0 2 4 2 5 0 2 4	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COLU RICPR AQUAEL BASCU CHLR MICTU SIRCO ARCFUL ARCFUL ARCFUL MEILA	ATTENDODOTTTTT ALGERANGGVTRONG ALGERANGGVTRONG ALGERANGGVTRONG EXGEQUAGGVTRONG EXGEQUAGGVTRONG EXGEQUAGGVTRONG EXGEQUAGGVTRONG EXGEDUAGGVTRONG EXGEDUAGGVTRONG EXGEDUAGGVTRONG EXGEDUAGGVTRONG EXGEDUAGGVTRONG EXGEDUAGGVTRONG EXGEDUAGGTTRONG	TbbbTT	DDDDTTaaaaaaaa LEVENTVRBAVAATG LEVENTVRBAVAATG LEVENTVRBAVAATG LEVENTVRBAVAATG LEVENTVRBAVATG LEVENTVRBAVATG UPVRCSVRBQLERTG UPVRCSVRBQLERTG UPVRCSVRBQLERTG UPVRCSVRBQLERTG UPVRCSVRBQLERTG UPVRCSVRBQLERTG UPVRCSVRBQLERTG UPVRCSVRBQLERTG LEVENTVRBAVABAD LEVENTVRBAVABAD LEVENTVRBAVABAD LEVENTVRBAVABAD LEVENTVRBAACGTG LEVENTVRBAVABAD LEVENTVRBAVABADTT LEVENTVRBACCATG LEVENTVRBACCATG	RPLSPL TTDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVBAPFCKD VTAXVIYVBAPFCKD ADATHEFVBAPFCKD ANASVIYVBPGFBAD ANASVIYVBPGFBAD ANASVIIVBAPFAAD ANASVIIVBAPFAAD ADVSIIFVBAPFAAD ADVSIIFVBAPFAAD ANASVIIVBAPFAAD ATSIIFVBAPFAAD ATSIIFVBAPFAAA ATSIIFVBPPFFAA ATASVIYVBPPFFAA ASAVIYVBPPFFAA ASAVIYVBPPFFAA ASAVIYVBPPFFAA ASAVIYVBPPFFAA ASAVIYVBPPFFAA ASAVIYVBPPFFAA ASAVIYVBPPFFAA ASAVIYVBPPFFAA ASAVIYVBPPFFAA ANASVIXVBPPFFAA ANASVIXVBPPFFAA ANASVIXVBPPFFAA	A HALFNEKTERFYY AABAAAATTTTTDDDD SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC SILEAIDAGIGLIUC AIJEADAGIGLIUC AIVEADAGIGLIUC AIFEAFDAGIELUC AIFEAFDAGIELUC AVEAADAGIGLIUC AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI AAFESIK-HEDLAVI ALIMEADAGIFLIUC AIMEADAGIFLIUC AIMEADAGIFLIUC AIMEADAGIFLIUC AIMEADAGIGLIUC AIMEADAGIGLIUC AIMEADAGIGLIUC AIMEADAGIGLIUC AIMEADAGIGLIUC AIMEADAGIGLIUC AIMEADAGIGLIUC AIMEADAGIGLIUC AIMEADAGIGLIUC AIMEADAGIGLIUC	GLQ-QGHLDPDFIC TTITTTBaaaaaaaa IPBGIPTLDHLTVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHKVK ITBGIPVLDHKVK ITBGIPVLDKLKVK ITBGIPVLDSVALT VTBGIPVLDSVALT VTBGIPVLDSVALT VTBGIPVLDSVALT ITBGIPVLDSVALT ITBGIPVLDSVALT ITBGIPVLDSVALT ITBGIPVLDSVALT ITBGIPVLDSVALT ITBGIPVLDSVALT ITBGIPVLDSVALT ITBGIPVLDKRAV ITBGIPQDHVRVKK ITBGIPQDHVRVK	80 1111 109 109 109 109 109 109 1
34 2 · 1 2 2 3 3 4 5 5 6 7 7 8 99 100 111 13 14 14 15 0 17 18 19 20 21 22 24 25 26 27 27 26 27 26 27 27 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 2	CIT-SO Struct ECOLI HAEIN COXBU RICPR AQUAEI BASCU CHIR MACTU ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI ARCFUI BIRD-A BIRD-G CAEELI ARATHI ARATHI CAEELI CAE	ATTEREDUCED/TTPTT ATTEREDUCED/TTPTT ATGENANGA/TECHC ANGRUMAGA/TECHC EXGRUMAGA/TECHC EXGRUMAGA/TECHC EXGRUMAGA/TECHC EXGRUMAGA/TECHC ANGENFVGG/TECHC DYGENFVGG/TECHC EXGRUNAGA/TECHC EXGRUMAGA/TECHC EXGRUMAGA/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC EXGRUMAGG/TECHC	TbbbTT	DDDDTTaaaaaaaa LEVENTVREENVAATG LEVENTVREENVAATG LEVENTVREENVAATG LEVENTVREENVAATG LEVENTVREENVACTG UPVENTVAENVACTG LEVENTVREENVACTG UPVENTVREENVACTG UPVENTVREENVACTG UPVENTVREENVACTG UPVENTVREENVACTG UPVENTVREENVACTG UPVENTVREENVACTG LEVENTVREENVACTG	TIDDDDTTT333aaa ATASVIYVPAPFCKD VTAXVIXVPASFCKD ADACHIFVPAPFCKD ADACHIFVPAPFCKD ANASVIYVPPGFAA ANASVIYVPPGFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADVSIIFVPAPFAAD ANASVIYVPAPFAAD ANASVIYVPAPFAAD ATASVIYVPPFFAA ATASVIYVPPFFAA ACTASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA ADASVIYVPPFFAA	A HALFNERTHEFYY AAAAAAATTTTTDDDD SILEAIDAGIGLITT ALIEAIDAGIGLITYC SILEAIDAGIGLITYC SILEAIDAGIGLITYC SILEAIDAGIGLITYC AITEAIDAGIGLITYC AITEAIDAGIGLITYC AITEAIDAGIGLITYC AITEAIDAGIGLITYC AITEAIDAGIGLITYC AAFESIK-HEDIAYT AALEAAHAGIGLITYC AITEAIDAGIGLITYC AITEAACAGIGLITYC AITEAACAGIGLITYC	GLO-QCHLDPDFIC TTITTTBaaaaaaaa ITBGIPTLDHLTVK ITBGIPTLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHLKVK ITBGIPVLDHIKVK ITBGIPVLDHIKVK ITBGIPVLDHIKVK ITBGIPVLDHIKVK ITBGIPVLDHIKVK ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPTLDKVRAV ITBGIPQDHVKVK ITBGIPQDHVKVK ITBGIPQDHJKVKK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKKVKK ITBGIPQDHJKKVK ITBGIPQDHJKVKK ITBGIPQDHJKKK ITBGIPQDHJKKK ITBGIPQDHJKKK ITBGIPQDHJKKKK ITBGIPQDHJKKKKK ITBGIPQDHJKKKK ITBGI	80 1111 1099 1096 1096 1096 1006 1006 1006 1006 1006 1006 1006 1007 1122 1133 1234 1057 1277 17

26 DICH ENDERHAMSENG GUILD-27 SACCE ENDERHAMSENG GUILD-28 SCHPO DEGENVÄGINERKA GUILG-29 TRIVA2 ENDERHAMSENG GUILAG-30 TRIVA3 OKORIVAGNERKA GUILAG-31 TRIVA1 OKORIVAGNERKA GUILAG-LETERNIK BEVIRTD ANASLIEVPARGAAA ACTEAAENGIGLAVC ITTERTROFINIKVK 119

13

2.	Struct	aaaaa/TTbb	brr Tribbb	b	/TTIb	bbbTTT333TTTTTb	bbbb/TITaaaaaaaa	aaaaTTTTbbbbbb	187
						J. Allen Marchael			170
1	ECOLI	VKLDEAGVR	ALC: NOT BELLEVILLE	T		напраннкрас	GLVBCGTLCTRAVK	OLIDAGEOCOLCAGE	178
- 2	HAEIN	GIUNETGVVI		P	PDEC	KIGUIDAHIHKKIGKI	GIVSRUGTLETEAVK	QUIDEGE GOTCVGI	178
3	CONCELL	AYLROH-POVRE	Here a level of the	r	RGEC	HIGH GENERAL	GIVERSGILLTZAVN	QTTOMEEGGETCVGL	179
- 4	RICPR	RALIGSKIRL	TOP NEED DE	T	RGEC	RIGENEGHTHKIGDE	GIVSR9GTL/FIEAVA	OTTAAGLGOSTCVGL	178
5	ACCTAEL	DYMLKNYPNAKC	1 N C 11	T	REA	RVGUERGHIFTORGCE	GIVERBOTTPEAAY	OLTKYGLGOSTANGI	180
6	BASCU	REMEGKKTRD	1(C) N C 1	T	PEPC	EIGHEGYTHKKGHY	GUVSROOT TRAVE	OL SEAGUGOSTAVIST	178
7	CHIT	ST MENSASST	In the second second			KIGINPGYTHI POKY	CHURRENT OF TRAVA	OL/TORK TOOS A TIGT	178
•								fer freezenter entre	
•	10/0071			e		PROTING ANTWO CONT			100
	AICIU	AINLEAGINING	and an arrive			Distributingrori.			100
	SINCO	AMANANGINV	TOL BURGEN	7	IGQ8	MALLPPOTINPOL	GEVERAGETREDULAT	ELRDIGPSICWAL	180
10	ARCFUL	RICLREVKSME		S	RGRS	EVGLAPLIKSFTUGNE	GAM2823CHTEROTOS	NLTRAGIGOSTVVGI	181
11	ARCFU2	WRVKEAG-AT-L	110.4 41,0141	S	PGRT	HLGDDPVQIFKPGNV	GIVERSGUILTOLAY	NLTKLGLGQSTVVGI	178
12	METJA	NYAEDVG-V-KE	DOD: NO. DOLLAR	S	RKVG	ILGEIPMEVLKEGS R	GIVERBOTLEYBIAH	QINCAGEGVETCVGL	183
13	METTH	EYASRMG-KT-V	sterra aureras	T	RGIG	REGENETHEFTEGTE	GIVERSCHLEYEFAA	OLTEAGEGOSTCVGI	181
14	THEAD	ERTKALGSRE	TICC PRINCIPE	S	AEET	KIGDERGHVEKRERKE	GITSESCHURTAAA	ALSOAGLATTTTTGE	177
15	דערודין.	POTRAT C SPT	Ite en Marietar	S	AHT.P	KTGT/MRGHVENDGRVE	GITTERSCITTERRAAA	ALSOAGT COMMINST	177
16	Malara	T DOVDE/DVD/D/D/D/		č	P.YC	M GTNBCHTVT BOSOL	CATTEROCH CATA AA	CHART CTOTOTOTOT	160
10	nerece	LIGHT PREAMING					ditescontare.	Quertara 13491	103
17	PIGI08	HRLLROG-KING	IIGP HCPGVI	NRPLRPAVY	TTSKVPTCTQQBEYR	ALPLEG-TRSUM	GIVSISGILIPTRAVH	QPIQVGLGQSLCVGI	230
18	PIG57	HRLLROG-KIRL	IGP. NCPGYL	N	RGEC	REGENERGETHKOGKE	GIVERS GILIPPEAVE	QPTQVGLOQBLCVG1	213
- 19	rat	HKLIRQG-KIRE	IGP NCRIEI	N	RGEC	RIGIOPGHINKNERI	GIVSRSGTLITTIAVH	QTTQVGLQQSLCIGI	213
20	BIRD-A	HRLVROD-KIRE	NGP NCPOVI	N	RGEC	KIGINPGHIHKKERE	GIVSRIGILITYEAVH	I OTSOVGLOOSLCIGI	186
21	BIRD-G	HRLVROD-KTRL	NGP HCPONI	N	REC	RIGINFCHIHOURI	GIVSRIGTLITYEAVH	OTSOVGLOOSLCIGI	186
22	CAFEL1	SRILKON-KTRI	AGP NERGEL	S		KIGINGHTHKRGCT	GIVERSGITT/PAVH	OTTOVGEGOTTCVGI	204
22	CAFFT.2	NET THEN KSET	ICP NEBUT			KTGENRGHTHKKG T	GIVSRSGTUTYEAVH	OTTIVE CORCIES	205
24	ADAMEN	AATAICOC_MUT	TICE MARKET	¥		RIGTORCYTHINGKT	GIVEROCIT/MEAVE	OTTAVET COST VET	227
- 419	ADAMER	NATIOCO MUSIC	TOD NODOTT	X			CTURDOGUE MURAVE	QUINTIGUE COORCERT	220
40	ANALITZ	HATVARD-VILL	TIGE NCEGET	X		ALGENGIIHAPGAL	GIVEROUT INVE	QTINVGLOQSICVGI	100
20	DICDI	ATTWKON-KIKP	TOR NURGET	¥		AIGLEPORTHKIGKT	GLVSRSGTUETEAVA	QUINVGLOUPICIGI	130
27	SACCE	EMILQIQD-KIRL	NGP NCFGLI	N	EXIXV	REGEOPPREPORT	GILISESGILIFYRAV	QUIKIDLIGUELVIGH	208
- 28	SCHPO	DILKTOS-KSRL	NGP NCPGEI	R	RGQC	RIGINPSHIRKPOCI	GIVSREGULITHAVN	QTIQIDLGQELVIGI	211
- 29	TRIVA2	KVMRETGCOL	IGP: NCPGL(μ	PGIMI	REGEIPTNEFRNORI	GIVEREGILITYEAAY	ATTOAGLOOSTVVGI	190
- 30	TRIVAJ	KVMKETGCOE	IGP NCPGLI	Q	PGTH1	. KIGEIPINIFNNGKI	GIVERSGELITYEAAY	ATTLAGLOOSIVVGI	190
31	TRIVAL	KVMKETGCOL	TOP NOPGLI	Ö		KLGIIPINIFNNGKI	GIVERSGILITVEAN	ATTLAGLOOSTVVGI	190
				-					
32	ACT IA PO	WAKERCUTT	1000 191/001	V	PRTPAR	TOGENESTAVADOG.	VIT SISCONVIN	MEKRICALIYMALAL	214
- 22	CTTLUI	KORNTOOKCTUPT	TOP MERCE	 Maaaaaaaa		VTCHWGC.	VAVUERSCHENT N	TISPUTCAVERAT	691
		NUMBER OF T		<u> </u>	100	VT(BUTO)	TROVINE PROCESSION	TICONTYNET	754
74	CI1-30	INNUM-GITT	TOL NTAGO	M		CT CD T COmment of Law 10 Shoes	AGT ADECOGRADIETTA	A TISATINA TERME	400
2.	Struct	TEFFFFFFFFaaa	aaa aaaTTT	ddddd TT	brittaaaaaaaaaa	aatTTTbbbb	bbrrrrrTPPPP	TOTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	273
-								-	
•	FOOT.T	CONTRACTO		OTEA TUMPE	STORSARDARYTH	FRU	TAGUTAP	HAGATTACCKOPADE	261
	113 12777	CONSTRUCTION OF THE		CHICA TRACK	TOTOTAL AND DESCRIPTION		TACTOR - MONDA	LINCATT COCHOTAL	261
	MELIN	CLUPT PODSF11			STREET, STREET, ST.	CAN LINEVVAL		TING TTING	201
د ا	CUXBU	GOUPLIGISPID		A I CHAT AND A		ANVNAEVISI	LINSVING - COLUMN	A CARGE AND A CONTRACT OF	404
- 4	RICPR	GGDEVNGISEVD	CIE MPLQU	EIKALIEIG	RINGSARDANDE D	VOR IKREIVSE	LAGITAPALKIOK	* MAGALISUGROSAED	262
- 5	AQUAE1	GGDEVHGLTHR	vie minkde	PEREATLING	HIG CIVERED ALEY IS	KEVDREVYAY	IAGITAPFGRRM	5 HAGALIMBERETAKA	263
6	BASCU	GEDEVNGINFIL	wlk afnede	DINAVIDUG	RIGGTAREAADWA	(ANMTREFVICE	IGGICTAPPGICRIC	HINGALISGGRIGTADE	261
7	CHLTR	GEDELNGTSFID	ALO EFERDE	OTEAVE TIG	ELGGENERENADWIT	QHSSKEVIAF	LAGATAPKGKRM	HINGALISGKSGDAFS	261
•									
~									222

9 STRCO GEDEVUOTSHIDCLA AFEDEPOTELIVILIS EUGEDAEENAAHIR AHVTKEVVAY IAGETAPBERING BAGATVSGSSGTARA 263 10 ARCFUI GEDENGLITFUUNK MEEDEEENAALING EUGEDAEENAAHIR AHVTKEVVAY IAGETAPBERING BAGATVSGSSGTARA 263 11 ARCFUI GEDENGLITFUUNK MEEDEEENAALING EUGEDAEENAARFIR -MSERVAY IAGETAPBERING BAGATVSGSSGTARA 263 12 METUR GEDEVUGLEYNEVLD LFEXDEEENAALING EUGGABEENAARFIE -MSERVAY IAGETAPBERING BAGATVSGSSGTARA 263 13 METUR GEDEVUGLEYNEVLD LFEXDEEENAALING EUGGABEENAARFIE -MSERVAR IAGATAPBERING BAGATVSGSSGTARA 263 14 THEAQ GEDEVUGLEYNEVLD LFEXDERENAVURG EUGGABEENAARFIE -MSERVAR ISGANB-BAGATVSGSSGTARA 263 15 THEFL GEDEVURGLEYNEVLD LFEXDERENAVURG EUGGABEENAARK DHKERVARF ISGARPKERRIG BAGATIAGVGTPES 260 16 Malate GEDEVURGLEYNEVLD LINEDPETEAVILIG EUGGABEENAAWK DHKERVARF ISGRAPKERRIG BAGATIAGVGTPES 260 16 Malate GEDEVURGLEYNEVLD LINEDPETEAVILIG EUGGABEENAAWK DHKERVARF ISGRAPKERRIG BAGATIAGVGTPES 260 16 Malate GEDEVURGENENGENEELE LFLADEPETEAVILIG EUGGABEENAAWK DHKERVARF IAGENEG BAGATIAGVGGGAKE 317 18 PIG57 GEDEFNRITEFTDCLE IFLADEPETEAVILIG EUGGABEENAARKK DHKERVARF VAGITAPKERRIG BAGATIAGVGGGAKE 300 19 RAT GEDEFNRITEFTDCLE IFLADEPATEGETIAGE EUGGABEENAARFIK CHN-SGRAKEVNSF IAGTAPKERRIG BAGATIAGVGGGAKE 300 20 BERD-A GEDEFNRITEFTDCLE VELKEPETEAUEIE EUGGABEENAARFIK KEN-SGRAKEVNSF IAGTAPKERRIG BAGATIAGVGGGAKE 300 21 PIG-B GEDEFNRITEFTDCLE VELKEPERGITIGE BIGGAAEENAARFIK KEN-SGRAKEVNSF IAGTAPKERRIG BAGATIAGVGGGAKE 300 22 CAEELI GEDEFNRITEFTDCLE VELKEPENGTIAGE BIGGAAEENAARFIK ENS-SGRAKEVNSF IAGTAPRERING BAGATIAGVGGAKE 300 23 ARATH GEDEFNRITEFTDCLE VELKEPENGTIAGE BIGGAAEENAAFK ENS-SGRAKEVNSF IAGTAPRERING BAGATIAGVGGAKE 300 24 ARATHI GEDEFNRITEFTDCLE VELKEPENGTIAGE BIGGAAEENAAFK ENS-SGRAKEVNSF IAGTAPRERING BAGATIAGVGGAKE 273 25 CAEEL2 GEDEFNRITEFTDCLE VELKEPENGTIAGE BIGGAAEENAAFK ENS-SGRAKEVNSF IAGTAPRERING BAGATIAGVGGAGAKE 321 26 ARATHI GEDEFNRITEFTDCLE VELKEPENGTIAGE BIGGAAEENAAFK ENS-SGRAKEVNSF IAGTAPRERING BAGATIAGVGGAGAKE 273 26 ARATHI GEDEFNRITEFTDCLE KEFVROPTEGG
10 ARCFUI GGDENPGLTFVOMIX MPEEDEETNAULUG EIGGTABEGAAEPIK -MSERVAR IAGRIAPRGRENG EAGALIEGSTGTAEA 263 11 ARCFUZ GGDENIGTIFVORUK LPEDDRETRAVENG EIGGGAEBEAAKFIE -EMSERVAR VALUAPRGRENG EAGALIEGSTGTAEA 263 12 METUA GGDENVGLEYNEVED LPEXDRETRAVENG EIGGGAEBEAAKFIE -MSERVAR VALUAPRGRENG EAGALIEGSTGTAEA 263 13 METTIN GGDENVGLEYNEVED LPEXDRETRAVENG EIGGGAEBEAAKFIE -M
11 ARCFU2 GGDRIIGTDFVIVER LF2DRETRAVENG HDGGRDEBVAREFIR - 24SKRWGY VAGLDAPEGRIG HAGALLEGAGTAES 260 12 METLA GGDERVERKEVED LF2KGDEFEAIVINE HUGGRDEBVAREFIR - 24
12 METUA GEOPTVELRYNSVED LIPEKDETEALWEIGE BIOGGABERAAKFIE -KMKREVIGY IAGOSAPBERRIG BIGALVERKEGTAES 265 13 METUH GEORVIELGEVUVLE REEDDRGTHAWLIGE BIOGGABERAAKFIE -KMKREVIGY IAGOSAPBERRIG BIGALVERKEGTAES 263 14 THER, GEORVIELGEVUVLE REEDDRGTHAWLIGE BIOGGABERAAKKE DMKREVIGY IAGOSAPBERRIG BIGALVERKEGTAES 263 15 THEFL GEORVIELTEKOLLP LINEDPETEAVIAIG BIOGGABERAAKKE DMKREVIGF VALUAPKREWIG BIGALVERKEGTAES 263 16 Malate GEORVIELTEKOLLP LINEDPETEAVIAIG BIOGGABERAAKKE DMKREVIGF VALUAPKREWIG BIGALVARVETES 260 16 Malate GEORVIELTEKOLLP LINEDPETEAVIAIG BIOGGABERAAKKE DMKREVIGF VALUAPKREWIG BIGALVAGKGGAKE 317 17 PIGL08 GEORVIELTEKOLLP LINEDPETEAVIAIG BIOGGABERAAKKE DMSERVICF VALUAPKREWIG BIGALVAGKGGAKE 310 18 PIG57 GEORFNEIDFTDELE IFLNDPATEGETILIG BIOGGABERAAEFIK GEN-SERVSKYSF VALUAPKREWIG BIGALVAGKGGAKE 310 19 RAT GEORFNEIDFTDELE VELKERAUKE BIOGGABERAAFEK DN-SERVSKYSF VALUAPKREWIG BIGALVAGKGGAKE 310 21 DIG-A GEORFNEIDFTDELD VELKERAUGER BIOGGABERAAFEK ENN-SERVSKYSF VALUAPKREWIG BIGALVAGKGGAKE 310 22 CAEEL1 GEORFNEIDFTDELD VELKERAUGER BIOGGABERAAFEK ENN-SERVAKYSF VALUAPKREWIG BIGALVAGKGGAKE 273 22 CAEEL1 GEORFNEIDFTDELD VELKERAUGER BIOGGABERAAFEK ENN-SERVAKEVSF VALUAPKREWIG BIGALVAGKGGAKE 273 24 ARATHL GEORFNEIDFTDELE VELEPERGETILG BIOGGABERAAFEK ENN-SERVAKEVSF VALUAPREBIG BIGALVAGKGGAKE 273 24 ARATHL GEORFNEIDFTDELE VELEPERGETILG BIOGGABERAAFEK ENN-SERVAKEVSF VALUAPREBIG BIGALVAGKGGAKE 273 24 ARATHL GEORFNEIDFTDELE VELEPERGETILG BIOGGABERAAYKE BIN-SERVAKEVSF VALUAPREBIG BIGALVAGKGGAKE 273 24 ARATHL GEORFNEIDFTDELE VELEPERGETILG BIOGGABERAAYKE BIN-SERVAKEVSF VALUAPREBIG BIGALVAGKGGAKE 273 25 CAEEL2 GEOFFNEIDFTDELE VELEPERGETILG BIOGGABERAAYKE BIN-SERVAKEVSF VALUAPREBIG BIGALVAGKGGAAD 291 26 ARATHL GEOFFNEIDFTDELE KERVERPEGETILG BIOGGABERAAYKE BIN-SERVAKEVSF VALUAPREBIG BIGALVAGKGGAAD 292 26 ARATHL GEOFFNEIDFTDELE KERVERPEGETILG BIOGGABERAAYKE BIN-SERVAKEVSF VALUAPREBIG BIGALVAGKGGAAD 292 26 ARATHL GEOFFNEIDFTDELE KERVERPEGETILG BIOGGABERAAK
13 METTH GGDPVTGLGPVDVLE RPEDDPGTDAWELGE ETGGDAMERAASYTE -QMSUPVAP ISGATAPFGRMG HAGALIBGJTGTASS 263 14 THEAQ GGDPVTGLTFYDLLP LINEDPETEAWIAGE ETGGDAMERAASYTE -QM
14 THEAQ GEDEVIGITYKOLLE LINEDPETEAWILIG HIGGSDEBEAAAWK DIMKREWGF IGGRSAPKREWG HIGALIMGWGTPES 260 15 THEFL GEDEVIGUTYKOLLE LINEDPETEAWILIG HIGGSDEBEAAAWK DIMKREWGF IGGRSAPKREWG HIGALIMGWGTPES 260 16 Halate GEDEVIGUTYKOLLE LINEDPETEAWILIG HIGGSAERMAAKK DIMKREWGF VAGUAPKREWG HIGALIMGWGTPES 260 17 PIGL08 GEDEVIGUTYKOLLE HILIDPATEGUTLIG HIGGSAERMAAKK DIMKREWGF VAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 317 18 PIG57 GEDEVIGUTYKOLLE HILIDPATEGUTLIG HIGGSAERMAAETK ON-SGPKSKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 300 20 BIRD-A GEDEVIGUTYTOLE UPLKOPATEGUTLIG HIGGSAERMAAETK EN-SGPKSKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 300 20 BIRD-A GEDEVIGUTYTOLU VILKOPATEGUTLIG HIGGSAERMAAETK EN-SGPKSKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 300 20 BIRD-A GEDEVIGUTYTOLU VILKOPATEGUTLIG HIGGSAERMAAETK EN-SGPKSKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 300 20 BIRD-A GEDEVIGUTYTOLU VILKOPATEGUTLIG HIGGSAERMAAETK EN-SGPKAKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 273 21 PIG-B GEDEVIGUTYTOLU VILKOPATEGUTLIG HIGGSAERMAATK EN-SGRAKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 273 22 CAEEL GEDEVIGUTYTOLU VILKOPATEGUTLIG HIGGSAERMAATK EN-SGRAKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 273 24 ARATHL GEDEVIGUTYTOLE KEVVEROTEGUTLIG HIGGSAERMAATK EN-SGRAKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 273 24 ARATHL GEDEVIGUTVUCLE KEVVEROTEGUTLIG HIGGSAHEMAATK EN-SGRAKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 273 25 ARATHL GEDEVIGUTVUCLE KEVEROPTEGUTLIG HIGGSAHEMAATK EN-SGRAKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 273 26 ARATHL GEDEVIGUTVUCLE KEVEROPTEGUTLIG HIGGSAHEMAATK EN-SGRAKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 273 26 ARATHL GEDEVIGUTVUCLE KEVEROPTEGUTLIG HIGGSAHEMAATK EN-SGRAKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 273 26 ARATHL GEDEVIGUTVUCLE KEVEROPTEGUTLIG HIGGSAHEMAATK EN-SGRAKEWSF LAGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGGAKE 273 27 SACCE GEDEVIGUNFUCLE KEVEROPTEGUTLIG HIGGSAHEMAALK ENGTERFWAR HIGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGTAGE 322 27 SACCE GEDEPROINFUCLE KEVEROPTEGUTLIG HIGGSAHEMAALK ENGTERFWAR HIGUAPKREWG HIGALIAGKGTAGE 322 27 SACCE GEDEPROINFUCLE KEVEROPTEGUTLIG HIGGSAHEMAALIK ENTERFWARF HIGALISGSAFTAB
15 THEFL GODFNELTFIOLLP LENEDPETEAVILIE HUGGSDEEEAAAMK DHMKURWGF IGGRAP-HURRIG HUGAIIHGNUTPES 260 16 Halate GODFINGSSFLIHEA LEDDFFEANLING HUGGSDEEEAAAMK DHMKURWGF IGGRAPKURRIG HUGAIIHGNUTPES 260 17 PIG108 GODFINGTSFLIET LEINDPATEGEILIG HUGGALERAARFLK CHN-SGPNSKPVSF LAGLAPKURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAKE 300 19 RAT GODFINGTINFTICLE VELNDPATEGEILIG HUGGALERAARFLK CHN-SGPNSKPVSF LAGLAPKURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAKE 300 19 RAT GODFINGTINFTICLE VELNDPATEGUILIG HUGGALERAARFLK CHN-SGRAKKVSF LAGLAPKURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAKE 300 20 BIRD-A GODFINGTINFTICLE VELKDPATEGILIG HUGGALERAARFLK ENN-SGRAKKVSF LAGLAPKURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAKE 300 21 PIG-B GODFINGTINFTICLE VELKDPATEGILIG HUGGALERAARFLK ENN-SGRAKKVSF LAGLAPKURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAKE 300 22 CAEELI GODFINGTNFTICLE VELKDPHTEGILIG HUGGALERAARFLK ENN-SGRAKKVSF LAGLAPKURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAKE 273 23 PIG-B GODFINGTNFTICLE VELKDPHTEGILIG HUGGALERAARFLK ENN-SGRAKKVSF LAGJAPKURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAKE 273 24 ARATHL GODFINGTNFTICLE VELEDFERGITIG HUGGALERAARFLK ENN-SGRAKKVSF LAGJAPKURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAKE 273 24 ARATHL GODFINGTNFTICLE VELEDFERGITIG HUGGALERAARFLK ENN-SGRAKKVSF LAGJAPKURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAKE 273 25 ARATHL GODFINGTNFTICLE KEPVDPOTEGUILIG HUGGALERAARFLK ENN-SGRAKKVSF LAGJAPFURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAKE 273 26 ARATHL GODFINGTNFTICLE KEPVDPOTEGUILIG HUGGALERAARFLK ENN-SGRAKKVSF LAGJAPFURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAKE 273 26 ARATHL GODFINGTNFTICLE KEPVDPOTEGUILIG HUGGALERAARFLK ENN-SGRAKKVSF LAGJAPFURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAKE 273 26 ARATHL GODFINGTNFTICLE KEPVDPOTEGUILIG HUGGALERAARFLK ENN-SGRAKKVSF LAGJAPFURRIG HUGAIIAGKUGGAGATAD 322 26 ARATHL GODFINGTNFTICLE KEPVDPOTEGUILIG HUGGALERAARFL ENN-SGRAKKVSF LAGJAPFURRIG HUGAIIAGKUTAD 332 27 SACE GODFINGTNFTICLE KEPVDPOTEGUILIG HUGGALERAARFLE KENS-SGRAKKVSF LAGJAPA-FURRIG HUGAIISGGUTAD 332 27 SACE GODFINGTNFTICLE KEPVDPOTEGUILIG HUGGALERAARFLE HUGAIFSSCRAKUFER LAGAP-FURRIG HUGAIISGKUTAD 322 29 SACE GODFINGTNFTICLE KEPVDPOTEGUILIG HUGGALERAARFLE HUGAIFSSCRAKERAAFFLE HUGAIFSSCRAFTLE JAGAFLERAAFFLE HUGAIFSSCRAFTLERAAFFLE HUGAIFSSCRAK
16 MALATE GEOPINGISSILHIA LIPOOPETRAVINIS HIGGORANDAMETK ENFSKPUIGF VACUARKRENG HARAITAGKGGAKE 317 17 PIG108 GEOPINGIDFIDCLE IPLADPATEGUILIG HIGGORANDAMETK ON-SGRSKEVISF LAGUARKRENG HARAITAGKGGAKE 310 18 PIG57 GEOPINGIDFIDCLE IPLADPATEGUILIG HIGGORANDAMETK ON-SGRSKEVISF LAGUARKRENG HAGAITAGKGGAKE 300 19 RAT GEOPINGIDFIDCLD VILKOPATEGUILIG HIGGORANDAAFIK EN-SGRSKEVISF LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAKE 300 20 BIRD-A GEOPINGIDFIDCLD VILKOPATEGUILIG HIGGORANDAAFIK EN-SGRSKEVISF LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAKE 273 21 PIG-B GEOPINGIDFIDCLD VILKOPHTEGUILIG HIGGORANDAAFIK EN-SGRSKEVISF LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAKE 273 22 CAEEL1 GEOPINGIDFIDCLD VILKOPHTEGUILIG HIGGORANDAAFIK EN-SGRSKEVISF LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAKE 273 22 CAEEL2 GEOPINGIDFIDCLD VILKOPHTEGUILIG HIGGORANDAAFIK EN-SGRSKEVISF LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAKE 273 24 ARATHI GEOPINGIDFIDCLE VILEDPINGUILIG HIGGORANDAAFIK EN-SGRSKEVISF LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAKE 294 25 ARATH2 GEOPINGIDFIDCLE KEVENDETGUILIG HIGGORANDAAFIK EN-SGRSKEVISF LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAKE 294 26 ALCOPINGIDFIDCLE KEVENDETGUILIG HIGGORANDAAFIK EN-SGRSKEVISF LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAKE 294 26 ALCOPINGIDFIDCLE KEVENDETGUILIG HIGGORANDAAFIK EN-SGRSKEVISF LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAKE 294 26 ALCOPINGIDFIDCLE KEVENDETGUILIG HIGGORANDAAIK EN-SGRSKEVISF LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAKE 294 26 ALCOPINGIDFIDCLE KEVENDETGUILIG HIGGORANDAAILK ENGTEKEVISF LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAND 311 25 ARATH2 GEOPINGIDFUCLE KEVENDETGUILIG HIGGORANDAAILK ENGTEKEVAR LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAND 320 26 ALCOL GEOPINGIDFUCLE KEVENDETGUILIG HIGGORANDAALIK ENGTEKEVAR LAGUARREGNG HAGAITAGKGGAND 320 27 SACCE GEOPINGIDFUCLE KEVENDETGUILIG HIGGORANDAALI SONGAARS HAGAITSGRGTADD 320 27 SACCE GEOPINGIDFUCLE HIGGORANDATIC HIGGORANDAEFK ENDERGRANDET LAGUARD-REGNG HAGAITSGRGTADA 200 27 SACCE GEOPINGIDFUCLE HIGGORANDA HIGGORANDA HIGGORANDAEFK ENDERGENDERGE HAGAITSGRGTADA 200 27 SACCE GEOPINGIDFUCLE HIGGORANDATICA HIGGORANDAEFK ENDERGRANDEFK ENDERGRANDE HAGAITSGRGTADA 200 27 SACCE GEOPINGIDFUCLE HIGGORAN
17 PIG108 GODEFNGIDEFDCLE IPLNDPATEGUILIG HIGGALENAAEPIK (HN-SGPKSKPVISF LAGLDAPRERNG HAGAILAGRGGAKE 317 18 PIG57 GODEFNGIDEFDCLE IPLNDPATEGUILIG HIGGALENAAEPIK (HN-SGPKSKPVISF LAGLDAPRERNG HAGAILAGRGGAKE 300 20 BIRD-A GODEFNGIDEFDCLD VFLKDPATEGUILIG HIGGALENAAEPIK EHN-SGPKAKPVISF LAGLDAPRERNG HAGAILAGRGGAKE 300 20 BIRD-A GODEFNGIDEFDCLD VFLKDPATEGUILIG HIGGALENAAEPIK EHN-SGPKAKPVISF LAGLDAPRERNG HAGAILAGRGGAKE 273 21 PIG-B GODEFNGIDEFDCLD VFLKDPATEGUILIG HIGGALENAAEPIK ENN-SGRAKRVVSF LAGLDAPRERNG HAGAILAGRGGAKE 273 22 CAEEL GODEFNGIDEFDCLD VFLKDPATEGUILIG HIGGALENAAEPIK ENN-SGRAKRVVSF LAGLDAPRERNG HAGAILAGRGGAKE 273 23 CAEEL GODEFNGIDEFDCLD VFLKDPATEGUILIG HIGGALENAAEPIK SN-SGRAKRVSF LAGLDAPRERNG HAGAILAGRGGAKE 273 24 ARATHI GODEFNGIDEFDCLE VFLEDEOTIGUILIG HIGGALENAAEPIK SN-SGRAKRVSF LAGLDAPRERNG HAGAILAGRGGAKE 273 24 ARATHI GODEFNGIDEFDCLE VFLEDEOTIGUILIG HIGGALENAAEPIK SN-SGRAKRVSF LAGUAPRERNG HAGAILAGRGTAG 292 24 ARATHI GODEFNGIDEFDCLE KEPVDEOTEGUILIG HIGGALENAAEPIK SN-SGRAKRVSF LAGUAPRERNG HAGAILAGRGTAG 292 24 ARATHI GODEFNGIDEFDCLE KEPVDEOTEGUILIG HIGGALENAAILK ENGIDKRVARF LAGUAPRERNG HAGAILAGRGTAG 312 25 ARATH2 GODEFNGIDEFDCLE KEPVDEOTEGUILIG HIGGALENAALK ENGIDKRVARF LAGUAPRERNG HAGAILAGRGTAG 312 26 DICU GODEFNGIDEFDCLE KEPVDEOTEGUILIG HIGGALENAALK ENGIDKRVARF LAGUAFRERNG HAGAILAGRGTAG 312 27 SACCE GODEFNGIDEFDCLE KEPVDEOTEGUILIG HIGGALENAALK ENTIDKRVARF LAGUARPRERNG HAGAILAGRGTAG 322 27 SACCE GODEFNGIDEFDCLE KEPVDEOTEGUILIG HIGGALENAALK EN
17 PIG108 GGDEFNGIDFTDCLE IFLNDPATEGUILIG HIGGNAUENAAEFLK OHN-SGPNSKEWISE IAGLDAPRGRENG HAGAILAGKGGAKE 317 18 PIG57 GGDEFNGIDFTDCLE IFLNDPATEGUILIG HIGGNAUENAAEFLK CHN-SGPNSKEWISE IAGLDAPRGRENG HAGAILAGKGGAKE 300 19 RAT GGDEFNGIDFTDCLD VFLKDPATEGUILIG HIGGNAUENAAEFLK ENN-SGPNAKEWISE IAGLDAPRGRENG HAGAILAGKGGAKE 300 20 BIRD-A GGDEFNGIDFTDCLD VFLKDPATEGUILIG HIGGNAUENAAEFLK ENN-SGPNAKEWISE IAGLDAPRGRENG HAGAILAGKGGAKE 300 21 PIG-B GGDEFNGIDFTDCLD VFLKDPATEGUILIG HIGGNAUENAAEFLK ENN-SGPNAKEWISE IAGLDAPRGRENG HAGAILAGKGGAKE 273 22 CAEEL1 GGDEFNGIDFTDCLD VFLKDPATEGUILIG HIGGNAUENAAEFLK ENN-SGPNAKEWISE IAGUNAPRGRENG HAGAILAGKGGAKE 273 23 CAEEL1 GGDEFNGIDFTDCLE VFLEDEFENGUILIG HIGGNAUENAAEFLK ENN-SGNAKEWISE IAGUNAPRGRENG HAGAILAGKGGAKE 273 24 ARATHL GGDEFNGIDFTDCLE VFLEDEFENGUILIG HIGGNAUENAAEFLK ENN-SGNAKEWISE IAGUNAPRGRENG HAGAILAGKGGAKE 273 25 ARATHL GGDEFNGIDFTDCLE KEFVIDPOTEGUILIG HIGGNAUENAAEFLK SN-SGNAKEWISE IAGUNAPRGRENG HAGAILAGKGGAKE 273 26 ARATHL GGDEFNGIDFTDCLE KFFVIDPOTEGUILIG HIGGNAUENAAEFLK SN-SGNAKEWISE IAGUNAPRGRENG HAGAILAGKGTAGD 391 27 ARATHL GGDEFNGIDFTDCLE KFFVIDPOTEGUILIG HIGGNAUENAALIK ENGTEKRWAP IAGUNAPRGRENG HAGAILAGKGTAGD 312 26 DICOL GGDEFNGIDFTDCLE KFFVIDPOTEGUILIG HIGGNAUENAALIK ENGTEKRWAP IAGUNAPRGRENG HAGAILAGKGTAGD 312 27 SACCE GGDEFNGIDFTDCLE KFFVIDPOTEGUILIG HIGGNAUENAALIK ENGTEKRWAPS IAGUNAPRGRENG HAGAILGGKGTAGD 312 27 SACCE GGDEFNGIDFTDLKK HTODPOTEGUILIG HIGGNAUENAALIK ENTEKRWAPS IAGUNAGHAGANS HAGAILGAKGTAGA 320 27 SACCE GGDEFNGIDFTDLEK HIGGNAUENGARGUNAP-FERENDALIK EN-SFRAKENAAFLE IAGUNAPRGRENG HAGAILGAKGTAGD 322 27 SACCE GGDEFNGIDFTDAKK LJELEDEFTEGUIDER-BEGAAKERAAKENAAEI DENGEFK ENN SSRAKEWINSE IAGUNAGHAGHAGAKGTAGD 322 29 GTOFF
18 PIG57 GGDEFNGINFTICLE IFLNDPATEGETLIGE KIGGNABENAAEFLK ON-SGPNSKPWSE DAGLDAPRGRING ENGALLAGGOGGAKE 300 19 RAT GGDEFNGINFTICLD VELKDPATEGETLIGE KIGGNABENAAEFLK EN-SGPNAKDWSE DAGLDAPRGRING ENGALLAGGOGGAKE 300 20 BIRD-A GGDEFNGINFTICLD VELKDPATEGETLIGE KIGGNABENAAEFLK EN-SGPNAKDWSE DAGLDAPRGRING ENGALLAGGOGGAKE 273 21 PIG-B GGDEFNGINFTICLD VELKDPATEGETLIGE KIGGNABENAAFLK EN-SGPNAKDWSE DAGLDAPRGRING ENGALLAGGOGGAKE 273 22 CAEEL1 GGDEFNGINFTICLD VELKDPATEGETLIGE KIGGNABENAAFLK EN-SGNAKDWSE DAGLDAPRGRING ENGALLAGGOGGAKE 273 22 CAEEL1 GGDEFNGINFTICLD VELEDPENGITLIGE KIGGNABENAAFLK EN-SGNAKDWSE DAGLDAPRGRING ENGALLAGGOGGAKE 273 23 CAEEL1 GGDEFNGINFTICLE VELEDPENGITLIGE KIGGNABENAAFLK EN-SGNAKDWSE DAGVDAPRGRING ENGALLAGGOGGAGKE 273 24 ARATHI GGDEFNGINFTICLE VELEDPINGTILIGE KIGGNABENAAFLK EN-SGNAKDWSE DAGVDAPRGRING ENGALLAGGOGGAGTAD 291 25 ARATHI GGDEFNGINFTICLE KEPVDPOFGGIVLIGE KIGGNABENAALLK EN-SGNAKDWSE DAGUTAPRGRING ENGALTAGGOGGAGTAD 311 25 ARATHI GGDEFNGINFTICLE KEPVDPOFGGIVLIGE KIGGNABENAALLK EN-SGNAKDWSE DAGUTAPRGRING ENGALTAGGOGGAGTAD 322 26 DICDI GGDEFNGINFTICLE KEPVDPOFGGIVLIGE KIGGNABENAALLK ASGTERWARE DAGLTAPRGRING ENGALTSGOGGADA 322 27 SACCE GGDEFNGINFTICLK MPTOPOFGGIVLIGE KIGGNABENAALK ENN-SGNARDWSE DAGLARARGRING ENGALTSGOGGADA 320 27 SACCE GGDEFNGINFTICLE KEPVDPOFGGIVLIGE KIGGNABENAACHI DNPTICHWSE DAGLAGAR SGAUTSGOGGADA 320 30 GGDEFNGINFTICLE VELEDPENGETLIGE KIGGNABENAALK ENN-SGNARDAGE KANTSGOGGADA 320 31 DICDI GGDEFNGINFTICLE KEPVDPOFGGIVLIGE KIGGNABENAALK ENN-SGNARDAGE DAGUTAPRGRING ENGALTSGOGGADAS 322 32 GODEFNGINFTICLE KEPVDPOFGGIVLIGE KIGGNABENAALK ENN-SGNARDAGE DAGUTAPRGRING ENGALTSGOGGADAS 322 33 GGDEFNGINFTICLE KEPVDPOFGGIVLIGE KIGGNABENAALK ASGTERWARE DAGUTAPRGRING ENGALTSGOGGADAS 322 34 GGDEFNGINFTICLE KEPVDPOFGGIVLIGE KIGGNABENAACHENDEFK ENGALSTAGGNGARAFE ENGALTSGOGGADAS 322 35 GODEFNGINFTICLE KEPVDPOFGGIVLIGE KIGGNABENAACHENDEFK ENGALSTAGGNGARAFE ENGALTSGOGGADAS 320 35 GGDEFNGINFTIDEK LINGERENAACHENDEFK ENGALSTAGAEFKARENAACHENDEFKE
19 RAT GODEFNOINFIDCLD VILKOPATEGUILDE EIGENABENAAEFLK EHN-SGRAKDWISF LAGIADRERENG HAGAILAGAGGGAKE 300 20 BLRD-A GODEFNOINFIDCLD VILKOPATEGUILDE EIGENABENAAEFLK EHN-SGRAKDWISF LAGIADRERENG HAGAILAGAGGGAKE 273 21 PIG-B GODEFNOINFIDCLD VILKOPATEGUILDE EIGENABENAAFLK ENN-SGRAKDWISF LAGIADRERENG HAGAILAGAGGAKE 273 22 CAEEL1 GODEFNOINFIDCLD VILKOPATEGUILDE EIGENABENAAFLK ENN-SGRAKDWISF LAGIADRERENG HAGAILAGAGGAKE 273 22 CAEEL2 GODEFNOINFIDCLE VILEDEUTNGILDE EIGENABENAAFLK ENN-SGRAKDWISF LAGIADRERENG HAGAILAGAGGAKE 273 24 ARATHI GODEFNOINFIDCLE VILEDEUTNGILDE EIGENABENAAFLK EN-SGRAKDWISF LAGIADRERENG HAGAILAGAGGAKE 273 25 ARATH2 GODEFNOINFIDCLE KEVURCHEGUILDE EIGENABENAAILK ENOTENEVVAF LAGIADRERENG HAGAILAGAGGAKE 273 26 DICDI GODEFNOINFIDCLE KEVURCHEGUILDE EIGENABENAAILK ASOTENEVVAF LAGIADRERENG HAGAILAGAGGAKE 273 26 DICDI GODEFNOINFIDCLE KEVURCHEGUILDE EIGENABENAAILK ASOTENEVVAF LAGIADRERENG HAGAILAGAGGAKE 273 27 SACCE GODEFNOINFIDCLE KEVURCHEGELENG EIGENABENAAILK ASOTENEVVAF LAGIADRERENG HAGAILAGAGGAKE 282 27 SACCE GODEFNOINFIDCLE KEVURCHEGELENG EIGENABENAAILK ASOTENEVVAF LAGIADRERENG HAGAILSGAGTAS 282 27 SACCE GODEFNOINFIDCLE KEVURCHEGELENG EIGENABENAAILE AS
20 BIRD-A GEDENGINFIDCID VELKDENTEGETIGE EIGENALEDMAFIK ENN-SGRAARDVSP IAGLDAPRERENG ENGALIAGENGGAKE 273 21 PIG-B GEDENGINFIDCID VELKDENTEGETIGE HIGGNALEDMAFIK ENN-SGRAARDVSP IAGLDAPRERENG ENGALIAGENGGAKE 273 22 CAEELI GEDENGINFIDCID VELEDERGITIGE HIGGNALEDMAFIK ENN-SGANGBVSP IAGLDAPRERENG HIGALIAGENGGAKE 273 23 CAEELI GEDENGINFIDCID VELEDERGITIGE HIGGNALEDMAFIK ENN-SGANGBVSP IAGLDAPRERENG HIGALIAGENGGAKE 273 24 ARATHI GEDENGINFIDCIE VELEDERGITIGE HIGGNALEDMAFIK ENN-SGANGBVSP IAGLDAPRERENG HIGALIAGENGTAGD 292 24 ARATHI GEDENGINFIDCIE VELEDERGITIGE HIGGNALEDMAFIK SRN-SGENALEVSP IAGLDAPRERENG HIGALIAGENGTAGD 311 25 ARATHI GEDENGINFIDCIE KEPVDROTEGIVIGE HIGGTAREDMALIK ENGTERRVAR IAGLDAPRERENG HIGAIVSORGTAGD 312 26 DICID GEDENGINFIDCIEK METODPROTEGIVIGE HIGGTAREDMALIK ENGTERRVAR IAGLDAPRERENG HIGAIVSORGTAGD 312 26 DICID GEDENGINFIDCIEK METODPROTEGIVIGE HIGGTAREDMALIK ENGTERRVAR IAGLDAPRERENG HIGAIVSORGTAGD 312 27 SACEE GEDERGINFIDCIEK METODPROTEGIVIGE HIGGTAREDMALIK ENFIDERVAR IAGLDAPRERENG HIGAIVSORGTAGD 32 29 SACEE GEDERGINFIDIEK LILEBETEGINGE HIGGTAREDMAKEN ENDERMAREI DA
21 PIG-B GGDFFNGINFIDCLD VFLKDFHEIGUILIG HIGGNALEDMAFIK EN-SGRAKFVSE IAGLARRERNG HAGAILAGRGGAKE 273 22 CAEELI GGDFFNGINFIDCLN VFLEDFENGUILIG HIGGNALEDMAFIK EN-SGNAKFVSE IAGVINRERNG HAGAILAGRGAGAE 291 22 CAEEL GGDFFNGINFIDCLE VFLEDFNGUILIG HIGGNALEDMAFIK EN-SGNAKFVSE IAGVINRERNG HAGAILAGRGAGAE 291 24 ARATHI GGDFFNGINFIDCLE KEFVDFOEGUILIG HIGGNALEMAELK EN-SGNAKFVSE IAGVINRERNG HAGAILAGRGAGAE 291 25 ARATHI GGDFFNGINFIDCLE KEFVDFOEGUILIG HIGGNALEMAALK EN-SGNAKFVSE IAGVINRERNG HAGAILAGRGAGAE 291 26 DICDI GGDFFNGINFIDCLE KEFVDFOEGUILIG HIGGNALEMAALK EN-SGNAKFVSE IAGVINF-RERNG HAGAILAGRGAGAE 291 26 DICDI GGDFFNGINFIDCLE KEFVDFOEGUILIG HIGGNALEMAALK ASGTERVVAF IAGUNF-RERNG HAGAILSGRGANS 282 27 SACCE GGDFFNGINFIDCLE KEFVDFOEGUILIG HIGGRALEMAALK ASGTERVVAF IAGUNF-RERNG HAGAILSGRGANS 282 27 SACCE GGDFFNGINFIDCLE KEFVDFOEGUILIG HIGGRALEMAELKANDENGEK ENN SRSKPHEVASF IAGVINGONGANKE HEGAIVESGRGANS 282
22 CAEELI GEDENGINFIDLIN VELEDEENGIILIG EIGGABELAAYLK EEN-SGARKEVAS IAGVIAPRERIG HAGAIISGRGTAAD 291 22 CAEEL2 GEDENGINFIDLIE VELEDEONGCILIIG EIGGAABCAABELK SRI-SGARKEVAS LAGVIAPRERIG HAGAIISGRGTAAD 292 24 ARATHI GEDENGINFVDLE KEVDEOPSGULIE EIGGAABCAABELK SRI-SGARKEVAS LAGVIAPRERIG HAGAIISGRGTAAD 311 25 ARATHI GEDENGINFVDLE KEVDEOPSGULIE EIGGAABCAABELAALLK ASGIEKEVAF LAGLIAPRERIG HAGAIISGRGTAAD 312 26 DICDI GEDENGINFIDLEK MPTOPOTSGULIE EIGGAABELAALLK ASGIEKEVAF LAGLIAPRERIG HAGAIISGRGTAAD 320 27 SACE GEDENGINFIDLEK MPTOPOTSGULIE EIGGAABELAALLK ASGIEKEVAF LAGLAPRERIG HAGAIISGRGDANS 282 27 SACE GEDENGINFIDLEK LELEENTEGEINEG-EIGGAABELAALLK ASGIEKEVASE LAGLAPRERIG HAGAIISGRGDANS 282
22 CAEEL2 GODENDINFIDCLE VELEDEORIGUIDIG HIGGOABBOABETK SRN-SGSNAKEWSE LAGVEAPREBING HAGAILAGRIGTAGD 292 24 ARATHI GODENDINFIDCLE KEYVDEOREGUIDIG HIGGOABBOAALIK ENGIDKEVVAP LAGLEAPREBING HAGAILAGRIGTAGD 311 25 ARATH2 GODENDINFIDCLE KEYVDEOREGUIDIG HIGGIARBOAALIK ENGIDKEVVAP LAGLEAPREBING HAGAILSGRIGTAGD 312 26 DICDI GODENNINFIDCLE KEYVDEOREGUIDIG HIGGIARBOAALIK ENGIDKEVVAP LAGLEAPREBING HAGAILSGRIGTAGD 312 26 DICDI GODENNINFIDCLE KEYVDEOREGUIDIG HIGGIARBOAALIK ENGIDKEVVAP LAGLEAPREBING HAGAILSGRIGTAGD 312 27 SACCE GENEPROINFIDCIK MINDEOREGUE HIGGIARBOAALIK ENAFSKAMENANSE LAGUNGARANG HIGGIAFGANS 282 27 SACCE GENEPROINFIDIAK LELEBETEGGIDHGE HIGGIARBOAALIBEAOCHEK ENAFSRSKOMENSE LAGUNGARANG HIGGIAFGANS 282
24 ARATHI GEDENGINFUDCLE KEFVDEQTEGIVILIE ETGOTABEDMALIK ENGTDREVVAF IAGLARFORME HAGRIVSGORGTAD 311 25 ARATH2 GEDENGINFUDCLE KEFVDEQTEGIVLIE ETGOTABEDMALIK ASGTEREVAF IAGLARFORME HAGAUSGORGTAD 312 26 DICDI GEDENGINFUDCLE KEFVDEQTEGIVLIE ETGOTABEDMALIK ASGTEREVAF IAGLARFORME HAGAUSGORGTAD 312 27 SACE GEDEFNGINFUDCLE KEFVDEQTEGIVLIE ETGOTABEDMALIK ASTIMENVSE IAGLAR
25 ARATH2 GODFENGINFVDCLE KEFVDPOTEGIVLIG KIGOTARKDMALIK ASGTEKEVVAF LAGLARFORMG HAGALVSGRGTAD 312 26 DICDI GODFENGINFIDCEK MPTOPOTEGELEG KIGOTARKDMALI INPITARNVSE LAGLARFORMG HAGALISGRGDANS 282 27 SACCE GODFFRITETIALK LELEKTEGICINEZ-KIGEKARIZANCEK EVAN SRSKYHEVASE LAGIVAGUMGUNAK HSGALVSGRGTAD 320
26 DICDI GEDEFINZINFIDCEK MPTOPOPEREILIG HIGGENERAMULI INPIDERVSH IAGLSAPRENNG HKALISGERGIANS 282 27 SACCE GEDEFINITALK LILEHETTEGINIGE HIGGENERAMULICALE EVANSRSKAMURASE IAGTVIGOMENTAL HIGGINES 288
27 SACCE GENERATOFIDALK LALEBETTEGIDIG BICKARDENAGELK EVAPSRSKPANASE LAGTVAGCANAVARIE HEGATVESSOTDAES 298
A COMMON COMPANY AND A COMPANY
28 SCHOL GEBYNDINFIDALA LFILLBYNDJFLLDG EDEDAERLAAFFLA AAWGRGTPEEVOE DAERLAG DORALWARRGTPA 233
29 TRIVA2 GENERACULHTIVIK REAADPOINGETLING REGOTSEEDAARNEA KT KLTOPERVAR LAGATAPREFING HAGALVSOCKOTABG 276
30 TRIVA3 GENERAGOLHTIWK REALEOTESTILIS HIGHSHDALENIA KTKLIDELEWAR LAGATAPFORDIG HAGATVSGCKGTAEG 276
31 TRIVAL GODPACILITINUK REAADPOTECTILIG BIGGTSBEDRAENIA KT KLICERENWAS LAGATAP REKRIG HAGALVSGCKUTAEG 276
32 ACUAE2 CONVISCITFATIVE ETADENVIKGWIDE EVECTVEROBAETIL RUXKEGRNKEVAAF VACKPOEXMEGVSPG HAGATVEROKEKATO 300
33 CIT-HU GORNAGSTEMENT, RYDDIEGNOITWIG KINGTEENNISREEK EGRUTKPIVCH CLOICAL SSEVOEG HAGACANDASETAVA 778
34 CIT-SO GORNYROTTFILHL, RYCADPACKILMICS ENGOVERYRYLEAVK 0GITTRPIVAN ALGICAS- KTRUOFG HAGAPANSOLETAAT 343

14

2' Struct aaaaaaaTTTbbTTT 333aaaaaa	288
1 ECOLI RFAALEAAGURIVRS LADIGEALRIVLR	289
2 HAEIN KIAALEAAGUTCVKS LAEIGEALEKLIKSS KN	293
3 COXEU KYANLEANGVFVVKS PAEIGRGVREATGINS TH	294
4 RICPR KVEVLQSAGVIITRS PADIGRTMLDLLNKI	292
5 AQUAEL IMPRIEXAGAYVIEN PARIGETVARILKVI ELEEEERTSDAE	305
6 BASCU KIKTENACGIEVAET PSVMGETLIKVLKEK NLFETCKTH	300
7 CHLTR KOEAKROAGVTVVES LALIGEAVASVLKPR	291
8 MYCTU KORALEANGNKVEKT ISATAALAREILLSL	303
9 STRCO KKEALESVEVRVGST PTETARHVLQALDVP GGAAPDGAARDGARA	308
10 ARCFUL EMAALRDAGARVAET LLDVVKEVRRVLE	291
11 ARCFU2 KINAEPAAGARVORT PMEVAELVAEIL	287
12 METTA KMKALEBAGAYVAKN ISDIPKLLAGILGK	294
13 METTH KREALEAAGAVVVDR PSALVDELRAOLGVR	293
14 THEAD KLRAFAEAGIPVADT IDEIVELVKKALG	288
15 THEFT KLRAPAEAGIFVADT IDETVELVKKALG-	288
16 Malate	251
17 PIG108 KITALOSAGVVVSMS PROLGTTIYKEPEKR KMLZKONE	355
18 PIG57 KITALOSAGVVVSMS PACLOTTTYKEFERR MILZKONE	338
19 RAT KISALOSAGVIVSMS PAOLOTOMYKEPERR ML	333
20 BIRD-A KIAALONAGVVVSMS PAOLOSTTYKEFEKR KLL	306
21 BIRD-G KLANCNAGVVVSMS FACIGSTLYKEFEKR KLL	306
22 CAPELI XINALREAGVIVIDS PAKIGTSMATAFLOK I	322
22 CAEEL2 KTEALFINANYVYTDS PAKIGVAMOKALLG	321
24 ARATHI KINSLRDAGVKVVES PANIGAAMFELFOER GLLK	345
24 ARATH2 KIKSIADAGVKVVES PAKIGSAMYELPOER GLLKO	347
26 DICDI KIEALKAAGVIVITS PANIGETILKINE-	310
27 SACCE KKOALEDVGVAVVES RGYLGOALLDOFAKE K	329
28 SCHPO KFEALFAAGVRISRS PATIGSLIVEEINKL KH	331
29 TRIVA2 KYKALEAAGVRIARH RONGKFIFEEMKRL GKI	309
30 TRIVAS KYKALEAAGURIARH POMOKFIFEEMARM GKI	309
31 TRIVAL KYKALEAAGVRIARH PRIMCKFIFEEMKRM GKI	309
	••••
32 ACTAR2 KIRMENEVSKETGLV KVAEFYHDLVNCTEE LGVPROFEDSTROCK VERLYRTID	PETCEFKPOD 368
33 CIT-HU KNOALKPAGYEVPRS FDELGETIOSVYEDL VANGVIVPAGEVPPP	823
34 CIT-SO KNKSMREAGFYVPDT FEDMPALLKOVYDKL VADGTIVPAPEPVVP	386

.

Figure 1-3. Alignment of the amino acids of the β -subunits of SCS. Amino acid positions that are 85% identical over all species are highlighted in pink and those which have 85% similarity, if conservative substitutions are allowed, are highlighted in blue. The allowed substitutions are: E or D; K or R; S or T; F Y or W; M L I or V. The abbreviations are: ECOLI, Escherichia coli; COXBU, Coxiella brunetii; HAEIN, Haemophilis influenzae; BASCU, Bacillus subtilis; RIPR, Rickettsia prowazekii; AQUAE, Aquifex aeolicus; Malate, malate thiokinase from Methylobacterium extroquens; CHLTR, Chlamydia trachomatis ; THEAQ, Thermus aquaticus; THEFL, Thermus flavus; MYCTU. Mycobacterium tuberculosis; STRCO, Streptomyces coelicolor; ARCFU, Archaeoglobus flugidus; METJA, Methanococcus jannaschii; METTH, Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum; HUMAN-A/G, ATP- or GTPspecific SCS from human; PIG-A/G, ATP- or GTP-specific SCS from pig; MOUSE-A/G, ATP- or GTP-specific SCS from mouse; BIRD-A/G, ATP-specific SCS from pigeon breast or GTP-specific SCS fron pigeon liver; CAEEL, Caenorhabditis elegans; ARATH, Arabidopsis thaliana; TRIVA. Trichomonas vaginalis; NEOFR. Neocallimastix frontalis; SCHPO, Schizosaccharomyces pombe; SACCE, Saccharomyces cerevisiae; CIT-HU, human ATP citrate lyase. The database accession numbers are given in Apendix 1. The sequence alignment was generated initially by the program PIMA (83,84) and modified manualy. The secondary structure from *E. coli* SCS (55) is indicated. α -helix is denoted by an 'a', β -sheet by a 'b', a 3₁₀ helix by a '3', and turns by 'T'. Positions shown in red indicate residues in exposed loops.

2'	Struct			bb/TTTaaaaaaaa	aaTTTTTTbbbbTTT	ТТь аваааа аа	TobbbbrTTTTTTT	
1	POOLT				RACED REVENTE	REAFEAASET	PARAMONIA	55
2	COXEU		************		KYNEAVPASETVFNP	DAAVDAAAKIGGD	RWIVKAQVHAGGREEK	55
3	HAEIN			MUHENDAKOUPB	HYGÉPVINGNÍCOSV	EDVDLVLAQLSGG	KWAARCOVHPGBBB	55
4	BASCU			HUHUYQGKEVLR	KYGVSVPEGKIAFTA	EEAVESAKSLSSS	VYVVAAQIHAGERGK	55
2	AUCHR				KIGHPISIGLAVIKI	KENETILKLNIK	VIVIACILI-VERSIGN	55
2	Malate				SEGUAVENCAUAESD	DOAVYAATELGGS	FWANKAOTHAGARGE	55
ε	CHLAR			MILHEROARDELT	AYOLPIPPYHVATSV	PEVETAIOAEOWK	AGWWANOWHAGGEGK	55
					- ·		-	
	THEAQ				RYGWPVPPGKWAYTP	EEAKRIAEEFGK	RVVIIKAQVHVGGBGK	54
11	MVCTT				KIGYPVPPGRAATTP	PEAKRIAEEPGR	KVVLLAQVRVGGBGB	54 54
ĩ	SIRCO			MOEYTHOAREEFK	EHGEVVPRAEPTOSP	ERAREIARALGG	RAVVRAOVKTOGRGK	54
1	ARCFUI			-MARCHINICAKOIFA	KHGERVPRGENATSP	EFAEKIAEKLGG	RVVVKAQILVGGRGK	55
- 14	ARCEUZ			MRIHEROAKQEPS	KHGIRVARGELATSV	EDVRGIAEELGG	KVVLKSQVLVGGRGK	54
1	METUA			MKLHEYEAKNIFK	AUGIPVPESPEVSKE	PERFOTANT	EVVLADVLVGGBGK	54
τ,	-				nesses er nasignater		a construction of the second	
1.	HUMAN-7		AVQLTSR	RWINEOENOSKKIMS	DNGVRVQRFFVADTA	NEALEAAKRLNAK	ETVLKAQTLAGGRGK	65
11	PIG-G	LAFRP	PLLAARSOVVOLITPR	RMLNEOBYOSKKLMS	DIGVERVORFFVADEA	NEALEAAKRLNAK	ETVLXAQTLAGGRGK	78
19	MOUSE-(;	AGHLITPR	RALINEORIOSKKOAS	EHGNERVORFFVANTA	KEALEAARRLNAK	EIVERAGILAGEKE	65
2	CAPET 2	MT.	RAACHISKSMAKSOR	RETATIONNOSKETTE	KHOCSVONEVNASNR	KEAPEKWASEGOH	ETVERATE AGERGE	75
-				the standard According				
2	arath	MRGLVNKLV	SRSLSISGRWONCOL	RELNIEUROGAELMG	KYGWNVPKGVAASSL	EEVICKAIODVFFNES	ELVVKSQILAGGRGL	84
2	TRIVA2		GSFA	RNFNELENOSKEICA	KENVAAGINLWARTP	EEAAAAFKOMGLP	AAVIRAQVYCGERGK	62
24	TRIVIS		SSNPA	RNFNELEROSKEICA	KENVAAGINVVARTP	EEAAAAFKKIGLP	AAVIRAQVYCGGBGR	63 65
- 23				MIT MILLING GREACH	KINWANDINIANNOP		NUMBER OF STREET	65
2	SHEMAN-		FNNHGLOVO0000	RNLSLHENMSMPLLQ	EAGUSVPRGYVAKSP	DEAYALAKKLGSK	DVVIENQVLAGGRGK	71
2	7 PIG-A		NHGLQIQQQQQ	RNLSTHEMSMELLO	EAGVSIPKGHWAKSP	DEAYALAKKLGSK	DVVIDAQVLAGGRGK	70
2	MOUSE-		FNRHGLQVQQQQQ	RTLSHEVLSMELLQ	EAGVSVPKGPVAKSS	DEAYALAKKLGSK	DVVIKAQVLAGENGK	71
2		MT(2)T9	OD TINTSONEWADAA	PUT MENTERIAMENT	EAGTEN DODLEN WARTE	DEAINDANEL-GON	DEATENEAL POSSION	79
3	L NEOFR			MNT_221EV	NVNAPKGIVAKTP	EEAYOAAKKLNTE	DLVIKAONLAGERGE	48
3	2 SCHIPO	MLTRSVLRKAPR	AFSPFLOK	RNLALHINTSHDTLR	KFGVDVPRGAPARSG	EFAEKVARDLKVT	DLVVKAQVLAGGRGK	78
3	3 SACCE	MYSRKSLSLISKOGQ	LSRLNAQAALQAR	RHLSTHERRSACLLR	EYGIGTPEGFPAFTP	EEAFEAAKKLNIN	KLVIKAGALIGGRGK	86
2	1 1011112				WATERWARD	TTUR/FEM ====(#/G	PCW/RSOUT/MORTHER	55
3	5 CIT-H	J	************	MSAKAISHO-KELLY	KFICTTSALONREKY	RVTPD	NLVVKPDOLIKRRGK	68
						-	-	
•								
2	' Struc	t TTIbb	bbTTaaaaaaaaaaa	TIPPITT	brribbbbbrribbb	pppppppppppgggggg	bbbbbrrrrrraaaa	
2	' Struci) bottaasasasas VVNSKEDIRAFAENNI	TTELTTETTETTE	DITTEDEDEDITTEDED	bbbbbbbbbrrrrrb BLYLGAWURSSRRV	bbbbbyittittaaaa VFMASTEGGVELEKV	136
2	Struc	AGGWR AGGWR	botteasasasasa VVNSKEDIRAFAENN LVINKEELKSAVKAL	TITESTITITITE LGRLVTYQTDANGQ LGIRLVTYQTDERGQ	HTTIDDDDUTTIDDD PVNQILVEAAIDIAK PVNQILVEQISDIAR	bbbbbbbbbtttttib ELVLGAVURSSRRV ELVLGAVURASORI	DDDDDTTTTTaaaa VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV	136 136
2	Struci ECOLI COXEU HAEIN	AGGWK AGGWR AGGWR	bbttaaaaaaaaa vvnskedirapaenn Lvnnkeelksavkal Lvgdveearapaenn	TITEDITITITE LERLVTYQTDANGQ LGIRLVTYQTDERGQ LGIRLVTYQTDERGQ	HTTEBBBBBTTEBBB PANQILAPEAATDIAK PANQILAPEATDIAK PANQILAPEATDIAK	bbbbbbbbbtttttb ELVLGAVDRSSRRV ELVLGAVDRSSRRV ELVLGAVDRSSRL EFYLSAVURTSURV	bbbbb/tttittaaaa VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEGGNLEKV	136 136 136
2	Struct COMBU HAEIN BASCU	с ТТты АGGVX АGGVX АGGVX	bbTT22000000000 VVNSREDIRAFAENN LVNREELKSAVKAL LVDDVEEARAFAENN IARSLDEVKAVAEEL VASSLDEVKAVAEEL	TTTEETTTTTTTE LGRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRLVTYQTDENGQ LGRLVTYQTDENGQ LGRLVTYQTDENGQ LGRLVTYQTGENGQ MINI VIYQTGENGQ	DITTEDEDESTITEDED PANQILAREARTDIAK PANQILAREARTDIAK PANQILAREARTDIAK VINRILAREARTDIAK	bbbbbbbbbrttttb BLYLGAVURSSRRV BLYLGAVURSSRI BFYLSAVURTSORV BYTLGLVERATSRI BYTLSAVURTSSRS	bbbbbttttttaaaa VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEGGNELEKV VIMASSEGGNELEKV VFTASTEGGNELEKV	136 136 136 136 136
2	Struct ECOLI COXBU HAEIN HAEIN BASCU 5 RICPR 6 AQUAE	: Т	bbTT2468888888888 VVNSKEDIRAPAENN LVNNKEELKSAVKAL LVQDVEEARAPAENN LAKSLDEVKAYAREL VAKSKEEANCVAHDM LVNKNKEEANCVAHDM	TTELETTITTTETEL LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRLVTYQTDENGQ LGRLVTYQTDENGQ LGRLVTYQTGEQQQ LGRVLVTYQTGEQQQ LGRVLKTYQ-CPDGK	HTTT56555TTT565 PVNQILVEATDIAK PVNQILVEQTSDIAR PVNQIVYEETCDIJK VIKRLIESCODIJK KVNRTYTESCODIJK	bbbbbbbbbtttttb ELYLGAVUDRSSRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRI EFYLSAVUDRTSORV EYYLGAVUDRSSCI EYYFSTVFDRSSSCI EYYFSTVFDRSSSCI	bbbbbttttttaasa VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFIASSEGGNEIEKV TFIASTEGGVEIEKV TFIASTEGGVEIEKV VIMASAAGGMEIEKI	136 136 136 136 136 135
2	Struci ECOLI COXEU HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN BASCU FRICPR AQUAE 7 Malate	с Т	bbTT2228282828282 VVNSKEDIRAPAENI LVNDKEELKSAVKAL LVNDKEERAPA2800 IAKSLDEVKAVA282 VAKSKDEAKKVAJABI IVKDMDELEKAVSS2 LCRT/NEVKDAARD	TTIBBITTITTIB LGRRLVTYOTDANGQ LGRRLVTYOTDANGQ LGRRLVTYOTDANGQ KGDRLVTHOTGPOOR KGDRLVTHOTGPOOR LGRVLKTFQ-CPDOR LGRVLVTLQTGPOOR	HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILAPDATDIAK PVNQILAPDTSDIAR PVNQILAPDTSDIAR VIKRLIPDTDIAK VIKRLIPDTDIAK PVNRVLIPSATDIJAR PVNRVLIPSATDIJAR	bbbbbbbbbtttttb BLYLGAVUDRSSRV BLYLGAVUDRSSRI BYLSAVUDRTSOKV BYYTGLVDDRASSCI BYYTSIVFDRSASCI BYYTAITDRSKSRV BLYLGYVDDRKAERV	bbbbbttttttaaa VFMASTEQGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEQGNILEKV TFIASTEGGVELEK TFIASTEGGVELEK RVIASGRGGDIEKI	136 136 136 136 136 135 135
2	Struct ECOLI COXBU HAEIN HAEIN BASCU SRICPR AQUAE AQUAE Malate B CHLTR	С Т (GUNK А (GUNK А (GUNK А	bbTT246888888888 VVNSKEDIRAPAENN LVNNKEELKSAVKAL LVODVEERAPAENN LVODVEERAPAENN LVXSKEEAKKVAHDM IVKOMBELEKAVSSL LCRYNKERAAKKG IAHSPEDLLAAAKKG	TTIBBITTITTIB LGRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRLVTYQTDERGQ LGRLVTHQTGPGQQ FGDLVTHQTGPQQQ FGDLVTHQTGPQQQ LGRLVTHQTGPQQQ LGRLVTHQTGPQQQ LGRLVTHQTGPQQQ LGRLVTLQTGPGQQ LGRLVTLQTGPGQQ LGRLVTLQTGPGQQ	BITTIDDDDDTTTDDD PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIAK NNRTYTESATDILK PVNRVLIZEATNIAK PVNRVLIZEATNIAK PVNRVLISELVELAS	bbbbbbbbbrttttb ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRSV ELYLGAVUDESSSSL ELYLFALTUDESSSS ELYLALTUDESSSS ELYLALTUDESSRSV ELYLALVUDESHARCF	bbbb/TTTTTaaaa VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEDGINTEEV VLMSSEDGINTEEV TFIASTEGGNDIEN VIMASAAGGMDIEN VIMASAAGGMDIEN	136 136 136 136 136 135 136
2	Struct ECOLI COXEU HAEIN BASCU SRICPR AQUAE AQUAE CHLTR	Т (GUR А	bbTT2022222200 VVNSREDIRAPAENN LVNDREELKSAVKAL LVQDVEERAPAENN LVQDVEERAPAENN TAKSLDEVKAYAEE VAKSREEARKVAHDM IVXDMEELEKAVSSL LCRTYNEVRDARDE LASPEDLAAADK	TTIBBITTITTIB LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRQ LGRRLVTYQTDRRQ CGRLVTHQTGPQQ FGDRLVTHQTGPQQ LGRVLVTHQTGPQQ LGRVLVTHQTGPQQ LGRVLVTHQTGPQG LGRVLVTLQTGPBCR LGRRLVTLQTGPBCR LGRRLVTLQTGPBCR LGRRLVTLQTGPBCR LGRRLVTLQTGPBCR LGRRLVTLQTGPBCR LGRRLVTLQTGPBCR LGRRLVTLQTGPBCR LGRRLVTLQTGPBCR LGRRLVTQTDANGQ LGRRLVTQTQTDANGQ LGRRLVTQTDANGQ LGRRLVTQTQTDANGQ LGRRLVTQTQTDANGQ LGRRLVTQTQTQ LGRRLVTQTQTQ LGRRLVTQTQTQ LGRRLVTQTQ LGRRLVTQ LG	BITTIDDDDDTTTDDD PVNQILVEAATDIAK PVNQILVEDTDIAK PVNQILVEDTDIAK VNRTYTESCOILK PVNRVLEACTIL PVNRVLEADPER PVNRVLEADPER PVNRVLEADPER	bbbbbbbbbtttttb ELYLGAVUBSSRRV ELYLGAVUBSSRRV ELYLGAVUBASSRI EYYLGAUBASSRI EYYLAITLBSSRSR ELYLGAVEBRAER EYYLAITLBSRAER	bbbbb/TTTTTaaaa VFMASTEGOVEIEKV VFMASTEGOVEIEKV VFIASSEGGMIEKV TFIASTEGOVEIEKV TFIASTEGOVEIEK VIMASAAGGMIEE RVIASGRAGDIEKV VIMLSRAGGVDIEKV	136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136
2	Struct COXBU HAEIN HAEIN SHAEIN SHAEIN SHAEIN SAQUAEI MALACO SCHETR O THERAQ O THEFL	TTTbb AGGWR AGGWR AGGWR AGGWR AGGWR AGGWR A	bbTT22282828282828 VVNSREDIRAPAENN LVRDREELKSAVRAL LVRDREELKSAVRAL LVRDVEERAPAENN TAKSLEEVRAVAPEN VAKSREEARRVAHDM TVRDREERAVRAARDE LARTPEELLAAARKE LADTPEEAYERAART	TTTEETTYTTTEETTEETTEETTEETTEETTEETTEETT	bTTTbbbbbtTTbbb PVNQILVEAATDIAK PVNQILVEETCDIJK VINRILIEDCTDIKK VINRILIEDCTDIKK PVRVV.IECADPTER PVRVV.IECADPTER PINKVLISPLVELAS TVKKVLVAAAVDIAK TVKKVLVAAAVDIAK	bbbbbbbbbbrttttb HLYLGAVUDRSSRRV HLYLGAVIDRASQRI BYYSIGUDRASQRI HLYLGAVIDRASQRI HLYLGYUDRASASCI HLYLGYUDRASASCI HLYLGYUDRARARV HLYLGYUDRARARV HLYLGYUDRARARV HLYLGYUDRARARV HLYLGLIDDRAKORV	bbbbb/TTTTTaaaa VFWASTEGOVELEKV VFMASTEGOVELEKV VFIASSEGONELEKV VFIASSEGOVELEKV TFIASTEGOVELEK VIMASAAGMELEKI VIMASAAGMELEKI VIMASREGOVELEKV VLMASREGOVELEKV VLMASREGOVELEKV	136 136 136 136 135 136 136 136
1	Struci 2 COLI 2 COLI 3 HAEIN 4 BASCU 5 RICPR 5 AQUAEI 7 MALACO 8 CHLIR 9 THEAQ 0 THEFL 1 MYCTU	TTTbb AGGWR AGGWR AGGWR AGGWR AGGWR AGGWR AGGWR AGGWR AGGWR A	bDTT206888888888 VVNSKEDIRAPAENN LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVQDVEERAPAENN LVQDVEERAPAENN LAKSLDEVKOAPAEEL VAKSRGEAKKAARDE LAKSPEDLLAAANKE LADTFQEAYEKAQAL LADTFQEAYEKAQAL LADTFQEAYEKAQAL	TTTEETTTETTE LGRRLVTYQTENGQ LGIRLVTYQTERGQ LGRRLVTYQTERGQ LGRTLVTHQTGPGQQ GRVLKTFQ-CPDGR LGRVLKTFQ-CPDGR LGRVLKTFQ-CPDGR LGRVLKTFQ-CPDGR LGRVLKTFQ-CPDGR LGRVLKTFQ-CPDGR LGRNLKGL LGRNLKGL	HTTEBBBBBTTEBBB PVNQILATEDTSDIAR PVNQILATEDTSDIAR PVNQILATEDTSDIAR PVNQILATESCOLILA PVNRVLIESCOLILA PVNRVLIESCOLILA PVNRVLIESCOLILA PVNRVLISPLVETAS TVNKVLAAEAVDIAR TVNKVLAAEAVDIAR TVNKVLAAEAVDIAR	bbbbbbbbbrittitb BLYLGAVIDRASORI BLYLGAVIDRASORI BYYEIGAVIDRASORI BYYEIGAVIDRASSEI BYYEIATTIDRSKSKE BLYLGYVLDRABRK BYYELATVIDRIGRCF BYYEIGLIEDRAKORV BYYEIGLIEDRAKORV BYYEIGLIEDRAKORV	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEGGNELEKV VIMASPAGGNELEKV VIMASAAGGMELEKI VIMASAAGGWELEKI VIMASAAGGWELEKV VIMASREGGVELEKV VIMASREGGVELEKV	136 136 136 136 135 136 136 136 128 128 128
2	Struct 2 COLLI 2 COXEU 3 HAEIN 4 BASCU 5 RICER 6 AQUAE 7 MALAE 8 CHLTR 9 THEAQ 0 THEFL 1 HYCTU 2 STROO	T	bbTT2228282828282 VVNSKEDIRAPAENI LVNNREZKSAVKAL LVODVEZKSAVKAL LVODVEZHAPAZON LAKSLDEVKAYAZEL VAKSREZARVAYADM LVODVEZHARAA LADTPQEAYEKAQAT LADTPQEAYEKAQAT LADTPQEAYEKAQAT LADTPQEAYEKAQAT LADTPQEAYEKAQAT	TTTDDTTTTTTTD LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBAGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTHQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQX LGRRLVTLQTGPDQX LGRRLVTLQTGPDQX LGRRL	HTTEBBBBBTTEBBB PVNQILIZEAATELAK PVNQILIZEOTELIAK VIKRELIEBGCELIK VIKRELIEBGCELIK FVNRVLIESGCELIK PVNRVLIESGCELIK PVNRVLIESGCELIK PVNRVLISFLVELAS TVNKVLZAEAVELAK TVKKVLZAEAVELAK TVNKVLZAEAVELAK TVNKVLZAEASELAK	bbbbbbbbbrittith BLYLGAVIDBSSRRV BLYLGAVIDBASCRI BYYLGAVIDBASCRI BYYLAIVIDBASSR BLYLAIVIDBASSR BLYLAIVIDBASR BYYLAIVIDBASRCP BYYAGLIEDBARCRV BYYAGLIEDBARCRV BYYAGLIEDBARCRV BYYAGLIEDBASCG	bbbbb/tttttaaaa VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEGGMELEKV VIMASEGGMELEKV VIMASAAGGMELEKI VIMASAAGGWELEKI VIMASAAGGWELEKV VIMASREGGVELEKV VIMASREGGVELEKV LAASAEGGVELEKV	136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136 128 128 128 128
2 1 1 1 1 1	Struct ECOLI COXEU HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN THEAQ THEFL HYCTU STRCO 3 ARCFU	T	bbTT222828282828 WNSKEDIRAPAEM LVONKEELKSAVKAL LVODVEZARAPAEM ILVONEERAPAEM ILVONEERAPAEM VASKEELAKAAAE ILASILEVAAAEG ILASIPERLAAAKI LADTPGEAYERAGAI LADTPGEAYERAGAI LADTPGEAYERAGAI LADTPGEAYERAGAI LADTPGEAYERAGAI LADREAEBARKI KANSPEZAKSVAKKI	TTIDDITTITITID LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRGQ LGRRLVTHQTGBRGQ RGRLVTHQTGPGQQ IGRVLVTHQTGPGQQ LGRVLVTLQTGPGQR LGRVLVTLQTGPGQR LGRNL	HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILVEAATDLAK PVNQILVE2TSCDLAR PVNQILVE2TSCDLAR VNRVLIESCDLIK VNRVLIESCDLIK PVNRVLIESCDLIK PVNRVLISPLVELAS TVNKVLSPLVELAS TVNKVLSPLVELAS TVNKVLSPLVELAS TVNKVLSPLSDLAR TVNKVLSPLSDLAR TVNKVLSPLSDLAR TVNKVLSPLSDLAR TVNKVLSPLSDLAR	bbbbbbbbbrittttb ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV EFYLGAVUDESSRRV FYYLGAVUDESSRRV HYYLAITEDRISKSRF ELYLGAVUDENSRCF EYYLAITEDRISKRRV EYYLAIVUDENARCRV FYYLAILEDRIAKORV FYYLSFLEDRIAKORV FYYLSFLEDRIAKORV FYYLSFLEDRIAKORV	bbbb/itititaaaa VFMASIEGGVELEKV VFMASIEGGVELEKV VFIASSEGGINIEEV TFIASTEGGVELEEV VIMASAAGGMELEEI VIMASAAGGMELEEI VIMASAAGGVELEEV VLMLSKAGGVELEEV LAMCSVEGGMELEEV LAMCSVEGGMELEEV VIMASVEGGMELEEV LAMCSVEGGMELEEV VIMASVEGGMELEEV	136 136 136 136 135 136 136 136 128 128 128 128 128
2 1 1 1 1 1 1	Struct Struct COXEU COXEU ALAEIN ABASCU SRICPR AQUAEI AQUAEI ALAEN CHLITR ALAEN THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAC STRECO ARCFU ARCFU	Т	bbTT222828282828 WNSKEDIRAPAEM LVNNKEELKSAVKAL LVQDVEEARAPAEM ILVQDVEEARAPAEM ILVGDVEEARAPAEM ILVGDVEEARAPAEM ILVGDELEKAVS22 LAKSGEAKENAAKE LADTFQEAYEKAQAE LADTFQEAYEKAQAE LADTFQEAYEKAQAE KANSPEEAKEVAKCE KANSPEEAKEVAKCE KANSPEEAKEVAKCE	TTIDDITTITITID LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDERGQ LGRRLVTHQTGERGQ HGDRLVTHQTGPGCQ HGDRLVTHQTGPGCQ HGDRLVTHQTGPGCQ LGRRLVTLQTGPGCR LGRRLTTI LGRRLTTI LGRRLTTI LGRRLTTI LGRRT LGRTT LGRT	BITTIDDDDDTTTDDD PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIAK VNRTYZESATDIAK PVNRVLIZEATDIZE PVNRVLIZEATDIZE PVNRVLIZEATDIZE PTNRVLISELVZIAS TVNRVLIZEAZDIAN TVNRVLIZEAZDIAN TVNRVLIZEZADIAN TVNRVLIZEZADIAN TVNRVLIZEZADIAN TVNRVLIZEZADIAN TVNRVLIZEZADIAN TVNRVLIZEZANA	bbbbbbbbbrittttb ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLGAVUDEATSRL EYYLALTLDESKSK ELYLALTLDESKSK EYYLALVLDENGLEV EYYLALVLDENGLEV EYYLGLLDENAKRV EYYLGLLDENAKRV EYYLGLLDENAKRV EYYLGTUDEAKRV EYYLGTUDEAKRV EYYLGTUDEAKRV	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEDGINTEEV VIMASEDGINTEEV VIMASAAGGMELEN VIMASAAGGMELEN VIMASAAGGMELEN VIMASKEGGVELEN VIMASKEGGVELEN VIMASKEGGVELEN VIMASVEGGMELEN TVTFERMSGMUVEN AALASVGGMELEN LINFSVGGMELEN	136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136 128 128 128 128 128 129 128
2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Struct COXEU COXEU COXEU COXEU ALACIN ABACU SACUAEI CAQUAEI CHLTR CAQUAEI CHLTR CHLT	T GGWR A GGWR	bbTT2228282828282 WNSKEDIRAPAENI LVINKEELKSAVKAL LVIDKEELKSAVKAL LVIDKEELKSAVKAL LVIDKEELKSAVKAL VANSKEEAKVAHDM LVIDKEELEKAVSES LANSKEEAKVAAK LADTPQEAYEKAQAT VAATPQDAYEKAQAT VAATPQDAYEKAQAT VAATPQDAYEKAQAT KANSPEZKEVZKAKD FASNKEEFIKKAEE	TTTDDTTTTTTTD LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDERGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPDQQ PGINLVTHQTGPQQQ PGINLVTHQTGPQQQ PGINLVTHQTGPQQQ LGRVLUTTQC-CPDX LGRNLT	BITTIDDDDDTTTDDD PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEQTDIAR PVNQILIZEQTDIAR PVNQILIZEATDIAK VNRTVIESCOILLK PVNRVJIZEATDIER PVNRVJIZEATDIER PVNRVJIZEAVDIAR TVNKVJIZEAVDIAR TVNKVJIZEAVDIAR TVNKVJIZEAVDIAR TVNKVJIZEAVDIAR TVNKVJIZEZIJAREN TVNKVJIZEZIJAREN TVNKVJIZEZIJAREN TVNKVJIZEZIJAREN TVNKVJIZEZIJAREN TVNKVJIZEZIJAREN TVNKVJIZEZIJAREN	bbbbbbbbbtTTTTD ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVDEATSON ELYLFALTDESSSSG ELYLFALVDERASKS ELYLFALVDERASKS ELYLFALVDERASKS ELYLFALVDERASKS ELYLFALVDEARKS ELYLFALVDEARKS ELYLFALDEARKS	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFLASSEGGNIERV TFLASTEGGVELERV TFLASTEGGVELERV VLMASAAGGMELER VLMLSKAGGVELERV VLMLSKAGGVELERV LAMSSEGGVELERV LAMSSEGGVELERV LAMSSEGGVELERV LAMSSEGGVELERV LIMSSEGGVELERV LIMSSEGGVELERV LIMSSEGGVELERV LIMSSEGGVELERV LIMSSEGGVELERV LIMSSEGGVELERV LIMSSEGGVELERV LIMSSEGGVELERV	136 136 136 136 135 136 136 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128
2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Struct 2 COLLI 2 COUBU 3 HAEIN 4 BASCU 5 RICPR 6 AQUAE 7 MALAC 8 CHLIR 9 THEAQ 0 THEFL 1 MYCTU 2 STRCO 3 ARCFU 4 ARCFU 4 ARCFU 6 METTH	T	bbTT202222242 VVNSREDIRAPAENN LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVQDVEERAPAENN ILVQDVEERAPAENN ILVQDVEERAPAENN VARSREEARRVAHDM ILVQDMEELERAVSAL LARSPELLAAADKG LABTPQEAYERAQAT LADTPQEAYERAQAT LADTPQEAYERAQAT LADTPQEAYERAQAT LADTPQEAYERARAT KANSPEEAREXARD KANSPEEAREXARD FASHKEEPINQAEEE FAS-PSGVAEVTQDE	TTTEBTTTTTTE LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDERGQ LGRRLVTYQTDERGQ FGDRLVTHQTGPQQQ FGDRLVTHQTGPQQQ FGDRLVTHQTGPQQQ LGRVLKTFQ-CPDGR LGRRLTRGL LGRDT	BITTIDDDDDTTTDDD PVNQILVEANTDIAK PVNQILVEDTTDIAK PVNQILVEDTTDIAK VNRTYTESCODILK PVNRVLENDTETTDIA PVNRVLENDTETTDIK PVNRVLENDTETT PVNRVLEANTDIAK TVNRVLEANTDIAK TVNRVLEANTDIAK TVNRVLEANTDIAK TVNRVLEANTDIAK TVNRVLEANTDIAK TVDRVLEENTPID RVERVLEENTPID	bbbbbbbbbtttttb ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRL EYYLGAUDRASSL EYYLAITEDRSASSL ELYLGYUDDRARCF EYYAGLIEDRARCRV EYYAGLIEDRARCRV EYYAGLIEDRARCRV EYYAGLIEDRARCRV EYYAGLIEDRARCRV EYYASJEDRARCR EYYASJEDRARCG EYYASJEDRARCG EYYASJEDRARCG EYYASJEDRARCG	bbbbb/TTTTTaaaa VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV TFIASTEGGVDIEKV TFIASTEGGVDIEK VIMASAAGGVDIEK VIMASRAGGVDIEK VIMASREGGVDIEK LANSVEGGMDIEK AAILSSVGGMDIEK LINFSTEGGVDIEK	136 136 136 136 135 136 136 136 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128
2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Struct COXBU	T	bbTT22282828282828 VVNSREDIRAPAENN LURINGEELISAVIGL LURINGEELISAVIGL UNISCHENGAZEELISAVIGL VARSREEARIVAADM TVX0MDELERAVISSL LICRTYNEVRDARDG LADTPQEAYERAGAT LADTPQEAYERAGAT LADTPQEAYERAGAT LADTPQEAYERAGAT LADTPQEAYERAGAT CANSPEELISAARHT KANSPEELISAARHT KANSPEEARISVARGE FASHREEPINGAEEE FASHREEPINGAEEE FASHREEPINGAEEE LICDPNVCQLARD	TTTEDITTTTTTE	bTTTbbbbbtTTbbb PVNQILVEATDIAK PVNQILVEETCDIJK VNQILVEETCDIJK VNRTYTESCCDIJK VNRTYTESCCDIJK PVRVJUECATDPER PINKVLISPLVELAS TVNKVLISPLVELAS TVNKVLISPLVELAS TVNKVLISPLVELAS TVNKVLISPLVELAS TVNKVLISPLVELAS TVEKVLIEELIPIS KVEKTIVEELIPIS	bbbbbbbbbbrittttb HLYLGAVUDRSSRRV HLYLGAVIDRASQRI BYYSIGUDRASQRI HYYSIGUDRASSR HLYLGAVIDRASSCI HYYLAITEDRSKSRP HLYLGYUDRARCF HYYAGLIEDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV HYYLSPELDRAKORV	bbbbb/TTTTTaaaa VFWASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFJASSEGGNEIEK TFIASTEGGVDIEK VIMASAAGGMEIEK VIMASAAGGMEIEK VIMASAAGGMEIEK VIMASVEGGVDIEK VIMASVEGGVDIEK AAILASVEGGNDIEK AAILASVEGGNDIEK LINFSTEGGVDIEK LINFSTEGGVDIEK	136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 129
2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Struc ECOLI COMBU HAEIN BASCU FRICPR BASCU FRICPR ABASCU FRICPR CHLTR FAQUE THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ STRCO STREDA ARCFU ARCFU ARCFU METHOR HERAN- 8 PIG-G	t T	bbTT222828282828 VVNSKEDIRAPAENI LVNNKEZKSAVKAL LVNNKEZKSAVKAL LVDVEZKSAVKAL LVDVEZKAPAPAENI LAKSLDEVKAYAZEL VAKSKEZAKVAALM LADTPQZAYEKAQAT LADTPQZAYEKAQAT LADTPQZAYEKAQAT LADTPQZAYEKAQAT KNSPEZKSVAKU KAVSVEZAVEKAKDI FASHKEZFINAZEZ FAS-PSGVZEVTGDZ LINDPNVVGLAKGI LINDPNVGLAKGI	TTTDDTTTTTTTD LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRQQ LGRRLVTHQTRPDRQQ RGDLVTHQTGPDQR LGRRLVTHQTGPQQ RGDLVTHQTGPQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPQCR LGRRLTTQTPCCPDR LGRRLTTQTPRCA LGRRL	HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILAPDATDIAK PVNQILAPDYSDIAR PVNQILAPDYSDIAR VIKRLIEDYSDIAR PVNRVLIPSCDILK VIKRLIEDYSDIA PVNRVLIPSATNIJK PVNRVLIPSATNIJK TVNKVLIPSALVDIAK TVNKVLIPSESDIAN TVNKVLIPSESDIA TVNKVLIPSESDIA RVEKVLIPSELIPIS TVEKVLIPSELIPIS TVEKVLIPSELIPIS TVEKVLIPSELIPIS TVEKVLIPSELIPIS TVEKVLIPSELIPIS	bbbbbbbbbbrttttb HLYLGAVIDRASORI HLYLGAVIDRASORI HLYLGAVIDRASORI HLYLGAVIDRASORI HLYLGVIDRASACI HLYLGYVIDRASACI HLYLGYVIDRARCH HLYLGYVIDRARCH HLYLGYVIDRARCH HLYLGYVIDRARCH HLYLGYVIDRARCH HLYLGYVIDRARCH HLYLSFILDRARCH HLYLSFILDRARCH HLYLSFILDRARCH HLYLSFILDRARCH HLYLSFILDRARCH HLYLSFILDRARCH HLYLSFILDRARCH HLYLATIMORSCH HLATIMORSCH	bbbbb/TTTTTaaaa VFWASTEGGWEIEKV VFMASTEGGWEIEKV VFMASTEGGWEIEKV VFMASTEGGWEIEK VFMASTEGGWDIEK VFMASTEGGWDIEK VIMASAAGGWDIEK VIMASAAGGWDIEK VIMASTEGGWDIEK LAMCSVEGGWDIEK VIMASAEGGWDIEK LIFSTEGGWDIEK LIFSTEGGWDIEK LIFSTEGGWDIEK UIMASAEGGWDIEK UIMASAEGGWDIEK UIMASAEGGWDIEK VIMASAEGGWDIEK	136 136 136 135 136 135 136 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 129 128 129 128 129 128 129 128 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129
2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Struc ECOLI COUBU HAEIN HAENU EACUBU FRICT AUAL COUBU COUBU AUAL COUBU AUAL COUBU AUAL COUBU AUAL COUBU AUAL C	L T	bbTT222828282828 WNSKEDIRAPAEM LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVDNREELKSAVKAL LVDNREELKSAVKAL LVDNREELKSAVKAL UNKIMELEKAVSZ UNKSREEAKVAL LADTPQEAYEKAQAT LADTPQEAYEKAQAT LADTPQEAYEKAQAT KANSPEZIKSAVKC KAYSVEZAVEKAQAT KANSPEZIKSVICE FASNEEPTICAEEE FASNEEPTICAEEE FASNEEPTICAEEE LINDPNVKQLAKQI LINDPNVKQLAQA	TTTDDTTTTTTTD LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRQQ LGRRLVTHQTGPRQQ RGDRLVTHQTGPQQ RGDRLVTHQTGPQQ LGRVLVTLQTGPQCR LGRVLVTLQTGPQCR LGRVLTQTGPQCR LGRVL	HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILVEAATDIAK PVNQILVEATDIAK PVNQILVEETCDILK VNRVLIESCIDIK VNRVLIESCIDIK PVNVVLIESCIDIK PVNVVLIESCIDIK PVNVVLIESCIDIK PVNVVLISPLVEIAS TVXKVV.SAEAVDIAK TVXKVV.SAEAVDIAK TVXKVV.SAEAVDIAK TVXKVV.SAEAVDIAK TVXKVV.SAEAVDIAK TVEXVLIEENLEV TVEXVLIEENLEV TVEXVLIEENLEV TVEXVLIEENLISS KVAKVMAEALDISS KVAKVMAEALDISS	bbbbbbbbbrittitb BLYLGAVUDRSSRRV BLYLGAVUDRSSRRV BLYLGAVUDRSSRV BYYLGAVUDRTSQN BYYLAITEDRSKSNF BLYLGAUDENSRNF BLYLGAUDENSRNF BYYLAITEDRSKRRV BYYLAITEDRSKRRV BYYLSFLEDRSKRSF	bbbb/ttttttaaaa VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEGGNELEEV TFIASTEGGVELEKV VIMASAAGGMELEEI VIMASAAGGMELEEI VIMASAAGGWELEEV VLMLSKAGGVELEEV LANGSVEGGMELEEV LANGSVEGGMELEEV LANGSVEGGMELEEV LANGSVEGGMELEEV LANGSAEGGWELEEV LINFSRHGGMVESI AALLSSVEGMELEEV LINFSRHGGMVESI VIVGSPCGSDLEEV VLVGSPCGGSDLEEV	136 136 136 135 135 136 135 128 128 128 128 129 128 129 128 129 129 128 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129
2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Struct ECOLI COUBU HAEIN	Comment Comment A	bbTT222828282828 WNSKEDIRAPAEM LVNNCELKSAVKAL LVQDVEZARAPAEM LVNCELKSAVKAL LVQDVEZARAPAEM ILVCDVEZARAPAEM VARSICEZAKAZA VARSICEZAKAZA LACTYNEVKDARDG LADTFQEZYEKAQAI LADTFQEZYEKAQAI LADTFQEZYEKAQAI LADTFQEZYEKAQAI KANSPEZAKEVAKU FASRICEFIKAZEE FASRICEFIKAZEE LINDPKVKQEAKQU LINDPKVKQEAQQU LINDPKVKQEAQQU	TTIDDITTITITID LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDERGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPDCQ RGDRLVTHQTGPDCQ RGDRLVTHQTGPDCQ LGRRLVTHQTGPDCR LGRRLVTLQTGPDCR LGRRLVTLQTGPDCR LGRRLVTLQTPRCA LGRRLVTLQTPRCA LGRRLVTLQTPRCA ISPNLATRQTPRCA ISPNLATRQTPRCA ISPNLATRQTPRCA ISPNLATRQTPRCA	HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILIEDATIDAK PVNQILIEDATIDAK PVNQILIEDATIDAK VNRTVIESACDILK PVNRVLIESACDILK PVNRVLIESACDILK PVNRVLIESACNDIAK TVNRVLISPLVELAS TVNRVLISPLVELAS TVNRVLISPLVELAS TVNRVLISPLVELAS RVERVLISPLVELAS RVERVLISPLVELAS TVRRVLISPLAS TVERVLISPLAS TVERVLISPLAS TVERVLISPLAS KVNRVMAAEALDISS KVNRVMAAEALDISS TVNRVMAAEALDISS	bbbbbbbbbtTTTTTb ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLAITLDRSKSRP ELYLGAUDEDRSKSRP ELYLGALEDRAKOR EYYLAIVLDRCHRCP EYYSAULEDRAKOR EYYLGLIEDRAKOR EYYLGILEDRAKOR EYYLGILEDRAKOR EYYLGILEDRAKOR ELYVSAVIDERSSRLE ENYAGLIEDRAKOR ELYVSAVIDERSSRE ETYLAILMORSCNGF ETYLAILMORSCNGF ETYLAILMORSCNGF ETYLAILMORSCNGF ETYLAILMORSCNGF ETYLAILMORSCNGF ETYLAILMORSCNGF ETYLAILMORSCNGF ETYLAILMORSCNGF	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEGGNLEEV VILASSEGGNLEEV TFIASTEGGVELEEV VILASTEGGVELEEV VILASTEGGVELEEV VILASTEGGVELEEV VILASTEGGVELEEV VILASTEGGVELEEV VILASTEGGVELEEV TVIFBRMSGMUVESI AALASVGGDUEEV VILASAEGGVELEEV VILASAEGGVELEEV VILVGBPGGSDLEEV VILVGBPGGSDLEEV VILVGBPGGSDLEEV VILVGBPGGSDLEEV VILVGBPGGSDLEEV VILVGBPGGSDLEEV VILVGBPGGSDLEEV	1366 1366 1366 1355 1356 135 136 138 128 128 128 128 128 129 128 129 128 129 127 152 1655 139 164
2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Struct ECOLI COUBU HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN SHOUL SHEIT HEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAL SHETJA HEINAN- 8 PIG-6 METHA HEINAN- 8 PIG-6 99MOUSE- 0 BIRD-1 CAEEL	T GGWR A GGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GWF-NSGLKGGWR	bbTT222828282828 WNSREDIRAPAEM LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVQDVEZARAPAEM ILVQDVEZARAPAEM ILVQDVEZARAPAEM ILVQDVEZARAPAEM ILVQDVEZARAPAEM ILVQDVEZARAPAEM ILVQDVEZARAPAEM ILVQDVEZARAPAEM ILVQDVEZARAPAEM ILANSREZANICAA KANSPEZAREVANCE KANSPEZAREVANCE KANSPEZAREVANCE KANSPEZAREVANCE KANSPEZAREVANCE ILANDRAVEGEARQU ILTNDPKVKQEAQQU ILTNDPKVKQEAQQU ILTNDPKVKQEAQQU ILTNDPKVKQEAQQU	TTIDDITTITITID LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDERGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPRGQ RGDRLVTHQTGPDGQ RGDRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRVLVTLQTGPQGQ LGRVLVTLQTGPQGQ LGRVLVTLQTGPQGQ LGRVLVTLQTGPQGQ LGRVLVTLQTPKEGA LGRUT RGSVL	HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIAK VNRTYTESOCDIK NNRTYTESOCDIK PVNRVLIZEATDIZE PVNRVLIZEATDIZE PTNRVLISELVZIAS TVNRVLIZEAVDIAK TVNRVLIZEAVDIAK TVNRVLIZEAVDIAK TVNRVLIZEAVDIAK TVNRVLIZEAVDIAK TVNRVLIZEAVDIAK TVNRVLIZEAVDIAK TVNRVLIZEAVDIAK TVNRVLIZEAVDIAK TVNRVLIZEAVDIAK TVNRVLIZEAVDIAK TVNRVLIZEAVDIAK KVNRVMARALDISS KVNRVMARALDISS TVNRVMARALDISS RVNRVMARALDISS TVNRVMARALDISS	bbbbbbbbbtTTTTTb BLYLGAVUDRSSRRV BLYLGAVUDRSSRRV BYYLGAVUDRSSRSV BYYLGAVUDRSSSSCI BYYLALTLDRSSSSC BYYLALTLDRSSSSC BYYLALTLDRSSSSC BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLSFLLDRAKORV BYYLALLADDSSOG BYYLALLADDSSOG BYYLALLADDSSOG BYYLALLADDSSOG	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEGGNELEKV TFIASTEGGVELEKV TFIASTEGGVELEKV VIMASAAGGMELEK VIMASAAGGMELEK VIMASKEGGVELEKV VIMASKEGGVELEKV VIMASKEGGVELEKV VIMASVEGGMELEKV TVIPERMSGMUVEKI AAIASVGGMELEKV LIMASAEGGVELEKV UVGEPQGSDLEKV VIVGEPQGSDLEKV VVVASEQGGMELEKV VVVASEQGGMELEKV VVVASEQGGMELEKV	1366 1366 1366 1355 1366 1388 1288 1288 1288 1288 1288 1288 1288
	Struct ECOLI COUBU HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN SRICPR FICPR AUAL SRICPR HEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAC STRUCTU	T GGWR A GGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GTF-NSGLKGGWR GTF-KSGLKGGWR GWR GTF-KSGLKGGWR GWR	bbTT22282828282828 WNSKEDIRAPAENI LVIONCEELKSAVKAL LVIONCEELKSAVKAL LVIONCEELKSAVKAL LVIONCEELKSAVKAL VANSKEEAKVAARE VANSKEEAKVAHDM LVIONDELEKAVSSA LASTPOEAYEKAAAT LADTPOEAYEKAAAT LADTPOEAYEKAAAT LADTPOEAYEKAAAT KANSPEZKEVZKAKA PASNCEEPIKKAEEPIKKAEEPIKKAEEPIKKAEEPIKKAEEPIKKAEEPIKKAEEPIKKA FASNCEEPIKKAEEPIKKAEEPIKKAEEPIKKAEEPIKKAEEPIKKAEEPIKKAEEPIKKAE LINDPRVVGCLAKG LINDPRVVGCLAKG LINDPRVVGCLAKG LINDPKVVGLAKG LINDPKVVGLAKG LINDPKVVGLAKG LINDPKVVGLAKG LINDPKVVGLAKG LINDPKVVGLAKG	TTTDD/TTTTTTTD LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDERGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPDGQ PGINLVTHQTGPQGQ PGINLVTHQTGPQGQ PGINLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRVLUTTQCCPDGX LGRRLTTQCCPDGX LGRRLTTQCCPDGX LGRRLTTQCCPGGX IGNLATKQTPKGGA IGNLATKQTPKGGA IGNLATKQTPKGGA IGNLATKQTPKGGA IGNLATKQTPKGGA IGNLATKQTPKGGA IGNLATKQTPKGGA IGNLATKQTPKGGA	brttbbbbbtttbbb PVNQILVEAATDIAK PVNQILVEDTDIAK PVNQILVEDTDIAK PVNQILVEDTDIAK VNRTVTESCOILK PVNRVLEAATDIAK PVNRVLEAATDIAK TVNRVLEAATDIAK TVNRVLEAATDIAK TVNRVLEAATDIAK TVNRVLEAATDIAK TVNRVLEAATDIAK TVNRVLEAATDIAK TVNRVLEAATDIAK TVNRVLEAATDIAK TVNRVLEAATDIAK TVNRVLEAATDIAK TVNRVMAAATDIAK TVNRVMAAATDIAK TVNRVMAAATDIAK TVNRVMAAATDIAK TVNRVMAAATDIAK TVNRVMAAATDIAK	bbbbbbbbbbtTTTTD ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSSCI EYYLALTDESKSR ELYLGAUUDERAERU EYYLALUDERAERU EYYLALTDESKSR ELYLSAUDERAERU ELYLSAUDERAERU ELYLSAUDERAERU ELYLSAUDERAERU ELYLSAUDERSSRG ETYLAILMORSSRG ETYLAILMORSSRG ETYLAILMORSSRG ETYLAILMORSSRG ETYLAILMORSSRG ETYLAILMORSSRG ETYLAILMORSSRG ETYLAILMORSSRG	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFLASSEGGNIERV TFLASTEGGVELEKV TFLASTEGGVELEKV VIMASAAGGMELEK VLAGREGGVELEKV VLAGREGGVELEKV VLAGREGGVELEKV VLAGREGGVELEKV VLVGBPGGSDLEKV VLVGBPGGSDLEKV VLVGBPGGSDLEKV VLVGBPGGSDLEKV VLVGBPGGSDLEKV VLVGBPGGSDLEKV	1366 1366 1366 1355 1361 1361 1381 1281 1281 1281 1281 1281 1281 128
	Struct ECOLI COUBU HAEIN HAEIN HEAQUAE RICPR AUALI RICPR AUALI RICPR AUALI RICPR CHLIR HEAQUAE CHLIR HEAQUAE CHLIR HEAQUAE HEADUAE HEA	T	bbTT22282828282828 UNISREDIRAPAENI LUNDREELKSAVKAL LUNDREELKSAVKAL LUNDREELKSAVKAL LUNDREELKSAVKAL UNDREELKAVARSE VAKSREEARKVAHDI LANTPOEAYERAQAT LADTPOEAYERAQAT LADTPOEAYERAQAT LADTPOEAYERAQAT KANSPEZKEYENGE KANSPEZKEYENGE KANSPEZKEYENGE KANSPEZKEYENGE LINDPRVKQLANGE LINDPRVKQLANGE LINDPRVKQLANGE LINDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRVKQLANGE INDPRKKKQLANGE INDPRKKKQLANGE INDPRKKKQLANGE INDPRKKKQLANGE INDPRKKKQLANGE INDPKKKKQLANGE INDPKKKKQLANGE INDPKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKK	TTTDDTTTTTTTD LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRQ GRLVTFQTDRLGQ FGDRLVTHQTGPQQQ FGDRLVTHQTGPQQQ FGDRLVTHQTGPQQQ FGDRLVTHQTGPQQQ LGRVLKTTQTCPQC LGRUT LGRDT	brttbbbbbtttbbb PVNQILVEANDLAK PVNQILVEATDLAK PVNQILVEDTDLAK PVNQILVEDTDLAK VNRTYTESODILK PVNRVLEASTDLAK PVNRVLEASTLAST PVNRVLEASTLAST PVNRVLEENIEN TVNRVLEENIEN TVNRVLEENIEN TVNRVLEENIEN TVDRVLEENIEN TVERVLEENIEN TVERVLEENIENI TVERVLEENIENIEN TVNRMAEALDISS	bbbbbbbbbtTTTTb ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRV EYYLALTLDBSSRSV ELYLGAUDRASSCI EYYLALTLDBSRARRV EYYLGLILDBRARRV EYYLGLILDBRARRV EYYLGLILDBRARRV EYYLGLILDBRARRV EYYLGLILDBRARRV EYYLGLILDBRARRV EYYLGLILDBRARRV EYYLGLILDBRARRV EYYLALTLDBRSCNG ETYLALLDBRSNG EYYLALLDBRSNG EYYLALLDBRSNG EYYFALLDBRSNG EYYFALLDBRSNG EYYFALLDBRSNG EYYFALLDBRSNG EYYFALLDBRSNG EYYFALLDBRSNG EYFFALLDBRSNG EYFFALLDBRSNG ELYFALLDBRSNG ELYFALLDBRSNG ELYFALLDBRSNG ELYFALLDBRSNG ELYFALLDBRSNG ELYFALLDBRSNG ELYFALLDBRSNG ELYFALLDBRSNG	bbbbb/TTTTTTaaaa VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV TFIASTEGGVDIEKV TFIASTEGGVDIEKV VIMASRAGGVDIEK VIMASRAGGVDIEK VIMASREGGVDIEKV VIMASREGGVDIEKV LANASREGGVDIEKV LANASREGGVDIEKV VIMASREGGVDIEKV VIVASPQGSDIEKV VIVASPQGSDIEKV VIVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV VVASPGGGVDIEKV	136 136 136 136 135 128 128 128 128 128 129 128 129 127 152 165 152 139 164 170 150
	Struc ECOLI COULD	T GGWR A GGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GUTF-KSGLKGGWR G GUTF-KSGLKGGWR GHMETGFKSGWR GWR	bbTT2228282828282 VVNSKEDIRAPAEM LVNNREZKSAVKAL LVNNREZKSAVKAL LVNDREZKSAVKAL LVNDREZKSAVKAZ LASLDEVKAYAEZ VAKSUEAKKAARUS LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT KNSPEZKSVAKU FASNKEPINAEZ FAS-PSGVZEVTCDE LINDPKVKGLAKO LINDPKVKGLAKO LINDPKVKGLAKO LINDPKVKGLAKO INNERDAALEAIDE VKR-DEAEELAGO FVKSADEAALTAKE FVKSADEAALTAKE	TTTDD/TTTTTTTD LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBAGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTHQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQX LGRRLVTLQTGPDQX LGRRLVTLQTGPDQX LGRRLVTLQTGPDQX LGRRLVTLQTGPQQX LGRRLVTLQTFKDQA LGRRLVTKQTFKBQA LGRRLVTKQTFKBQA LGRRLVTKQTFKBQA LGRRLVTKQTFKBQA LGRRLVTKQTFKBQA LGRRLVTKQTFKBQA LGRRLVTKQTFKBQA LGRRLVTKQTFKBQA LGRRLVTKQTFSBQA	brttbbbbbtttbbb PVNQILVEANDLAK PVNQILVEATDLAK PVNQILVEETDLAK VNRTYTESCDILK VNRTYTESCDILK VNRTYTESCDILK PVRVVVETADPFER PVRVVVETADPFER PVRVVVETADPFER TVKKVLISELVETAD TVKKVLISELVETAD TVKKVLISELVETAD IVKKLISELEDI VVEKTIVEENLPID KVEKTIVEENLPID KVEKTIVEENLPID KVEKTIVEENLPID KVEKTIVEENLPID KVEKTIVEENLPID KVEKTIVEENLPID KVEKTIVEENLPID KVEKTIVEENLPID KVEKTIVEENLPID KVEKTIVEENLSI IVKKVMAAEALDIS KVEKTIVEENLSI KVEKTIVEENLSI KVEKTIVEENLSI KVEKTIVEENLSI ICQAVMESDEVEVIG LCQAVMESDEVEVIG LCQAVMESDEVEVIG	bbbbbbbbbtttttb ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRSV ELYLFALTEDRSKSR ELYLAITEDRSKSR ELYLAITEDRAKORV EYYLAITEDRAKORV EYYLAITEDRAKORV EYYLAITEDRAKORV EYYLAITEDRAKOR EYYL	bbbbb/TTTTTTaaaa VFWASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFIASSEGGNEIEK TFIASTEGGVEIEK VIMASAAGGMEIEK VIMASAAGGMEIEK VIMASREGGVEIEK VIMASREGGVEIEK VIMASREGGVEIEK VIMASAEGGVEIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIVSBPGGSDIEK VIJSBEGG	136 136 136 136 135 136 128 128 128 128 128 129 128 129 127 152 152 152 159 164 150 151
	Struc ECOLI COULI CO	T GGWR A GGWR GWF SGIR GWF SGWR GWR	bbTT222828282828 WNSKEDIRAPAEM LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVNREELKSAVKAL IAKSLEEVAVA222 VAKSREEAKVAL LADTPQEAYEKAQAT LADTPQEAYEKAQAT LADTPQEAYEKAQAT KANSPEZAKSVAKT KANSPEZAKSVAKT KANSPEZAKSVAKT KANSPEZAKSVAKT KANSPEZAKSVAKT KANSPEZAKSVAKT LADERVEGLAKG LADERVEGLAKG LADERVEGLAKG INTERVALEAKT KNSSE FASNEEZICAC	TTTDD/TTTTTTD LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRGQ RGDRLVTHQTGPDGR LGRRLVTHQTGPDGR LGRRLVTHQTGPDGR LGRRLVTLQTGPDGR LGRRLTTQTPRGR LGRRL LGRRL	HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILAPANDLAK PVNQILAPANDLAK PVNQILAPANDLAK VINKULIPANDIJA PVNKVLIPANDIJA PVNKVLIPANDPPER PINKULIPANDLAR TVNKVLIPANDLAR TVNKVLIPANDLAR TVNKVLIPARAVDLAK TVNKVLIPARAVDLAK TVNKVLIPARAVDLAK TVNKVLIPARAVDLAK TVNKVLIPARAVDLAK TVNKVLIPARAVDLAK TVPKVLIPENIEVOJ KVAKVMPARALDISS TVXKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS RVDKVMPARALDISS LCQAVMPSDPVEVKI LCQAVMPSDPVEVKI	bbbbbbbbbtTTTTTb ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV EYYLGAVUDRTSQN EYYLGAVUDRSSRV HYYLAITEDRSKSNP ELYLGAVUDRSKSNP EYYLAITEDRSKSNP EYYSAGLIEDRAKORV EYYLAITEDRAKORV EYYLAITEDRAKORV EYYLAITEDRAKORV EYYLAITEDRAKORV EYYLAITEDRAKOR ELYVSAVUDRSSRLF ENYLAITEDRAKOR ETYLAITEDRSSNGF ETYLAITEDRSSNGF ETYLAITEDRSSNGF ETYLAITEDRSSNGF ETYLAITEDRSSNGF ETYLAITEDRSSNGF ETYLAITEDRSSNGF ETYLAITEDRSSNGF ETYLAITEDRSSNGF ETYLAITEDRSSNGF ETYLAITEDRSSNGF ELYFAITEDRYSSIG	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFLASSEGGNELEKV TFLASTEGGVELEKV VTMASAAGGMELEKI VIMASAAGGMELEKI VLMLSKAGGVDLEKV VLMLSKAGGVDLEKV VLMLSKEGGVDLEKV VLMLSKEGGVDLEKV VLMLSKEGGVDLEKV VLMLSKEGGVDLEKV VLVGBPGGKDLEKV VLVGBPGGKDLEKV VLVGBPGGKDLEKV VLVGBPGGKDLEKV VLVGBPGGKDLEKV VLVGBPGGKDLEKV VLVGBPGGKDLEKV VVLASTEGGVELEKV VVLASTEGGVELEKV	136 136 136 136 135 136 136 138 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 12
	Struct ECOLI COURT A HAEIN A HAEIN HAI	T GGWR A GGWR GWF-SSGLKGGWR GWF-SGLKGGWR GWF-NSGLKGGWR GWF-NSGLKGGWR GWF-NSGLKGGWR GWRSGWR GTT-KSGLKGGWR GWRSGWR GTT-KSGLKGGWR GWR GHMETGFKSGWR GWR GHMETGFKSGWR GWR GTT-ESGLKGGWR GWR GWR GWR	bbTT222828282828 WNSKEDIRAPAEM LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVDNREELKSAVKAL LVDNREELKSAVKAL LVDNREELKSAKA VARSKEBANKAAEM IAKSLEEVAKAAEM IAKSLEEVAKAAEM LANTPERAKVAAEM LADTPERAKAKSA LADTPERAKAKSA KANSPERKAKSKA KANSPERKAKAKSKA KANSPERKAKAKSKA KANSPERKAKSKA KANSPERKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKA	TTIDDITTITITID LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPRGQ RGDRLVTHQTGPDGR LGRRLVTHQTGPDGR LGRRLVTHQTGPDGR LGRRLVTHQTGPDGR LGRRLVTLQTGPDGR LGRRLTTIGTCG LGRRL LGRRL LGRRL LGRRL LGRRL LGRRL LGRRL LGRRL LGRRLVTRQTGPGGR LGRRLVTRQTGPGGG LGRRLVTRQTGPGGG LGRRLVTRQTGGGGG LGRRLVTRQTGGGGG LGRRLVTRQTGGGGG	HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILIEDATTIDDD VNQILIEDATDIAK PVNQILIEDATDIAK VNRTYTESATDIAK VNRTYTESATDILK PVNRVLIENATNIAK PVNRVLIENATNIAK TVNRVLISPLVEIAS TVNRVLISPLVEIAS TVNRVLISPLVEIAS TVNRVLISPLVEIAS TVNRVLISPLVEIAS RVERVLIEDATDIS RVERVLIEDATISS RVERVLIEDATISS RVERVLIEDATISS RVARVMARAEALDISS RVARVMARAEAL	bbbbbbbbbtTTTTTb ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLGAVUDESSRSV EYYLAITEDRIKSK EYYLAITEDRIKK	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEGGNIEEV TFIASTEGGVELEEV VIMASAAGMELEFI VIMASAAGMELEFI VIMASAAGMELEFI VIMASAAGMELEFI VIMASKAGGVELEFY VIMASKEGGVELEFY VIMASKEGGVELEFY VIMASAEGGVELEFY VIVSEPGGBELEFY VIXSEPGGBELEFY VIXSEPGGBELEFY VIXSEPGGBELEFY VIXSEPGGBELEFY VIXSEPGGBELEFY VIXSEPGGBELEFY VIXSEPGGBELEFY VIXSEPGGBELEFY VIXSEPGGBELEFY VIXSEPGGBELEFY VIXSEPGGBELEFY	136 136 136 136 135 136 136 138 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 12
	Struct ECOLI COUBU HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN HAEN HEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAC THEAQ THEAC HAETH HUMAN- BAIL TRIVI THUAN- TRIVA TRIVI THUAN- TRIVA	T GGWR A GGWR G GVF-NSGLK G GVF-NSGLK G GVF-NSGLK G GWF-NSGLK G GWR	bbTT2228282828282 WNSKEDIRAPAEM LVNNKEELKSAVKAL LVODVEZARAPAEM LVNKSEELKSAVKAL UVDVEZARAPAEM ILVSDELKSAVKAL UVDDELEKAVESZ LASSEELKAAAK LASSEELKAAAK LASSEELKAAAK LASSEELKAAK LASSEELKAK LASSEELKAK KANSPEZKEVAK KANSPEZKEVAK KANSPEZKEVAK LASSEELKAKSS LINDPKVKGLAK LINDPKVKGLAK LINDPKVKGLAK INDPKVKGLAK INDPKVKGLAK INDPKVKGLAK INDPKVKGLAK INDPKVKGLAK INDPKVKGLAK INSEELKAKSS VKSADEAKLAKS IVFSPEZKAVSS IVFSPEZKAVSS IVFSPEZKAVSS IVFSPEZKAVSS	TTIDDITTITITID LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDERGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPRGQ RGDRLVTHQTGPDGQ RGDRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTLQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTLQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTLQTPRGA LGPTI	BITTIDDDDDTTTDDD PVNQILIZEANTDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK TVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK TVNQILIZEATDLAK TVNQILIZEATDLAK TVNQILIZEATDLAK TVNQILIZEATDLAK TVNQILIZEATDLAK TVNQILIZEATDLAK	bbbbbbbbbtTTTTTb ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLGAVUDESSRSV EYYLALTDESSSSCI EYYLALTDESSSSCI EYYLALTDESSSS EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EXYFALTDESSSCI EXYFALTDESSSCI EXYFALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EYYLALTDESSSCI EXYFALTDESSSCI EYYFALTDESSSCI	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEGGNIEEV TTLASTEGGVELEKV VTMASAAGGMIDEN VIMASAAGGMIDEN VIMASAAGGMIDEN VIMASAAGGMIDEN VIMASKEGGVDIEEV VIMASKEGGVDIEEV VIMASKEGGVDIEEV VIMASKEGGVDIEEV VIMASAEGGVDIEEV	136 136 136 136 136 136 138 128 128 129 128 129 128 129 129 128 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129
	Struct ECOLI COUBU HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN HAEN STICPR AUAL STICPR HEAQ HEAC STICPR HEAQ HEAC HEAC HEAC HEAC HEAC HEAC HAEN HAEN HEAC HEAC HAEN HAEN HEAC HEAC HAEN HAEN HEAC HEAC HAEN HAEN HEAC HEAC HAEN HAEN HEAC HEAC HAEN HAEN HEAC HEAC HAEN HAEN HEAC HAEN HAEN HEAC HAEN HAEN HEAC HAEN HAEN HAEN HAEN HAEN HAEN HAEN HAEN	T GGWR A GGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR GWP-NSGLKGGWR GWP-NSGLKGGWR GWP-NSGLKGGWR GWP-NSGLKGGWR GWP-NSGLKGGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR GWP-SSGLKGGWR	bbTTaasaasaaaa WMSKEDIRAPAEM LWNKEELKSAWKAL LWOWEERKSAWKAL ILVOWEERKSAWKAL UNODELKSAWKAL UNODELEKAVSE LAKSLDEVKAYAEE UAKSDEAKVRAAK LAKSTERAKKAAA LATPOEAYEKAAA LADTPOEAYEKAAA LADTPOEAYEKAAA LADTPOEAYEKAAA LADTPOEAYEKAAA LADTPOEAYEKAAA KANSPEZKEVZKA KANSPEZKEVZKA KANSPEZKEVZKA KANSPEZKEVZKA LITKOPKVOGLAKO LITKOPKVOGLAKO LITKOPKVOGLAKO ITKEKDAALEAIDEI FVKSADEAKLAKE FVKSADEAKLAKE VVSSEZKAVSSO IVFSPEZKAVSSO IVFSPEZKAVSSO IVFSPEZKAVSSO	TTTDD/TTTTTTD/ LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDERGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPRGQ PGDRLVTHQTGPGQQ PGDRLVTHQTGPQQQ PGDRLVTHQTGPQQQ PGDRLVTHQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPQQQ LGRRLTRQTPRGA IGANLATKQTPKGA IGANLATKQTGPKGA IGANLATKQTGPKGA	BITTIDDDDDTTTDDD PVNQILIZEANDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQILIZEATDLAK PVNQVLIZEATDPTER PINKULISELUZIAS TVNKULIZEADTLAK TVNKULIZEADTLAK TVNKULIZEADTLAK TVNKULIZEADTLAK TVNKULIZEATDLAK TVNKULIZEATDLAK TVNKULIZEATDLAK TVNKULIZEATDLAK TVNKULIZEATDIS KVNKULIZEALDIS KVNKULIZEALDIS KVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS TVNKULIZEALDIS LCQAVIESDPUZVIG LCQAVIESDPUZVIG ICNQULICERKYPRI ICNQULICERKYPRI ICNQULICERKYPRI	bbbbbbbbbbtTTTTD ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRSV ELYLFALIZDESSRSF ELYLFALIZDESSRSF ELYLFALIZDESSRSF ELYLFALIZDESSRSF ELYLFALIZDESSR ELYLFALIZDESSRS ELYLFALIZDESSRS ELYFALIZDESSRS	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFLASSEGGNIERV TFLASTEGGVELEKV VIMASACGMELEK VIMASACGMELEK VIMASACGMELEK VIMASREGGVELEKV VLALSREGGVELEKV VLALSREGGVELEKV VLASSEGGVELEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLVGBPQGSDLEKV VLJSSEGGVELEKV VLIGSSGGGNIEDV	136 136 136 135 136 128 128 128 128 128 129 127 152 152 139 165 152 139 165 151 153 153 158 157 158
	Struct ECOLI COUBU HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN SRICPR AQUAE SRICPR ABAC REAL SRICPR ABAC SRICPR CHLTR MCTU STREAD ARCFU ARCF	T GGWR A GGWR GWR GGWR GWR <t< td=""><td>bbTTaasaasaaaa VVNSKEDIRAPAEM LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVNNREELKSAVKAL ILVDVEERAPAPAEM IAKSLDEVKAYAEEL VAKSREEAKKYAAEL IAKSLDEVKAAARDE IAKSPEDLAAAKA LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT KANSPEEAKAVSSO LINDPKVKGLAKO INTREDAALEATDE INTREDAALEATDE IVKR-DEAEELAGO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO</td><td>TTTDD/TTTTTTD LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRAQ LGRRLVTHQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTHQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTFRDQQ LGRRLVTRQTFRDQQ LGRRLVTRQTFRDQQ LGRRLVTRQTFRDQQ LGRRLVTRQTFRDQQ LGRRLVTRQTFRDQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLFTRQTQSQQ LGRRLFTRQTQSQQ</td><td>DITTIDDDDDTTTDDD PVNQILVEANTDIAK PVNQILVEATDDIAK PVNQILVEDCTILK VNRUTYTESCOLIK VNRUTYTESCOLIK PVNRVLEACTADPER PUNKULISPLVELAS TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLERLEN TVNKVLERLEVG KVEKVLEERLIPIS KVNKVMRARALDISS TVNKVMRARALDISS</td><td>bbbbbbbbbbtttttb ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRSV ELYLFALTEDRSKSRF ELYLFALTEDRSKSRF ELYLFALTEDRSKRRV EYYLFALTEDRSKRRV EYYLFALTEDRSKRRV EYYLFALTEDRSKRR ELYFSTELDRANGG ELYFSTELDRANGG ETYLAILANDRSSRG ETYLAILANDRSSRG ELYFFALTEDRSFG ELYFFALTERSFG ELYFFALTEL</td><td>bbbbb/TTTTTTaaaa VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV TFIASTEGGVEIEKV TFIASTEGGVEIEKV VIMASAAGACIEEKI VIMASAAGACIEEKI VIMASAAGACIEEKI VIMASAAGACIEKI LAIASAAGACIEKI LAIASAAGACIEKI VIMASAAGACIEKI LIIPSTEGGVEIEKV VIMASTEGGVEIEKV VIMASTEGGVEIEKV VIMASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV</td><td>136 136 136 136 136 128 128 128 128 128 128 129 128 129 127 152 165 152 139 164 170 150 151 153 158 157 158 157</td></t<>	bbTTaasaasaaaa VVNSKEDIRAPAEM LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVNNREELKSAVKAL ILVDVEERAPAPAEM IAKSLDEVKAYAEEL VAKSREEAKKYAAEL IAKSLDEVKAAARDE IAKSPEDLAAAKA LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT LADTPQEAYEKAAAT KANSPEEAKAVSSO LINDPKVKGLAKO INTREDAALEATDE INTREDAALEATDE IVKR-DEAEELAGO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO	TTTDD/TTTTTTD LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRAQ LGRRLVTHQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTHQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPDQQ LGRRLVTLQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTFRDQQ LGRRLVTRQTFRDQQ LGRRLVTRQTFRDQQ LGRRLVTRQTFRDQQ LGRRLVTRQTFRDQQ LGRRLVTRQTFRDQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLVTRQTGPQQQ LGRRLFTRQTQSQQ LGRRLFTRQTQSQQ	DITTIDDDDDTTTDDD PVNQILVEANTDIAK PVNQILVEATDDIAK PVNQILVEDCTILK VNRUTYTESCOLIK VNRUTYTESCOLIK PVNRVLEACTADPER PUNKULISPLVELAS TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLARARAVDIAK TVNKVLERLEN TVNKVLERLEVG KVEKVLEERLIPIS KVNKVMRARALDISS TVNKVMRARALDISS	bbbbbbbbbbtttttb ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRV ELYLGAVUDRSSRSV ELYLFALTEDRSKSRF ELYLFALTEDRSKSRF ELYLFALTEDRSKRRV EYYLFALTEDRSKRRV EYYLFALTEDRSKRRV EYYLFALTEDRSKRR ELYFSTELDRANGG ELYFSTELDRANGG ETYLAILANDRSSRG ETYLAILANDRSSRG ELYFFALTEDRSFG ELYFFALTERSFG ELYFFALTEL	bbbbb/TTTTTTaaaa VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV VFMASTEGGVEIEKV TFIASTEGGVEIEKV TFIASTEGGVEIEKV VIMASAAGACIEEKI VIMASAAGACIEEKI VIMASAAGACIEEKI VIMASAAGACIEKI LAIASAAGACIEKI LAIASAAGACIEKI VIMASAAGACIEKI LIIPSTEGGVEIEKV VIMASTEGGVEIEKV VIMASTEGGVEIEKV VIMASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV VIASTEGGVEIEKV	136 136 136 136 136 128 128 128 128 128 128 129 128 129 127 152 165 152 139 164 170 150 151 153 158 157 158 157
	Struc ECOLI COULI CO	T GGWR A GGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR G GWR-NSGLKGGWR GWR G GWR-SGLKGGWR GWR G GWR-SGLKGGWR GWR G GWR-SGLKGGWR GWR G GWR-SGLKGGWR	bbTTaasaasaaaa VVNSKEDIRAPAEM LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVNNREELKSAVKAL UNDREARAPAEM LAKSLDEVKAYAEEL VAKSREEAKKAAAK LADTPOEAKEKAAAK LADTPOEAYEKAAAK LADTPOEAYEKAAAK LADTPOEAYEKAAAK LADTPOEAYEKAAAK LADTPOEAYEKAAAK LADTPOEAYEKAAAK KAYSVEEAYEKAKA KAYSVEEAYEKAKA KAYSVEEAYEKAKA KAYSVEEAYEKAKA KAYSVEEAYEKAKA KAYSVEEAYEKAKA LINDPKVKGLAKO LINDPKVKGLAKO LINDPKVKGLAKO INVROBALEAIDE VKSADEAAKIAKE FVKSADEAAKIAKE FVKSADEAAKIAKE FVKSADEAAKIAKE FVKSADEAAKIAKE IVFSPEEAKAVSSO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO IVFSPEEAKAVSSO	TTTDD/TTTTTTTD LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRGQ RGDLVTHQTGPDGR LGRRLVTHQTGPDGR LGRRLVTHQTGPDGR LGRRLVTHQTGPDGR LGRRLVTLQTGPDGR LGRRLTTGTRGTGRG LGRRLVTNQTGPGGR LGRRLTNQTGPGGR LGRRLTNQTGPGGR LGRRLTNQTGPGGR LGRRLTNQTGPGGR LGRRLTNQTGPGGR LGRRLTNQTGPGGR	HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILAPDATDLAK PVNQILAPDYSDLAR PVNQILAPDYSDLAR PVNQILAPDYSDLAR PVNQUAPENCILLA PVNRVLIPSCDILA PVNRVLIPSCDILA PVNRVLIPSCDILA PVNRVLIPSCADPPER PINKVLIPSCADPPER PINKVLIPSCADPPER PVNRVLIPSCADA TVNKVFARAZADLAS IVKKUAPAZALDISS TVDTVMSAPECELIPS TVDKVMSAZALDISS KVNKVMSAZALDISS KVNKVMSAZALDISS RVDKVMSAZALDISS RVDKVMSAZALDISS RVDKVMSAZALDISS RVDKVMSAZALDISS RVDKVMSAZALDISS RVDKVMSAZALDISS RVDKVMSAZALDISS RVDKVMSAZALDISS RVDKVMSAZALDISS ILCQAVMSDPVEVIS LCQAVMSDPVEVIS I	bbbbbbbbbtTTTTTb ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLAIVLENASSR HYYLAIVLENASSR ELYLGAULDENASKRV EYYLAIVLENASKRV EYYLAIVLENASKRV EYYLAIVLENASKRV EYYLAIVLENASKRV EYYLAIVLENASKRV EYYLAILDENAKRV EYYLAILDENAKRV EYYLAILDENASKR ETYLAILDENSSRE ETYLAILDENSSRE ETYLAILDENSSRE ETYLAILDENSSRE ETYLAILDENSSRE ETYLAILDENSSRE ETYLAILDENSSRE ETYLAIDENSSRE ETYLAIDENSSRE ETYLAIDENSSRE ETYLAIDENSSRE ELYFAITHENSSPG ELYFAITHENSSPG EYYFAITHENSSPG	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFLASSEGGMILEKV TFLASTEGGVELEEV VLMLSREGGMILEK VLMLSREGGVDLEKV VLMLSREGGVDLEKV VLMLSREGGVDLEKV VLMLSREGGVDLEKV VLMLSREGGVDLEKV VLMLSREGGVDLEKV VLMLSREGGVDLEKV VLMSREGGVDLEKV VLVGBPGGSDLEKV VLJGSSGGGNLEKV VLIGSSGGGNLEKV VLIGSSGGGNLEKV VLIGSSGGGNLEKV VLIGSSGGGNLEKV	136 136 136 136 136 136 138 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 12
	Struc ECOLI COULT	T GGWR A GGWR C A GGWF SGLK GGWF SGLK GGWF SGLK GGWR GGWR GTF	bbTT222828282828 WNSKEDIRAPAEM LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVNNREELKSAVKAL LVNREELKSAVKAL LVNREELKSAVKAL UNEXEEDAKKAAEM IAKSLEVANAEM LANTPOLEKENAAEM LANTPOLEAKENAAEM LANTPOLEAYERAAAK LANTPOLEAYERAAAK LANTPOLEAYERAAAK LANTPOLEAYERAAAK KAYSVEAVERAKE FASKEEPTINAEE FASKEEPTINAEE FASKEEPTINAEE FASKEEPTINAEE FASKEEPTINAEE FASKEEPTINAEE FASKEEPTINAEE FASKEEPTINAEE FASKEEPTINAEE FASKEEPTINAEE FASKEEPTINAEE FYKSADEAAKIAKE FYKSADEAAKIAKE FYKSADEAAKIAKE FYKSADEAAKIAKE FYKSADEAAKIAKE IVFSPEEAKAVSSO	TTIDDITTITITID LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPRGQ RGDRLVTHQTGPRGQ RGDRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLTTQTCPQGQ LGRRLTTQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQGQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLVTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLVTNQTCQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ LGRRLTNQTCPQCQ	HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILIJEDATTIDDD VNQILIJEDATDIJAK PVNQILIJEDATDIJAK VNRVLIJEDATDIJAK VNRVLIJEDATDIJAK PVNRVLIJEDATDIJAK PVNRVLIJEDATDIJAK TVNRVLIJEDATDIJAK TVNRVLIJEDATDIJAK TVNRVLIJEDATDIJAK TVNRVLIJEDATDIJAK TVNRVLIJEDATUJAK TVNRVLIJEDATUJAK TVNRVLIJEDATUJAK TVNRVLIJEDATUJAK TVERVLIJEDATUJAK KVNRVMSDEALDISS KVNRVMSDEALDISS KVNRVMSDEALDISS KVNRVMSDEALDISS KVNRVMSDEALDISS KVNRVMSDEALDISS TVNRVMSDEALDISS KVNRVMSDEALDISS KVNRVMSDEALDISS KVNRVMSDEALDISS KVNRVMSDEALDISS TVNRVMSDEALDISS KVNRVMSDEALDISS KVNRVMSDEALDISS TVNRVMSDEALDISS TVNRVMSDEALDISS LCQAVMSDEVEVRI LCQAVMSDEVEVRI ICNQVJCERRYPRI ICNQVJCERRYPRI ICNQVJCERRYPRI ICNQVJCERRYPRI ICNQVJCERRYPRI ICNQVJCERRYPRI ICNQVJCERRYPRI ICNQVJCERRYPRI ICNQVJCERRYPRI ICNQVJCERRYPRI ICNQVJCERRYPRI ICNQVJCERRYPRI	bbbbbbbbbtTTTTTb ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLGAVUDESSRV EYYLAITEDRISKS EYYLAITERSFCG	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFIASSEGGMILEKV TFIASTEGGVELEKV VIMASAAGGMELEKI VIMASAAGGWELEKI VIMASAAGGWELEKI VIMASKAGGWELEKI VIMASKAGGWELEKI VIMASKAGGWELEKI VIMASAEGGWELEKI VIMASAEGGWELEKI VIXASTEGGVELEKI VIXASTEGGWELEKI VIASTEGGWELEKI	136 136 136 136 136 136 136 138 128 128 129 128 129 128 129 128 129 128 129 128 129 128 129 128 129 129 128 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129
	Struct ECOLI COURT HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN HAEIN HAEN HAEN HAEN HAEN HAEN HAEN HAEN HAE	T GGWR A GGWR CGWR GGWR GWF-SSGLKGGWR GWR GTF-NSGLKGGWR GTF-NSGLKGGWR GTF-NSGLKGGWR GTF-SSGLKGGWR GTF-SSGLKGGWR GTF-SSGLKGGWR GTF-SSGLKGGWR GTF-SSGLKGGWR GTF-SSGLKGGWR GTF-SSGLKGGWR GTF-SSGLKGGWR GTF-SSGLKGGWR GTF-SSGLKGGWR GGWP-SSGLQGGWR	bbTT2222222222222222222222222222222222	TTTDD/TTTTTTD/ LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDBRGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPRGQ RGDRLVTHQTGPDGRQ RGDRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQGR LGRRLVTHQTGPQGR LGRRLVTHQTGPQGR LGRRLVTHQTGPQGR LGRRLTTNQTPRGG LGRRLFTNQTGPQGR	HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILVEAATDIAK PVNQILVEQTIDIK VNRTVIESCODILK VNRTVIESCODILK PVNRVLIESCODILK PVNRVLIESCODILK PVNRVLIESCIDILK PVNRVLIESCIDILK PVNRVLIESCIDILK TVNRVLISPLVEIAS TVNRVLISPLVEIAS TVNRVLISPLVEIAS TVNRVLISPLVEIAS RVERVLISPLVEIAS RVERVLIESCIDIS RVERVLIESCIDIS RVERVLIESCIDIS RVERVLISPLVERISI RVERVLISPLVERISI RVERVLISPLVERISI RVERVLISPLVERISI RVERVLISPLVERISI RVERVLISPLVERISI RVERVLISPLVERISI LOQAVMESDPVEVRI ICOQUICERRYPRI ICOQUICERRYPRI ICOQUICERRYPRI ICOQUICERRYPRI ICOQUICERRYPRI ICONVERISPRE RVERVIERPRI ICOVERCERRYPRI ICOVERCERRYPRI ICOVERCERRYPRI ICOVERCERRYPRI ICOVERCERRYPRI ICOVERCERRYPRI ICOVERCERRYPRI ICOVERCERRYPRI ICOVERCERRYPRI ICOVERCERRYPRI ICOVERCERRYPRI ICOVERCERRYPRI	bbbbbbbbbtTTTTTb BLYLGAVUDESSRRV BLYLGAVUDESSRRV BLYLGAVUDESSRRV BYYLGAVUDESSRRV BYYLAITERASORI BYYLAITERASSASCI	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFLASSEGGNIEEV TFLASTEGGVELEEV VILASTEGGVELEEV VLMLSKAGGVELEEV VLMLSKAGGVELEEV VLMLSKAGGVELEEV VLMLSKAGGVELEEV TVTFBRMSGMDVESI AALASVGGMDLEEV VLVGBPQGSVDLEEV VLVGBPQGSVDLEEV VLVGBPQGSVDLEEV VLVGBPQGSVDLEEV VLVGBPQGSVDLEEV VLVGBPQGSVDLEEV VLVGBPQGSVDLEEV VLASTEGGVELEEV VLASTEGGVELEEV VLLGSSQGGVNLEEV VLLGSSQGGVNLEEV VLLGSSQGGVNLEEV VLVASTEGGVELEEV VLJASTEGGVELEEV VLJASTEGGVELEEV VLJASTEGGVELEEV VLJASTEGGVELEEV VLJASTEGGVELEEV VLJASTEGGVELEEV VLLGSSQGGVNLEEV	136 136 136 136 136 136 136 136 128 128 128 129 128 129 128 129 128 129 128 129 128 129 129 128 129 129 128 129 129 128 129 129 128 129 129 128 129 129 128 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 129
	Struct Struct	T GGWR A GGWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR GWR G GVF-NSGLKGGWR GWR G GWR-NSGLKGGWR GWR G GWR-NSGLKGGWR GWR G GWR-NSGLKGGWR GWR G GWR-NSGLKGGWR GWR G GWR-SSGLKGGWR GWR <t< td=""><td>bbTTaasaasaaaa WMSKEDIRAPAEM LWNKEELKSAWKAL IVQDVEEARAPAEM ILWNKEELKSAWKAL ILWOWEERAPAEM ILWNKEELKSAWKA WASKEEAKVAAAEK ILASILEVAVAAEK ILASILEVAVAAEK ILASILEVAVAAEK ILASILEVAVAAEKAAAK ILASILEVAVAAEKAAAK ILASILEVAVAAAAKI ILASILEVAVAAAAKI ILASILEVAVAAAAKI ILASILEVAVAAEKAAKI KANSPEEAKEVAKKI FASINEEPINCAEEK ILANDEKVAGLAKOI ILINDEKVAGLAKOI ILINDEKVAGLAKOI ILINDEKVAGLAKOI ILINDEKVAGLAKOI ILINDEKVAGLAKOI ILINDEKVAGLAKOI IVFSPEEAKAVSSOI IVFSPEEAKAVSSOI IVFSPEEAKAVSSOI IVFSPEEAKAVSSOI ILINDEKVASIA</td><td>TTIDDITTITITIDI LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDERGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPRGQ FGDRLVTHQTGPDGQ FGDRLVTHQTGPQGQ FGDRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTLQTPRGG LGRRLTTQTPRGG IGYNLATKQTPRGG IGYNLFTKQTGRGG IGYNLFTKQTGRGG IGYNLFTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG</td><td>HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILIZEANTDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIA PVNQILIZEATDIA PVNQILIZEATDIA PVNQILIZEATDIA PVNQILIZEATDIA PVNQILIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA KVEKULIZEATDIA KVEKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA KVEKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA</td><td>bbbbbbbbbtTTTTTb ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLGAUDEATSEL EYYLAITDESSR</td><td>bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFLASSEGGNIEEV TFLASTEGGVELEKV VFLASSEGGNIEEN VIMASAAGGMELEKI VIMASAAGGMELEKI VIMASAAGGMELEKV VLMASAGGMELEKV VLMASAGGMELEKV VLMASAGGMELEKV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLASTEGGVELEEV VLIGSQGGMIEDV VLIGSQGGMIEDV VLIGSQGGMIEDV VLIGSQGGMIEDV VLIGSQGGMIEV VLIGSQGGMIEV VLIGSQGGMIEV</td><td>136 136 136 136 136 138 128 128 128 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 127 152 152 159 164 150 151 153 158 157 158 155 155 157 158 145 165 135 165 135 129 129</td></t<>	bbTTaasaasaaaa WMSKEDIRAPAEM LWNKEELKSAWKAL IVQDVEEARAPAEM ILWNKEELKSAWKAL ILWOWEERAPAEM ILWNKEELKSAWKA WASKEEAKVAAAEK ILASILEVAVAAEK ILASILEVAVAAEK ILASILEVAVAAEK ILASILEVAVAAEKAAAK ILASILEVAVAAEKAAAK ILASILEVAVAAAAKI ILASILEVAVAAAAKI ILASILEVAVAAAAKI ILASILEVAVAAEKAAKI KANSPEEAKEVAKKI FASINEEPINCAEEK ILANDEKVAGLAKOI ILINDEKVAGLAKOI ILINDEKVAGLAKOI ILINDEKVAGLAKOI ILINDEKVAGLAKOI ILINDEKVAGLAKOI ILINDEKVAGLAKOI IVFSPEEAKAVSSOI IVFSPEEAKAVSSOI IVFSPEEAKAVSSOI IVFSPEEAKAVSSOI ILINDEKVASIA	TTIDDITTITITIDI LGRRLVTYQTDANGQ LGRRLVTYQTDERGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPRGQ FGDRLVTHQTGPDGQ FGDRLVTHQTGPQGQ FGDRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTHQTGPQGQ LGRRLVTLQTPRGG LGRRLTTQTPRGG IGYNLATKQTPRGG IGYNLFTKQTGRGG IGYNLFTKQTGRGG IGYNLFTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG IGYNLTTKQTGRGG	HTTIDDDDDTTIDDD PVNQILIZEANTDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIAK PVNQILIZEATDIA PVNQILIZEATDIA PVNQILIZEATDIA PVNQILIZEATDIA PVNQILIZEATDIA PVNQILIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA KVEKULIZEATDIA KVEKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA KVEKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA TVNKULIZEATDIA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA LOQUUCEATYPA	bbbbbbbbbtTTTTTb ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV ELYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLGAVUDESSRRV EYYLGAUDEATSEL EYYLAITDESSR	bbbbb/ttttttaaaa VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFWASTEGGVELEKV VFMASTEGGVELEKV VFLASSEGGNIEEV TFLASTEGGVELEKV VFLASSEGGNIEEN VIMASAAGGMELEKI VIMASAAGGMELEKI VIMASAAGGMELEKV VLMASAGGMELEKV VLMASAGGMELEKV VLMASAGGMELEKV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLVGBPQGSDIEEV VLASTEGGVELEEV VLIGSQGGMIEDV VLIGSQGGMIEDV VLIGSQGGMIEDV VLIGSQGGMIEDV VLIGSQGGMIEV VLIGSQGGMIEV VLIGSQGGMIEV	136 136 136 136 136 138 128 128 128 129 129 129 129 129 129 129 127 152 152 159 164 150 151 153 158 157 158 155 155 157 158 145 165 135 165 135 129 129

1	DOME T	*				MARINTER PORT AT.		INTEL DESTENDED	221
2	COXCHU	x	EKSPECT AVTEDP	AIGLOPFOCROEFFG	IGLODINGRSFTDI	WEINRI FTERRESL	TRINEVI TGSG	ELICIENTINIEDSA	222
3	HAEIN	. 7	ONSERLIHEVTEDP	LFGCLPYOGREENPK	LGL-SGTONKOFTDI	MODEL LEVELSL	EVEREVLTPOG	NEUCLEARISVEENA	221
4	BASCU	X	EKTERKIKIAVIDP	AVELOGYOARBEAPA	INIPKELVGKAAKPM	G-GENERARVEROCSI	REIRESVVTGDG	NUMALDARENFOSNA	221
5	RICPR	X	ERMERKELLEFAVOP	ATGLODFINGEAYE	LGF-KUNOAKOMKEI	OLATELEVANA	INTERNIINSYG	NEEALDARITFOLNG	221
6	AQUAEI	LŲ	KENERATITETTOP	ELGEMPYOAREDAFK	INLPVREFASIA	EK-ERGIYSDLEASL	VICTORIANULTREG	NEALDANDODDNA	217
7	Malate	• A	AKEDIALIGUVUEP	AVGLOOPOAREIAPO	LGL-NLKQVSAAVKT	INNEYRAPRICEGIM		RVLALDADISPDDNA	217
8	CHLTR	4	RKÖSDÖRTINU 252	SCRITCIOLICIAR	SEM-DÖSTVDÖRKT	TRUTTUCE I ENDINGL		SENTIMANTITELINA	221
9	THERO		ARREATHERWIDP	HOGERIPPEARIE	AGL-EGNLNK-LAOV	EVALNRAYEGVDASI	ARTICLE WWW	GIVAADAKIVLDINA	212
10	THEFL		AERPEADEWIDP	HRGERPFEARENVAR	AGL-EGNLNK-LAOV	EVALYRAYEGUDASI	ARTHREVVTTDG	GIVAADARIVLEENA	212
11	MYCTU		ATKPEREAKVPINA	VKOVDLDFARSTARO	GHL-PAEVLDINAVT	TAKENELEVAEDATL	VIVINELVRTPCH	RTEALDARTTLDGNA	213
12	STRCO	2	ARREAVARIEVOP	ATGVHTATAVRÍADA	AGLPPQTVDT	INREAKVINGEDALL	VEVNIPEVRTAEG	RIVALOGRATIEDNA	209
13	ARCEU	1 8	AKHPDATHRIYEDP	LWELXDYEVRKALFR	AGF-EGREFKOMPDI	INCLUDIAFAYEAL	TAINPLAVTDEG	-FLAADARENIDDNA	213
14	ARCEUZ	2 3	WRIPERIARIAMP	KNGLNDYQIREDLLN	SOM-PREYWKEVASI	LATER INVHYBALL	VEINPLVVTPDG	-ENAADARENIEDISA	212
15	METJA		EKNEKLIKYHIDV	KREPLPYLANNIVKE	AKL-PONELUKVALV	TINET PREVER			211
10	MELTR		ANC SERVEN STUTING		MIL-ESELLIFSVOOV	THURSDARKUNTENNES	NETHERAT 3313	- ATHADUNESARIPO	411
17	H MAN-(G J	ASNEELIFEEDIDI	FEGINDSOAGRMAEN	LGF-VGPLKSOAADO	TTREWNLET KIDETO	VEVNIPPGETPEG	OWNEFDAKINFILINA	237
18	PIG-G	ž	ASNPELIFEDOIDI	IEGIKDSOAORMAEN	LCP-LCPLONOAADO	TKKLYNLFLKIDATO	VEVNIPIGETPEG	QVVCFDARINFDINA.	250
19	MOUSE-0	G J	ASSPELIFICOIDI	FEGINDSCAORMAEN	LGF-LGSLINOAADO	TRANSPERIATO	VEWNPPGETPEG	OVVCFDAKINFDONA	237
20	BIRD-C	G J	WISPELIFREEIDI	FEGINDHOALONANN	LGF-KGPLQQQAADQ	INCIMULATO	VIVMPFGETPEG	OVVCFEARINFDINA	224
21	CAEEL	2 1	VOLUMPICAL STATES	OMENTEGOSLICIARD	LOF-EGRILIGVANOE	INPLADLPLAVDATO	VEDEPEVETADG	RVPCVDAIDANPDDSA	249
~~									765
22	AATH	, #	ALAT PLATELEVIEL	THE TURNARY UG	LAN-MALKADSIED	WARDELPRATECTA	VELNELAE TJIN	A CONTRACTOR OF THE PARTY OF TH	235
23	TRIVA	21		VEGLINDWAVNESKE	I CT - MORATENGIES	MORTANCE VOSLACO	VEDNPEAR	RTTTVDSKENEDCOR	236
25	TRIVA	1 2	ANNERTHEFT	VEGITEEVANISTK	LGL-IGKAYDNOVR	MONTHALFVGSENTO	VEWNELARTTTG	REITVOSKENEDOSA	238
26	HLMAN-A	A 7	AETFEATIKEPIDI	EEGINKEOALOLAOK	MGF-PPNIVESAAEN	WRITEST FLKYDAM	IRINPAVEDSDG	AVLONDARINFDSNS	243
27	PIG-A	. 1	AETPEAIVEPIDI	VEGIKKEOAVREACK	MGF-PPSIVDSAAEN	MIKENNLELKYDATM	VEINPHVEDSDG	AVLONDAKINPDSNS	242
28	MOUSE-	A J	AAENPEAIVKEPIDI	VEGINGEOAVILAOK	MGP-PSNIVDSAAEN	MINEMALPLKYDAIM	VEINPHVEDSDG	KVLONDAKINFDENS	243
29	BIRD-	A J	AENPEATIKEPIDI	VEGINGEOAVREACK	MGF-PSNLVDEAAEN	MIKLYNLFLKYDAM	TEINENVEDASG	VVMONDAKONFDSNS	230
30	CAEEL	11	AINPEAIVERTOV	NUGITIKELAHETAVK	MGP-SKOCEQQASEI	IEREXQMPRGSEATL	VELINEMAEDVNG	DVYCHDCRLLDSNA	251
31	NEOFR		AKINPLAILIVPISI	KIGLIREVALDIAKK	MGP-TERCVPOADD	PARCYKLPIERDATA	VILLENAZNINKG	EVVCNEARPGPELINA	220
34	SCHPO		ACTIVE BALLINGSLET	STELLITILALLIVUK	LOF-SOSSAFRAVUA	USM WET PUPPIDARO	VILLED SPIELDEN	KTHETTAKREPTENA	261
22	SALLE		ACKI FURINAFOLCI	SURGEORGENES	Die - Stungbernen	A TANKING TANKING A	WHERE AND ALLERINE THE	NAME OF THE OF THE WE	
34	ACUAE	2 1	PERKY SSIPINEAKG	LYDENVENYLLE	LGFMPVLRKLSEV	TARHEDAFWGAEARL	LEINPLAIVDROCKP	DVLALDAVVKIDDDA	213
35	CIT-H	υ.	KACHLLUGVDERLN	PEDINCHLLVHA	PODKOEILASP	ISCLENFYEDLYFTY	LEDIPLVVTROG	-VYVLDLAAKVDATA	230
						_			
2.	Struc	t :	333TaaaaTTTT333	TTaaaaaa-aaTTbb	bbbTTTbbbbbTTa	Taaaaaaaaa	-TTTTTTTbbbbb	T-TTaaaaaaaaaaaa	
2.	Struc	τ.	333Taaaa77777333	TTasasaa-aaTTbb	bbbTTTbbbbbtTa		-TTTTTTbbbbbTT	T-TTasassassas	305
2.	Struc		333TaaaaTTTT333	TTaaaaaa-aaTTbb EDPRIIRQA-AQWEIN	bb/TTTbbbb/TTa	CANCELER CONTRACTOR	-TTTTTTTbbbbbtTT	T-TTAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA	305
2	Struc ECOLI COXEU		333TaaaaTTTT333 LERQPDEREMRDQSQ LYRQSELREMRDITQ	TTaaaaaa-aaTTbb EDEREAQA-AQMEIN EDERENA-QQMEIN NTAREARIA-FKFOIN	bb/TTTbbbb/TTa YALDGNIGCMWRA YIKLDGNIGCMWRA WALFEDIGCMWRA	GLANGTEDIVKL	-TTTTTTDbbbb/IT -HGG-EPANFLDUGG -SGG-DPANFLDUGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG	T-TTAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA	305 306 305
2' 1 2 3	Struc ECOLI COXEU HAEIN BASCU		333TassaTTTT333 LEROPOLREMRDOSO LYROSELREMRDITO LERSKOLLALOLTO LYROSDOMEYROLDE	TTAAAAAA - AATTOD EDERENQA - AQMEIN NDARENA - QQMEIN NDARENA - SKYQIN EDERETEN - SKYQIN	bbbTTTTbbbbbTTa YVALDQNIGCHNHQA YIKLDQNIGCHNHQA YVALHGDIGCHNHQA YISLDQNIGCHNHQA	GLANGINDIVKL GLANGINDIVKL GLANGINDIVKL GLANGINDIVKL GLANGINDIVKL	-TTTTTTDDDDDT -HGG-EBANFLLVGG -SGG-DEANFLLVGG -YGG-EBANFLDVGG -YGG-EBANFLDVGG	T-TTARAGAGAGAGA G-AIKERVTEAFKII S-AIKERVTEAFKII G-AIQERVAEAFKII G-AIQERVAEAFKII	305 306 305 305
2' 1 2 3 4	Struc ECOLI COXEU HAEIN BASCU RICPR		333TaaaaTTTT333 LEROPDEREMRDOSO LYROSELREMRDITO LYROSELREMRDITO LYRORDIALODLTO LYRORDIMEYROLDE LYRORDIMEYROLDE	TTAAAAAA-AAMELN EDERIIMA-QAMELN NIARIALA-EKROLN EDERIIMA-SKYDES EDERII-SKYDES	PROFESSION CONTRACTOR CONTRA	GLANGINDIVAL GLANGINDIVAL GLANGINDIVAL GLANGINDIVAL GLANGINDIVAL GLANGINDIVAL	- TTTTTTDbbbbTT -HGG-EPANFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGA-EPANFLDVGG -YGA-LENNFLDVGG	T-TTARAAAAAAAAA G-ATKERVTEAFKII S-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATAEKVTEAFKII G-ATAEKVTEAFKII G-ARERVKEALKII	305 306 305 305 305
2' 1 2 3 4 5	Struc ECOLI COXEU HAEIN BASCU RICPR		333TaaaaTTTT333 LEROPOLREMROOSO LYROSELREMRDITO LERROSLALOUTO LYRORDIEROSLALOUTO LERROSLEAVEDED LERRINGLEEMEDED	TTAAAAAA - AATTAD EDERIIMA-QAREIN EDERIIMA-QAREIN NIARIAREN-EKYÖLN EDERIIRA-SKYÖLS EDELIITRA-ANACISIN LIPOLINIRA-NIXYSEN	bb/TTTbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCM/MG9 YIKLDGNIGCM/MG9 YVALBGDIGCM/MG9 YVGMGATIGCM/MG9 YKGMGATIGCM/MG9	GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL	- TTTTTTDbbbbbT - HGG-EEANFLDVGG - SGG-DEANFLDVGG - YGG-KEANFLDVGG - YGG-EEANFLDVGG - YGA-LEANFLDVGG - XGA-EEANFLDVGG - AGG-EEANFLDVGG	T-TTABAGAGAGAGA G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVIEAIXGII	305 306 305 305 305 305
2.1	Struc ECOLI COXEU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE Malat		333TassaTTTT333 LIPAPPEREMADING LIPARADING LIPARADIALORING LIPARADIMEYROLDE LIPARADIMEYROLDE LIPARADIALORING LIPARADIALORISTO LIPARADIALORISTO	TTABABAB - SATTAD EDERIDA - QMEIN EDERITMA - QMEIN IDARIBAR - EKTQLA EDERICIEA - SKYDLS EDERICIEA - SKYDLS EDERICIEA - SKYDLS LEPULBIRA - NEWGEN GUERBAGA - ZENLS	bb/TTTDbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCHNIGA YUKLDGNIGCHNIGA YVALBGNIGCHNIGA YVALBGNIGCHNIGA YVALBGNIGCHNIGA YVALBGNIGCHNIGA YIKLNIGCHCONNGA YIKLNIGCHCONNGA	GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL GLANGTHOIVEL	- TTTTTTbbbbbtT - HGG-EPANFLDVGG - SGG-DPINFLDVGG - YGG-KPANFLDVGG - YGG-EPANFLDVGG - YGA-LPANFLDVGG - AGG-EPANFLDVGG - AGG-EPANFLDVGG	T-TTABAGAGAGAGA G-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ANPEQIANAFRII G-ASPDRVATAFRIV	305 306 305 305 305 301 291
2	Struc ECOLI COXEU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE Malate CHLTR		333TassaTTTT333 LIPAPDLREMRDQSQ LYAQSELREMRDITQ LIPAPROLIALQDLTQ LYAQKODREYRDLDE LIPAPROLIZEMEDETQ LIPAPROLIZEMEDETQ LYRAPQLADCYDPSQ LYRHPQLADCYDPSQ	TTABABAB - SATTED EDERIDA - AQMEIN EDERIDA - QOMEIN NDARIBAEA - ERFOIN EDERIDIEA - SKOLS EDERIDA - ARAGIS EDERIDA - ARAGIS ENTROVIA - KQLSES	bb/TTTDbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGCIMMGA YVALMGDIGCIMMGA YXAMGGNIGCIMMGA YIKLGGNIGCIMMGA YIKLGGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGTIGCIMMGA	Tabababababa Tabababababababababababababababababa	-TTTTTTDbbbbTT -HGG-EPAMPLDVGG -SGG-DPAMPLDVGG -YGG-EPAMPLDVGG -YGG-EPAMPLDVGG -XGG-EPAMPLDVGG -XGG-EPAMPLDVGG -YGG-SAMPLDVGG	T-TTABABABABABA G-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATAEKVTEAFKII G-ANRERVAEALKII G-ANRERVAEALKII G-ASPERVATAFREL S-ASEKQIQEAISRV	305 306 305 305 305 301 291 305
2° 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	Struc ECOLI COXEU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE Malat CHLTR		333TassaTTTT333 LPAPELREMRDQSQ LYAQSELREMRDITQ LPAPERDLALQDLTQ LYAQKUDMEYROLDE LPAPERDLALQDLTQ LANHROLE2MEDETQ LANHROLE2MEDETQ LANHROLADCAPESQ LANHROLADCAPESQ	TTAAAAAA - AATTDD EDERURAQA - AQMELN EDERURAQA - AQMELN NDARURAQA - EKFQLN EDERURAQA - SKYDLS EDERURAQA - SKYDLS EDERURAQA - AXIALS EXTRUMAR- KUGLS EXTRUMAR- KUGLS	bb/TTTTbbbbbTTa YVALDGNIGCHMMGA YIALBGNIGCHMMGA YVALBGDIGCHMMGA YVALBGDIGCHMMGA YIKLBGNIGCHMMGA YIKLBGTIGCHMMGA YIALBGTIGCTAMGA YIALBGTIGCTAMGA	CLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL GLANCTEDIVEL	-TTTTTTDbbbbbTT -HGG-E28A87LDVGG -SGG-D9AA92LDVGG -YGG-C9AA92LDVGG -YGG-E29A87LDVGG -AGG-E29A87LDVGG -AGG-E29A87LDVGG -YGG-SAA92LDVGG	T-TTARABADADADA G-ATKERVTEAFKII S-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ASPERVATAFRIL S-ASEKQIQEALSRV	305 306 305 305 305 301 291 305
2° 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	Struc ECOLI HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE Malati CHLTR		333TassaTTTT333 LPAPELREMROSQ LYROSELREMROITO LPRENDLALOUTO LPRENDLARDING LPRENDLAMADHDE LPRENDLEZMEDETO LPRENDLEZMEDETO LPRENDLAELRESS LSREPTLAELRESS	TTAAAAAA - AATTDD EDERURAQA - AQMEIN EDERURAQ - QAMEIN NDANIRAEA - EKYUIN EDERURAA - SIXVIIS LIPULARA - SIXVIIS GUEREAQA - AEINIS ENTRUVIA - KQUSIS EHIPULAVEA - SIXVII	bb/TTTTbbbbbTTa YVALDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLBGNIGCIMMGA YIKLBGNIGCIMMGA YIKLBGNIGCIMMGA YIKLBGNIGCIMMGA YIKLBGNIGI IGMGA	CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL CLANCINGURAL	- TTTTTTDbbbbbTT - HGG- E2RAWILDVGG - SGG- D2NAWILDVGG - YGG- E2RAWILDVGG - YGG- E2RAWILDVGG - VGG- E2RAWILDVGG - VGG- E2RAWILDVGG - YGG- SJANWILDVGG - VGG- KEAMWILDVGG - VGG- KEAMWILDVGG	T-TTABABABABABA G-ATKERVTEAFKII S-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ANVEQIANAFKII G-ANVEQIANAFKII G-ASPDRVATAFRIV S-ASEXQIQEAISRV G-AKADVVYNALKVV G-AKADVVYNALKVV	305 306 305 305 305 301 291 305 296 296
2° 11 22 34 56 77 89 10	Struc ECOLI HAEIN BASCU BASCU AQUAE Malati CHLTR THEAQ THEFL		333TaaaaTTTT333 LEROPOLREMROQSO LYROSELREMROUTO LYROKOIMEYROLDE LEROROLDERLACOLTO LYROKOIMEYROLDE LEROROLDACINE LEROROLDACINESO LYROKOACYDESO LEROPOLAELREVEA LEROPOLAELREVEA LEROPOLAELREVEA	TTABABAB - 64TTDD EDERIDA - QARIN EDERIDA - QARIN EDERITA - QARIN EDERITA - SKYDLS EDERITA - SKYDLS EDERITA - SKYDLS EDERITA - SKYDLS ENTROVIA - KQLSIS ENTROVIA - KQLSIS ENTROVIA - SKYGPA	bb/TTTTbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCINNGA YIKLDGNIGCINNGA YIKLDGNIGCINNGA YIKLBGNIGCINNGA YIKLBGNIGCINNGA YIKLBGNIGTIGCINNGA YIKLBGNIGTIGGINGA YVALDGNIGTIGNGA YVALDGNIGTIGNGA	CLANCINGUIVEL CLANCINGUIVEL CLANCINGUIVEL CLANCINGUIVEL CLANCINGUIVEL CLANCINGUIVEL CLANCINGUIVEL CLANCINGUIVEL CLANCINGUIVEL CLANCINGUIVEL CLANCINGUIVEL CLANCINGUIVEL CLANCINGUIVEL	-TTTTTTDbbbbbTT -HGG-EPANFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-SANAFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDVGG	T-TTABAGAGAGAGA G-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATXERVTEAFKII G-ATXERVTEAFKII G-ATXERVTEAFKII G-ANREVTEAFKII G-ANREVTEAFKII G-ASEDRVATAFRIV S-ASEKQIQEAISRV G-AKADVVYRALKIV G-ASEVGAGLINV	305 306 305 305 305 301 291 305 296 296 302
2° 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 11	Struc ECOLI HAEIN AQUAE AQUAE HALTR		333TaaaaTTTT333 LEROPDEREMRDOSO LYROSELREMRDITO LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIMEYROLDE LERRIRITAMEDIED LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYRORIADHIDESO LYRORIADHIDESO LYRORIADHIDESO LYRORIADHIDESO LYRORIADERIADES LYRORIADERIADES DEROFGENEETROEDA	TTABABAB - SATTAD EDERIDA - AMEIN EDERIDA - QMEIN NDARIBAE- EKIÇÜN EDERIELA - SKIDLS EDERIELA - SKIDLS EDERIELA - SKIGEN ENTROVILA - KQLGLS ENTROVILA - KQLGLS ENTROVILA - SKIGEN ENTROVILA - SKIGEN TOPLEVEN - SKIGEN	bb/TTTTbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGCIMMGA YVALBGNIGCIMMGA YVALBGNIGCIMMGA YIRLMGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGTIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGI IGNGA YVALDGNIGI IGNGA YVALDGNIGI IGNGA	CLANSTEDIAR	-TTTTTTTbbbbbTT -HGG-EPANFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -AGG-EPANFLDVGG -AGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-SANNFLDVGG -VGG-KEANFLDUGG -VGG-KEANFLDUGG -VGG-KEANFLDUGG -VGG-KEANFLDUGG	T-TTABABABABABA G-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATAEKVTEAFKII G-ANPERVAEAIKII G-ANPERVAEAIKII S-ASEKQIQEAISRV G-AKADVVYNALKIV G-AKADVVYNALKIV G-AKADVVYNALKIV G-AKADVVYNALKIV G-AKADVVYNALKIV	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 296 296 302 292
2 [°] 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 11 11	Struc ECOLI COXEU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE MALACT CHLTR HEAQ THEPL MYCTU STRCO STRCO STRCO		333TassaTTTT333 LPROPELREMRDOSO LYROSELREMRDITO LPRERDELALODITO LPRERDELALODITO LYRORDIALODITO LYRORDIALODITO LYRORDIALORDOSO LYREPOLAELREVEA LEREPOLAELREVEA LEREPOLAELREVEA LEREPOLAELREVEA LEREPOLAELREVEA LEREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA	TTABABABA - SATTED EDERUBAQA - AQMEIN EDERUBABA - QAMEIN NDARUBAEA - EKFQIN EDERUBLEA - SKYDLS EDERUBAA - SKYDLS EDERUBAA - SKYDLS ENTRUMAA - KULSIS ENTRUMAA - KULSIS ENTRUMAA - SKYGEA ENTRUMAA - SKYGEA ENTRUMAA - SKYGEA ENTRUMAA - SKYGEA DSLEARA - GAGEN EDERLEARA - GAGEN	bb/TTTTbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCHMIGA YUALIGDIGCHMIGA YVALIGDIGCHMIGA YVALIGDIGCHMIGA YVALIGDIGCHMIGA YVALIGDIGCHMIGA YVALIGCHMIGI IGNGA YVALIGCNIGI IGNGA YVALIGCAVIGI IGNGA YVALIGCAVIGUIGNG YVALIGCAVIGUIGNG	CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL	-TTTTTTDbbbbbTT -HGG-EBABYLDVGG -SGG-DRANFLDVGG -YGG-KPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -AGG-EPANFLDVGG -AGG-EPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -HGG-KPANFLDUGG -HGG-KPANFLDUGG	T-TTABABABABABAB G-AIKERVTEAFKII S-AIKERVTEAFKII G-AIQERVAEAFKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ASPERVATAFRIL S-ASEKQIQEAISRV G-ASADVVYNALKIV G-ASAEVMAALLIV G-ASAEVMAALLIV G-ASAEVMAALSIV G-ASARVMAALSIV	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 296 302 292 298
2" 1234 56778 910 1111111111111111111111111111111111	Struc COLI COLU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE AQUAE AQUAE HEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ STRCO ARCFU		333TassaTTTT333 LPAPPEREMROSQ LYAQSELREMROITQ LPAPROLIALODITQ LPAPROLIALODITQ LPAPROLIZZACITQ LPAPROLIZZACITQ LPAPPOLAELREVZA LIPAPPOLAELREVZA LIPAPPOLAELREVZA LIPAPPOLAELREVZA LIPAPPOLAELREVZA LIPAPPOLAELREVZA LIPAPPOLAELREVZA	TTABABABA-BATTED EDERUBAQA-AQMELN EDERUBAB-QAMELN NDARUBAB-EKFQLN EDERUBLA-SKYDLS EDERUBLA-SKYDLS EDERUBA-SKYLS EDERUBA-SKYLS ENTRUMA-KQLSS ENTRUMA-KQLSS ENTRUMA-KQLSS ENTRUMA-SKYCSA EDERUBAS-SKYCSA TDERUBABA-GAKESN EDERUBAR-GAKESN EDERUBAR-FUKCSN ADQUBELLA-MERCEN	bb/TTTTbbbbbTTa YVALDGNIGCIMMGA YIALIGDIGCIMMGA YVALIGDIGCIMMGA YVALIGDIGCIMMGA YVALIGDIGCIMMGA YIALIGTIGCIMMGA YALIGDIGCIMMGA YVALIGGNIGTIGMGA YVALIGGNIGTIGMGA YVALIGGNIGTIGMGA YVALIGGNIGTIGMGA YVALIGGNIGTIGMGA YVALIGGNIGTIGMGA	CLANCINGUIVAL	-TTTTTTbbbbbtT HGG-EBANYLDVGG -SGG-DPANYLDVGG -YGG-DPANYLDVGG -YGG-KPANYLDVGG -YGG-EPANYLDVGG -AGG-EPANYLDVGG -YGG-KPANYLDIGG -VGG-KPANYLDIGG -VGG-KPANYLDIGG GG-KPANYLDIGG GG-KPANYLDIGG	T-TTABABABABABA G-ATKERVTEAFKII S-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ADRERVNEALKII G-ADRERVNEALKII G-ASPORVATAFRIL S-ASENQIQEAISRV G-AKADVVYNALKVV G-ASARVMADELSVV G-ASARVMADELSVV G-ASARVMADELSVV G-ASAEVVRALLSVV G-ASAEVVRALLSVV	305 306 305 305 305 301 291 305 296 296 296 292 292 298 296
2 [°] 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 11 11 11 11 11	Struc COXEU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE MALACI AQUAE HALACI THEAQ THEFL HYCTU STRCO ARCFU ARCFU ARCFU		333Tabbatttt333 LEROPOLREIROGSO LYROSELREIROITO LYROROIMEYROLDE LEROROIMEYROLDE LEROROIMEYROLDE LEROROIMEYROLDE LEROROIDAELREIMER LEROROIDAELREIMER LEROROIDAELREIMER REROSRIGETROEDA LYROPELAELREIMER REROSRIGETROEDA LYROPELAELREIMER LYROPELAELREIMER LYROPELAELREIMER	TTABABAB - GATTED EDERIGAA- AQMEIN EDERIGINA- QOMEIN IDARIGAR- EKYCIKN EDERIGINA- SKYDLS EDERIGA- SKYDLS EDERIGA- SKYDLS EDERIGA- KKYCIKN GUERENQA- AZINLS ENIRGVLA- KKYCIKN EDELIGVEA- SKYGEA EHPLISVEA- SKYGEA DSLEARA- GARGEN EDELIGHEA- REKGIN ADOMENIA- MEKGIN KEK	bb/TTTTbbbbbTTa YVALDGNIJGCHMMGA YVALDGNIJGCHMMGA YVALGGNIJGCHMMGA YTSLDGNIJGCHMMGA YTSLDGNIJGCHMMGA YTSLDGTIGCHMMGA YTSLDGTIGCIMMGA YVALDGNIJGI IGHGA YVALDGNIJGI IGHGA YVALDGNUGJ IGHGA YVALDGNUGJ IGHGA YVALDGNUGJ IGHGA YVALDGNUGJ IGHGA YVALDGNUGJ IGHGA YVALDGNUGJ IGHGA YVALDGNUGJ IGHGA	CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL CLANTINDIVIL	-TTTTTTbbbbbtT -HGG-EPANFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -VGG-EPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -JGG-KPANFLDUGG -JGG-KPANFLDUGG -JGG-KPANFLDUGG -JGG-KPANFLDUGG -JGG-KPANFLDUGG -JGG-KPANFLDUGG -JGG-KPANFLDUGG -JGG-KPANFLDUGG -JGG-KPANFLDUGG	T-TTABABABABABA G-ATKERVTEAFKII S-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ARVEQIANAFRIL G-ANVEQIANAFRIL G-ASPDRVATAFRIV S-ASEKQIQEAISRV G-ASADVVYNALKVV G-ASACVMADCLIVV G-ASACVMADCLIVV G-ASACVMADCLIVV G-ASACVMADCLIVV G-ASACVMADCLIVV G-ASACVMADCLIVV	305 306 305 305 305 301 291 305 296 296 302 292 298 298 296 287
2° 123345 66778 91011111111111111111111111111111111111	Struc ECOLI COCEU HAEIN BASCU BASCU BASCU BASCU ALACT MALAC HACTO THEPL HYCTU STROO		333TaaaaTTTT333 LEROPDEREMROQSO LYROSELREJADOTO LYRORDIMEYROLDE LYRORDIMEYROLDE LYRORDIMEYROLDE LYRORDIAELREJADOTO LYRORDIAELREJADOTO LYRORDIAELREJADOTO LYRORDIAELREJADA LYRORDIAELREJADA LYRORDIAELREJADA LYRORDIAELREJADA LYRORDIAELREJAT	TTABABAB - 64TTD EDERIDA - QMEIN DERIDINA - QMEIN NDARIBAL-EKTOLS EDERIEA - SKIDLS EDERIEA - SKIDLS EDERIEA - SKIDLS EDERIEA - SKIDLS ENTRUMIA - KOLSLS ENTRUMIA - KOLSLS ENTRUMIA - KOLSLS ENTRUMIA - KOLSLS ENTRUMA - SNIGPA DELEREA - SNIGPA	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCHMIGA YUALBGNIGCHMIGA YUALBGNIGCHMIGA YUALBGNIGCHMIGA YUSLDGNIGCHMIGA YUSLDGNIGCHMIGA YUSLDGNIGTIGNGA YUSLDGNIGTIGNGA YUSLDGNIGTIGNGA YUSLDGNIGTIGNGA YUSLDGNIGTIGNGA YUSLDGNIGTIGNGA YUSLDGNIGTIGNGA YUSLDGNIGYLMIGA YUSLDGNIGYLMIGA	GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIXKL GLANGTHDIXKL GLANGTHDIXAR GLANGTHDIXAR GLANGTHDIXAR GLANGTHDIXAR GLANGTHDIXAR GLANGTHDIXAR GLANGTHDIXAR GLANGTHDIXAR GLANGTHDIXAR GLANGTHDIXAR GLANGTHDIXAR	-TTTTTTTDbbbbTT -HGG-E2AMFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -AGG-EPANFLDVGG -AGG-EPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG	T-TTABABABABABA G-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ANPERVAEATAFRIV S-ASEKQIQEAISRV G-AKADVVYNALKVV G-AKADVVYNALKVV G-AKADVVYNALKVV G-ASAEVMAGLDVV G-ASAEVMAGIDV G-ASEVVINCLIAV G-ASEVVINCALLRV G-ASEVVIRALDV G-ASEDVIRRALDV	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 302 292 298 296 287 284
2° 1234 5678 90111111111111111111111111111111111111	Struc ECOLI COCEU HAEIN BASCU BASCU BASCU AQUAE MALATR MALATR MALATRA STRCO STRCO STRCO STRCO STRCO STRCO STRCO STRCO STRCO		333TassaTTTT333 LIPAPDEREMRDQSQ LYAQKDIREMRDDTQ LYAQKDIREYRDLDE LIPAPROLEIALADDITQ LYAQKDIREYRDLDE LIPAPROLEIALADDIDE LIPAPROLEIALADDIDE LIPAPPOLAELREVEA DEROFGRAEFEDRAA REPRESENTATE LIPAPPOLAELREVEA DEROFGRAEFEDRAA REPRESENTATE LIPAPPOLAELREVEA DEROFGRAEFEDRAA LIPAPPOLAELREVEA DEROFGRAEFEDRAA LIPAPPOLAELREVEA DEROFGRAEFEDRAA LIPAPPOLAELREVEA	TTABABAB - SATTED EDERUBAGA - AGMEIN EDERUBAGA - AGMEIN NDARUBAEA - EKFOLN EDERUELA - SKYDLS EDERUELA - SKYDLS EDERUELA - KKYGEN EDERUELA - KKYGEN EDERUELA - KKYGEN EDERUELA - KKYGEN EDERUELA - KKYGEN DELUELA - SNYGEN EDERUELA - KKYGEN DELUELA - KKYGEN EDERUELA - MEXCEN KEK	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCHMIGA YUKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVALIKOJISCHMIGA YVALIKOJISCHMIGA YUKIDGNIGCHMIGA YUKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA YVKIDGNIGCHMIGA	GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIDKL GLANGTHOIDKI GLANGTHOIDKI GLANGTHOIDKI GLANGTHOIDKI GLANGTHOIDKI GLANGTHOIDKI GLANGTHOIDKI GLANGTHOIDKI GLANGTHOIDKI GLANGTHOIDKI GLANGTHOIDKI GLANGTHOIDKI GLANGTHOIDKI	-TTTTTTTbbbbbTT -HGG-EBANFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-KPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-KPANFLDIGG -VGG-KPANFLDIGG -UGG-KPANFLDIGG -GGA-KPANFLDIGG -GGA-KPANFLDIGG -LGR-KPANFLDIGG -LGR-KPANFLDIGG -LGR-KPANFLDIGG -LGR-KPANFLDIGG -LGR-KPANFLDIGG -LGR-KPANFLDIGG	T-TTABABABABABAB G-AIKERVTEAFKII S-AIKERVTEAFKII G-AIQERVAEAFKII G-AIDERVKEALKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ASEKVAITAFRIL G-ASEKVAITAFRIL G-ASAEVKAALUSV G-ASAEVKAALUSV G-ASAEVKAALUSV G-ASAEVKAALUSV G-ASAEVKAALUSV G-ASAEVKAALUSV G-ASAEVKAALUSV G-ASAEVKAALUSV G-ASAEVKAALUSV G-ASAEVKRAALUSV G-ASAEVKRAALUSV G-ASEIVKIRALUSV G-ASEIVKIRALUSV	305 306 305 305 305 301 305 291 305 296 296 296 292 298 298 298 284
2° 1223345567788910011111111111111111111111111111111	Struc ECOLI COUBU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE MALAC HALTR HEAQ STROO ARCFU ARCFU ARCFU ARCFU ARCFU ARCFU METAA		333TassaTTTT333 LPROPOLICEMICOSO LYROSELREMICOTO LPRENCULALOUTO LPRENCULALOUTO LYRONDIALOUTO LYRONDIALOUTO LYRONDIALOMOISS LYREPOLAELREVEA LIRENPOLAELREVEA DEROPOLAELREVEA LIRENPOLAELREVEA LIRENPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA LYREPOLAELREVEA	TTABABABA - SATTED EDERUBAQA - AQMEIN EDERUBAQA - AQMEIN NDARUBA- OQUEIN NDARUBA- OQUEIN EDERUELA - SKYDLS EDERUBA- SKYDLS EDERUEA - SKYDLS EDERUEA - SKYDEN EDERUEA - SKYDEN EDERUEA - SKYDEN ADQUERTIA - MENGEN EDERUEA - RIAGIN ADQUERTIA - MENGEN EEDERUEA - RIAGIN EEDERUEA - RIAGIN	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCHMMGA YUKLDGNIGCHMMGA YUKLDGNIGCHMMGA YUKLDGNIGCHMMGA YUKLDGNIGCHMMGA YUKLDGNIGCHMMGA YUKLDGNIGCHMGG YWKLDGNIGCHMG YWKLDGNG YWKLDGNG Y	CLANCTHOLYKL CLANCTHOLYKL CLANCTHOLYKL CLANCTHOLYKL CLANCTHOLYKL CLANCTHOLYKL CLANCTHOLIKL CLANCTHOLIKL CLANCTLOLYKL CLANCTLOLYKL CLANCTLOLYKL CLANCTLOLYKL CLANCTLOLYKL CLANCTLOLYKL	-TTTTTTTbbbbbTT -HGG-EBAUTLDVGG -SGG-DENNFLDVGG -YGG-KENNFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -VGG-KENNFLDIGG -VGG-KENNFLDIGG -GG-KENNFLDIGG -LGR-KENNFLDIGG -NGG-KENNFLDIGG -NGG-KENNFLDIGG -NGG-KENNFLDIGG	T-TTABABABABABAB G-AIXERVTEAFKII S-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ASPERVITEAFKII G-ASPERVITEAFKII G-ASPERVITEAFKII G-ASAEVNAALLIKV G-ASAEVNAALLIKV G-ASAEVNAALLIKV G-ASAEVNAALLIKV G-ASAEVNAALLIKV G-ASAEVNEALLIKV G-ASAEVNEALLIKV G-ASAEVNEALLIKV G-ASAEVNEALLIKV G-ASAEVNEALLIKV G-ASAEVNEALLIKV G-ASAEVNEALLIKV G-ASAEVNEALLIKV	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 296 292 298 296 287 298 298 296 287 284 322 335
	Struc ECOLI COMBU HAEIN BASCU BASCU AQUAE AQUAE SACU THEAQ THEFL MCTU STRCO STRCO STRCO STRCO STRCO ARCFU ARCFU METTH HUNAN- 3 PIG-G		333TaaaaTTTT333 LEROPDEREMROSO LYNOSELREARDITO LYNOROLMEYROLDE LEROROLMEYROLDE LEROROLMEYROLDE LEROROLDEXCENTRA LEROROLDEXCENTRA LEROROLDEXCENTRA LEROROLDEXCENTRA LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOREFROM LYNOR	TTABABAB - GATTED EDERIGACA - AQMEIN EDERIGINA - QMEIN EDERIGINA - QMEIN EDERIGINA - SKYDLS EDERIGA - SKYDLS EDERIGA - SKYDLS EDERIGA - SKYDLS EDERIGA - SKYDLS ENTROVIA - KQLSLS ENTROVIA - KQLSLS ENTROVIA - KQLSLS EDERIGA - SKYGPA DSLEARA - GANGEN DSLEARA - GANGEN EDERIGA - SKYDLS KEX	bb/TTTTbbbbbtTa YVALDGNIGCIMMGA YIALIGDIGCIMMGA YVALIGDIGCIMMGA YVALIGDIGCIMMGA YVALIGDIGCIMMGA YVALIGDIGCIMMGA YIALIGTIGCIMMGA YACLIGCIMGCIMMGA YVALIGGNIGLIGMGA YVALIGGNIGLIGMGA YVALIGGNIGLIGMGA YVALIGGNIGLIGMGA YVALIGGNIGCIMMGA YVALIGGNIGCIMMGA YVALIGGNIGCIMMGA YVALIGGNIGCIMMGA YVALIGGNIGCIMMGA YVALIGGNIGCIMMGA YVALIGGNIGCIMMGA YVALIGGNIGCIMMGA YVALIGGNIGCIMMGA YVALIGGNIGCIMMGA	CLANCINGUEVAL	-TTTTTTTbbbbbtT HGG-EBANFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-KPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -VGG-EPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG	T-TTABABABABABA G-ATKERVTEAFKII S-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATCREVNEALKII G-ATAREVNEALKII G-ASADUVIAALKIV G-ASADUVIALKIV G-ASADUVIALKIV G-ASADUVIALKIV G-ASAFVRADIJIV G-ASAFVRADIJIV G-ASAFVRADIJIV G-ASAFVRADIJIV G-ASAFVRADIJIV G-ASAFVRADIJIV G-ASAFVRADIJIV G-ASAFVRADIJIV G-ASAFVRADIJIV G-ASAFVRADIJIV G-ASAFVRADIJIV G-ASAFVRADIJIV G-ASAFVRAJIJIV G-ASAFVRAJIJIV G-ASAFVRAJIJIV	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 296 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298
2 [°] 123456778 91011111111111111111111111111111111111	Struc ECOLI COUGU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE		333TaaaaTTTT333 LEROPDEREMROQSO LYROSELREJKDUTO LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIAELREJKED LYROKDIAELREJKED LYROKDIAELREJKED LYROFGEAEFENAA REFOSERGETGEDA LYROFGEAEFENAA LYROFGEAEFENAA LYROFGEAEFENAA LYROFGEAEFENAA LYROFGEAEFENAA LYROFGEAEFENAA LYROFGEAEFENAA LYROFGEAEFENAA LYROFGEAEFENAA LYROFGEAEFENAA LYROFGEAEFENAA LYROKDIFAADOKSE EYROKDIFAADOKSE EYROKDIFAADOKSE	TTABABAB - GATTED EDERIDA - AMEIN EDERIDA - QMEIN NDARIBAL- EKTOLS EDERICA - SKIDLS EDERICA - SKIDLS EDERICA - SKIDLS EDERICA - SKIDLS ENTRUMLA - KRIGEN ENTRUMLA - KRIGEN ENTRUMLA - KRIGEN EDERIGA - SKIGEN EDERICA - SKIGEN ADOMENIA - MERIEN ADOMENIA - MERIEN REFINERA - AKYDEN NEPTIMERA - AKYDEN	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGCIMMGA YUKLBGNIGCIMMGA YIKLMGNIGCIMMGA YIKLMGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGTIGCIMMGA YWALDGNIGTIGHGA YWALDGNIGTIGHGA YWALDGNIGTIGHGA YWALDGNIGTIGHGA YWALDGNIGTIGHGA YWALDGNIGTIGHGA YWALDGNIGTIGHGA YWALDGNIGCIMMGA YWALDGNIGCIMMGA YWALDGNIGCIMMGA YWALDGNIGCIMMGA YWALDGNIGCIMMGA YWALDGNIGCIMMGA YWALDGNIGCIMMGA YWALDGNIGCIMMGA YWALDGNIGCIMMGA YWALDGNIGCIMMGA YWALDGNIGCIMMGA	GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIVKL GLANGTHDIXKL GLANGTHDIXKL GLANGTHDIXAR GLANGTHDIXAR GLANGTHDIXL GLANGTHDIXL GLANGTHDIXL GLANGTHDIXL GLANGTHDIXL GLANGTHDIXL GLANGTHDIXL GLANGTHDIXL GLANGTHDIXL GLANGTHDIXL	-TTTTTTTDbbbbTT -HGG-E2AMFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-E2AMFLDVGG -YGG-E2AMFLDVGG -YGG-E2AMFLDVGG -AGG-E2AMFLDVGG -VGG-K2AMFLDUGG -VGG-K2AMFLDUGG -GG-K2AMFLDUGG -GG-K2AMFLDUGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG	T-TTABABABABABA G-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ANDERVAEAFKII G-ANDERVAEAFKII G-ASEKQIQEAISRV G-ASAEVAAGLISRV G-ASAEVAAGLISRV G-ASAEVAAGLISRV G-ASAEVAAGLISRV G-ASAEVAAGLISRV G-ASAEVARAGLISV G-ASEVVIDAFKIL GAGEQVYDAFKIL GWICEQVYDAFKIL GWICEQVYDAFKIL	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 296 292 292 292 298 284 322 335 322 309
2 [.] 1223445667788991011111111111111111111111111111111	Struc ECOLI COUGU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE AQUAE ACLER CHLTR CHLTR CHLTR CHLTR CHLTR CHLTR CHLTR ACCPU STRCO		333TaAAATTTT333 LEROPDEREMRDQSQ LYRQSELREMRDUTQ LYRQRDDMEYROLDE LYRRRDLEDADLODT. LYRRRDLEDADLOTTQ LYRRRDLEDADLOTTQ LYRRRDLEDADLOTTQ LYRRRDLEDADLOTTQ LYRRPDLAELREVEA LYRRPDLAELREVEA DEROFGEAELREVEA LYRRPELAE	TTABABAB - BATTED EDERUBAGA - AGNEIN EDERUBAGA - AGNEIN NDARUBAEA - EKIPLEN EDERUELA - SKYDLEN EDERUELA - SKYDLEN EDERUELA - SKYDLEN EDERUELA - AKYGEN ENERGA - AENLES ENIRUH LA - KQLGLS ENIRUH LA - KQLGLS ENIRUH LA - KQLGLS ENIRUH - SNYGEN EDERLEN- SNYGEN EDERLEN- SNYGEN EDERLEN- SNYGEN EDERLEN- SNYGEN EDERLEN- SNYGEN EDERLEN- AKYDEN NEPTIMER - AKYDEN NEPTIMER - AKYDEN NEPTIMER - AKYDEN	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCIMNGA YIRLDGNIGCIMNGA YUALMODICIMNGA YUALMODICIMNGA YUALMODICIMNGA YUALDGNIGCIMNGA YIRLDGNIGCIMNGA YUALDGNIGCIMNGA YUALDGNIGCIMNG YUALGNIGCIMNG YUALGNIGCIMNG YUALDGNIGCIMNG	GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOINKL	-TTTTTTTbbbbbtT HGG-E2AMFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-E2AMFLDVGG -YGG-E2AMFLDVGG -YGG-E2AMFLDVGG -XGG-E2AMFLDVGG -XGG-E2AMFLDVGG -VGG-K2AMFLDUGG -VGG-K2AMFLDUGG -GARPAMFLDUGG -GARPAMFLDUGG -GGG-K2AMFLDUGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG -NGG-K2AMFLDLGG	T-TTABABABABABAB G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVIEATISEV G-AIXERVIEATISEV G-AIXERVIEATISEV G-AIXERVIEATISEV G-AIXERVIEATISEV G-AIXERVIEATISEV G-AIXERVIEATISEV G-AIXERVIEATISEV G-AIXERVIEATISEV G-AIXERVIEATISEV G-AIXERVIEATISEV G-AIXERVIEATISEV G-AIXERVIEATISEV GOILEAQUYQAFKIL GVIEAQUYQAFKIL GVIEAQUYQAFKIL GVIEAQUYQAFKIL GVIEAQUYQAFKIL GVIEAQUYQAFKIL	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 302 298 296 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 302 298 335 322 309 334
2 ⁻ 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 11 14 11 14 11 11 12 2	Struc ECOLI COUBU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE HALTR AQUAE HALTR HEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEFL HYTO ARCFU AR		333TaaaaTTTT333 LIPAPDEREMRDQSQ LYAQKDIMEYRDLDE LYAQKDIMEYRDLDE LIPARROLEIEMEDITQ LYAQKDIMEYRDLDE LIPARROLEIEMEDITQ LIPARROLEIEMEDITQ LIPARROLEIEMERTQEDA LIPARPOLAELRINYEA	TTABABABA - BATTED EDERUBAQA - AQMEIN EDERUBAQA - AQMEIN NDARUBAEA - EKFOLN EDERUELA - SKYDLS EDERUELA - SKYDLS EDERUELA - SKYDLS EDERUELA - KKYGEN EDERUELA - KKYGEN EDERUELA - KKYGEN EDERUELA - KKYGEN EDERUELA - KKYDEN EDERUELA - KKYDLN KEK	bb/TTTTbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGCIMMGA YUKLDGNIGCIMMGA YUKLDGNIGCIMMGA YUKLDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGTIGCIMMGA YUKLDGNIGCIMMGA YWKLDGNIGTIGMGA YWKLDGNIGTIGMGA YWKLDGNIGTIGMGA YWKLDGNIGCIMGA YWKLDGNIGCIMGA YWKLDGNG	GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTLOIKL GLANGTLOIKL GLANGTLOIKL GLANGTLOIKL GLANGTLOILKL GLANGTCDEIFL GLANGTCDEIFL GLANGTCDEIFL	-TTTTTTTbbbbbTT HGG-E2AMFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-KPANFLDVGG -YGG-E2PANFLDVGG -YGG-E2PANFLDVGG -XGG-E2PANFLDVGG -XGG-E2PANFLDVGG -XGG-KPANFLDIGG -VGG-KPANFLDIGG -GGA-KPANFLDIGG -GGA-KPANFLDIGG -GGA-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG	T-TTABABABABABAB G-AIKERVTEAFKII S-AIKERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ASEKVATAFRIL G-ASEKVATAFRIL G-ASEKVAAGUSKV G-ASAEVMAAGUSKV G-ASAEVMAAGUSKV G-ASAEVMAAGUSKV G-ASAEVMAAGUSKV G-ASAEVMAAGUSKV G-ASEVIRALIKI G-ASEVIRALIKI G-ASEVIRALIKI G-ASEVIRALIKI G-ASEVIRALIKI G-ASEVIRALIKI GVKEAQVYQAFKLL- GVKEAQVYQAFKLL- GVKEAQVYQAFKLL- AVTEDAVFNAVRI	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 302 298 296 287 284 322 335 322 309 334
	Struc ECOLI HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE AQUAE AQUAE MALACE MALACE MALACE MALACE MALACE MALACE MALACE MALACE METHONAN- 3 PIG-G MENDAN- 3 PIG-G MEND		333TRABARTTTT333 LEROPOLREIRROSO LYROSELREIRRITO LYROSELREIRRITO LYROSELREIRRITO LYROSELREIRRITO LYROSELREIRRITO LYROSELREIRRITO LIROSELREIRRITO LIROSELREIRRITO LIROSELREIRRITO LIROSELREIRRITO LIROSELREIRRITO LIROSELRICOLTANDOSSE EIROSELFANDISSE EIROSELFANDISSE EIROSELFANDISSE EIROSELFANDISSE EIROSELFANDISSE EIROSELFANDISSE	TTABABABA - SATTED EDERUBAQA - AQMEIN EDERUBAQA - AQMEIN NDARUBA- QOMEIN NDARUBA- OKUGIN EDERUBARA - KAVGEN EDERUBARA - KAVGEN EDERUBARA - KAVGEN EDERUBARA - SAVGEN EDERUBARA - RAKUDA NEPTIBARA - AKVDEN NEPTIBARA - AKVDEN	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCHMMGA YIRLDGNIGCHMMGA YWALMGDIGCHMMGA YWALMGDIGCHMMGA YWALMGDIGCHMMGA YWALMGDIGCHMMGA YWALMGDIGCHMMGA YWALMGDIGCHMMGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGDIGCIMMGA YWALMGANIACIYMGA YWALMGANIACIYMGA YWALMGANIACIYMGA YWALMGANIACIYMGA YWALMGANIACIYMGA YWALMGANIACIYMGA YWALMGANIACIYMGA	CLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL	-TTTTTTTbbbbbTT HGG-E29A87LDVGG -SGG-DPANPLDVGG -YGG-KPANPLDVGG -YGG-KPANPLDVGG -YGG-E29A87LDVGG -AGG-E29A87LDVGG -AGG-E29A87LDVGG -VGG-KPANPLDVGG -VGG-KPANPLDUGG -UGG-KPANPLDUGG -GG-KPANPLDUGG -NGG-KPANPLDUGG -NGG-KPANPLDUGG -NGG-KPANPLDUGG -NGG-RPANPLDUGG -NGG-RPANPLDUGG -NGG-RPANPLDUGG -NGG-RPANPLDUGG -NGG-RPANPLDUGG -NGG-RPANPLDUGG	T-TTABABABABABAB G-ATKERVTEAFKII S-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-AKADUVINALKIV G-ASACUQEALSRV G-ASACUQEALSRV G-ASACUVINALKIV G-ASACUVINALKIV G-ASACUVINALKIV G-ASACUVINALKIV G-ASACUVINALKIV G-ASACUVINALKIV G-ASACUVINALLIV GAACUVINAKILI- GUNESQVINAFKIL- GUNESQVINAFKIL- GUNESQVINAFKILI- GUNESQVINAFKILI- SINTERVINARKII-	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 296 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298
	Struc ECOLI COUGU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE AQUAE SACUU SACUU STRUC		333Tabbarttti 33 LEROPOLREMROQSO LINGSELREMROUTO LINGROIMEYROLDE LERORNITAMRONDE LERORNITAMRONDE LERORNITAMRONDE LERORNITAMRONDE LERORDIAELREMER LERORDIAELREMER LERORDIAELREMER LERORDIAELREMER LERORDIAELREMER LERORDIAELREMER LERORDIAELREMER LERORDIAELREMER LERORDIAELREMER ESPORTAMONSE ESPORTAMONSE ESPOREITAMONSE ESPOREITAMONSE ESPOREITAMONSE ANDREITAMONSE ANDREITAMONSE ANDREITAMONSE	TTABABAB - GATTED EDERIDAGA - AQMEIN EDERIDAGA - AQMEIN EDERIDINA - QUALIN EDERIDINA - QUALIN EDERIDINA - REVOLUS EDERIDAGA - ARVIGES ENTRUVIA - KQLGES ENTRUVIA - KQLGES ADQMENIA - AKYDEX NEPTIBABA - AKYDEX NEPTIBABA - AKYDEX EDERISVAN - AKYDEN EDERISVAN - AKYDEN	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/Tta YVALDGNIGCHMMGA YUALDGNIGCHMMGA YUALDGNIGCHMMGA YUALDGNIGCHMMGA YUALDGNIGCHMMGA YUALDGNIGCHMMGA YUALDGNIGCIGNGG YUALDGNIGTIGCHMGA YUALDGNIGTIGHGA YUALDGNIGTIGHGA YUALDGNIGTIGHGA YUALDGNIGTIGHGA YUALDGNIGCIGHGG YUALDGNIACHMGG YUALDGNIACHMGG YUGLDGNIACHMGG YUGLDGNIACHMGG YUGLDGNIACHMGG YUGLDGNIACHMGG YUGLDGNIACHMGG YUGLDGNIACHMGG YUGLDGNIACHMGG YUGLDGNIACHMGG YUGLDGNIACHMGG YUGLDGNIACHMGG YUGLDGNIACHMGG YUGLDGNIACHMGG	GLANGTINDIVKL GLANGTINDIVKL GLANGTINDIVKL GLANGTINDIVKL GLANGTINDIVKL GLANGTINDIVKL GLANGTINDIVKL GLANGTINDIVKL GLANGTINDIVKL GLANGTINDIVKL GLANGTINDIV GLANGTINDIV GLANGTINDIV GLANGTINDIV GLANGTINDIV GLANGTINDIV GLANGTINDIV GLANGTINDIV GLANGTINDIV GLANGTINDIV	-TTTTTTTDbbbbTT HGG-E2AMFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG	T-TTABABABABABAB G-ATKERVTEAFKII S-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATCREVNEALKII G-ATAEKVNEALKII G-ASAEVNEALKII G-ASAEVNEALKIV G-ASAEVNAALKIV G-ASAEVNAALKIV G-ASAEVNAALKIV G-ASAEVNAALLIV G-ASAEVNEALHII GAETVKIALKIV G-ASAEVNEALLIV GAETVKIALKIV G-ASEDVIRALLIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIALKIV GAETVKIA	305 306 305 305 301 296 302 296 296 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298
	Struc ECOLI COUGU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE		333TaaaaTTTT333 LEROPDEREMRDQSQ LYRQKDEREMRDQSQ LYRQKDEREMRDDTQ LYRQKDEREMRDDTQ LYRQKDEREMRDERQ LYRRHCLEEMEDETQ LYRRHCLEEMEDETQ LYRHPGEADCYDPSQ LYRHPGEADCYDPSQ LYRHPGEACLREMPA LWRHPGEAELREMPA LYRHPGEAELREMP	TTABABAB - BATTED EDERUBAGA - AGMEIN EDERUBAGA - AGMEIN IDERUBAGA - AGMEIN IDERUBAGA - EKIGLS EDERUBARA - KAGLGES ENTROVILA - KOLGES ENTROVILA - KOLGES ENTROVILA - KOLGES ENTROVILA - KOLGES ENTROVILA - KOLGES ENTROVILA - KOLGES EDERUBAGA - SANGEN IDERUBAGA - AKYDEN NEPTIBAEA - AKYDEN EDERUBAGA - AKYDEN NEPTIBAEA - AKYDEN	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/Tta YVALDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGCIMMGA YRALBGDIGCIMMGA YRALBGDIGCIMMGA YRALBGDIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGTIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGLIGMGA YRALDGNIGLIGMGA YRALDGNIGLIGMGA YRALDGNIGLIGMGA YRALDGNIGLIGMGA YRALDGNIGLIGMGA YRALDGNIGCIMMGA	GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL GLANGTHOIIFL	-TTTTTTTDbbbbtT HGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-SAANFLDVGG -YGG-KPANFLDVGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -GGRPANFLDUGG -GGRPANFLDUGG -GGRPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDU	T-TTABABABABABABA G-AIKERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVIEAKIXI G-AIXERVIEAKIXI G-AIXERVIEAKIXI G-AIXERVIEAKIXI G-AIXERVIEAKIXI G-AIXERVIEAKIXI G-AIXERVIEAKIXI G-AIXERVIEAKILLI GAIXEQVYDAFKIL- GVIEAQVYDAFKIL- GVIEAQVYDAFKIL- GVIEAQVYDAFKIL- GVIEAQVYDAFKIL- MASEAVTEGFTII- AIXERVIEAFII- AIXERVIEAFII- GII	305 306 305 305 305 301 291 305 296 302 298 296 284 322 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 335 322 309 334 340 320 321
	Struc ECOLI COUBU HAEIN BASCU RICPR BASCU RICPR ALL CHLTR CH		333TaaaaTTTT333 LEROPDEREMRDQSQ LYRQKDIREMRDDTQ LYRQKDIREYRDLDE LERRINDLEDERQLING LYRQKDIREYRDLDE LERRINDLEDERDERQ LYRHPGLAELREVPA LYRHPGLAELR	TTABABAB - BATTED EDERUBAGA - AQMEIN EDERUBAGA - AQMEIN NDARUBAEA - EKYDLS EDERUERA - SKYDLS EDERUERA - SKYDLS EDERUERA - AKYGEN EDERUERA - AKYGEN EDERUERA - AKYGEN EDERUERA - SKYGEN EDERUERA - SKYGEN EDERUERA - SKYGEN EDERUERA - SKYGEN NEPTIBLERA - AKYDEN NEPTIBLERA - AKYDEN	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCIMMGA YINLDGNIGCIMMGA YUALMGDIGCIMMGA YUALMGDIGCIMMGA YUALMGDIGCIMMGA YUALMGNIGCIMMGA	GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIVKL GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKH GLANGTHOIIKL GLANGTHOIIKL GLANGTHOIIKL GLANGTHOIIKL GLANGTHOIIKL GLANGTHOIIKL GLANGTHOIIKL GLANGTHOIIKL GLANGTHOIIKL GLANGTHOIIKL GLANGTHOIIKL GLANGTHOIIKL GLANGTHOIIKL	-TTTTTTTDbbbbtT HGG-E2AMFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-KPANFLDVGG -YGG-E2AMFLDVGG -YGG-E2AMFLDVGG -XGG-E2AMFLDVGG -XGG-E2AMFLDVGG -XGG-KPANFLDUGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -GARPANFLDUGG -GARPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDLGG	T-TTABABABABABAB G-AIKERVTEAFKII S-AIKERVTEAFKII G-AIQERVAEAFKII G-AIQERVAEAFKII G-AINERVKEALKII G-AINERVKEALKII G-ASERVAITAFRIL G-ASERVAITAFRIL G-ASERVAITAFRIL G-ASERVAITAFRIL G-ASERVAAGUISW G-ASAEVMAAGUISW G-ASAEVMAAGUISW G-ASAEVMAAGUISW G-ASAEVVAAGUISW G-ASEIVIRALIEU G-ASEIVIRALIEU G-ASEIVIRALIEU G-ASEIVIRALIEU GASEAVIGAFKIL GVIESQVVEAFKIL GVIESQVVEAFKIL GASEAVIGAFII ASEEAVIGFTII ASEAAVIGFTII	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 302 298 296 287 284 322 309 334 340 320 321 323
	Struc ECOLI COMBU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE AQUAE MALAC CHLTR AQUAE MALAC STROO		333Tabbattitti 33 LEROPOLREMROOSO LYROSELREMRDITO LYROSELREMRDITO LYROSELREMRDITO LYROSELREMRDITO LYROSELREMRDITO LYROSELREMRDITO LYROSELREMPICA LERHPOLAELREMPIC LIROSELREMPICA LIROSELRE	TTABABABA - BATTED EDERUBAQA - AQMEIN EDERUBAQA - AQMEIN NDARUBA- QOMEIN NDARUBA- EKYDIN EDERUELA - SKYDIN EDERUELA - SKYDIN EDERUELA - SKYDIN EDERUELA - SKYDIN EDERUELA - SKYDIN EDERUELA - SKYDIN EDERUELA - SKYDIN DERUELA - SKYDIN ADQUERIA - SKYDIN ADQUERIA - SKYDIN ADQUERIA - SKYDIN EDERUELA - SKYDIN NEPTIMER - AKYDIN NEPTIMER - AKYDIN VNEPTIMER - AKYDIN VNEPTIMER - EKYGIN	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCIMNGA YUALDGNIGCIM	CLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLYKL GLANCTHOLIKL GLANCTHOLIKL GLANCTHOLIKL GLANCTLOLIKL GLANCTLOLYKL GLANCTLOLYKL GLANCTLOLYKL GLANCTUCLIFL GLANCTUCLIFL GLANCTUCLIFL GLANCTUCLIFL GLANCTUCLIFL GLANCTUCLIFL GLANCTUCLIFL GLANCTUCLIFL GLANCTUCLIFL GLANCTUCLIFL GLANCTUCLIFL GLANCTUCLIFL GLANCTUCLIFL	-TTTTTTTbbbbbtT HGG-EBASTLDVGG -SGG-DENNFLDVGG -YGG-EDANFLDVGG -YGG-EDANFLDVGG -YGG-EDANFLDVGG -AGG-EPANFLDVGG -AGG-EPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDIGG -GG-KPANFLDIGG -GG-KPANFLDIGG -GG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-KPANFLDIGG -NGG-CPANFLDIGG -AGG-DPANFLDIGG -AGG-DPANFLDIGG -AGG-DPANFLDIGG	T-TTABABABABABABA G-AIXERVTEAFKII S-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-ADRERVXEAFKII G-ADRERVXEALKII G-ADRERVXEALKII G-ASPERVXEALKII G-ASPERVXEALKII G-ASPERVXEALKIV G-ASAEVNAALLIV G-ASAEVNAALLIV G-ASAEVNAALLIV G-ASAEVNAALLIV G-ASAEVNAALLIV G-ASAEVNEALMEI GUADEVVIAAFKIL- GUXESQVYQAFKIL- GUXESQVYQAFKIL- GUXESQVYQAFKIL- GUXESQVYQAFKIL- GASEAAVTEGFTII- AASEAAVTEGFTII- AASEAAVTEGFTII-	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 297 298 296 287 302 298 298 296 287 322 309 334 322 309 334 340 321 323
	Struc ECOLI COUGU HAEIN BASCU BASCU RICPR AQUAE AQUAE SACU SACU STRCO ST		333Tabbarttti 33 LEROPOLREMROQSO LINGSELREMROQSO LINGSELREMROLTO LINGROLMEYROLDE LINGROLMEYROLDE LINGROLMEYROLDE LINGROLDERMENT LINGROLDERMENT LINGROPOLAELREMER DEROPOLAELREMER LINGROPOLAELREMER LINGROPOLAELREMER LINGROPOLAELREMER LINGROPOLAELREMER LINGROPOLAELREMER LINGROPOLAELREMER LINGROPOLAELREMER LINGROPOLAELREMER LINGROPOLAELREMER ENGLIFANDERSE ENGLIFANDERSE LINGROPORTANDERSE ENGLIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE ANROXEIFANDERSE	TTABABAB - GATTED EDERIDAQA - AQMEIN EDERIDINA - QAMEIN EDERIDINA - QAMEIN EDERIDINA - QAMEIN EDERIDINA - EXCILS EDERIDA - EXCILS ENERTHA - EXCILS ENERTHAL - EXCILS ENERTHAL - EXCILS ENERTHAL - ANY DEN EDERIDA - ANY DEN NEPTIMEA - ANY DEN NEPTIMEA - ANY DEN EDERISTA - EXCILS VIDERIDA - EXCILS	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/Tta YVALDGNIGCHMGA YIKLDGNIGCHMGA YIKLDGNIGCHMGA YUSLDGNIGCHMGA YIKLAGNIGCHMGA YIKLDGNIGCHMGA YIKLDGNIGCHMGA YIKLDGNIGCHMGA YKKLDGNIGTIGHGA YKKLDGNIGTIGHGA YKKLDGNIGTIGHGA YKKLDGNIGTIGHGA YKKLDGNIGTIGHGA YKKLDGNIGCHMGA YKKLDGNIGCHMGA YKKLDGNIGCHMGA YKKLDGNIGCHMGA YKKLDGNIGCHMGA YKKLDGNIGCHMGA YKKLDGNIGCHMGA YKKLDGNIGCHMGA YKKLDGNIGCHMGA YKKLDGNIGCHMGA YKKLDGNIGCHMGA YKKLDGNIGCHMGA	CAMATINDI VKL CAMATINDI VKL CAMATINDI VKL CAMATINDI IVKL CAMATINDI IVKL CAMATINDI IVKL CAMATINDI IVKL CAMATINDI IVKL CAMATINDI IVKL CAMATINDI IVKL CAMATINDI VKL CAMATINDI VKL CAMATINDI IVKL CAMATINDI IVKL CAMATINDI IVKL CAMATINDI IVKL CAMATINDI IVKL CAMATINDI IVKL	-TTTTTTTDbbbbtT HGG-E2AMFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-RPANFLDUGG -NGG-RPANFLDUGG -AGG-DPANFLDUGG -AGG-DPANFLDUGG -AGG-TPANFLDUGG	T-TTABABABABABAB G-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ANDERVAEAFKII G-ANDERVAEAFKII G-ASPERVAEAFKII G-ASAEVAAGLISKV G-ASAEVAAGLISKV G-ASAEVAAGLISKV G-ASAEVAAGLISKV G-ASAEVAAGLISKV G-ASAEVAAGLISKV G-ASEDVIRALLEV G-ASEDVIRALLEV GOKEAQVYQAFKIL GVKEAQVYQAFKIL GVKEAQVYQAFKIL GVKEAQVYQAFKIL ASEAAVTEGFTII ASEAAVTEGFTII ASEAAVTEGFTII ASEAAVTEGFTII GGTVHQVTEAFKILT GGTVHQVTEAFKILT	305 306 305 305 301 296 296 302 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 29
	Struc ECOLI COUGU HAEIN BASCU BASCU RICPR AQUAE SACUE AQUAE SACUE SACUE STRUC		333Taaaa/TTTT333 LEROPOLREMROQSO LYROSELREMROUTO LYROROLMEYROLDE LYROROLMEYROLDE LYROROLMEYROLDE LYROROLADCYOPSO LYROROLAELREMPEA LYROROLAELREMPEA LYROROLAELREMPEA LYROROLAELREMPEA LYROROLEAELREMPEA LYROROLEAELREMPEA LYROROLEAELREMPEA LYROROLEAELREMPEA LYROROLEAELREMPE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE EXPORTIFATIONSE AMERCENTERATIONSE AMERCENTERATIONSE AMERCENTERATIONSE AMERCENTERATIONSE AMERCENTERATIONSE AMERCENTERATIONSE	TTABABAB - 64TTD EDERIDAQA - AQMEIN EDERIDAQA - AQMEIN IDERIDAQA - AQMEIN IDERIDAQA - EKICIA EDERIDAQA - EKICIA EDERIDAQA - AENNES ENTROVIA - KRYGEN ENTROVIA - KRYGEN EDERIDA - KRYGEN IDELEVEN - KRYGEN IDELEVEN - KRYDEN IDELEVEN - KRYDEN IDELEVEN - KRYDEN IDERIDA - AKYDEN INEPTIBLE - EKYGEN INEFTIBLE - EKYGEN	bb/TTTTbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGCIMMGA YIRLDGNIGCIMMGA YWALDGNIGI IGMGA YWALDGNIGI IGMGA YUGLDGNIACIMIG YUGLDGNIACIMIG YUGLDGNIACIMIG YWALDGNIACIMIG YUGLDGNIACIMIG YUGLDGNIACIMIG YUGLDGNIACIMIG YUGLDGNIACIMIG YUGLDGNIACIMIG	CANADOLINI CANADOLINI	-TTTTTTTDbbbbtT HGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-SAANFLDVGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -GARPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPAN	T-TTABABABABABABA G-AIKERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVIEAKIKII G-AIXERVIEAKIKI G-AIXERVIEAKIKIV G-AIXERVIEAKIKIV G-AIXERVIEAKIKIV G-AIXERVIEAKIKIV G-AIXERVIEAKILIV G-AIXERVIEAKILIV G-AIXERVIEAKILIV G-AIXERVIEAKILIV G-AIXERVIEAKILIV GAIXERVIEAKILI GUITEAGUVIEAFKILI GUITEAGUVIEAFKILI GUITEAGUVIEAFKILI GAIXEGVIEAFKILI GAIXEGVIEAFKILI GAIXEGVIEAFKILI GAIXEGVIEAFKILI GAIXEGVIEAFKILI	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 296 302 298 296 287 284 322 335 322 309 334 320 321 323 321 323 324
	Struc ECOLI COUGU HAEIN BASCU RICPR ACUBE CAUBE CAUBE CAUBE CAUBE CAUBE CAUBE CAUBE CAUBE ARCFU CAUBE METTH CAUBE	T IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	333TaaaaTTTT333 LEROPDEREMRDQSO LYROSELREMRDQSO LYROSELREMRDDTO LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROFOLAELREMPA LYROKETAMDOKSE EVROKOLFAMDOKSE EVROKOLFAMDOKSE EVROKOLFAMDOKSE EVROKOLFAMDOKSE AYROKETAMOKSE HYROKOLFOLOMYA AYROKIFDLOOMYA	TTABABAB - SATTED EDERUBAGA - AQMEIN EDERUBAGA - AQMEIN IDARUBAEA - EKICIS EDERUERA - SKYDLS EDERUERA - SKYDLS EDERUERA - AKYGEN EDERUERA - AKYGEN EHPLEVEA - SKYGEN EHPLEVEA - SKYGEN EHPLEVEA - SKYGEN EDERUERA - SKYGEN EDERUERA - SKYGEN EDERUERA - SKYGEN IDEPLEVEA - SKYGEN IDEPLEVEA - AKYDEN INEPTIENER - EKYGEN INEPTIENER - EKYGEN INEPTIENER - EKYGEN INEPTIENER - EKYGEN INEPTIENER - EKYGEN INEPTIENER - AKYDEN INEPTIENER - EKYGEN INEPTIENER - AKYDEN INEPTIENER - EKYGEN INEPTIENER - AKYDEN INEPTIENER - EKYGEN INEPTIENER - AKANEN	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCIMMGA YINLDGNIGCIMMGA YUKIDGNIGCIMMGA YUKIDGNIGCIMMGA YINLDGNIGCIMMGA YINLDGNIGCIMMGA YINLDGNIGCIMMGA YUKIDGNIGCIMMGA YUKIDGNIGCIMMGA YUKIDGNIGCIMMGA YUKIDGNIGCIMMGA YUKIDGNIACPUNG	CANCINELIXI CANTINUTIKI	-TTTTTTTDbbbbtT HGG-E2AMFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-KPANFLDVGG -YGG-E2AMFLDVGG -YGG-E2AMFLDVGG -XGG-E2AMFLDVGG -XGG-E2AMFLDVGG -XGG-KPANFLDUGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -GARPANFLDUGG -GARPANFLDUGG -GGA-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-TPANFLDUGG -AGG-DPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG	T-TTABABABABABABA G-AIKERVTEAFKII S-AIKERVTEAFKII G-AIQERVAEAFKII G-AIQERVAEAFKII G-AIQERVAEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVIEAKIXI S-ASERVIEAKIXI G-ASERVIEAKISIV G-ASACVIEATSRIV G-AKADVVYNALKIV G-AKADVVYNALKIV G-ASACVIEAGUI GASERVIEAGUI GASERVIEATIL GVIEAQVYDAFKIL GVIEAQVYDAFKIL GVIEAQVYDAFKIL GASEAVTECFTII AASEBAVTECFTII AASEBAVTECFTII GAIVQUVEAFKILT GAIVQUVEAFKILT GAIVQUVEAFKILT GAIVQUVEAFKILT GAIVQUVEAFKILT	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 302 298 296 302 298 296 302 298 296 302 298 302 298 302 298 302 298 302 298 305 305 305 305 305 305 305 305 305 305
	Struc ECOLI HAEIN BASCU RICPR ACUAE ACUAE MALAC CHLTR ALAC THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ THEAQ STROO S	TITITITITI TO TO THE CONTRACT STATE AND A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	333Tabbattitti 33 LEROPOLREIROSO LYROSELREIROROSO LYROSELREIROROSO LYROSELREIROROSO LYROSELREIROROSO LYROSELREIRORO LYROSELREIRORO LYROSELREIRORO LIROSELREIROROSO LIROSELREIROROSO LIROSELREIROFA LIROSELREIROFA LIROSELREIROFA LIROSELREIROFA LIROSELREIROFA LIROSELREIROFA LIROSELRICHTANDOSSE EIROSELFANDO	TTABABABA - SATTED EDERUBAQA - AQMEIN EDERUBAQA - AQMEIN NDARUBAEA - EKIGIN EDERUEA - SKYDLS EDERUEA - SKYDLS EDERUEA - SKYDLS EDERUEA - SKYDLS EDERUEA - SKYDLS EDERUEA - AKYDLS EDERUEA - AKYDLS EDERUEA - AKYDLS NEPIBNEA - AKADLS EDERUCHA - AKADLS EDERUCHA - AKADLS EDERUCHA - AKADLS	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGTIGHGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA YUALGGNIGCHMGA	CANACTHOLIXI CANACTHOLIXI	-TTTTTTTbbbbbTT HGG-EBASTLDVGG -SGG-DENNFLDVGG -YGG-KENNFLDVGG -YGG-EBANFLDVGG -YGG-EBANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-KENNFLDVGG -VGG-KENNFLDVGG -GARPANFLDIGG -GARPANFLDIGG -GARPANFLDIGG -GARPANFLDIGG -GARPANFLDIGG -NGG-KENNFLDVGG -NGG-KENNFLDVGG -NGG-KENNFLDVGG -NGG-KENNFLDVGG -NGG-KENNFLDVGG -NGG-KENNFLDVGG -NGG-RENNFLDVGG -NGG-RENNFLDVGG -AGG-DENNFLDVGG -AGG-DENNFLDVGG -AGG-DENNFLDVGG -AGG-DENNFLDVGG -AGG-DENNFLDVGG -AGG-DENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG -HGG-TENNFLDVGG	T-TTABABABABABABA G-AIKERVTEAFKII S-AIKERVTEAFKII G-AIQERVAEAFKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ADRERVKEALKII G-ASPERVATAFRIL G-ASPERVATAFRIL G-ASPERVATAFRIL G-ASADVVYALKIV G-ASADVVYALKIV G-ASADVVYALKIV G-ASAEVMAALDIV G-ASAEVMAALDIV G-ASAEVMAALDIV G-ASAEVMAALDIV G-ASAEVMAALDIV G-ASAEVMAALDIV G-ASAEVMAALDIV G-ASAEVNEALMEI GVXEAQVYQAFKLL- GVXEAQVYQAFKLL- GXXEAQVYQAFKLL- MASEAAVTEGFTII- MASEAAVTEGFTII- GATVHQVTEAFKLIT GATVHQVTEAFKLIT GATVHQVTEAFKLIT GATVHQVTEAFKLIT GATVHQVTEAFKLIT GATVHQVTEAFKLIT GATVHQVTEAFKLIT GATVHQVTEAFKLIT GATVHQVTEAFKLIT GATVHQVTEAFKLIT GATVHQVTEAFKLIT	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 297 298 296 292 298 296 287 302 298 296 287 302 298 332 309 334 320 321 323 324 323 324 322 322
	Struc ECOLI COUGU HAEIN BASCU BASCU RICPR BASCU RICPR ALACT SACUA STRCP STRCP STRCO		333TaaaaTTTT333 LEROPDEREMROOSO LYROSELREARDITO LYROKDEMELACOLTO	TTABABAB - GATTED EDERIGAÇA - AQMELN EDERIGINA - QOMELN EDERIGINA - QOMELN EDERIGINA - AVOLEN EDERIGINA - ANNELS EDERIGUEA - ANNELS ENTRUVIA - KQLGIS ENTRUVIA - KQLGIS ADQUENTA - ANNELS NEPTIBARA - ANNUEN INEPTIBARA - ANNUEN	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/Tta YVALDGNIGCHMGA YUALDGNIGCHMGA YUALGONIGCHMGA YUALGONIGCHMGA YUALGONIGCHMGA YUALGONIGCHMGA YUALGONIGCHMGA YUALDGNIGCHMGA YUALDGNIGTIGHGA YUALDGNIGTIGHGA YUALDGNIGTIGHGA YUALDGNIGTIGHGA YUALDGNIGCHMGA YUALDGNIACHMGA	CAMATINDI IVKL GAMATINDI IVKL	-TTTTTTTDbbbbTT HGG-E2AMFLDVGG -SGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -VGG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -GG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-TPANFLDUGG -AGG-DPANFLDUGG -AGG-DPANFLDUGG -AGG-TPANFLDUGG -AGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG	T-TTABABABABABABA G-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ANDERVAEAFKII G-ANDERVAEAFKII G-ASPERVAEAFKII G-ASPERVAEAFKII G-ASAEVAAGUVYAALKVV G-ASAEVAAGUVYAALKVV G-ASAEVAAGUVYAALKVV G-ASAEVAAGUVYAALKVV G-ASAEVAAGUVYAALKVV G-ASAEVAAGUVYAAFKIL- GVKEAQVYQAFKIL- GVKEAQVYQAFKIL- GVKEAQVYQAFKIL- ASEAAVTBGFTII- AASEAAVTBGFTII- GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT GATVHQVTEAFKILT	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 296 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298
	Struc ECOLI COUGU HAEIN BASCU RICPR AQUAE AQUAE SACUA CHITR MALACA CHITR MALACA CHITR MALACA CHITR MALACA STRUC ST		333TaaaaATTTT333 LEROPDLREMROQSO LYROSELREMROUTO LYRORDIMEYROLDE LYRORDIMEYROLDE LYRORDIMEYROLDE LYRORDIMEYROLDE LYRORDIAELREMPOLA LYRORDIAELREMPOL LYRORDIAELREMPSA LYRORGAELREMPSA LYRORGERGERGEDA LYRORGERGERGEDA LYRORGERGERGEDA LYRORDERGERGERGEDA LYRORGERGERGERGE LYRORDERGERGERGERG LYRORDERGERGERGERG LYRORDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERG ANRONDERGERGERGERGERGERGERGERGERGERGERGERGERGE	TTABABABA -BATTED EDERIDAQA -AQMEIN EDERIDINA-QOMEIN NDARIBAL-EKTOLS EDERIDINA-ROYOEN EDERIDINA-ROYOEN EDERIDINA-ROYOEN ENDERIDA-ANNIGEN EDERIDINA-KOLOIS ENDERIDA-KONOEN EDERIBARA-GAKEEN EDERIBARA-GAKEEN EDERIBARA-GAKEEN ADOMENIA-MENDEN EDERIBARA-GAKEEN NEPIBMER-AKYDEK NEPIBMER-AKYDEK NEPIBMER-AKYDEK NEPIBMER-AKYDEK NEPIBMER-AKYDEK NEPIBMER-AKYDEK NEPIBMER-AKYDEK NEPIBMER-AKYDEK NEPIBMER-AKYDEK NEPIBMER-AKYDEK UNPFBIRME-AKYDEK UNPFBIRME-AKYDEK UNPFBIRME-KKNER EDERISKIR-EKKEEN EDERISKIR-AKADIA EDERISKIR-AKADIA EDERISKIR-AKADIA EDERISKIR-AKADIA EDERISKIR-AKADIA EDERISKIR-AKADIA EDERISKIR-AKADIA EDERISKIRA-AKADIA EDERISKIRA-AKADIA EDERISKIRA-AKADIA EDERISKIRA-AKADIA EDERISKIRA-AKADIA EDERISKIRA-AKADIA EDERISKIRA-AKADIA EDERISKIRA-AKADIA EDERISKIRA-AKADIA EDERISKIRA-AKADIA EDERISKIRA-AKADIA	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGCIMMGA YIKLDGNIGTIGHGA YWKLDGNIGTIGHGA YWKLDGNIGTIGHGA YWKLDGNIGTIGHGA YWKLDGNIGCIMMGA	GLANGTHOUTKL GLANGTHOUTKL	-TTTTTTTDbbbbTT HGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -XGG-EPANFLDVGG -YGG-SAANFLDVGG -YGG-SAANFLDUGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -YGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-KPANFLDUGG -NGG-CPANFLDUGG -NGG-CPANFLDUGG -NGG-CPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-TPANFLDUGG -HGG-SENNFLDUGG -HGG-SE	T-TTABAGAGAGAGA G-ATKERVTEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATQERVAEAFKII G-ATAEKVTEAFKII G-ANDEVNEAFKIXTI G-ANDEVNEAFKII G-ANDEVNEAKII G-ANDEVNEAKII G-ANDEVNEAKII G-ANDEVNEATHII G-ANDEVNEATHII G-ANDEVNEATHII G-ANDEVNEATHII GANEGUYDAFKII GANEGUYDAFKII GANEGUYDAFKII MASEAGUYDAFKII GANEGUY	305 306 305 305 305 305 305 305 305 305 296 296 302 298 296 282 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298 298
	Struc ECOLI COUGU HAEIN BASCU AQUAE		333TaaaaATTTT333 LEROPDEREMRDQSO LYROSEEREMRDDTO LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIMEYROLDE LYROKDIAELARINER LYROKDIAELARINER LYROKDIAELARINER LYROKERARDER LYROKERARDER LYROKERARDER LYROKERARDER LYROKERARDER LYROKERARDER LYROKERARDER LYROKERARDER EFROKERARDER LYROKERARDER LYROKERARDER EFROKERARDER LYROKERARDER	TTABABAB - 64TTD EDERUBAGA - AGNEIN EDERUBAGA - AGNEIN IDARUBAEA - EKICIS EDERUERA - SKIDIS EDERUERA - SKIDIS EDERUBRA - AKIGEN EDERUBRA - AKIGEN ENERUBRA - AKIGEN EDERUBRA - AKIGEN EDERUBRA - AKIGEN EDERUBRA - AKIGEN IDEPIENER - AKIGEN	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCIMIGA YUALDGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGDIGCIMIGA YUALGGDIGCIMIGA YUALGGDIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA	CANCENERS CONTROLING CONTROLING CONTROLING CONTROLING CONTROLING CONTROLING CONTROLING CONTROLING CONTROLOGY CONTROL CONTRUCAC	-TTTTTTTDbbbbTT HGG-E2AMFLDVGG -YGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-DPANFLDVGG -YGG-E2AMFLDVGG -YGG-E2AMFLDVGG -XGG-E2AMFLDVGG -XGG-E2AMFLDVGG -XGG-K2AMFLDUGG -VGG-K2AMFLDUGG -VGG-K2AMFLDUGG -YGG-SAMAFLDUGG -YGG-K2AMFLDUGG -YGG-K2AMFLDUGG -YGG-K2AMFLDUGG -YGG-K2AMFLDUGG -NGG-K2AMFLDUGG -NGG-K2AMFLDUGG -NGG-K2AMFLDUGG -NGG-K2AMFLDUGG -NGG-C2AMFLDUGG -AGG-D2AMFLDUGG -AGG-D2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-T2AMFLDUGG -HGG-C2AMFLDUGG -HGG-C2AMFLDUGG -HGG-C2AMFLDUGG -HGG-C2AMFLDUGG -HGG-C2AMFLDUGG -HGG-C2AMFLDUGG	T-TTABABABABABABA G-AIKERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVAIATAFELV G-AIXERVAIATAFELV G-AIXERVAIATAFELV G-AIXERVAIATAFELV G-AIXERVAIATAFELV G-AIXERVAIATAFELV G-AIXERVAIATAFELV G-AIXERVAIATAFELV G-AIXERVAIATAFELV G-AIXERVAIATAFELV G-AIXERVAIATAFELV G-AIXERVIENTILL GVIEAQUYDAFKIL- GVIEAQUYDAFKIL- GVIEAQUYDAFKIL- GAIXEQUYEAFKILT GAIXERVIEAFKILT GAIXERVIEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT GAIVEQUYEAFKILT	305 306 305 305 305 302 296 302 298 298 298 322 335 322 335 322 334 340 320 321 323 324 323 324 323 324 323 324 324 323 324 324
	Struc ECOLI HAEIN BASCU RICPR ACUAE RICPR RICPR RICPR ALACT CHITR CHITR STRUC		333TRABARTTTT333 LPROPDEREMEDISO LYROSELREMEDITO LYROSELREMEDITO LYROSELREMEDITO LYROSELREMEDITO LYROSELREMEDITO LYROSELREMEDISO LYROSELREMEDISO LYROSELREMEDISO LYROSELREMEDISO LYROSERVERT REPORT ADDRESS LYROSERVERT REPORT FAMILIES LYROSELREMEDISE EXPLOSELREMED	TTABABABA - BATTED EDERUBAQA-AQMEIN EDERUBAQA-AQMEIN IDARUBAEA-EKIQIN EDERUBABA-AQMEIN IDARUBAEA-EKIQIN EDERUBAA-AQMEIN EDERUBABA-AXIVIN EDERUBABA-AXIVIN EDERUBABA-AXIVIN IDEUBABAABININ IDEUBABA-AXIVIN IDEUBABAA-AXIVIN IDEUBABAA-AXIVIN IDEUBABAA-AXIVIN IDEUBABAABA-AXIVIN IDEUBAB	bbb/TTTTbbbbb/TTa YVALDGNIGCIMIGA YUALDGNIGCIMIGA YUALGGNIGCIMIGA	GLANGTHOLIKI GLANGTHOLIKI	- TTTTTTTbbbbbTT - HGG- E2MMFLDVGG - YGG- KPANFLDVGG - YGG- KPANFLDVGG - YGG- SAMFLDVGG - YGG- SAMFLDVGG - YGG- SAMFLDVGG - YGG- SAMFLDVGG - YGG- KPANFLDIGG - YGG- KPANFLDIGG - YGG- KPANFLDIGG - YGG- KPANFLDIGG - YGG- KPANFLDIGG - YGG- KPANFLDIGG - NGG- KPANFLDIGG - HGG- TPANFLDIGG - HGG- SENNFLDIGG - HGG- SENNFLDIGG	T-TTABABABABABAB G-AIKERVTEAFKII S-AIKERVTEAFKII G-AIXERVTEAFKII G-ADRERVREALKII G-ADRERVREALKII G-ADRERVREALKII G-ASPERVATAFRIL G-ASPERVATAFRIL G-ASPERVATAFRIL G-ASPERVATAFRIL G-ASPERVALING G-ASAEVRADGLSW GATVEQVTEAFKLIT GATVEGTAFK	305 306 305 305 301 291 305 296 297 298 296 297 284 302 298 296 302 298 296 302 298 296 302 298 296 302 298 296 302 298 296 302 298 296 302 298 296 305 305 305 305 305 305 305 305 305 305

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

1	ECOLI	STD AVE AVENUE	CIVROL DIDGETCH	VAEVGVNVEVVV	ELEGNNAELGAKKEAD	SGLNKLAAKG	LITERACOVVAAVEGK	388
2	CODEU	VSDRAVKGLEVALL	GEVRCEL ENDGETSE	VKEVGIDVIEVV	EEGNNAOLGAKKEAD	SCHNEIAANG	PADAREQIVKOVGVI	389
3	HAEIN	LADPSVKVEEVALERG	CIVRCUL DADGULAE	VNEVGVRVEVV	E EEGINAEMGROILAE	SDVN TLTNOS	LOOKAELAVNAAKGE	388
4	BASCU	LSDONWIGHEVILLEG	GINAC DV TAEGEVEL	TROUGLTEROW	REPORT VOLGO TESE	SGLN ITSAES	MADGACKIVSLV	385
5	RICPR	LSDKEWRGEBUREERG	GINGODE DARGETAL	AKDIGIKVELN	E LAGINVERGREITESN	SULKIIPAHD	LADRANKIVEAIR	386
6	ACTAR	MADEDWKAW	CHI RUDRUZOHATEZ	SIMPLRUPEVA	BE LOGINVERGRAMIOE	SGINFIIAED	MADGARKAVELANKO	384
7	Malate	LSDERWICA FLUTTER	GINRCEINAPOWKA	ARENKIDUPLIN	E FACINVIDEGRATIEAE	SGLDEITADT	LTE AARKAVEACHGA	390
Ŕ	CHIAR	LSOKSVINDFINERG	GDOCAVASGEVSA	MOGUKETTERSUI	RE LEGIS VIERCE COMPLEX	AGIPCEFVIS	MSEGAELAVOLSR	386
9	THEAD	LOPONKGAPTNURG	COUNTRY OF MENT	LEDGELOUIS	P.VAGIVAFPEAKKI LP-	-GRPWMYPT	SIEMAKAIVAHVGGA	377
10	THEFT.	T.KOPOWKGWIETNET	CIVER DISTANCE CONTRACT	LEPGLLITURA	A VAGTAPEPAKKLER-	-GRPWYMYPT	STEAKAIVAHVGGA	377
11	MYCTHI	LCDOORSUNANDG	CITIS TRUCTURE	LOW GENNER IN	TIGANNERGRATUTE	ANHPLITLVAT	MDRARDKAAFLASA-	387
12	SUBCO	LSDPDURSUEMEN	GUYACTRANGIVRA	LIENRLITRELIN	TOGRADARGRALEDA	RAHPLAFOATT	MDGAARRAARLATA-	375
11	ARCELL	T STIENNER VURTIETVE	RITERCHEWARGETT	LOPERRKVPLIN	TAGINERI CREMERR	VSSERGARDIEVES-	IEBGARKAVELAG	383
14	ADC'STT?	L STRANGOUTHER	CHURCHE WARDER	LATH	P. CARINEPPERKTICE	FAKTRENEHT-VET-	MPROAFKAVKLAFE-	379
15	METTA	LENKON CTITINET	GUTOCOEND& EVENT	KPH DAVE PAU	A MONERIGRATIER	HGTPYETS	MPENGRIKI.IEOL	364
16	METTER	T CLIDGUDUNUT MAT	CITY DATE STANDARD	RIARPOUDIAT	P. LOUINFERGER TERE	AGTPFETS	LERABERAVETAKM-	364
10	F121 111							
17	THAN-G	TANKUTATISHITRG		CREEPI KURING	R LEGINGPACKTENN	SGLPTTSAID	LEDBAKKAVASVAKK	404
12	DTC_C	TANKARA TELATOR	CITING TINGT	COPTURANT KUPELIN	P LEGINGERACHTERN	ST.PTTSAVD	LEDBAKKAVASVTKK	417
10		TOTOMICS TRANSPORT	CTUDE TO TANGET	CONTRACT VURIA	THE FORTH AND ANTING	ST.PTTSAVD	LETBAKKAVASVAKK	404
22		TODENED TRANSPO	CONTRACTOR TAXABLE			ST DTHSAND	I PRAKKAVASVAKK	391
20	Cheer 2	TADER VENTER THERE	COLUMNAL DRUGELING	UNIT C		ST KTI TANN	LOBARAKAVSSVPK-	415
41	CHEELIZ	130PROPULATION PO	CATALAST TRANSPORT	ALINERSTRANSIES	C TROUTLA CHARACTER			
	ND NOTES	OCTOWNED THE STREET	CONSIGNATION CONTINUE	AVEND		SCHELLER TOTAL	I TRAFFAURALAH-	425
22	MOTO 3	CODURA TIME	COLOR DA	PROVINCE INTERN	R LOOMANY OVANT. TPS	OT D	L'TOAGTKAUKAANGE	402
23	1011173	SOUTHWALLAUGHE		FIGRICI KIRIJA		OT D	L'TORGTKAVKAANGE	398
24	TRUVIS	SOUCHING THINKING	COLUMN AND A CALLY N	FRANC	R LEATING CONTINUES	ST BTTSIN	1.TORGERAVEAANTS	405
23	TRUVAL	2000 ANATRANTIA		LIVIOTVALDA				40.5
20	-					SCT NTT ACTO	TOPADDARMT.SPTV	409
20	DICIMITA	SUK-KATATTATTA	STREET AT THE ST AND	ANTWO-TUTLAA			I DERIVATION SETU	409
21	PIG-A	SPK-VARSTINGTER		VALUE- INTERVA		STR	I DEALWARK SETV	409
40	CUUSE-A	SUN-NYUNILIVALES	P GTURCTA THEOTAKH	VILLEIKIPAN			I DEBRIGHT SETU	396
23	BLRD-A	SUK-KVLALLWRIEG	CINICIA INCOLVA	VALUEDLARPAN	WE DOGIRVOURGALLEIF		T DERBING ANT CATL	A10
30	CAERLI	ALKUKVSALLVALLYG		MCLL INLELV	AN POSTICATION DEL 200		THERE AND	387
31	NEUFR	SUKA-VSAILANIING	S GURGULVAEGULUA	VIELOLDLPLV	AN TOTAL AND A CONTRACTION	CARDRIVING		101
- 32	SCHPO	INDERTAILVALLEG	GLVHCINIAKGLISV	VOALNLNIPII	A LIGINGGAREVIN	COLKILZED	TODA SKYLETT OVAL	424
33	SACCE	LSNRNVDAIPVNIPG	GIVRCEYVALGEVEA	ANELEVRVPIV	NK LAGIKVELGIDIIN	SOVRIISPDE	LUCKNARA VELIUN-	420
								200
- 34	AQUAE2	LSRP-GINAVLING		A COMPANY AND A COMPANY	VIC ENGLISHERE		TRAMA TUCHALA DAT	422
35	CIT-HU	SLMIR DORIAN	J GRANNINA TENGIVKA	INGRATIF	AR HEATHY LONGER AND	S VONTIGEPERVEGTE	I TREAST VIEW WARMENT	443
	-	•		379				
	THEAD	A		3/8				
- 10	ITHEFL	A		- J/0				

10 T	HEFL	A		378
12 S	TRCO	ASTAGOAG		383
14 A	RCFU2	V		380
16 M	ETTH	L		365
23 T	RIVA2	KLI		405
24 T	RIVI3	KL		405
25 T	RIVI1	KF		407
26H0	MAN-A	TLAKOAHVDVKFOLP	I	426
27 P	IG-A	TLINGAQVDVKFQLP	I	425
2800	JUSE-A	TLAKEAHVDVKFQLP	I	426
29 B	STRD-A	TLAKOAHLDVKFQLP	I	413
30 C	AREL1	DLARATINVDVICFELS	I	435
31 N	EOFR	GLAKENGIKIKIEN-		402
32 5	SCHPO	DVNVSPELPL		433
34 7	QUAE2	KCOAKKLEEEEOIKE	GHIFTDEOASDLCM	436
35 0	лт-ни	PNOPPTAAHTANFLL	NAGRETSTPAPSRT	454
		-		



Figure 1-4. Phylogenetic tree for the amino acid sequences of the α -subunits of SCS. The three taxonomic domains are shown in bold. The tree was generated using the alignment in Figure 1-2, and the programs CLUSTAL W (85) and TREE VIEW (86). The data base accession numbers are listed in Appendix 1.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 1-5. Phylogenetic tree for the amino acid sequences of the β -subunits of SCS. The three taxonomic domains are shown in bold. The tree was generated using the alignment in Figure 1-3, and the programs CLUSTAL W (85) and TREE VIEW (86). The data base accession numbers are listed in Appendix I.

in a bias toward amino acid residues that have codons with a high G+C content (89). The amino acid alignment of SCS from the high G+C content mesophilic eubacteria thus reflects the bias for codons with a high G+C content, leading to the placement of amino acid residues in a finite number of positions regardless of the mesophilic or thermophilic nature of the organism. The segregation of the second set of Aquifex aeolicus genes in the archaebacterial group may be due to the thermophilicity of A. aeolicus, however this segregation may not be functionally significant because these genes are the most distantly related of the SCS sequences. There are several groups of residues that are absolutely conserved in all other species of SCS (see the shaded areas of Figures 1-2 and 1-3) which are not conserved in the second set of genes from Aquifex aeolicus, including the sequence around the active site histidine. This implies that these genes code for proteins that may no longer perform the same function as other SCS proteins, and thus are not under the same evolutionary pressure. In addition, relatively large differences between these sequences and other SCS sequences may lead to their inappropriate placement in the archaebacterial domain. For example, the α -subunit sequences in the group containing malate thickinase, M. tuberculosis, S. coelicolor, and A. aeolicus, could be placed as a branch within the eubacterial domain without disturbing the relative evolutionary relationships. This has not been done because the sequences for their β -subunits align within the archaebacterial group.

Some enzymes that catalyze reactions similar to the reaction catalyzed by SCS also display sequence similarity with SCS. Malate thiokinase functions in the serine cycle of the methylotroph, *Methylobacterium extorquens*, and as the name suggests, catalyzes the same reaction as SCS except malate thiokinase uses malate instead of succinate (90). Malate thiokinase from *Methylobacterium extorquens* segregates into either the eubacterial (β subunit) or archaebacterial (α -subunit) domains. The mechanism for the reaction catalyzed by ATP citrate lyase is also similar to that catalyzed SCS: the formation of acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate from citrate and CoA is accompanied by the hydrolysis of ATP to ADP, and proceeds through the formation of a citryl-CoA intermediate. ATP citrate lyase from a number of organisms has been sequenced (91-93), and the C-terminus of this enzyme contains regions that are similar to the α -subunit of SCS. Using the improved similarity searches of Altschul *et al.* (94, 95), Galperin and Koonin have detected similarities between the N-terminus of ATP citrate lyase and the N-terminus of the β -subunit of SCS (96). These similarities imply that catalysis of a similar reaction places similar evolutionary pressures on all of these enzymes, and indicates a common origin for the genes that encode ATP citrate lyase, malate thiokinase and SCS.

The functional differences in the nucleotide specificity of SCS are reflected in the alignment of the β -subunits of SCS. Johnson *et al.* (29) noted that the genes for the β subunit of mammalian SCS segregate into two groups. Each group corresponded to SCS specific for either adenosine or guanosine nucleotides. The genes for the β -subunit of SCS from fungi all segregate into the ADP/ATP-specific group, whereas those for Arabidopsis thaliana and Trichomonas vaginalis segregate into the GDP/GTP-specific group near the point of divergence. The segregation of the fungi in the ADP/ATP-specific group is consistent with the reported nucleotide specificity of SCS from Saccharomyces cerevisiae (38). Based on the sequence alignment, SCS from Arabidopsis thaliana segregates into the GDP/GTP-specific group. The database report confirms that it is GDP/GTP-specific, in contrast to previous reports that all plants examined were ADP/ATPspecific (97, 33-35, 28). The ADP/ATP-specific enzymes have C-terminal extensions when compared to the GDP/GTP-specific enzymes. The differences in sequence between the ADP/ATP- and GDP/GTP-specific SCS families extend throughout the entire sequence of the β -subunit and suggest that their respective cDNA's are likely to be coded for by two separate genes. In the case of hemoglobin, the separate genes for the multiple species are thought to have arisen by gene duplication (7). The genes for the ADP/ATP- and GDP/GTP-specific SCS enzymes may have also arisen in this manner, and if so, the phylogenetic tree shown in Figure 1-5 indicates that the gene duplication event would have occurred early in the eukaryotic lineage. Several other duplication events are indicated by the dendogram, however they would be relatively recent gene duplications giving rise to paralogous genes. There are two recently diverged genes for the β -subunit in *Archaeoglobus flugidus*, and three in *Trichomonas vaginalis*. No function has been ascribed to these duplicated genes.

Unlike the amino acid sequences of the β -subunits, those of α -subunits do not segregate into groupings that are representative of functional differences (like nucleotide specificity). In general, the amino acids sequences of different SCS isozymes from a single species resemble each other more than they resemble SCS from other species. Thus, unlike the β -subunit, the alignments of the sequences for the α -subunit indicate that only relatively recent gene duplications have occurred. Within the eukaryotic domain, the sequences of SCS align according to the expected evolutionary relationships of their respective organisms, the mammalian sequences are closely related, and the sequences from single celled eukaryotes are on a separate branch from the sequences from multicellular eukaryotes. Similar to the β -subunit, there are two genes that encode the α subunit in Archaeoglobus flugidus, and three in Trichomonas vaginalis. In T. vaginalis the proteins expressed by these genes have been implicated in adhesion to the urogenital tract (98). In addition, unlike the β -subunit, there are two genes that encode the α -subunit in Caenorhabditis elegans, and two different cDNAs have been cloned from flower buds and the epidermis of Arabidopsis thaliana. These cDNAs have differences along their entire sequence, implying that they are coded for by two separate genes. This is unlike the two cDNAs that have been cloned from fetal pig heart tissue, which differ only in an insertion, and arise from differential splicing of the α -subunit gene (99). The absence of segregation of the α-subunits into groups corresponding to ADP/ATP- and GDP/GTP-specific enzymes implies that the basis for nucleotide specificity lies in the β -subunit. This correlates well with the finding that the ADP/ATP-specific enzyme isolated from pigeon muscle and GDP/GTP-specific enzyme isolated from pigeon liver, differ only in the β -subunit (30).

Structural Organization of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase Genes

Examination of the context in which the SCS genes are found in relation to each other and to those for other citric acid cycle and metabolic enzymes reveals that it is only the expression of the functional unit ($\alpha\beta$ -dimer) that is conserved. The organization of the genes into groups with other citric acid cycle or metabolic enzymes occurs in relatively few species. The first SCS genes to be investigated were from E. coli. They are found in a cluster that encodes several citric acid cycle enzymes, and are located at the end of an operon which expresses four genes, SucA (the E1 dehydrogenase component of the α ketoglutarate dehydrogenase complex), SucB (the E2 succinyltransferase component of the same complex), SucC (the β -subunit of SCS), and SucD (the α -subunit of SCS) (100). The SucC and SucD genes are translationally coupled: the stop codon of SucC overlaps with the ATG of the SucD (100). A ribosome binding site is located in the SucC coding region, upstream of the initial ATG for SucD (100). It is thought that the coexpression of these genes ensures the production of equimolar amounts of both subunits. In the same manner, the coexpression of the α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase genes with the SCS genes correlates with the report of specific association between these two enzymes (101). The genes in Rhizobium leguminosarum are also organized in a gene cluster (mdh-SucCDAB, where 'mdh' codes for malate dehydrogenase) which may constitute an operon (102). The genes for SCS from 8 other eubacteria, 4 archaebacteria, 2 yeast, and the α -subunit of pig heart have now been characterized (69, 70, 72-76, 99, 77, 79-81).

In eubacteria, the genes encoding the α - and β -subunits of SCS are in close proximity to each other, and the α -subunit gene follows the β -subunit gene. In some species, *Haemophilus influenzae* and *Coxiella brunetii*, the genes encoding the α - and β subunits are translationally coupled as in *E. coli* SCS and in one species, *Coxiella brunetii*, they are organized in an operon that is similar to that in *E. coli*. Other eubacterial species, *Bacillus subtilis, Chlamydia trachomatis, Aquifex aeolicus, Streptomyces coelicolor*, and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, the subunit genes are separated by only 15-30 nucleotides, enough space for a ribosome binding site, and likely constitute an operon. In *Rickettsia prowazekii* the subunit genes are separated by approximately 200 nucleotides, indicating that the α -subunit most likely has a separate promoter. The second set of SCS genes from *Aquifex aeolicus* is the exception to these observations. The genes coding for the two subunits are separated by 2.7 x 10⁵ nucleotides, and the 5'-end of the α -subunit gene has a 16 nucleotide overlap with a cell cycle protein.

The corresponding genes from archaebacteria span a wide range of genomic organization; in some species, *Thermus aquaticus*, and *Thermus flavus*, the subunit genes are translationally coupled in a similar manner to those in *E. coli*. In other species, *Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum*, and *Archaeoglobus fulgidus*, the subunit genes are separated by only 4-15 nucleotides. In *Methanococcus jannachii* the α -subunit gene is separated from the β -subunit gene by 6.2 x 10⁵ nucleotides, and is transcribed in the opposite direction. In both sets of SCS genes in *Archaeoglobus fulgidus*, the gene for the α -subunit precedes that for the β -subunit. This is the reverse order to that found for other SCS subunit genes in proximity to one another.

The SCS genes in eukaryotic species have been less well characterized. Consistent with the back migration of genes from the primitive mitochondria into the nucleus, the α and β -subunit genes in yeast are found on different chromosomes and contain no introns. The α -subunit gene from pig heart has been partially characterized and contains at least one intron which can be differentially spliced (99). Thus, in keeping with the hypothesis that one gene is an independent unit of heredity, the function of SCS is conserved but the organization and expression of the two subunits in relation to each other and to other citric acid cycle enzymes is not.

Given the translational coupling associated with some of the genes for SCS, it is worth noting that there is only one gene which codes for ATP citrate lyase in rat, human and *C. elegans*. The N-terminus of the translated protein is similar to the β -subunit of SCS, and the C-terminus is similar to the α -subunit. However, in *Sordaria macrospora*, a fungus, a relatively small gene for ATP citrate lyase that is only similar to the α -subunit of SCS, has been isolated (93). Nowrousian *et al.* (93) make the observation that the ATP citrate lyase isolated from animals and yeast is a homotetramer, while that from the filamentous fungi, *Aspergillus nidulans* and *Penicillium spiculisporum*, consists of two different subunits. Thus, in the filamentous fungi ATP citrate lyase is likely to be encoded by two genes.

Thus, the genomic organization displayed by SCS and related enzymes spans a wide spectrum of possible genomic arrangements. They range from expression of a single polypeptide (ATP citrate lyase) to separate polypeptides that are translationally coupled and expressed as part of a larger operon (*E. coli* and *Rhizobium leguminosarum*) to expression on their own operon, with and without translational coupling, to separate expression of the gene for each subunit. This indicates that not even the gene is conserved, but the functional unit. The conservation of functional units within and among SCS and related enzymes may be extended even further; the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS is structurally similar to the ATP-grasp fold that is found in D-ala:D-ala ligase (DD-ligase) (103, 55). This similarity could not be detected by the current sequence searching programs. However, Alschul *et al.* (94, 95) have developed new methods of data base searching that can detect the similarity between the N-terminal domain of SCS and other proteins that contain the ATP-grasp fold (96). It unclear whether this indicates a common origin for this fold, or if this is an example of convergent evolution.

Part D. The Reaction Catalyzed by Succinyl-CoA Synthetase

The Specificity of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase for Substrates

Early work on the citric acid cycle established that the overall reaction catalyzed by SCS was as follows:

succinyl-CoA + NDP + $P_i \Rightarrow$ succinate + CoA + NTP

(where NDP and NTP are purine nucleoside di- and triphosphates, respectively). Later work characterized the nature of the substrates that could be used by E. coli SCS. SCS from E. coli displays a high degree of specificity with regard to succinate. A number of organic acids were tested as substrates for the complete reaction, and malate at high concentrations (91 mM) was about 3% as effective as succinate (104). Dephospho-CoA (CoA which is lacking the phosphoryl group at the 3' position of the ribose sugar) was an adequate replacement for CoA, while 4-phosphopantetheine was about 1000 times less effective and oxy-CoA (CoA which has an oxygen atom in place of the sulfur) was not a substrate. These results are consistent with the formation of a covalent bond between succinate and the sulfhydryl group of CoA. As discussed earlier the nucleotide specificity of SCS varies. The nucleotide preference for the E. coli enzyme is ADP/ATP > GDP/GTP > IDP/ITP (105). The eukaryotic isozymes are specific for either ADP/ATP or GDP/GTP but not both (58, 30). SCS from plants is apparently specific for ADP/ATP (97, 33-35, 28), except for that from Arabidopsis thaliana which may be specific for GDP/GTP. The pig heart enzyme can also use 8-aza-GTP (47) and 6-thio GTP (48). Like most reactions involving nucleotide di- and triphosphates, this reaction also requires divalent metal ions. Mg²⁺ ions are the most effective followed, in decreasing order of effectiveness, by Mn²⁺ and Co^{2+} ions (42).

 Mn^{2+} ion binding has been studied using both proton relaxation rates (PRR) (106) and electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) (107). Using PRR, it was determined that E.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

coli SCS contained 3.5 ± 0.7 metal ion binding sites, and that Mn·ADP was bound at 1.8 sites (106).

The Reaction Mechanism of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase

The ability of SCS to carry out several enzyme catalyzed exchange reactions has led to a hypothesized reaction mechanism consisting of three partial reactions. The exchange reactions are shown in Table 1-1. The substrates and products in each of these exchange reactions are a subset of the substrates and products that are associated with the corresponding partial reactions implying the existence of distinct intermediates. Later work showed that these intermediates could be used by the enzyme to catalyze the corresponding partial reactions. The first exchange reaction observed was that between β -[³²P]-ADP and ATP in the presence of Mg²⁺ ions (31). Kaufman postulated the formation of a phosphorylated enzyme intermediate. This was later confirmed by the production of phosphorylated enzyme upon incubation of *E. coli* SCS with γ -[³²P]-ATP (108, 43, 109). Pig heart SCS was also phosphorylated by γ -[³²P]-GTP (110). Together these measurements indicated that the first partial reaction was:

$$E + NTP \rightleftharpoons NDP + E-P.$$
(1)

The phosphorylated residue in SCS was found to be a histidine (108, 110), more specifically, 3-phosphohistidine (111). Later kinetic analyses confirmed that the initial rate of formation of the phosphorylated enzyme intermediate was as great as initial steady state rate for the overall reaction, and that the phosphorylated enzyme was an obligatory intermediate (112). The site of phosphorylation was found in the α -subunit (113), and the peptide 244 α -MGH(PO₃)AGAIIAGGK-255 α was subsequently isolated (109). Mutagenesis of the active site histidine to Asp or Asn led to an inactive enzyme that could not be phosphorylated by ATP (114, 115).

Exchange Reaction	Required Substrates	Stimulated by:
β -[³² P]-ADP with ATP ^a	Mg ²⁺	succinyl-CoA ^b , or succinate
		P _i and CoA ^b , or CoA ^c
³² P _i with ATP	Mg ²⁺	succinyl-CoA ^b ,
		or succinate and CoA ^b
γ-[¹² P]ATP with SCS-P	Mg ²⁺	CoA ^d , or desulfo-CoA ^c
[¹⁸ O]-P _i with succinate ^a	succinyl-CoA	-
[¹⁴ C]-succinate with succinyl-CoA ^a	P _i and Mg ²⁺	ATP ^b

Table 1-1 The Exchange Reactions catalyzed by Succinyl-CoA Synthetase.

Exchange reactions observed by: * (97, 31, 43) and (116), or by * (112), * (117), 4 (43)

Jencks (118) proposed that enzymes stimulate catalysis by two general methods: first, they increase the effective concentration of the substrates by bringing them into proximity; and second, they must differentially stabilize the ground state and the transition state of the enzyme-substrate complex (Fig. 1-6). This principle is illustrated by this partial reaction catalyzed by SCS. The energy of binding nucleotide may be used to facilitate the formation of the phosphoenzyme intermediate. Two lines of evidence indicate that the energy of formation of a phosphohistidine is greater than that liberated by ATP cleavage. First, calculations of the free energy of hydrolysis for the phosphohistidine in pyruvate phosphate dikinase (119) and Enzyme I of the phosphotransferase system (120) indicated that this free energy is twice the free energy of hydrolysis of the phosphoanhydride bond in ATP. Second, the resonance structures that are available to the phosphohistidine are similar to those that are available to phosphoguanidiniun groups, which also have free energies of hydrolysis that are greater than that of ATP (Fig. 1-7). formation of phosphorylated This that the suggests



Figure 1-6. Use of the binding energy of substrates by enzymes to achieve catalysis. A. The energy diagram for the uncatalyzed reaction of substrates (S) to produce products (P). B. The energy diagram that results if both the transition state (\ddagger) and the enzyme-substrate/product (ES/EP) complex are stabilized to the same extent. It is obvious that this does not lead to catalysis. C. The energy diagram that results if some of the energy from binding substrates is "used" to destabilize the ground state complexes. This figure was adapted from Jencks (118)



B



Figure 1-7. Some of the resonance structures that are available to both phosphoguanidinium and to phosphohistidine. A. Resonance stuctures that are available to phosphocreatine and to phosphoarginine. Adapted from Voet and Voet (7). B. Similar resonance structures that are available to phosphohistidine.

SCS from ATP should be disfavoured, yet the equilibrium constants for this partial reaction were $K_{eq} = 31 (\Delta G^{\circ} = -2.0 \text{ kcal/mol})$ for the *E. coli* enzyme (43) and $K_{eq} = 2.1 (\Delta G^{\circ} = -0.4 \text{ kcal/mol})$ for the pig heart enzyme (56). This is consistent with the observation that freshly purified SCS is normally found to be phosphorylated. Thus, since the formation of phosphorylated enzyme from ATP is favoured, despite the higher energy of the phosphohistidine, SCS may 'use' the energy that is available upon binding ATP to favour the formation of phosphorylated SCS.

The second exchange reaction, initially reported by Cohn, (121) was the exchange of an oxygen atom between inorganic phosphate and succinate during the oxidation of α -ketoglutarate in mitochondria. This was later shown to occur during the reaction catalyzed by SCS (122, 116). The exchange of an oxygen atom between inorganic phosphate and the carboxyl group of succinate was explained by the formation of a succinyl-phosphate intermediate. Succinyl-phosphate is unstable, difficult to detect, and is not produced in any significant quantities when all of the substrates are present in the reaction mixture. However, it was confirmed as an intermediate by its detection following incubation of γ -[³²P]-ATP and succinate with equal amounts of enzyme (123). Using NMR, succinyl-phosphate (succinyl-P) was also detected when enzyme was incubated with ATP and succinate (124). Furthermore, exogenously supplied succinyl-³²P can phosphorylate the enzyme, and in conjunction with partial reaction (1), produced ATP from exogenously added ADP (123). These results proved that the second partial reaction was

$$E-P + succinate \neq E \cdot succinyl-P$$
 (2)

(where E-succinyl-P indicates a non-covalent enzyme complex with succinyl-phosphate). Nishimura and Meister (123) found that exogenously added succinyl-phosphate could also react with CoA to produce succinyl-CoA, again in the presence of substrate quantities of enzyme. It was suggested that the final partial reaction was

$$E \cdot succinyl - P + CoA \rightleftharpoons E + succinyl - CoA + P_i.$$
 (3)

However, under the proper conditions (pH 6.9 as opposed to pH 7.4) succinyl-phosphate also reacts non-enzymatically with CoA at rates which approach the enzyme catalyzed rate (125). It was thus suggested that the enzyme only positions the reactants for the final step in the reaction but does not stabilize the transition state (126). Furnaryl-phosphate (succinyl-phosphate with a trans double bond) or the monoethyl ester of succinylphosphate did not react with CoA, but maleyl-phosphate (succinyl-phosphate with a cis double bond) reacted at a rate greater than the rate of reaction of succinyl-phosphate with CoA (125). Thus, the mechanism for the non-enzymatic reaction of CoA with succinylphosphate was proposed to proceed via the formation of a cyclic anhydride intermediate (Fig. 1-8A). However, the enzyme catalyzed reaction is not likely to proceed through a cyclic intermediate. Maleyl-phosphate cannot be utilized by SCS to catalyze the formation of ATP, nor can maleate dephosphorylate the enzyme (126, 104). In addition, fumarate, which does not participate in the non-enzymatic reaction, can dephosphorylate the enzyme, although not with the same efficiency as succinate. Thus the enzyme catalyzed reaction likely proceeds via an in line nucleophilic attack by the thiol group of CoA on the carbonyl carbon of the phosphorylated carboxylate group of succinyl-phosphate. The difficulty in detection of succinyl-phosphate has led to the proposal that the last two partial reactions proceed in a concerted fashion (Fig. 1-8B) (9). In the x-ray crystallographic structure, the relative positions of the thiol group of CoA and the phosphohistidine allow for this possibility, however it seems more likely that the reaction proceeds in two rapid steps, as is shown in Figure 1-8C.

Substrate Synergism

During studies of the exchange reactions, it was noted that the rate of ATP \Rightarrow ADP exchange was slower than the rate of the overall reaction, and that the addition of the other substrates stimulated this exchange (Table 1-1) (43, 112, 45, 126, 124). This effect was

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 1-8. Reactions of succinate, phosphate and CoA. A. The proposed reaction mechanism for the non-enzymatic reaction of succinyl-phosphate with CoA to generate succinyl-CoA(125). B. The proposed concerted reaction mechanism for the synthesis of succinyl-CoA from phosphorylated enzyme, succinate, and CoA (9). C. The reaction mechanism for the production of succinyl-CoA from phosphorylated enzyme, succinate and CoA, including the likely transition states.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

35

called substrate synergism, and is defined as the acceleration of a partial reaction by substrates that are not directly involved in that partial reaction. Grinnell and Nishimura (45) reported that CoA stimulated the ATP \Rightarrow ADP exchange in a concentration dependent manner that matched the binding of CoA. Hildebrand and Spector noted that the nonreactive CoA analogue, desulfo-CoA, stimulated the synthesis of ATP from succinvlphosphate in the presence of enzyme (126). The most complete study on the substrate synergism shown by E. coli SCS was done by Bridger et al. (112). They showed that the greatest stimulation of the ATP \Rightarrow ADP exchange reaction occurred when succinyl-CoA was included. They also showed that the succinate race succinyl-CoA exchange reaction was greatly stimulated by the addition of ATP. Substrate synergism is also exhibited by the pig heart enzyme, which is an $\alpha\beta$ -dimer with only one active site (127). The mechanistic rationale for substrate synergism is that the binding of the other substrates produces changes in the conformation of the enzyme which enhances catalysis of the exchange reaction. In the light of Jencks' proposal (118) outlined earlier, substrate synergism can be thought of as the use of the binding energy of substrates which are not involved in the exchange reaction to destabilize the ground state (or to stabilize the transition state) of those substrates that are involved.

Evidence of conformational changes that occur upon the binding of substrates supports the mechanistic rationale for substrate synergism. Fluorescence studies using enzyme labeled with dansyl chloride indicated that there were changes in the flexibility of the bound label upon the binding of CoA (128). Smaller changes were observed with the other substrates. Later studies showed that both ATP and CoA protected against the quenching of tryptophan fluorescence by acrylamide (129). Multiple changes in the proton relaxation rate (PRR) due to four bound Mn²⁺ ions were observed when substrates were bound (106). Consistent with the dansyl chloride labeling results, a large decrease in enhancement of the PRR was observed upon the addition of CoA to the enzyme. The addition of substrates that should bind to the same binding site resulted in very different

effects on enhancement of the PRR. The addition of succinyl-CoA resulted in an increase in the PRR enhancement, whereas addition of succinate and CoA together resulted in a decrease in the PRR enhancement. Intuitively, bound succinate and CoA should occupy the same binding site as succinyl-CoA, and thus induce the same conformation in the enzyme. However, in this case, the conformation of the active site responded differently to these substrates. Thus, the conformation of SCS must be exquisitely sensitive to the presence of the bond between succinate and CoA.

Conformational Changes Associated with Catalysis

A number of phenomena have been attributed to conformational changes that occur during the catalysis of the reaction catalyzed by SCS. The first of these, substrate synergism, was discussed above. The second, phosphorylation, has also been associated with these conformational changes (127). Phosphorylation of SCS results in a more stable form of the enzyme. Upon storage dephosphorylated *E. coli* SCS loses activity 100 times faster than phosphorylated SCS. In addition, the rate of inactivation of the dephosphorylated *E. coli* SCS by trypsin was two orders of magnitude greater than that of the phosphorylated enzyme.

The best evidence for the conformational changes that may occur during catalysis of the reaction comes from ³¹P NMR experiments (124, 130, 131). Resonance from the phosphohistidine, which was observed at 4.8 ppm, was shifted downfield and broadened by the addition of CoA to the enzyme (124). The broadening of the resonance was interpreted as two exchanging conformations of the phosphohistidine. The subsequent addition of the competitive inhibitor, 2,2'-difluorosuccinate caused the resonance to shift back upfield and sharpen to a resonance consistent with only one conformation. The model proposed was that one of the two conformations of the phosphohistidine interacts with ADP and the other with succinate. Thus, in the absence of substrates, the phosphohistidine



Figure 1-9. Schematic representation of the conformational changes of the active site phosphohistidine. Partial reactions (2) and (3) (E-P + succinate + CoA \leftrightarrow succinyl-CoA + P_i + E) are thought to occur with the histidine in the succinate/CoA binding conformation, and partial reaction (1) (E-P + ADP \leftrightarrow ATP +E) is thought to occur with the histidine in the nucleotide binding conformation. Adapted from Vogel and Bridger (124).

is found in the conformation which can react with succinate. The addition of CoA to SCS causes exchange between the two conformations, and the addition of 2,2'-difluorosuccinate "freezes" the phosphohistidine back in the succinate reactive conformation (Fig. 1-9) (124, 131). Thus, this model is also consistent with the increase in the rate of the ATP \Rightarrow ADP exchange reaction by CoA (112, 45), and the increase in the rate of the synthesis of ATP from succinyl-phosphate and ADP by desulfo-CoA (126).

Kinetic Measurements and Binding Constants

The reaction catalyzed by SCS has three substrates and three products, and thus the interpretation of initial rate kinetics and product inhibition patterns is very complex (9). Despite this, an extensive steady state kinetic analysis using initial rates has been done for both the E. coli (16, 132) and pig heart (47) enzymes. The proposed kinetic schemes based on these results are shown in Figure 1-10. The order of substrate attachment and product release for the reaction catalyzed by E. coli SCS is as follows: ATP is added to the enzyme first, followed by the random addition of succinate and CoA forming the ternary complex. This is followed by the random dissociation of the products succinyl-CoA and P_i from the enzyme, and lastly by the dissociation of ADP (Fig 1-10A) (16, 132). Although this is the major pathway, there are indications that other, minor, pathways exist (127, 132, 9). Interpretation of the initial rate kinetics and product inhibition pattern for the pig heart enzyme suggested a more complex mechanism where CoA and GTP add randomly to the enzyme, and the products succinyl-CoA and GDP dissociate last from the enzyme in random order. The last substrate to bind to the enzyme is succinate, which can bind either before or after the dissociation of the first product, P_i (Fig. 1-10B) (47). The partial reactions that have been characterized for SCS involve the formation of succinyl-phosphate as an intermediate, and thus dissociation of phosphate from the enzyme prior to the addition of succinate represents the formation of an abortive complex and no net catalysis can occur of the (47). The source



Figure 1-10. Kinetic schemes for succinyl-CoA synthetase from *E. coli* (A) and pig heart (B). The order of substrate addition and product release were deduced from steady state kinetic measurements. Productive catalysis proceeds through the ternary complexes $E \cdot NDP \cdot P_i$ succinyl-CoA and $E \cdot NTP \cdot CoA$ succinate, where E is enzyme and NDP/NTP is adenosine di-/triphosphate for *E. coli* SCS or guanosine di-/triphosphate for pig heart SCS. Adapted form Moffet and Bridger (16, 132) and Cha and Parks (47).

differences in the kinetic pathways for pig heart and *E. coli* SCS may be the relative instability of the phosphorylated form of pig heart SCS when compared to *E. coli* SCS (as determined by the values of K_{eq} for the ATP/ADP exchange reaction). This is reflected in the formation of the abortive complexes caused by the dephosphorylation of pig heart SCS.

The Michaelis constants associated with all of the substrates have been determined for SCS from *E. coli* (16, 132), GDP/GTP-specific SCS from pig heart (47), artichoke (34), ADP/ATP-specific SCS from pigeon muscle (30), and GDP/GTP-specific SCS from pigeon liver, (30). These values are compiled in Table 1-2. In addition, the dissociation constants of some of the substrates with *E. coli* SCS have also been measured (133, 127). The $K_{m(app)}$ values for the substrates that contain a nucleotide moiety (CoA, succinyl-CoA, ATP, ADP, GTP, and GDP) are one to two orders of magnitude lower than the values for succinate and phosphate.

Enzyme:	ATP/GTP	Succinate	CoA	ADP/GDP	P _i	Succinyl-
	(M)	(M)	(M)	(M)	(M)	CoA (M)
E. coli ^o	2.0 x 10 ⁻⁵	1.0 x 10 ⁻⁴	1.5 x 10 ⁻⁶	1.2 x 10 ⁻⁵	2.6 x 10 ⁻³	7.7 x 10 ^{.6}
Pigeon breast ^c	5.5 x 10 ⁻⁵	5.1 x 10 ⁻³	3.2 x 10 ⁻⁵	7.0 x 10 ⁻⁶	2.3 x 10 ⁻³	8.6 x 10 ⁻⁵
Artichoke ^d	1.4 x 10 ⁻⁴	2.0 x 10 ⁻³	2.2 x 10 ⁻⁶	1.2 x 10 ⁻⁴	1.4 x 10 ⁻³	5.6 x 10 ⁻⁵
Pig heart ^e	1.0 x 10 ⁻⁵	8.0 x 10 ⁻⁴	2.0 x 10 ⁻⁵	8.0 x 10 ⁻⁶	6.0 x 10 ⁻⁴	3.0 x 10 ⁻⁵
Pigeon liver ^e	3.6 x 10 ⁻⁵	4.9 x 10 ⁻³	3.2 x 10 ⁻⁵	2.5 x 10 ⁻⁴	7.2 x 10 ⁻⁴	7.2 x 10 ⁻⁵

Table 1-2. Apparent Michaelis Constants for Succinyl-CoA Synthetase.

^a Either ATP/ADP or GTP/GDP was used during kinetic analysis, depending on the enzyme source: ATP and ADP were substrates for the *E. coli*, pigeon breast, and artichoke enzymes, while GTP and GDP were substrates for the pig heart, and pigeon liver enzymes. Data obtained from: ^b (16, 132), ^c (30), ^d (34), ^e (47).

Jencks' proposal (118) that the enzymes use the specific binding energy of substrates to destabilize the ground state relative to the transition state can be used as a framework to examine the K_m values of succinate and phosphate. The decrease in entropy of the bound substrate occurs at the expense of the intrinsic binding energy that is available to the substrate. The amount of binding energy that is left over is the observed binding energy, which is reflected in the K_m of the substrate. Thus, specific binding requires that the substrate be held tightly by the enzyme, and this results in a large loss in entropy that is reflected in a relatively high $K_{m(app)}$ (118). SCS is known to be highly specific for both phosphate and succinate.

A number of organic acids were tested for activity with *E. coli* SCS, and the results showed that four carbon dicarboxylic acids with a substituent on the α -carbon (malate, methylenesuccinate, and methylsuccinate) could substitute for succinate (126, 104). No other organic acids were substrates for the entire reaction. The similarity of the reactive group of these compounds with the reactive group of succinate (the carboxyl group) supports the hypothesis that if these compounds do bind the enzyme, they are bound in a conformation that cannot react, indicating that although the K_m for succinate is relatively high, SCS is very specific for succinate. Thus, much of the intrinsic binding energy of the non-reactive portion of succinate is used to lower the free energy of activation, and the remainder is the observed binding energy.

The specificity of SCS for phosphate has been investigated by studying the ability of sulfate, nitrate and arsenate ions to inhibit succinyl-CoA synthesis. However, unlike the carboxyl groups of the compounds that resemble succinate, sulfate and nitrate have very different reactivities when compared to phosphate, and thus the specificity of SCS for phosphate may simply be a consequence of its reactivity, and not of the ability of SCS to bind phosphate tightly. The reactivity of arsenate ion is similar to that of phosphate, except that mixed anhydrides of arsenate are unstable and are rapidly hydrolyzed by water (134). Consistent with the hypothesis that the specificity of SCS for phosphate reflects the reactivity of the phosphate ions, arsenate ions can bind to the enzyme, ($K_{m(app)} = 27 \mu M$) and participate in the arsenolysis of succinyl-CoA (114).

Alternating Sites Cooperativity

The controversial hypothesis that E. coli SCS is an enzyme that exhibits alternating sites cooperativity arose from early studies that indicated that the E. coli enzyme could apparently incorporate only one phosphate per tetramer (i.e. half of sites reactivity) (43, 46, 127). Bild et al. measured the exchange between [18O]-phosphate and succinate per ATP cleaved, and found that there was an increase in oxygen exchanged at lower concentrations of ATP (135). This was interpreted as multiple rounds of binding, and partial reaction, followed by release of the original substrates, all without the release succinyl-CoA. Pig heart SCS, an $\alpha\beta$ -dimer with only one active site, did not exhibit this behavior. To account for these observations, an alternating sites cooperativity model was proposed where the binding of ATP and phosphorylation of the enzyme at the second "unoccupied" active site stimulates the formation and release of succinyl-CoA at the first active site. Additional studies provided support for this hypothesis (136-138). E. coli SCS can be thiophosphorylated by ATPyS to a stoichiometry of one thiophosphate/tetramer. The enzyme can then be dethiophosphorylated by succinate and CoA (which presumably form succinyl-CoA). The relatively slow rate of dethiophosphorylation could be stimulated by ATP, but not by non-hydrolyzable ATP analogues (137). This behavior was also attributed to alternating sites cooperativity.

Throughout the development of the model for alternating sites cooperativity in *E*. *coli* SCS, there have been reports that contradicted the predictions made by this model. For example, other early studies found that two moles of phosphate per tetramer could be incorporated using either ATP or succinyl-CoA and P_i (43, 45). It was argued that the lower stoichiometries of phospho-enzyme intermediate could be attributed to low specific activity enzyme. Mann *et al.* (115) showed that two phosphates per tetramer could be incorporated by dephosphorylation of the enzyme prior to incubation with ATP. Nishimura and Mitchell (139) found that in the oxygen exchange experiments of Bild et al.,

43

the succinyl-CoA was not efficiently trapped, and thus it could be released, and subsequently rebind the enzyme. Nishimura and Mitchell also found that the dimeric pig heart enzyme exhibited the same dethiophosphorylation behavior as the E. coli enzyme (140). Thus, the dethiophosphorylation of tetrameric E. coli SCS was also consistent with a model in which phosphorylation of the enzyme stimulates the release of succinyl-CoA at one active site (140). The alternating sites coopreativity model was more directly tested by Bailey et al. who found that a dimeric mutant of E. coli SCS had essentially the same Michaelis constants as the wild-type enzyme and also exhibited the same dethiophosphorylation behavior as wild-type enzyme (67). In addition, they found that dethiophosphorylation of both dimeric and tetrameric E. coli SCS proceeded more quickly in the presence of phosphate, independent of the presence of ATP. This is consistent with a model in which the presence of a phosphate (either covalently bound or not) at the phosphohistidine binding site stimulates the release of succinyl-CoA. X-ray crystallographic studies of E. coli SCS showed that the histidines in both active sites were phosphorylated (54, 55). Thus, the tetrameric E. coli SCS is a dimer of dimers with two independent active sites, and alternating sites cooperativity is therefore unlikely to play a role in catalysis by SCS.

Regulation of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase

Although the direction of the reaction catalyzed by SCS (succinyl-CoA synthesis, or breakdown) is likely to be controlled by the intracellular nucleotide pools, an enzyme which is at the juncture of many biosynthetic and catabolic pathways would still be expected to be under tight regulatory control. SCS from *E. coli* tested with a variety of nucleotides, coenzymes and intermediates of both porphyrin synthesis and the citric acid cycle, and was inhibited only by fumarate, citrate, oxaloacetate, and to a lesser extent malate (46). The extent of inhibition observed was of the same order of magnitude, or even lower than the product inhibition by succinate. As discussed earlier when considering

the biosynthetic roles of SCS, the enzymes from soybean callus and *Rhodopseudomonas* spheroides were shown to be inhibited by protoporphyrin and hemin (27, 28). It has been suggested that the mammalian enzyme is subject to similar control by the products of porphyrin synthesis (25). The ADP/ATP-specific SCS activity from bovine heart is inhibited by GDP, and the GDP/GTP-specific SCS activity from the same tissue is inhibited by ADP (23). The GDP/GTP-specific SCS from pigeon liver exhibited very strong substrate inhibition with GDP. The inhibition of this SCS isozyme by ATP was not studied. There are several reports that SCS from Dictyostelium discoideum can be allosterically regulated by GDP (141, 142, 62, 143). In these studies, phosphorylation of the α -subunit of SCS with GTP was stimulated by the addition of small amounts of GDP in lysates. However, the concentrations of GTP used were far below the levels required to phosphorylate a significant portion of the enzyme. Similar experiments done with E. coli SCS also revealed stimulation of phosphorylation by small amounts of GDP. This stimulation was dependent on a component that could be separated from SCS by ammonium sulfate fractionation (144, 145). The protein purity and concentrations were similar to those in the D. discoideum studies. Thus, there are indications that some SCS isoforms can be regulated by various metabolic products, but further studies on purified SCS (and other components) are needed.

Expression of *E. coli* SCS is regulated by two promoters, one upstream of the *sucA* gene, and a second, stronger promoter upstream of the sdh operon (146). This is illustrated in Figure 1-11. The first promoter is expressed under control of the IHF protein, and the second, stronger promoter is regulated, by the ArcA and Fnr proteins, in response to oxygen availability and carbon source. As discussed in the section SCS in Metabolism (p 2-8), different mammalian tissues express different levels of ADP/ATP- and


Figure 1-11. Model for the regulation of expression of the genes for *E. coli* SCS.

gltA represents the gene for citrate synthase, sdhCDAB represents the genes for succinate dehydrogenase, and sucABCD represents the genes for α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase (sucAB) and SCS (sucCD). The sucABCD genes are transcribed from the weak suc promoter under control of the IHF protein, and also from the stronger sdhpromoter under control of the Arc A and Fnr proteins. Negative regulation of a promoter by a protein is indicated by a minus sign. Transcription from the sdhpromoter is regulated in response to oxygen availability and carbon source. The mRNA transcript originating from each operon is represented by the jagged line. Adapted from Park *et al.* (146). GDP/GTP-specific SCS activity (21, 147, 22, 23, 26). Recent studies have examined the levels of expression of mRNA for SCS isoforms in mammalian tissues (99, 29). Johnson et al. (29) concluded that the levels of mRNA for β -subunit of ADP/ATP-specific SCS were generally high in tissues that were highly dependent on oxidative metabolism, whereas the levels of mRNA for β -subunit of GDP/GTP-specific SCS were high in tissues that were involved in biosynthesis. The expression of the different β -subunit isoforms was not mutually exclusive, for example, heart tissue had high levels of both isoforms. The levels of the mRNA for the α -subunit also varied, but Johnson *et al.* (29) were not able to distinguish a pattern. In addition, the relative levels of ADP/ATP-specific and GDP/GTPspecific mRNA did not correlate with the levels of enzyme activity in tissues, indicating that there may be additional levels of control (29). Ryan et al. (99) found that the two different isoforms of the α -subunit of SCS in pig tissues arose from the differential splicing of a single transcript. One was called PH α -57 and the other PH α -108. The mRNA for PH α -57 isoform was present in heart, muscle, liver, and brain, while the mRNA for PH α -108 isoform was present in only heart and muscle tissue (99). These results indicate that the expression of SCS is well controlled.

Part E. Structural and Functional Relationships of SCS Folding of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase

The folding and assembly of *E. coli* SCS has been extensively characterized *in vitro*. Subunits can be separated by gel filtration in the presence of denaturants, and subsequently refolded by dilution of the denaturant (148-150). Yields of refolded enzyme can approach 90% of the original activity (150). This is consistent with the finding that folding of SCS *in vivo* does not require the GroEL/ES chaperone (151). Refolding is dependent on protein concentration and falls off rapidly below 35 μ g/ml (149). In addition, the recovery of activity during refolding is first order with respect to each of the subunits and second order overall (149). It was observed that maximal refolding was dependent on

47

the presence of ATP or P_i in the refolding mixture (148-150). A non-hydrolysable analogue of ATP did not stimulate refolding (148). Circular dichroism measurements indicate that although the secondary structure refolds within one minute, the recovery of full activity takes up to 25 minutes (150). Crosslinking studies indicated that tetrameric enzyme species formed at an intermediate rate, while the formation of dimers remained at a constant low level during refolding (150). The recovery of activity was approximately the same as the appearance of tetramers when refolding was conducted in the presence of ATP (152) or phosphate ions (149). ATP could be added to the refolding mixture up to 10 minutes after the initiation of refolding and full activity could be recovered (150). Addition of ATP after 60 minutes however, had no effect. These results are consistent with a model for the refolding of E. coli SCS where the overall secondary structure forms quickly, followed by the association of the subunits to form dimers (either $\beta\beta$ or $\alpha\beta$), and then quickly by the association of the dimers into inactive tetramers (presumably $(\alpha\beta)_2$). This is followed by a step probably involving conformational changes that are associated with phosphorylation of the enzyme by ATP (150) or the presence of phosphate ions. The association of the structured monomers into dimers is consistent with the finding that the rate limiting step in assembly is bimolecular. The requirement of ATP or P, for refolding is consistent with the observation that dephosphorylated SCS is not stable when stored in the absence of phosphate (127). These results can be rationalized using the crystal structure of E. coli SCS. There are two phosphate binding sites per α/β dimer, one is found in the Nterminal domain of the β -subunit, and the other is the phosphohistidine binding site located between the α -subunit and the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit. The phosphohistidine is stabilized by two helix dipoles, one from a helix in the α -subunit and one from a helix in the β -subunit (54). Thus, in the absence of phosphate or ATP, these structures may be unstable.

Much less is known about the folding of mitochondrial SCS, either *in vitro* or *in vivo*. When the α -subunit of the rat liver enzyme was translated *in vitro*, it had extra amino

acids on the N-terminus that were not present in the mature protein as isolated from mitochondria (153). These amino acids have the potential to form an amphipathic α -helix and resemble the mitochondrial signal sequences that direct other proteins synthesized in the cytosol to the mitochondria (58, 153, 154, 155). When the α -subunit of rat liver SCS was translated in vitro in a reticulocyte lysate, it was translocated across the membrane of added mitochondria (153). Translocation was accompanied by the proteolytic cleavage of the 27 residues at the N-terminus which comprised the mitochondrial signal sequence. The translocation was ATP-dependent and was inhibited by compounds that diminish the mitochondrial membrane potential. The refolding of pig heart SCS in vitro was less productive than the refolding of E. coli SCS, and has been shown to be dependent on the addition of glycerol or ethylene glycol, and not on the presence of GTP (156). The requirement for high levels of ethylene glycol or glycerol for refolding of pig heart SCS may reflect the high protein concentrations that are found in the mitochondrial matrix or the participation of chaperones. It is interesting to note that when the β -subunit of SCS is purified from hydrogenosomes of Trichomonas vaginalis, the first 9 amino acid residues that are encoded for by the gene are missing. In addition, these missing residues have the potential to form an amphipathic α -helix, and are similar to mitochondrial presequences (157). This similarity between proteins found in hydrogenosomes and those imported into mitochondria provides additional support for the hypothesis that mitochondria and hydrogenosomes are related organelles (12).

The Crystal Structures of Succinyl-CoA Synthetase

The x-ray crystal structures of the *E. coli* SCS (54, 55) and pig heart SCS (60) have been solved and refined to 2.3 and 1.9 Å, respectively. In the *E. coli* SCS crystals, the packing unit was an octamer, i.e. two tetramers pack together. Thus, there were two possible choices for the physiologically relevant tetramer, one where the two $\alpha\beta$ -dimers were related to each other by a crystallographic two-fold axis, and a second where the $\alpha\beta$ -

dimers were related by a non-crystallographic two-fold axis. Each possible tetramer had approximately the same buried surface area between the $\alpha\beta$ -dimers. Choice of the physiologically relevant tetramer was resolved by mutation of residues at both of the possible $\alpha\beta$ -dimer-dimer contact regions (67). In retrospect, the correct tetramer had a slightly larger burried surface area. The physiologically relevant tetramer is portrayed in Figure 1-12. The α -subunits pack at the $\alpha\beta$ -dimer-dimer interface, and are shown in yellow.

The α - and β -subunits both contain distinct N- and C-terminal domains (54, 55). Both domains in the α -subunit contain a Rossmann fold. A CoA molecule is bound by the Rossmann fold in the N-terminal domain of the α -subunit. Previous studies showed that oxidized CoA disulfide was bound to Cys 325 β , and that this binding was inhibited by analogues of CoA (158). This observation was thought to indicate that the CoA binding site was located in the β -subunit, and illustrates the need for caution in the interpretation of experiments using affinity analogues. The active site histidine (H246 α) is phosphorylated and is found in a 23 residue loop in the C-terminal domain of the α -subunit. This loop extends from the C-terminal domain of the α -subunit and lies between it and the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit. The C-terminal domain of the β -subunit is linked to the Nterminal domain by a seven residue hydrophilic link. The N-terminal domain of the β subunit consists of two subdomains, a sulphate ion is seen bound to one, and the other contains residues that interact with the N-terminal domain of the α -subunit of the other $\alpha\beta$ dimer. The loop that binds the sulphate ion resembles the P-loop of other nucleotide binding folds. The nucleotide binding consensus sequence is GxxGxGKS/T (159), and the sequence in SCS is GGRGKxGG.

There is no succinate or nucleotide bound to either *E. coli* or pig heart SCS. The succinate binding site is presumed to be in the vicinity of the thiol group of CoA and the

Α



Figure 1-12. Ribbon diagram of the physiologically relevant tetramer of *E. coli* succinyl-CoA synthetase. In (A) the diagram of the tetramer is oriented about the crystallographic two-fold axis (denoted by the black oval). The tetramer and is turned by approximately 90° in (B), and the approximate position of the two-fold axis is shown by the arrow. The α -subunits are depicted in yellow, and the β -subunits in green. The molecules of CoA are drawn as cyan ball and stick models, the phosphohistidines are coloured mauve, and the sulfate ion, in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunits, red. This and all other structural figures in this thesis except Figures 6-2 to 6-5 were drawn were drawn using the program MOLSCRIPT (161).

phosphoryl group of the phosphohistidine. The binding site for NTP/NDP could be in either of two possible sites. There is an unoccupied Rossmann fold in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit, which is where Cys 325 β is located. The N-terminal domain of the β -subunit also resembles the nucleotide binding domain of the ATP-grasp family of nucleotide binding proteins (103, 55). However, this site is located approximately 35 Å from the active site phosphohistidine.

Each active site of *E. coli* SCS is thought to be located in a deep cleft between the α -subunit and the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit of one $\alpha\beta$ -dimer (54, 55). The N3-phosphohistidine is stabilized by residues from both of these domains. One oxygen atom of the phosphate is within hydrogen bonding distance of the hydroxyl groups of Ser 153 α , and Thr 155 α , and the main chain amide nitrogen of Gly 154 α . A second oxygen atom is within hydrogen bonding distance of the main chain nitrogen of residues Ala 266 β and Gly 267 β . The phosphate of the phosphohistidine lies between the N-termini of two α -helices, called the "power helices", one from the α -subunit and the other from the β -subunit (Fig. 1-13). The residues in these two helices are highly conserved in all species of SCS and malate thiokinase (Fig. 1-2 and 3). The dipole moments of these power helices are thought to stabilize the charge on the phosphate moiety.

The nucleotide portion of the CoA molecule is bound in the N-terminal domain of the α -subunit, and the pantothenic acid and β -mercaptoethylamine portions extend to within 7Å of the phosphate group of the phosphohistidine (located in the C-terminal domain of the α -subunit). There is also a water molecule, in position for a nucleophilic attack on the phosphate moiety, positioned 3.3Å from the phosphate atom of the phosphohistidine which is thought to represent the carboxylate oxygen of succinate (55). The N1 atom of the imidazole group of the phosphohistidine is oriented to interact with the carboxyl group of Glu 208 α . The postulated mechanism of phosphorylation of SCS was a nucleophilic attack by the N3 atom of His 246 α on the phosphoryl group of ATP or succinyl-phosphate (131). However, the favored tautomer of histidine in solution has the lone pair of electrons on N1 (160). Vogel and Bridger (131) predicted that an anionic group could stabilize the tautomer with the lone pair of electrons on the N3 position by forming a hydrogen bond with a hydrogen on N-1 (131). Glu 208 α is positioned to fulfill this role. The presence of the negative charge in the vicinity of N-1 may limit the resonance structures that are available to the phosphohistidine (Fig 1-7) thus leading to a lowering of the energy required to phosphorylate the histidine (discussed earlier in the section The Reaction Mechanism of SCS p 30) The functional importance of the residues discussed above is reinforced by their conservation in almost all species of SCS as well as malate thiokinase.

The x-ray crystallographic structure of the pig heart enzyme has been solved in both the phosphorylated and dephosphorylated forms. Neither contained bound CoA. The models are essentially the same as that for the *E. coli* enzyme, except that the pig heart enzyme is an $\alpha\beta$ -dimer and all domains are in a more open conformation (Fig. 1-14) in the pig heart model (60). As seen in the *E. coli* model, there is a sulphate ion bound in the Nterminal domain of the β -subunit. In the pig heart model, there is a six residue insertion in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit (as compared to the amino acid sequence of *E. coli* SCS) that forms a short two stranded antiparallel β -sheet that occurs just after the loop that binds the sulphate ion. An additional sulphate ion is found bound where the 5' β phosphate of the CoA is located in *E. coli* SCS. There is also a second four residue insertion that forms a larger loop in the α -subunit. This loop is located well away from the active site.

The source of the relative instability of phosphorylated pig heart SCS (when compared with *E. coli* SCS) is not immediately evident. The residues that interact with the phosphohistidine in pig heart SCS are the same as those in *E. coli* SCS. The difference in the free energy of the two phosphorylated forms is less than the bond energy of one hydrogen bond (43, 56), and at the resolution of the *E. coli* and pig heart SCS models, small differences in hydrogen bond length cannot be evaluated. However, pig heart SCS



Figure 1-13. Close-up view of one active site of *E. coli* succinyl-CoA synthetase. The α -subunit is shown in yellow, and the β -subunit in green. The two power helicies are shown in full colour, as is the active site loop. The active site phosphohistidine residue and CoA molecule are shown as ball and stick models in mauve and cyan, respectively. A water molecule is a light blue dot, and the main chain nitrogen atoms of residues 153 α - 155 α are blue. The side chains of Ser 153 α and Thr 155 α are also shown.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 1-14. Superposition of the ribbon diagrams for an $\alpha\beta$ -dimer of *E. coli* SCS with pig heart SCS. In (A) the diagram is oriented to show the CoA molecule clearly, and is turned by approximately 90° in (B) to show the sulfate ion bound in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit. The α -subunit of *E. coli* SCS is shown in yellow, and the β -subunit in green. In the *E. coli* SCS model, the CoA molecule is shown as a cyan ball and stick model, the phosphohistidine residue is coloured mauve, and the sulfate ion is red. The subunits of pig heart SCS are coloured grey, the phosphohistidine and two sulfate ions are shown as black ball and stick molels. There is a Zn^{2+} ion in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit of the pig heart model that is displayed in blue.

has an extra ionic interaction between Arg 256 α , which resides in the phosphohistidine loop, and Asp 227 β . The equivalent residue in *E. coli* SCS is a glycine. The extra ionic interaction may be the reason that pig heart SCS does not need to be phosphorylated in order to refold. The crystal structures of SCS from *E. coli* and pig heart SCS thus provide a framework which can be used to rationalize past observations about the function of SCS. These crystal structures can also be used to develop and test hypotheses about the role of specific amino acid residues in the function of SCS.

Part F. Thesis Objectives

It is clear from the preceding discussion that many aspects of the function of SCS are well established. The metabolic roles and reaction mechanism of SCS have been extensively investigated, and the recent proliferation of genomic sequencing projects has created a large database for sequence comparisons. In addition, the x-ray crystallographic structures of the *E. coli* and pig heart enzymes are now known. There are however many questions which remain unanswered, and the crystal structures of SCS open whole new avenues for exploration. The research in this thesis has two major themes: the first is the stability of SCS, and the second and more prevalent is the nucleotide binding site. Specifically, the goals of the research contained in this thesis are listed below:

1. In Chapter 2 there were three goals: the first was to clone ATP-specific SCS from *Neurospora crassa* for use in the investigation of the nucleotide specificity of SCS; the second was to clone thermostable SCS from *Thermus aquaticus* for use in the investigation of the stability of SCS; and the third was to study the expression of the mRNA for the β -subunit of GTP-specific pig heart SCS in pig tissues to see if it was expressed in manner consistent with the expression of the GTP-specific SCS activity, and thus was consistent with the proposed metabolic role of GTP-specific SCS.

56

2. The first major theme of this thesis is addressed in Chapter 3. In this chapter the goal was to probe the basis for the stability of SCS. Toward this end, the enzyme from *Thermus aquaticus* was characterized and its stability was compared to that of the *E. coli* and pig heart enzymes. The basis for the increased stability of *T. aquaticus* SCS when compared to *E. coli* SCS and of *E. coli* SCS compared to pig heart SCS was studied using sequence comparisons and the crystallographic structures of *E. coli* and pig heart SCS.

3. Investigation of the second major theme of this thesis begins in Chapter 4. The goal of the investigations in this chapter was to locate the nucleotide binding site of *E. coli* SCS using the photoactivated analogue 8-N₃-ATP. Toward this end, specificity of SCS for 8-N₃-ATP as a substrate was confirmed first. Then 8-N₃-ATP was used to photolabel *E. coli* SCS, and tryptic peptides that were labeled by the 8-N₃-ATP were subsequently isolated and identified.

4. The goal of Chapter 5 was to study the role of residues found in both of the potential nucleotide binding sites in the β -subunit of *E. coli* SCS by mutagenesis. These potential nucleotide binding sites (one in the C-terminal domain, and one in the N-terminal domain) were predicted by examination of the crystallographic structures of SCS and comparison to the structures of other nucleotide binding proteins. Specific residues that were predicted to be involved in binding nucleotide in each of the sites were changed by mutagenesis, and the effects of these changes were evaluated using steady state and single turnover enzyme kinetics.

5. The goal of the investigations in Chapter 6 was to determine the structure of nucleotide bound to *E. coli* SCS, and to examine the role of residues that were implicated in catalysis. The former goal was achieved by soaking high concentrations of ADP and Mg^{2+} into crystals of native SCS, collecting diffraction data and generating electron density maps that compared the native and the ADP-Mg²⁺-bound forms of *E. coli* SCS. This was followed by model building and structure refinement. In addition, the roles that the two glutamate residues, one in the nucleotide binding site and one in the phosphohistidine binding site,

play in catalysis were studied by mutagenesis. Glu 208α and Glu 197β were both changed, and the effects of these changes were monitored by steady state and single turnover enzyme kinetics.

References:

- 1. Krebs, H. A. (1970) Perspect. Biol. Med. 14, 154-170.
- 2. Ochoa, S. (1944) J. Biol. Chem. 155, 87-103.
- 3. Hunter, F. E. J., & Hixon, W. H. (1949) J. Biol. Chem. 181, 67-82.
- 4. Kaufman, S. (1951) in Phosphorus Metabolism (Eds. W. D. McElroy and B. Glass, Johns Hopkins Press, Baltimore) Vol. 1, 370-374.
- 5. Kaufman, S., Gilvarg, C., Cori, O., & Ochoa, S. (1953) J. Biol. Chem. 203, 869-888.
- 6. Hift, H., Ouellet, L., Littlefield, J. W., & Sanadi, D. R. (1953) J. Biol. Chem. 204, 565-579.
- 7. Voet, D., & Voet, J. G. (1995) Biochemistry, 2nd Ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York
- 8. Hager, L. P. (1962) The Enzymes Vol. VI, 387-399.
- 9. Bridger, W. A. (1974) in *The Enzymes* (Boyer, P. D., ed) Vol. X, 3 Ed., pp. 581-606, Academic Press Inc., New York
- 10. Muller, M. (1988) Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 42, 465-488.
- 11. Hellemond, J. V., Opperdoes, F. R., & Tielens, A. G. M. (1998) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 3036-3041.
- 12. Cavalier-Smith, T. (1987) Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 503, 55-71.
- 13. Ottaway, J. H., & McMinn, C. L. (1979) Biochem. Soc. Trans. 7, 411-412.
- 14. Ottaway, J. H., McClellan, J. A., & Saunderson, C. L. (1981) Int. J. Biochem. 13, 401-410.
- 15. Hersh, L. B., & Jenks, W. P. (1967) J. Biol. Cham. 242, 3468-3480.
- 16. Moffet, F. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1970) J. Biol. Chem. 245, 2758-2762.
- 17. McClellan, J. A., & Ottaway, J. H. (1980) Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 67B, 679-684.
- 18. Lynn, R., & Guynn, R. W. (1978) J. Biol. Chem. 253, 2546-2553.
- 19. Jenkins, T. M., Eisenthal, R., & Weitzman, P. D. J. (1988) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 151, 257-261.
- 20. Bowman, K., Ropars, M., & Deshusses, J. (1982) Experientia 38, 533-534.
- 21. Hamilton, M. L., & Ottaway, J. H. (1981) FEBS Lett. 123, 252-254.
- 22. Jenkins, T. M., & Weitzman, P. D. J. (1986) FEBS Lett. 205, 215-218.

- 23. Weitzman, P. D. J., Jenkins, T. M., Else, A. J., & Holt, R. A. (1986) FEBS Lett. 199, 57-60.
- 24. Sanwal, B. D. (1970) Bacteriol. Rev. 34, 20-28.
- 25. Labbe, R. F., Kurumada, T., & Onisawa, J. (1965) Biochim. et Biophys. Acta III, 403-415.
- 26. Jenkins, T. M., & Weitzman, P. D. J. (1988) FEBS Lett. 230, 6-8.
- 27. Burnham, B. F., & Lascelles, J. (1963) Biochem. J. 37, 462-469.
- 28. Wider, E. A., & Tigier, H. A. (1970) FEBS Lett. 9, 30-32.
- 29. Johnson, J. D., Mehus, J. G., Tews, K., Milavetz, B. I., & Lambeth, D. O. (1998) J. Biol. Chem. 273, 27580-27586.
- Johnson, J. D., Muhonen, W. W., & Lambeth, D. O. (1998) J. Biol. Chem. 273, 27573-27579.
- 31. Kaufman, S., & Alivisatos, S. G. A. (1955) J. Biol. Chem. 216, 141-152.
- 32. Burnham, B. F. (1963) Acta Chem. Scand. 17, suppl., 123-128.
- 33. Nandi, D. L., & Waygood, E. R. (1965) Can. J. Biochem. Physiol. 43, 1605-1614.
- 34. Palmer, J. M., & Wedding, R. T. (1966) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 113, 167-174.
- 35. Bush, L. P. (1969) Plant Physiol. 44, 347-350.
- 36. Meshkova, N. P., & Matveeva, L. N. (1970) Biokhimiya 35, 374-381.
- 37. Hansford, R. G. (1973) FEBS Lett. 31, 317-332.
- 38. Weitzman, P. D. J., & Kinghorn, H. A. (1978) FEBS Lett. 88, 255-258.
- 39. Ball, D. J., & Nishimura, J. S. (1980) J. Biol. Chem. 255, 10805-10812.
- 40. Weitzman, P. D., & Jaskowska-Hodges, H. (1982) FEBS Lett. 143, 237-240.
- 41. Jenkins, T. M., Gorrell, T. E., Müller, M., & Weitzman, P. D. J. (1991) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 179, 892-896.
- 42. Gibson, J., Upper, C. D., & Gunsalus, I. C. (1967) J. Biol. Chem. 242, 2474-2477.
- 43. Ramaley, R. F., Bridger, W. A., Moyer, R. W., & Boyer, P. D. (1967) J. Biol. Chem. 242, 4287-4298.
- 44. Bridger, W. A., Ramaley, R. F., & Boyer, P. D. (1969) Methods Enzymol. 13, 70-75.
- 45. Grinnell, F. L., & Nishimura, J. S. (1969) Biochemistry 8, 562-568.
- 46. Leitzmann, C., Wu, J.-Y., & Boyer, P. D. (1970) Biochemistry 9, 2338-2346.

- 47. Cha, S., & Parks, R. E. J. (1964) J. Biol. Chem. 239, 1961-1977.
- 48. Cha, S., Cha, C. J. M., & Parks, R. E. J. (1967) J. Biol. Chem. 242, 2577-2581.
- 49. Cha, S. (1969) Methods Enzymol. 13, 62-69.
- 50. Knight, E. J. (1961), Ph. D. Thesis, University of Illinois, Illinois, Urbana
- 51. Buck, D., Spencer, M. E., & Guest, J. R. (1986) J. Gen. Microbiol. 132, 1753-1762.
- 52. Buck, D., & Guest, J. R. (1989) Biochem. J. 260, 737-747.
- 53. Wolodko, W. T., James, M. N. G., & Bridger, W. A. (1984) J. Biol. Chem. 259, 5316-5320.
- 54. Wolodko, W. T., Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., & Bridger, W. A. (1994) J. Biol. Chem. 269, 10883-10890.
- 55. Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., Bridger, W. A., & Wolodko, W. T. (1999) J. Mol. Biol. 285, 1633-1653.
- 56. Brownie, E. R., & Bridger, W. A. (1972) Can. J. Biochem. 50, 719-724.
- 57. Murakami, Y., & Nishimura, J. S. (1974) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 336, 252-263.
- 58. Bailey, D. L., Wolodko, W. T., & Bridger, W. A. (1993) Protein Sci. 2, 1255-1262.
- 59. Ryan, D. G. (1994) Thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton
- 60. Fraser, M. E. personal communication.
- 61. Nishimura, J. S. (1986) in Advances in Enzymology (Meister, A., ed) Vol. 58, pp. 141-172, Wiley, New York
- 62. Um, H. D., & Klein, C. (1993) Biochem J. 295, 821-826.
- 63. Kelly, C. J., & Cha, S. (1977) Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 178, 208-217.
- 64. Weitzman, P. D. J. (1981) Adv. Microb. Physiol. 22, 185-244.
- 65. Wolodko, W. T., Kay, C. M., & Bridger, W. A. (1986) Biochemistry 25, 5420-5425.
- 66. Teherani, J. A., & Nishimura, J. S. (1975) J. Biol. Chem. 250, 3883-3890.
- 67. Bailey, D. L., Fraser, M. E., Bridger, W. A., James, M. N. G., & Wolodko, W. T. (1998), J. Mol Biol 285, 1655-1666.
- 68. Eisenstein, E., & Schachman, H. K. (1989) in Protein Function (Creigton, T. E., ed), pp. 135-176, IRL Press, Oxford, UK
- 69. Wilson, R. et al. (1994) Nature 368, 32.
- 70. Fleischmann, R. D. et al. (1995) Science 269, 496-512.

- 71. Fraser, C. M. et al. (1995) Science 270, 397-403.
- 72. Bult, C. J. et al. (1996) Science 273, 1066-1072.
- 73. Goffeau, A. et al. (1996) Science 274, 546-551.
- 74. Blattner, F. R. et al. (1997) Science 277, 1453-1462.
- 75. Klenk, H.-P. et al. (1997) Nature 390, 364-370.
- 76. Kunst, F. et al. (1997) Nature 390, 249-255.
- 77. Smith, D. R. et al. (1997) J. Bacteriol. 179, 7135-7155.
- 78. Tomb, J.-F. et al. (1997) Nature 388, 539-547.
- 79. Andersson, S. G. et al. (1998) Nature 396, 133-140.
- 80. Cole, S. T. et al. (1998) Nature 393, 537-544.
- 81. Deckert, G.et al. (1998) Nature 392, 353-357.
- 82. Fraser, C. M. et al. (1998) Science 281, 375-379.
- 83. Smith, R. F., & Smith, T. F. (1990) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 118-122.
- 84. Smith, R. F., & Smith, T. F. (1992) Protein Engineering 5, 35-41.
- 85. Thompson, J. D., Higgins, D. G., & Gibson, T. J. (1994) Nucleic Acids Res. 22, 4673-4680.
- 86. Page, R. D. M. (1996) Comp. Appl. in Biosci. 12, 357-358.
- Tiboni, O., Cammarano, P., & Sanangelantoni, A. M. (1993) J. Bacteriol. 175, 2961-2969.
- 88. Siebers, B., Klenk, H.-P., & Hensel, R. (1998) J. Bacteriol. 180, 2137-2143.
- 89. Wright, F., & Bibb, M. J. (1992) Gene 113, 55-65.
- 90. Chistoserdova, L. V., & Lidstrom, M. E. (1994) J. Bacteriol. 176, 7398-7404.
- 91. Elshourbagy, N. A., Near, J. C., Kmetz, P. J., Sathe, G. M., Southan, C., Strickler, J. E., Gross, M., Young, J. F., Wells, T. N., & Groot, P. H. (1990) J. Biol. Chem. 265, 1430-1435.
- 92. Elshourbagy, N. A., Near, J. C., Kmetz, P. J., Wells, T. N., Groot, P. H., Saxty, B. A., Hughes, S. A., Franklin, M., & Gloger, I. S. (1992) Eur. J. Biochem. 204, 491-499.
- 93. Nowrousian, M., Masloff, S., Poggeler, S., & Kuck, U. (1999) Mol. Cell. Biol. 19, 450-460.
- 94. Alschul, S. F., & Gish, W. (1996) Methods Enzymol. 266, 460-480.

- 95. Alschul, S. F., Madden, T. L., Schaffer, A. A., Zhang, J., Zhang, Z., Miller, D. J., & Lipman, D. J. (1997) Nucleic Acids Res. 25, 3389-3402.
- 96. Galperin, M. Y., & Koonin, E. V. (1997) Prot. Sci. 6, 2639-2643.
- 97. Kaufman, S. (1955) J. Biol. Chem. 216, 153-164.
- 98. Engbring, J. A., & Alderete, J. F. (1998) Mol. Microbiol. 28, 305-315.
- 99. Ryan, D. G., Lin, T., Brownie, E., Bridger, W. A., & Wolodko, W. T. (1997) J. Biol. Chem. 272, 21151-21159.
- 100. Buck, D., Spencer, M. E., & Guest, J. R. (1985) Biochemistry 24, 6245-6252.
- 101. Porpaczy, Z., Sumegi, B., & Alkonyi, I. (1983) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 749, 172-179.
- 102. Walshaw, D. L., Wilkinson, A., Mundy, M., Smith, M., & Poole, P. S. (1997) *Microbiology 143*, 2209-2221.
- 103. Murzin, A. G. (1996) Curr. Opin. in Struct. Biol. 6, 386-394.
- 104. Robinson, J. L., Benson, R. W., & Boyer, P. D. (1969) Biochemistry 8, 2503-2508.
- 105. Murakami, K., Mitchell, T., & Nishimura, J. S. (1972) J. Biol. Chem. 247, 6247-6252.
- 106. Buttlaire, D. H., Cohn, M., & Bridger, W. A. (1977) J. Biol. Chem. 252, 1957-1964.
- 107. Lam, Y. F., Bridger, W. A., & Kotowycz, G. (1976) Biochemistry 15, 4742-4748.
- 108. Upper, C. D. (1964), Thesis, University of Illinois, Urbana.
- 109. Wang, T., Jurasek, L., & Bridger, W. A. (1972) Biochemistry 11, 2067-2070.
- 110. Cha, S., Cha, C.-J. M., & Parks, R. E. J. (1965) J. Biol. Chem. 240, 3700-3702.
- 111. Hultquist, D. E., Moyer, R. W., & Boyer, P. D. (1966) Biochemistry 5, 322-331.
- 112. Bridger, W. A., Millen, W. A., & Boyer, P. D. (1968) Biochemistry 7, 3608-3616.
- 113. Bridger, W. A. (1971) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 42, 948-954.
- 114. Majumdar, R., Guest, J. R., & Bridger, W. A. (1991) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1076, 86-90.
- 115. Mann, C. J., Mitchell, T., & Nishimura, J. S. (1991) Biochemistry 30, 1497-1503.
- 116. Cohn, M. (1959) J. Cell. Comp. Physiol. 54, 157-169.
- 117. Grinnell, F., & Nishimura, J. S. (1969) Biochemistry 8, 4126-4130.

- 118. Jencks, W. P. (1987) Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 52, 65-73.
- 119. Milner, Y., Michaels, G., & Wood, H. G. (1978) J. Biol. Chem. 253, 878-883.
- 120. Weigel, N., Kukuruzinska, M. A., Nakazawa, A., Waygood, E. B., & Roseman, S. (1982) J. Biol. Chem. 257, 14477-14491.
- 121. Cohn, M. (1951) in Phosphorus Metabolism (Eds. W. D. McElroy and B. Glass, Johns Hopkins Press, Baltimore) Vol. 1, 374-376.
- 122. Hager, L. P. (1957) J. Amer. Chem. Soc. 79, 4864-4869.
- 123. Nishimura, J. S., & Meister, A. (1965) Biochemistry 4, 1457-1462.
- 124. Vogel, H. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1982) J. Biol. Chem. 257, 4834-4842.
- 125. Walsh, C. T. J., Hildebrand, J. G., & Spector, L. B. (1970) J. Biol. Chem. 245, 5699-5708.
- 126. Hildebrand, J. G., & Spector, L. B. (1969) J. Biol. Chem. 244, 2606-2613.
- 127. Moffet, F. J., Wang, T., & Bridger, W. A. (1972) J. Biol. Chem. 247, 8139-8144.
- 128. Prasad, A. R. S., Nishimura, J. S., & Horowitz, P. M. (1982) Biochemistry 21, 5142-5147.
- 129. Prasad, A. R. S., Nishimura, J. S., & Horowitz, P. M. (1983) Biochemistry 22, 4272-4275.
- 130. Vogel, H. J., Bridger, W. A., & Sykes, B. D. (1982) Biochemistry 21, 1126-1132.
- 131. Vogel, H. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1983) Biochem. Soc. Trans. 11, 315-323.
- 132. Moffet, F. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1973) Can. J. Biochem. 51, 44-55.
- 133. Moffet, F. J. (1972) Thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton Alberta.
- 134. Harting, J., & Velick, S. F. (1954) J. Biol. Chem. 207, 867-878.
- 135. Bild, G. S., Janson, C. A., & Boyer, P. D. (1980) J. Biol. Chem. 255, 8109-8115.
- 136. Wolodko, W. T., O'Connor, M. D., & Bridger, W. A. (1981) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78, 2140-2144.
- 137. Wolodko, W. T., Brownie, E. R., O'Connor, M. D., & Bridger, W. A. (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 258, 14116-14119.
- 138. Williams, S. P., & Bridger, W. A. (1987) Biochemistry 26, 4483-4487.
- 139. Nishimura, J. S., & Mitchell, T. (1984) J. Biol. Chem. 259, 2144-2148.
- 140. Nishimura, J. S., & Mitchell, T. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260, 2077-2079.
- 141. Um, H. D., & Klein, C. (1991) J. Prot. Chem. 10, 391-401.

- 142. Anshutz, A. L., Um, H. D., Seigel, N. R., Veron, M., & Klein, C. (1993) Biochem Biophys Acta 1162, 40-46.
- 143. Um, H. D., & Klein, C. (1994) J. Prot. Chem. 13, 177-185.
- 144. Birney, M., Um, H. D., & Klein, C. (1996) J. Bacteriol. 178, 2883-2889.
- 145. Birney, M., Um, H. D., & Klein, C. (1997) Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 347, 103-112.
- 146. Park, S., Chao, G., & Gunsalus, R. P. (1997) J. Bacteriol. 179, 4138-4142.
- 147. Steiner, A. W., & Smith, R. A. (1981) J. Neurochemistry 37, 582-593.
- 148. Pearson, P. H., & Bridger, W. A. (1975) J. Biol. Chem. 250, 4451-4455.
- 149. Wolodko, W. T., & Bridger, W. A. (1987) Biochem. Cell Biol. 65, 452-457.
- 150. Khan, I. A., & Nishimura, J. S. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263, 2152-2158.
- 151. Fong, G., & Bridger, W. A. (1992) Biochemistry 31, 5661-5664.
- 152. Kahn, I. A., & Nishimura, J. S. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263, 2152-2158.
- 153. Majumdar, R., & Bridger, W. A. (1990) Biochem. Cell Biol. 68, 292-299.
- 154. Henning, W. D., Upton, C., Majumdar, R., McFadden, G., & Bridger, W. A. (1988) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85, 1432-1436.
- 155. Ryan, D. G., & Bridger, W. A. (1991) J. Mol. Biol. 219, 165-174.
- 156. Nishimura, J. S., Ybarra, J., Mitchell, T., & Horowitz, P. M. (1988) Biochem. J. 250, 429-434.
- 157. Lahti, C. J., d'Oliveira, C. E., & Johnson, P. J. (1992) J. Bacteriol. 174, 6822-6830.
- 158. Collier, G. E., & Nishimura, J. S. (1978) J. Biol. Chem. 253, 4938-4943.
- 159. Saraste, M., Sibbald, P. R., & Whittinghofer, A. (1990) Trends in Biochem. Sci. 15, 430-434.
- 160. Blomberg, F., Maurer, W., & Ruterjans, H. (1977) J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 8149-8159.
- 161. Kraulis, P. J., (1991) J. Appl. Crystallgr. 24, 946-950.

Chapter Two Cloning and Expression

Introduction

As outlined in Chapter 1, there are many differences between SCS enzymes from different sources. *E. coli* SCS for example, prefers ATP as substrate over GTP, which is preferred over ITP (1). On the other hand, SCS from mammalian species is strictly specific for either ATP or GTP (2, 3), and it has been suggested that different metabolic roles are fulfilled by mammalian SCS isozymes with different nucleotide specificities (4, 5). In addition, the quaternary structure of SCS also differs between eubacterial species. SCS from gram negative bacteria was found to be tetrameric whereas that from the gram positive bacteria was dimeric (6). SCS from pig heart was also found to be dimeric (7-9). The reasons for the different quaternary structures are not clear, however it has been suggested that tetrameric *E. coli* enzyme is more stable and more soluble (10). Prior to the cloning of the ATP-specific SCS (from *E. coli*) were the primary subjects of investigation. This chapter is divided into three sections, and each deals with the cloning, or attempted cloning, of alternate isoforms of SCS.

To facilitate the investigation of the structural determinants of the nucleotide specificity of SCS, I attempted to clone an ATP-specific SCS. It was reasoned that comparison of ATP-specific SCS with both GTP-specific SCS from pig heart and multi-specific SCS from *E. coli* would yield information about the amino acids involved in determining nucleotide specificity. The SCS activity from *Neurospora crassa* had been shown to be specific for adenosine nucleotides (11). Two approaches were used to clone an ATP-specific SCS from *N. crassa*. In the first, the protein sequence of the N-terminus of both subunits of SCS from *Neurospora crassa* was determined by Edman degradation, and used to design degenerate primers for PCR. In the second, an antibody which

recognized the α -subunit of *N. crassa* SCS was used to screen *N. crassa* expression libraries.

Prior to the work of Johnson *et al.* (12) relatively little was known about the expression of mammalian SCS isoforms. In mammals, different levels of SCS activity specific for either ATP or GTP had been found in different tissues, and a GTP-specific SCS from pig heart had been isolated and cloned (13, 5, 14-16, 2). Studies on the α -subunit of pig heart SCS revealed two isoforms generated by differential splicing of at least one intron (17). The mRNA for these two isoforms of SCS was differentially regulated in pig tissues, but not in a manner that was consistent with the levels of SCS activity in the different pig tissues. It was reasoned that if the α -subunit was not responsible for the expression of specific isoforms of SCS then perhaps the β -subunit was. To investigate this possibility, expression levels of the mRNA for the β -subunit of SCS in different pig tissues were determined by RT-PCR.

By creating a dimeric form of *E. coli* SCS, Bailey *et al.* found that neither the catalytic activity nor substrate efficiency depended on the presence of tetrameric enzyme (2). It was suggested that the dimeric enzyme was less stable than the tetrameric enzyme. To further investigate the determinants of the stability of SCS, the enzyme from the thermophile *Thermus aquaticus* was cloned, and the protein was expressed.

Materials and Methods

SECTION I: Cloning of Neurospora crassa SCS.

Purification of N. crassa SCS. A stock of N. crassa was obtained from Craig Wilson (University of Kansas Medical Center, Fungal Genetics Stock Center), and SCS was purified from cells grown from this stock by Ed Brownie. Cells were grown in Vogals media (150 g/L sodium citrate, 250 g/L potassium phosphate , 100 g/L NH_4NO_3 , 10g/L MgSO₄, 5 g/L CaCl₂, 5g/L biotin) supplemented with sucrose (40g/L) for 72 h at 30

67

°C. Cells were harvested by centrifugation, and SCS was purified essentially according to the methods used for the purification of *E. coli* SCS (18).

Protein Sequencing of N. crassa SCS. The subunits of N. crassa SCS were separated by SDS PAGE using 12 % (w/v) acrylamide gels (19). The separated subunits were then transferred onto PVDF membranes (250 mA for 45 min at 4 °C)using a Mini Trans-Blot Transfer Cell (Bio-Rad Laboratories). The PVDF membrane was then lightly stained using coomassie blue in 25 % (v/v) methanol, and the bands which corresponded to the α - and β -subunits were excised. They were then subjected to amino acid sequencing by Edman degradation with a Hewlett Packard 1005A peptide sequencer.

PCR of N. crassa Genomic DNA and cDNA Libraries. Degenerate primers for PCR of each subunit of N. crassa SCS were designed based on the protein sequence of the N-termini of the subunits and; for the α -subunit, on a conserved sequence in the active site loop (RMGHAGAI); and for the β -subunit, on a conserved sequence in the C-terminal domain (NIFGGIVR). The reaction mixture for PCR consisted of 0.01% (w/v) gelatin, 50 mM KCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM Tris HCl, pH 8.3, 200 µM each of dATP, dTTP, dGTP, and dCTP, 0.25-7 µM of each primer, and 2.5 units of Tag polymerase. A 100 ng sample of N. crassa genomic DNA, prepared according to the methods in Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual (20), or a library of N. crassa DNA in λ Zap (obtained from the laboratory of Dr. Frank Nargang) was used as template. The primers for PCR of the α -subunit were: the 5' N-terminal primer, 5' CG<u>T CTA GAA A(C/T)A A(A/G)G A(C/T)A</u> C(A/T/G/C)A A(A/G)G T(A/T/G/C)A T(C/T)A C 3', and the 3' active site primer, 5' CCG GAG CTC AT(A/T/G/C) GC(A/T/G/C) CC(A/T/G/C) GC(A/G) TG(A/T/G/C) CCC AT 3'. The nucleotides in brackets represent degenerate positions and the underlined nucleotides represent Xba I and Sst I restriction sites that were incorporated to facilitate cloning of the PCR products. The primers for the β -subunit were: the 5' N-terminal primer, 5' GCT CTA GAT GAA (A/G)AT (C/T)CA (C/T)GA (A/G)TA (C/T)CA (A/G)GG 3', and the 3' (conserved) primer, 5'CCG GGA GCT CAC (A/G)AT

(A/T/G/C)CC (A/T/G/C)CC (A/G)AA (A/G)AT (A/G)TT (A/T/G/C)AC 3'. Each PCR reaction was initially heated at 96 °C for 5 min to denature the template DNA. This was followed by 30 cycles (using a Techne PHC-2 thermocycler) of annealing for 30 s at a temperature between 42 °C and 52 °C, polymerase extension for 2 min at 72 °C and denaturation for 30 s at 94 °C.

For cloning, the PCR products were isolated by phenol/chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation (20). The products were then digested with both Xba I and Sst I according to the manufacturer's instructions in the appropriate buffer Bethesda Research Laboratories). These digestion products were purified again by phenol/chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation and incubated overnight at 15 °C in the presence of similarly digested and purified pUC19 vector, T4 DNA ligase, and the appropriate buffer (New England Biolabs Inc.). Following transformation into competent *E. coli* JM103 cells (20), plasmid DNA which contained PCR products was isolated and sequenced. Sequencing was done using either dideoxy sequencing (21) with the Sequenase 2.0 DNA sequencing kit (United States Biochemical Corp.) and 8 M urea/6 % (w/v) acrylamide gels (22), or with an Applied Biosystems Model 373 Automated Sequencer.

Screening of N. crassa cDNA Libraries Using a Fragment of the β -Subunit cDNA. The fragment of the β -subunit that was obtained by PCR was used to screen the N. crassa DNA library that was propagated in E. coli Y1090 cells. The genotype for all E. coli strains used in this thesis are listed in Appendix 2. First, the DNA fragment was labeled with digoxigenin-11-dUTP using random primers and Klenow fragment polymerase according to the specifications in the Genius DNA Labeling and Detection Kit (Boehringer Mannheim GmbH). Second, the λ Zap DNA library was propagated in XL1-Blue cells, the plaques plated according to the methods in Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual (20), and these plaques were then blotted onto Hybond-N Nylon membranes (Amersham International pIc), in duplicate, according to manufacturer's instructions. Finally, the labeled fragment of the β -subunit cDNA was hybridized to these plaques on the membranes. The hybridization was carried out at 62 °C, followed by two washes at 59 °C. Subsequently an anti-digoxigenin antibody conjugated to alkaline phosphatase was used to detect the labeled fragment. The blots were developed by colorimetric detection using nitroblue tetrazolium salt and 5-bromo-4-cloro-3-indolyl phosphate, all according to the procedure described in the Genius DNA Labeling and Detection Kit. Nine plaques gave a positive signal in duplicate blots were then picked, and propagated; single plaques were isolated using repeated rounds of screening (called secondary and tertiary screens). The method for detection of the hybridized probe on the secondary and tertiary blots was chemiluminescence followed by autoradiography. In this case, the alkaline phosphatase cleaves phosphate from 4-methoxy-4-(3-phosphatephenyl)-spiro-1,2-dioxetane-3,2'-adamantane (Boehringer Mannheim GmbH) which subsequently decays to a phenolate ion and emits light. The procedure was carried out according to the manufacturer's specifications.

DNA libraries were contained the λ Zap phage which have the following structure: insert DNA from the organism of interest (*N. crassa*) has been cloned into the *EcoR* I sites from the phagemid pBluescript; the pBluescript has been inserted into the genome of λ phage. The pBluescript phagemid can be excised and packaged into M13 filamentous phage particles as single stranded DNA using a helper phage. The M13 phage particles can then be used to infect cells resulting in a plasmid which can be propagated in those cells. The λ Zap phage particles were isolated from the tertiary screens and used to transfect *E. coli* XL-1 Blue cells (obtained from Stratagene Cloning Systems), and the pBluescript was excised and packaged using the VCSM13 helper phage (obtained from Stratagene Cloning Systems) according to manufacturer's specifications. The single stranded DNA was then isolated and sequenced by dideoxy sequencing (21).

Purification of Antibody Specific for the α -Subunit of N. crassa SCS. Serum from rabbits injected with the α -subunit of rat liver SCS was found to cross-react with the α -subunit from N. crassa. The serum also cross-reacted with some components in the lysate

of *E. coli* Y1090 cells. The component of the serum that reacted with *E. coli* proteins was depleted from the serum by repeated incubation of the serum with nitrocellulose that had been impregnated with the lysate from *E. coli* Y1090 cells.

Expression Screening of N. crassa cDNA Libraries. The λ Zap DNA library that was used above can also be used as an expression library by inducing protein production from the *lac z* promoter. The library was propagated as before, and proteins were expressed and blotted onto IPTG-impregnated nitrocellulose membranes, in duplicate, and according to the procedures in Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual (20). The membranes were then blocked and incubated with the purified rat liver antisera, followed by removal of the rat liver antisera and incubation with goat anti-rabbit antibodies conjugated to alkaline phosphatase. The membranes were then developed as described before. Six single plaques that gave a positive signal in duplicate were then isolated and sequenced as described before.

SECTION II: mRNA Expression Studies of Pig SCS.

Isolation and Reverse Transcription of mRNA from Pig Tissues. Samples of brain, muscle, liver, and heart tissue from newborn piglets was frozen in liquid nitrogen, sealed and stored at -70 °C. The mRNA was subsequently isolated and reverse transcribed by David Ryan (17). Samples were also mock reverse transcribed (i.e. no reverse transcriptase was added) for use as negative controls for the subsequent PCR reactions.

PCR of Reverse Transcribed mRNA from Pig Tissues. PCR was carried out as described earlier, except that each primer concentration was 0.25 μ M. The primers for amplification of the cDNA for the full length β -subunit were: the 5' UTR (untranslated region) primer (5' CCG GCG GCC CCC GTG GCA GC 3') and the 3' UTR primer (5' ATC TCT TCT TAT GGG AAA AC 3'). The annealing temperature for amplification of the full length β -subunit cDNA was 52 °C. As controls for the amount of mRNA present in the tissues, the cDNA for β -actin was also amplified with the following primers: 5' TGG

AAT CCT GTG GCA TCC ATG AAA C 3' and 5' TAA AAC GCA GCT CAG TAA CAG TCC G 3'.

Cloning and Sequencing of the PCR Products. The PCR products for the β subunit of pig SCS were purified and cloned into the cloning vector pCR2.1 using the Invitrogen TA cloning kit (Invitrogen Corp.), according to the manufacturer's specifications. This kit uses a strategy to clone the PCR products that takes advantage of the 3' overhanging A's that Taq DNA polymerase incorporates into amplified DNA. This strategy is illustrated for the *T. aquaticus* subunits in Figure 2-1A and B. The site into which the PCR products are ligated has 5' overhanging T's that the amplified DNA fragment can anneal to. This site resides in the *lac Z* gene, and after transformation into the *lac Z* (-) *E. coli* strain INV α F', colonies that contained an insert were selected by their white colour on plates containing 50 µg/ml ampicillin, X-gal and IPTG. The plasmid DNA from a colony that contained insert were then sequenced using an Applied Biosystems Model 373 Automated Sequencer.

SECTION III: Cloning and Expression of T. aquaticus SCS.

Cloning and Sequencing of the Translationally Linked Genes for the α - and β -Subunits of Thermus aquaticus SCS. The genes for the α - and β -subunits of Thermus aquaticus SCS were amplified from T. aquaticus genomic DNA by PCR with primers directed to the 5' end of the gene for the β -subunit and the complement of the 3' end of the gene for the α -subunit. Since the sequence of the β -subunit of T. aquaticus SCS was not available at that time, the sequence form the β -subunit of T. flavus SCS was used to design the 5' primer (for the β -subunit). The 5' primer incorporated an Nde I site that contained the start GTG codon in the sequence of the gene for the β -subunit from Thermus flavus (23). The 3' primer incorporated an EcoR I site after the stop codon of the α -subunit gene from T. aquaticus (24). The sequence for the 5' primer was: 5' CGA TGC CAT ATG AAC CTG CAC GAG TAT CAA GCG 3', and the sequence for the 3' primer was 5' CCG GAT GAA TTC CAG CCC AGG GCC TTC TTG ACC AG 3'; the primer sequences that do not match those in T. flavus or T. aquaticus, respectively, are shown in bold print and the restriction endonuclease sites are underlined. The conditions for the PCR reaction were the same as those described for the amplification of the pig heart cDNAs, except that 125 µg of T. aquaticus genomic DNA was used as template, the annealing step was carried out at 48 °C for 30 s, and the extension step was extended to 2 min. The single band of approximately 2 kbp that was evident when the PCR reaction was subjected to electrophoresis in 1 % (w/v) agarose with TAE buffer (20) was excised, and subsequently purified using glass milk (22). The fragment and the expression vector pT7-7 (25) were then digested with the restriction endonucleases Nde I (New England Biolabs Inc.) and EcoR I (Bethesda Research Laboratories/Life Technologies Inc.) for 12 hours at 25 °C. The fragments of interest were purified by agarose gel electrophoresis and glass milk extraction, and ligated using T4 DNA ligase according to the manufacturers specifications (New England Biolabs Inc.). The resulting ligated mixture was transformed into chemically competent E. coli strain JM103 cells (20). The plasmid DNA was isolated from 18 colonies (20); and of the 9 colonies which contained the genes for T. aquaticus SCS, two were chosen for DNA sequencing and protein expression. Plasmid DNA for sequencing was isolated from the JM103 transformed cells using the QIAGEN midi plasmid purification kit (QIAGEN Inc.) according to the manufacturer's directions, and sequenced using an Applied Biosystems Model 373 Automated Sequencer. Both strands of the second clone (called "pT7-7Taq12") were sequenced by repeated rounds of sequencing and primer design.

Expression of the Translationally Linked Genes for the α - and β -Subunits of Thermus aquaticus SCS Protein from both of the T. aquaticus SCS clones that were initially chosen for DNA sequencing (pT7-7Taq12 and 13) was also expressed after transformation of the plasmid DNA into E. coli strain BL-21(DE-3) (26). This strain of E. coli contains a copy of the λ bacteriophage genome integrated into the E. coli genome. The integrated λ genome contains a copy of the T7 RNA polymerase gene under control of the

lac UV5 promoter, that is inserted into the gene for the integrase protein. Thus, production of the T7 RNA polymerase in this system can be induced by IPTG. The expression plasmid pT7-7 contains a copy of the strong T7 RNA polymerase promoter and the ribosome binding site from the T-7 phage gene 10 placed appropriately upstream from the *Nde* I restriction endonuclease site (25).

The transformed BL-21(DE-3) cells were grown at 37 °C to mid log phase (0.7 A_{600nm}), and protein production was induced by the addition of 1 mM IPTG. Samples of culture (1 ml) were then taken at various times. The cells in each sample were harvested by centrifugation at 4 °C for 5 min at 15,000 x g. The cell pellets were resuspended in 200 µl of sonication buffer (100 mM KCl, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM PMSF, 1 mM benzamidine, 10 mM 2-mecaptoethanol, 1 % (v/v) glycerol, and 100 mM potassium phosphate, pH 7.4) and frozen at -20 °C. These samples were then thawed and sonicated for 30 s, three times, using a Biosonic III sonicator (Brownwill Scientific) set at an intensity of 35 and equipped with the fine probe. They were then centrifuged again for 10 min at 15,000 x g and 4 °C, and the pellet and supernatant fractions were separated. Samples were then subjected to SDS-PAGE: 200 µl of SDS-PAGE loading buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 6.6, 2.5% (w/v) SDS, 1 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, and 35% glycerol) was added to both the pellet and supernatant fractions. Proteins in the supernatant (60 μ l) and the resuspended pellet (30 μ l) were separated by SDS-PAGE, and the resulting gel was examined after fixing the gel in 10 % (v/v) acetic acid, 45 % (v/v) methanol, and staining using coomassie blue. As a control, cells containing the plasmid pT7-7 with no insert were subjected to the same treatment.

The supernatant fractions were also tested for SCS activity (the formation of succinyl-CoA) under saturating concentrations of all substrates (100 μ M CoA, 10 mM succinate and 400 μ M ATP or GTP) in a total volume of 1 ml of assay medium containing 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4. The pellet was resuspended in 6 M guanidine HCl and incubated overnight at 4 °C. In an attempt to refold the dissociated

74

proteins, the denaturant was removed by dialysis for 18 h in Tris HCl, pH 7.5, in the presence of 5 mM 2-mercaptoethanol and 1 % (v/v) glycerol. The resultant solutions were tested for SCS activity in the same manner as for the supernatant fractions.

Mutagenesis of the Start Codon and the Ribosome Binding Site of the α -Subunit Gene of T. aquaticus SCS. The start codon of the gene for the α -subunit of T. aquaticus SCS was changed from GTG to ATG in an effort to improve expression of the α -subunit. Site-directed mutants were made in three PCR reactions using standard protocols for the PCR and overlap extension as described in Ho et al(27). The mutagenic PCR was carried out in the following two steps (Appendix 3): In the first step two DNA fragments were generated that had overlapping ends. One fragment was amplified using the 5' flanking primer and the complement of the internal mutagenic primer. The second fragment was amplified using the internal mutagenic primer and the 3' flanking primer. In the second step the two fragments were combined by using both fragments as the template in a PCR reaction with both the 5' and 3' flanking primers. The reaction buffer for PCR was identical to that used for PCR of the subunit genes of N. crassa SCS, except that the concentration of each primer was 0.25 µM, and 100 ng of pT7-7Taq12 DNA was used as the template DNA (28). The 5' flanking primer was 5' (222) CAT CCT GGG CAT GAA CAT CA (241) 3', the 3' flanking primer was 5' (1470) GAT CTC GTC AAT GGT GTC GGC (1451) 3', the internal mutagenic primers were 5' (1123) GGA GGT GCG GCA TGA TCC TGG TG (1145) 3' and its complement. The numbers in parentheses denote the position of the first and last nucleotide of the primer, and the letter in bold print represents a different nucleotide from that in the wild-type T. aquaticus SCS. The annealing temperature was 65 °C. The mutant fusion product and the vector pT7-7Taq12 were digested with Sst I (which cleaves at position 664) and Avr II (which cleaves at position 1274) according to the manufacturer's specifications (New England Biolabs Inc.). The fragments were separated by electrophoresis in 1% (w/v) agarose in TAE buffer (20), excised and then purified using glass milk (22). The mutant fragment was ligated to the vector fragment using T4 DNA ligase (15 °C, 8 h). The resulting mutant plasmids were then used to transform competent JM103 *E. coli* cells (20). The presence of the ATG codon and the absence of other mutations, was verified by DNA sequencing using an Applied Biosystems Model 373 Automated Sequencer. The resulting expression plasmid was called pT7-7Taq_{ATG}

In a further effort to improve the expression of T. aquaticus SCS, the GC rich ribosome binding site for the α -subunit gene was changed to one rich in AT. The mutagenesis was done using a procedure similar to that above except for the following modifications: 1. The internal mutagenic primers were: 5' (1116) AAT GAA AGG AGG TAA CAT ATG ATC CTA GTT AAT AAA GAG ACC CGC GTC CTG (1166) 3' and 5' (1151) TTT ATT AAC TAG GAT CAT ATG TTA CCT CCT TTC ATT GCC ACG GTG ACC TTG (1101) 3'. 2. In order to produce a mutant fusion product in the third PCR reaction (Appendix 3), the products of the first two PCR reactions were treated with T4 DNA polymerase in order to remove any 3' overhanging A's that Taq polymerase may have added. In addition, 9 cycles of the third PCR reaction were carried out in the absence of the 3' and 5' flanking primers in order to increase the concentration of the correctly annealed mutant fusion product prior to amplification using the flanking primers. The annealing temperature for these 9 cycles was 62 °C. The annealing temperature for the additional cycles, which contained the flanking primers, was 65 °C (the same as above). The cloning and sequencing of the mutant fusion product was also carried out as described above. The expression plasmid that was produced was called pT7-7Taq_{RBS}.

Expression of T. aquaticus SCS from pT7-7Taq_{ATG} and pT7-7Taq_{RBS}. The ability of both expression vectors to express *T. aquaticus* SCS was initially assessed using the *E. coli* strain BL-21(DE-3) in the same manner as for the original clone, except that only one time point at 4 h was taken. Due to the high level of endogenous SCS activity present in the BL-21 strain, it was difficult to detect any additional SCS activity of any expressed *T. aquaticus* SCS. Therefore, the pT7-7Taq_{ATG} and pT7-7Taq_{RBS} plasmids were expressed in

the SCS null strain TK3D18 (29). TK3D18 was transformed with either pT7-7Taq_{ATG} or pT7-7Taq_{RBS} and pGP1-2. The plasmid pGP1-2 (25) confers resistance to kanamycin, expresses a temperature sensitive λ repressor, and contains the T7 polymerase under control of the λ pL promoter. Thus, colonies which were resistant to both kanamycin and ampicillin were selected for expression in a manner analogous to the expression from the BL-21 (DE-3) strain, except that the cells were grown initially at 30 °C to mid log phase and then induced by shifting the temperature to 42 °C. This temperature shift inactivated the λ repressor, induced the production of T7 polymerase and thus induced the production of *T. aquaticus* SCS. The presence of SCS subunits in both the pellet and supernatant fractions was assayed by SDS-PAGE, in the same way as for the original *T. aquaticus* SCS clones. The SCS activity present in the supernatant fraction was also assayed both before and after heating to 70 °C for 30 min to asses the stability of the enzyme.

Purification and Refolding of T. aquaticus SCS from Inclusion Bodies. The inclusion bodies that resulted from the expression of pT7-7Taq_{RBS} in TK3D18 culture were purified by the methods described by Mukhopadhyay (30). After expression, the cell pellet was resuspended in 50 ml of 25 % (w/v) sucrose, 1 mM EDTA, 0.1 % (w/v) sodium azide, and 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.0. The cells were lysed by incubation in the presence of 50 mg of lysozyme (Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd.) for 10 min at 22 °C, followed by addition of 100 ml of 1 % (v/v) Triton X-100, 1% (w/v) sodium deoxycholate, 100 mM NaCl, 0.1% (w/v) sodium azide, 20 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.5 for another 10 min. DNase (final concentration = 0.02 mg/ml) and MgCl₂ (final concentration = 5 mM) were added, and the digest was incubated for 20 min at 22 °C. The inclusion bodies were subsequently pelleted by centrifugation at 8000 rpm for 20 min. The supernatant was kept to test for any SCS activity, and the inclusion bodies were purified by four cycles of homogenization in 0.5 % (v/v) Triton X-100, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.1 % (w/v) sodium azide, and 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 8.0, followed by centrifugation (8000 rpm, 20 min). The pellet was then washed with 50 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 1 mM EDTA, and 0.1 % (w/v) sodium azide to remove any residual triton solution. The ability of 1.5 M, 2.0 M or 6 M guanidine HCl to extract the *T. aquaticus* SCS from the pellet was tested by homogenization in each of these solutions followed by centrifugation (8000 rpm, 20 min). The presence of *T. aquaticus* SCS in the pellet, of these washes and extractions was assayed by SDS-PAGE. Samples from the supernatant fractions of these washes and extractions were checked immediately for the ability to catalyze the formation of succinyl-CoA both before and after heating to 70 °C for 30 min.

The *T. aquaticus* SCS in the supernatant fractions was refolded by two methods. In the first, the supernatant fraction was dialyzed for 18 h at 22 °C against 5 mM 2mercaptoethanol, 0.1 % (v/v) glycerol in 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.5. In the second, the supernatant fraction of the 2.0 M and 6.0 M guanidine HCl extractions was rapidly diluted 1:20 (v/v) into 0.67 M L-arginine, 50 mM potassium phosphate , pH 7.4 with constant mixing, followed by incubation for 18 h at 22 °C (31). The ability of samples of these fractions to catalyze the production succinyl-CoA was then assayed before and after heating to 70 °C for 30 min.

Direct Sequencing of the PCR Product Generated from T. aquaticus Genomic DNA. The low yields of soluble and thermostable T. aquaticus SCS prompted an investigation of the changes in the deduced amino acid sequence of T. aquaticus SCS when compared to the sequences from T. flavus and T. aquaticus B. To find out whether these changes were due to strain to strain variation, or to errors that occurred during PCR, the products of two separate PCR reactions were sequenced directly. The PCR from genomic DNA was carried out with the same primers and in the same manner as for the original clones. The product was then purified for sequencing using the QIAquick PCR purification kit (QIAGEN Inc.) according to the manufacture's specifications, and sequenced as described before.

Independent Cloning of the T. aquaticus α - and β -Subunit Genes and Their Assembly into an Expression Vector that Is Not Translationally Coupled. The PCR

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

reactions for both the α - and β -subunit genes were carried out under the same conditions as for the original clones, except for the primers. The sequence of the 5' primer for the α subunit was 5' (1116) AAT GAA AGG AGG TAA CAT ATG ATC CTA GTT AAT AAA GAG ACC CGC GTC CTG (1166) 3' and the sequence for the 3' primer was 5' CCG GAT GAA TTC CAG CCC AGG GCC TTC TTG ACC AG 3'. The sequence of the 5' primer for the β -subunit was 5' CGA TGC CAT ATG AAC CTG CAC GAG TAT CAA GCG 3' and the sequence for the 5' primer was 5' (1151) TTT ATT AAC TAG GAT CAT ATG TTA CCT CCT TTC ATT GCC ACG GTG ACC TTG (1101) 3'. Again, the numbers in parentheses denote the position of the first and last nucleotide of the primer, the bold letters indicate nucleotides that were different from those in the original wild-type T. aquaticus SCS, and the underlined letters represent restriction enzyme sites. The PCR products were cloned into the cloning vector pCR2.1 using the Invitrogen TA cloning kit (Invitrogen Corp.), according to the manufacturer's specifications. For the α -subunit gene, plasmid DNA was isolated from six white colonies (20), four of which contained the gene. One was chosen and was called pCR2.1Taq α . For the β -subunit, one of the six colonies that were examined contained the gene for the β -subunit. This plasmid construct was called pCR2.1Taq β . The plasmid DNA was isolated and sequenced in the same manner as for the original clones. The cloning strategy is shown in Figure 2-1. The α -subunit gene was sub-cloned into the expression vector pT7-7 by first, digestion of pCR2.1Taq and pT7-7 with Nde I (New England Biolabs Inc.) and EcoR I (Bethesda Research Laboratories/Life Technologies Inc.) according to the manufacturer's specifications, second, isolation of the appropriate fragments from 1 % (w/v) agarose gels, third, ligation using T4 DNA ligase (New England Biolabs Inc.) according to the manufacturer's directions and fourth, transformation to the E. coli strain BL-21 (DE-3) (20). Plasmid DNA was isolated from colonies that grew on plates containing 50 μ g/ml ampicillin. All six of the colonies that were examined contained the gene for the α -subunit. One was chosen and called pT7-7Taq α (Fig. 2-1A). The gene for the β -subunit was sub-



Figure 2-1. Cloning scheme for the cloning and assembly of the α - and β -subunit of *T. aquaticus* SCS. A. Cloning of *T. aquaticus* α -subunit into the TA cloning vector pCR2.1. B. Cloning of *T. aquacicus* β -subunit into the TA cloning vector pCR2.1. C. The sub-cloning of the genes for the α - and β -subunit into the expression vector pT7-7 and assembly into the whole enzyme expression vector pT7-7Taq β/α . The genes for the subunits are shown in red, the T-7gene ϕ 10 promoter and ribosome binding site are shown as a blue arrow and rectangle, respectively.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.
cloned into pT7-7 in a similar manner, except that only *Nde* I was used to digest the vector (pT7-7) and insert (pCR2.1Taq β) plasmids. The plasmid DNA from six colonies was examined and two were found to contain the insert in the correct orientation. One was chosen and called pT7-7Taq β (Fig. 2-1B) To create an expression vector that expressed both the α - and β -subunit genes, pT7-7Taq β was digested with *Bgl* II and *BamH* I (New England Biolabs Inc.), and the vector pT7-7Taq α was digested with *Bgl* II. The appropriate fragments were ligated, transformed, and plasmid DNA was isolated as described before. Seven of eight colonies contained the correct insert in the proper orientation where both the α - and β -subunits are expressed in the same direction. One was chosen and called pT7-7Taq β/α (Fig. 2-1C).

Comparison of the Levels of Expression of T. aquaticus SCS Subunits and Whole Enzyme when Cells are Grown at 22 °C and 37 °C. The plasmids pT7-7Taq α , pT7-7Taq β , and pT7-7 β/α were expressed in the *E. coli* strain BL-21 (DE-3) grown at either 22 °C or 37 °C in the same way as was done for the original clones. Similarly, samples of the cultures were taken at various times and fractionated into supernatant and pellet fractions that were analyzed by SDS-PAGE. The supernatant fractions were assayed for their ability to catalyze the formation of succinyl-CoA at 22 °C, as usual. To assess the thermophilicity of the *T. aquaticus* enzyme, the supernatant fractions were also incubated at 70 °C for 30 min and then assayed for SCS activity at 70 °C. Due to the drop in pH that is observed when Tris buffer is heated, the buffer for the assay mixture was 10 mM potassium phosphate, pH 7.4 instead of Tris HCl.

Labeling of the T. aquaticus SCS with [35 S]-Methionine. To investigate the stability of whole enzyme and its subunits *in vivo*, a pulse chase experiment using 35 S-methionine was carried out using the methods of Tabor (25). Cultures of BL-21(DE-3) cells containing pT7-7Taq α , pT7-7Taq β , or pT7-7Taq β/α were grown at 37 °C overnight in LB broth (20) containing 0.1 mg/ml ampicillin, diluted 1/40 in the same broth, and allowed to grow at 22 °C or 37 °C until the absorbance at 600 nm had reached 0.5. 1.5 ml

of cells were then pelleted, washed with M9 media, resuspended in M9 medium containing 0.005% (w/v) of all the amino acids except Cys and Met, and allowed to grow further at either 22 °C or 37 °C for 60 min. Protein expression was then induced by the addition of IPTG to a final concentration of 1 mM, and cells were grown for a further 20 min before the addition of rifampicine (final concentration to 0.4 mg/ml) to inhibit the E. coli RNA polymerase. Cells were then allowed to grow for 60 min before labeling with 1.5 μ l (10 µCi) of ³⁵S methionine for 5 min at 37 °C or 11 min at 22 °C followed by chasing with 300 μ l of 0.5 % (w/v) cold methionine. Samples of 200 μ l were taken at various times, and the cell debris and soluble fractions were separated as described by Horwich et al. (32). Cells were pelleted by centrifugation, resuspended in 8.0 ml of ice cold lysis buffer (25 % (w/v) sucrose 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4), and incubated with 2.0 mg/ml lysozyme for 5 min at 37 °C. TENTA buffer (50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, 1 % (v/v) 5 mM EDTA, 150 mM NaCl, Triton X-100) was added followed by incubation for 20 min at 37 °C. The lysed cells were then centrifuged at 15,000 x g for 15 min, and the pellet and supernatant fractions were separated. SDS-PAGE loading buffer was added to each fraction, and a sample of each fraction corresponding to 50 µl of initial culture was analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by autoradiography and quantification by phosphorimagery.

N-terminal Sequencing and Mass Spectrometry of the Subunits of T. aquaticus SCS. T. aquaticus SCS was partially purified by heating the BL-21 (DE-3) lysates to 70 °C for 30 min and centrifugation (14,000 rpm, 15 min) to remove the coagulated proteins. For N-terminal sequencing, the subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE, and then electroblotted onto a PVDF membrane. The membrane was then lightly stained using coomassie blue in 25 % (v/v)methanol and the bands which corresponded to the α - and β subunits were excised. These subunits were then sequenced by Edman degradation with a Hewlett Packard 1005A peptide sequencer. For mass spectrometry, the subunits were further purified using the same HPLC system as was used for separation of the *E. coli* SCS subunits (see Chapter 3, Materials and Methods). The mass spectrometry was also performed in the same manner.

Results and Discussion

SECTION I: Cloning of Neurospora crassa SCS.

Cloning of a Fragment of the β -subunit of N. crassa SCS. An attempt was made to clone the ATP-specific SCS from the fungus N. crassa because of the hypothesis that the sequence information from the ATP-specific SCS would provide clues as to the determinants of the nucleotide specificity of SCS when compared to the sequences of the GTP-specific (pig heart) and the multi-specific E. coli SCS. The first step in cloning N. crassa SCS was to determine some amino acid sequence information which could be used to design primers for PCR. The SCS enzyme from N. crassa was first partially purified; and the subunits were separated by SDS PAGE (Fig. 2-2A) and blotted onto PVDF The N-terminus of each of the subunits was sequenced by Edman membranes. degradation, giving the sequences shown in Figure 2-2B. The DNA design of the sequence of the 5' primers for both the α - and β -subunits were based on the region of the N-terminal amino acid sequence which had the lowest codon degeneracy. The design of the downstream 3' primers were based on sequences that were absolutely conserved in all species of SCS. In the case of the α -subunit, this sequence was in the active site phosphohistidine loop (RMGHAGA). In the case of the β -subunit, it was a conserved sequence in the C-terminal half of the β -subunit (NIFGGIVR).

These primers were then used to probe a cDNA library of *N. crassa* sequences by PCR. The amplified fragments from PCR were subsequently cloned into pUC19 and sequenced. A sequence (Figure 2-3) similar to sequences of the β -subunit of SCS from other species was found. It is interesting to note, despite the eukaryotic origin of *N. crassa*

84



B

A

β-subunit: NH₂-M-K-I-H-E-Y-Q-G-K-E-I-L-R-K-F-G-V-A-V-P

a-subunit: NH2-S-I-L-T-N-K-D-T-K-V-I-T-Q-G-I-T-G-K-T-G

Figure 2-2. Sequencing the N-terminus of the subunits of *N. crassa* SCS. A. SDS-PAGE of partially purified *N. crassa* SCS. B. Amino acid sequence of the N-terminus of each subunit of *N. crassa* SCS. The subunits from the gel shown in (A) were electroblotted onto PVDF membrane, excised and sequenced by Edman degradation.

ATG AAA ATT CAC GAG TAT CAA GGT AAA GAA ATC CTG CGC CAG TTC GGC GTA ACC GTG CCG 1 met lys ile his glu tyr gln gly lys glu ile leu arg gln phe gly val thr val pro 1 61 CGC GGC ATT CCT TGC ATG TCG GTC GAC GAA GTC GAA GCG GCT GCC CAG AAG CTC GGC GGC 21 arg gly ile pro cys met ser val asp glu val glu ala ala ala gln lys leu gly gly 121 CCG GTG TGG GTC GTC AAG GCC CAG ATC CAT GCA GGC GGC CGC GGC AAG GGC-GGT GGC GTG 41 pro val trp val val lys ala gln ile his ala gly gly arg gly lys gly gly gly val 181 AAG GTG GCC AAG TCC ATC GAG CAG GTC AAG GAA TAC GCC AAC CAG ATC ATG GGC ATG CAG 61 lys val ala lys ser ile glu gln val lys glu tyr ala asn gln ile met gly met gln 241 CTG ATC ACC CAC CAG ACC GGC GCT GAA GGC CAG AAG GTG CGT CGC CTG CTG ATC GAA GAA 81 leu ile thr his gln thr gly ala glu gly gln lys val arg arg leu leu ile glu glu 101 GGC GCC GAC ATC AAG AAG GAA CTG TAC GTT TCC CTG GTC ACC GAC CGC GTC TCG CAA AAG 30 gly ala asp ile lys lys glu leu tyr val ser leu val thr asp arg val ser gln lys 361 GTC GTG CTG ATG GCC TCC AGC GAA GGC GGC ATG GAC ATC GAA GAA GTT GGC CAC AGC AAC 121 val val leu met ala ser ser glu gly gly met asp ile glu glu val gly his ser asn 421 CCG GAA AAA ATC CAC AAC GTC ATC ATC GAT CCG ATC GAT GGC CTG ACC GAC GCC CAA GCC 141 pro qlu lys ile his asn val ile ile asp pro ile asp gly leu thr asp ala gln ala 481 GAC GAC GTG GCT GCC AAG ATC GGC GTG GCC GCT GAA TCG ATC CCG GCC GCT CGC CAG AAC 161 asp asp val ala ala lys ile gly val ala ala glu ser ile pro ala ala arg gln asn 541 CTG CAA GGC CTG TAC AAG GCT TAC TGG GAA ACC GAC GCT TCC CTG GCT GAA ATC AAC CCC 181 leu gln gly leu tyr lys ala tyr trp glu thr asp ala ser leu ala glu ile asn pro 601 CTG ATC CTG ACC GGC GAC GGC AAG GTC ATC GCC CTG GAC GCC AAG TTC AAC TTC GAC TCC 201 leu ile leu thr gly asp gly lys val ile ala leu asp ala lys phe asn phe asp ser 661 AAC GCC CTG TTC CGT CAC CCG GAA ATC GTC GCC TAC CGC GAC CTG GAC GAA GAA GAT CCG 221 asn ala leu phe arg his pro glu ile val ala tyr arg asp leu asp glu glu asp pro 721 GCT GAA GTC GAA GCC TCC AAG TTC GAC CTG GCC TAC ATC TCC CTG GAA GAC AAC ATC GAC 241 ala glu val glu ala ser lys phe asp leu ala tyr ile ser leu glu asp asn ile asp 781 TAC CTG ATC TCC GGT GCC GGC CTG GCC ATG GCC ACC ATG GAC ACC ATC AAG CTG TTC GGC 261 tyr leu ile ser gly ala gly leu ala met ala thr met asp thr ile lys leu phe gly 841 GEC GAG CCG GEC AAC TTC CTG GAC GTG GEC GEC GEC ACC ACC GAG AAG GTC ACC GAA 281 gly glu pro ala asn phe leu asp val gly gly gly ala thr thr glu lys val thr glu 901 GCC TTC AAG ATC ATG CTG AAG AAC CCC GAA CTG AAG GCC ATC CTG GTT AAT ATC TTG GGG 301 ala phe lys ile met leu lys asn pro glu leu lys ala ile leu val asn ile leu gly 961 TGG AAT CTT GAA

321 trp asn leu glu

Figure 2-3. Sequence of a fragment of the β -subunit of *N. crassa* SCS. The underlined nucleotides are the primer sequences, and the bold underlined amino acids indicate the borders of a deletion that is a characteristic feature of the β -subunit of SCS from eubacterial species.

86

(fungi), the alignment of the deduced amino acid sequence from the *N. crassa* β -subunit with other SCS sequences using the PIMA alignment program (33) indicated that it is most similar to the β -subunit sequence from eubacterial organisms (data not shown). This alignment is likely to be correct because the *N. crassa* sequence has a characteristic 10 amino acid deletion that distinguishes the β -subunit of eubacterial SCS from the β -subunit of eukaryotic SCS. The amino acids flanking the position of the deletion are indicated in bold in Figure 2-3. None of the fragments that were amplified using the primers directed to the α -subunit resembled known α -subunit sequences from other species.

Screening a cDNA Library of N. crassa for the α - and β -subunit Genes. Since a fragment of the gene for the α -subunit of SCS could not be cloned by screening the cDNA library using PCR, antiserum to the α -subunit of rat liver SCS was used to screen an expression library of N. crassa sequences. In preliminary trials, this antiserum was shown to crossreact with N. crassa SCS. However, it also crossreacted with some components of a lysate of the E. coli strain Y1090, which was used as the bacterial lawn for plaque formation. Therefore, prior to the use of the antiserum for screening, the antiserum was purified by repeated incubation with nitrocellulose blots that were impregnated with lysates of E. coli Y1090. A western blot of SCS from pig heart, E. coli, N. crassa and Y1090 lysate with purified antiserum is shown in Figure 2-4. Using this antiserum, initial screens of approximately 1 x 10^6 plaques gave six positive signals that were present on duplicate blots. Isolation of these plaques followed by repeated screening gave strong signals in secondary and tertiary screens. A representative autoradiogram of one of the secondary screens is shown in Figure 2-5A. The pBluescript phagemids that contained the insert DNA were excised from the λ phage genome and sequenced. Unfortunately none of the sequences were similar to known SCS sequences.

It should be noted that the fragment of the β -subunit of *N. crassa* SCS that was isolated by PCR was also used to screen a cDNA library of *N. crassa* sequences. The DNA



Figure 2-4. Western blot with antibodies to the α -subunit of rat liver SCS. The subunits from *N. crassa* SCS (lane 1), pig heart SCS (lane 2), *E. coli* Y1090 lysate (lane 3) and *E. coli* SCS (lane 4) were seperated by SDS-PAGE, electroblotted onto nitrocellulose membrane, and probed using purified antisera to the α -subunit of rat liver SCS.



Figure 2-5. Representative secondary screening of either (A) N. crassa expression library, or (B) N. crassa cDNA library. In (A), E. coli Y1090 cells expressing a library of N. crassa proteins was probed with antisera raised to the α -subunit of rat liver SCS. In (B), E. coli Y1090 cells containing a library of N. crassa cDNA sequences was probed with a labeled fragment of the β -subunit of N. crassa SCS. The circled and numbered positive plaques were chosen for sequencing.

fragment was labeled with digoxigenin-11-dUTP and used to probe DNA blots of the N. crassa library. Initial screens of approximately 1 x 10⁶ plaques gave nine positive signals that were present on duplicate blots. Again isolation of the positive plaques followed by rescreening gave strong positive signals (Fig. 2-5B), and again none of the sequences were similar to other SCS sequences. When the crystallographic structure of *E. coli* SCS was solved, this project was abandoned in favour of more productive avenues of exploration. Subsequent to the completion of this work it was discovered that other investigators also did not have any success in obtaining clones from this cDNA library (34).

SECTION II: Expression of mRNA for the GTP-specific β -subunit of SCS in Newborn Pig Tissues.

A previous investigation of the isoforms of the α -subunit of pig SCS revealed that the PH-108 α isoform was regulated in a tissue specific manner (17). However, this isoform did not follow a pattern of regulation consistent with the presence of GTP-specific SCS activity. Prior to the completion of the work of Johnson et al. (12, 3), it was proposed that the β -subunit was responsible for the nucleotide specificity of SCS, and thus the mRNA for the GTP specific isoform of the β -subunit should be translated in a manner consistent with the expression of the GTP specific isoforms of SCS. To investigate this hypothesis, the mRNA from the β -subunit of GTP specific SCS was amplified by PCR from reverse transcribed mRNA from various pig tissues. The results are shown in Figure 2-6A. High levels of message were present in heart and liver, while low levels were present in muscle and brain. In heart and liver there were two separate bands, one of higher molecular weight, and one of lower molecular weight (Fig. 2-6A). As a control for the total amount of message extracted from each tissue, PCR of the mRNA for β -actin was performed, and approximately the same level of message was found in each tissue (Fig. 2-6B). As a negative control, PCR reactions were carried out on tissue samples that had been added). transcriptase mock reverse-transcribed (i.e. no reverse was



Figure 2-6. PCR of reverse transcribed mRNA from pig tissues. A. RT-PCR of full length β -subunit. Lanes 1-4 represent PCR of the full length β -subunit from reverse transcribed brain, liver, muscle, and heart mRNA, respectively. Lanes 5-8 represent the PCR of mock reverse transcribed mRNA where no reverse transcriptase was added. B. RT-PCR of β -actin mRNA. The lanes 1, 3, 5, and 7 represent the PCR of the β -actin gene form the same tissues as in A, and lanes 2, 4, 6, and 8 represent the PCR of mock reverse-transcribed mRNA. The standards were the 123bp ladder and ϕ X174 DNA cleaved with *Hae* III. Both the higher molecular weight and lower molecular weight bands that were amplified from the reverse transcribed heart tissue in Figure 2-6A, were cloned into the TA cloning vector pCR2.1 and sequenced. The higher molecular weight band was GTP-specific SCS. Data base searches using the sequence of the lower molecular weight band did not reveal extended similarity to any other genes or proteins. The levels of the mRNA for the β subunit in pig tissues were consistent with the GTP-specific activity in rat tissues, where in liver and heart it was 5 to 10 times higher than that found in brain and skeletal muscle (35). Thus, this was a preliminary indication that the β -subunit may be responsible for the nucleotide specificity of SCS.

SECTION III: Cloning and Expression of T. aquaticus SCS.

Cloning and Expression of Translationally Coupled SCS Subunit Genes from Thermus aquaticus. To facilitate the study of the determinants of the stability of SCS, the genes for the α - and β -subunits of SCS were cloned from a thermophilic bacterium, Thermus aquaticus. In E. coli and T. flavus, the genes for SCS subunits are expressed as an operon and are coupled translationally, the stop codon of the β -subunit overlaps with the start codon for the α -subunit (36, 23). Based on the assumption that primary structure of T. aquaticus SCS would resemble that of T. flavus, the primers for PCR of T. aquaticus SCS were therefore designed for the start of the gene for the β -subunit and the end of the gene for the α -subunit. PCR of genomic DNA from T. aquaticus resulted in the amplification of a single band of approximately 2 kbp, which was ligated into the expression vector pT7-7 and transformed into the E. coli strain BL-21(DE-3) for protein expression.

Two clones were chosen and were grown to mid-log phase prior to the induction of protein expression with IPTG at 37 °C. Samples were then taken at various times after induction of protein expression. As a control, protein expression was also induced in cells

92



Β



Figure 2-7. Time course of expression of *T. aquaticus* SCS from the plasmids pT7-7Taq12 and 13. A. SDS-PAGE of the supernatent fraction from lysates of *E. coli* BL-21(DE-3) cells that were induced for 0 h (lanes1-3), 1.5 h (lanes 4-6), 3 h (lanes 7-9), 6 h (lanes 10-12), and 13 h (lanes 13-15). B. The pellet fractions from the same cell lysates. The cells for the samples in lanes 1, 4, 7, 10, and 13 (labeled C) contained the empty expression vector pT7-7. The cells for the samples in lanes 2, 5, 8, 11, and 14 (labeled 12) contained the *T. aquaticus* expression vector pT7-7Taq12, and lanes 3, 6, 9, 12, and 15 (labeled 13) contained pT7-7Taq13.

containing the empty expression vector pT7-7. The supernatant and pellet fractions of the cell lysate were analyzed by SDS-PAGE, and the time course of protein expression is shown in Figure 2-7. Only one of the clones expressed a significant amount of protein that was not present in the cells expressing empty vector. A band with an approximate molecular mass of 45 kDa appeared after 0 h of induction in the pellet fraction of lysed cells containing the plasmid pT7-7Taq12. This is likely to be due to leaky expression form the *lac* UV5 promoter. There is also a corresponding faint band present in the supernatant fraction after 3.5 h. The molecular mass of the β -subunit of *T. aquaticus* SCS as estimated by SDS-PAGE is 45 kDa, and thus this band is likely to be the β -subunit of *T. aquaticus* SCS. The presence of the β -subunit in the pellet fraction may be due to self-aggregation because of the absence of the α -subunit. Consistent with the lack of expression of the α -subunit, none of the supernatant fractions exhibited SCS activity greater than the background activity present in the lysates of cells containing the empty expression vector.

Both strands of the plasmid pT7-7Taq12 were sequenced, revealing a total of five amino acids that were different from the published sequences of the β -subunit of *T. flavus* SCS and the α -subunit of *T. aquaticus* SCS. This was initially considered a strain to strain variation because another strain of *T. aquaticus*, called *T. aquaticus*-B, has six amino acid changes in the α -subunit alone. The lack of expression of the α -subunit may have been due to the sequences surrounding the translation start site. The start codon for the α subunit was GTG instead of the more common *E. coli* start codon, ATG. In addition, the sequence surrounding the ATG codon from -21 to +13, where the ribosome binding site should be, was 65 % GC as opposed to 12 % in the consensus sequence for ribosome binding sites in *E. coli* (reviewed in (37)). This likely reflects the thermophilicity of *T. aquaticus*, however it is also likely to be the reason for the lack of expression of the *T. aquaticus* α -subunit in *E. coli*. The large differences seen in the nucleotide sequences of the ribosome binding site(s) between *T. aquaticus* and *E. coli*, may be indicative of a novel mechanism of ribosome binding site recognition and translation initiation in thermophilic organisms. Finally, sequencing of the plasmid from the second clone (pT7-7Taq13), which did not produce any SCS protein, proceeded 48 nucleotides into the β -subunit gene and terminated, despite the presence of full length insert (as assayed by agarose gel electrophoresis of digested pT7-7Taq13) This may be due to the presence of secondary structure that prevented both T-7 DNA polymerase (Sequenase 2.0) and T-7 RNA polymerase from transcribing this DNA.

Mutagenesis of the Start Codon and Ribosome Binding Site of the T. aquaticus SCS α -Subunit Gene. To improve the expression of the α -subunit of SCS, the initiating GTG was mutated to ATG, both alone and in combination with changes to the ribosome binding site (Fig. 2-8A). The resulting expression plasmids, pT7-7Taq_{ATG}, and pT7-7Taq_{RBS} were initially tested for their ability to express T. aquaticus SCS in the E. coli strain BL-21(DE-3). Four hours after the induction of protein production, the cells were harvested and fractionated into the pellet and supernatant fractions by sonication and centrifugation, and then analyzed by SDS-PAGE (Fig. 2-8B). SCS purified directly from T. aquaticus by Ed Brownie was used a standard (11). The α -subunit of this protein migrated as a doublet. This may be due to phosphorylated and nonphosphorylated α subunit, and has been seen in SCS from other species (11). Protein bands that migrate with the same mobility as the subunits of T. aquaticus SCS were evident in the pellet fraction. The levels of expression of the β -subunit were greater than those of the α -subunit in cells that contained the pT7-7Taq_{ATG} expression plasmid, however expression of the α and β -subunits was more balanced in cells which contained the pT7-7Taq_{RBS} plasmid (compare lane 3 with lane 4 in Figure 2-8B). It was difficult to see if there was any expression of the α -subunit of T. aquaticus SCS in the supernatant fractions, because proteins that migrated with the same mobility as the α -subunit were present in the control. Despite the presence of both subunits of T. aquaticus SCS in the pellet fraction, no SCS activity above the background SCS activity of BL-21(DE-3) could be detected in any of the supernatant fractions. The E. coli strain BL-21(DE-3) expresses a relatively high amount

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

of *E. coli* SCS, and thus the activity of *T. aquaticus* SCS may have been masked by the background *E. coli* SCS activity. Therefore, the supernatant fractions were heated to 70 $^{\circ}$ C for 30 min to denature *E. coli* SCS, and then assayed for SCS activity. A small amount of SCS activity was evident, however the supernatant fractions from cells containing empty expression vector also had a small amount of SCS activity when treated in the same manner.

To avoid the high background of SCS activity, protein production from the expression vectors $pT7-7Taq_{ATG}$, or $pT7-7Taq_{RBS}$ was studied in the SCS null strain TK3-D18, which does not have any background SCS activity. Cells containing these vectors were grown to mid-log phase and protein expression was induced by raising the growth temperature from 30 to 42 °C for various amounts of time. As a control, protein expression was also induced in cells containing the empty expression vector pT7-7. The cytosolic and cell debris fractions were separated by sonication followed by centrifugation, and the results of SDS-PAGE of these fractions are shown in Figure 2-8C. Again the majority of the expressed protein appeared in the pellet fractions. When the supernatant fractions were assayed for SCS activity, a small amount of activity was evident. In addition, this activity was still present after heating the cytosolic fraction to 70 °C for 30 min. This activity was not present in the supernatant fractions from cell lysates with empty expression vector. The amount of activity in the cytosolic fraction was not high enough to justify purification of *T. aquaticus* SCS from this fraction, so it was purified form the pellet fraction.

Purification and Refolding of T. aquaticus SCS from Inclusion Bodies. The production of T. aquaticus SCS was induced in TK3D18 cells containing pT7-7TaqRBS. The inclusion bodies were pelleted from cell lysates by centrifugation at low speed, and contaminating proteins were removed by homogenization in a Triton X-100 solution. SCS was then extracted from the inclusion bodies using 1.5 M, 2 M or 6 M guanidine HCl. The

pT7-7Taq _{atg}	α-subunit: GCCATGGTGGGAGG β-subunit: ala met val gly gly	met ile leu val asn arg glu iTGCGGCATGATCCTGGTGAACCGCGAG y ala ala stop
pT7-7Taq _{RBS}	α-subunit: GCAATGAAAGGAGG β-subunit: ala met lys gly gi	met ile leu val asn lys glu JTAACAAATGATCCTAGTTAATAAAGAC gly asn ile stop



Figure 2-8. Expression of *T. aquaticus* SCS from the plasmids pT7-7Taq_{ATG} and pT7-7Taq_{RBS}. A. The sequence changes in the start codon and ribosome binding site of the α -subunit. B. SDS-PAGE of protein expression in BL-21(DE-3). Lane 1 contains *E. coli* SCS and lane 2 *T. aquaticus* SCS purified from *T. aquaticus*. Other lanes represent SDS-PAGE of the pellet (lanes 3-5) cytosolic (lanes 6-8) fractions from cells that were induced for 4 hrs. 'A' represents expression from pT7-7Taq_{ATG}. 'R' represents expression from pT7-7Taq_{RBS}. and 'C' represents expression from empty vector (pT7-7). C. SDS-PAGE of a time course of expression in TK3D18. As standards, lanes 6 and 13 contain *T. aquaticus* SCS. The supernatant fraction from cells with the plasmids pT7-7Taq_{ATG} and pT7-7Taq_{RBS} are shown in lanes 2-5 and 7-10, respectively. The pellet fractions from cells with the plasmids pT7-7Taq_{ATG} and pT7-7Taq_{RBS} are shown in lanes 14-17 and 18-21, respectively. As a control (labeled 'C'), the supernatant fraction from cells with epllet those cells induced for 0 and 2.5 h are shown in lanes 11 and 12.



Figure 2-9. Refolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS extracted from inclusion bodies. SDS-PAGE of the soluble (labeled S, lanes 2, 4, 7) and insoluble (labeled P, lanes 3, 5, 8) fractions of *T. aquaticus* SCS refolded by dialysis, or the soluble fraction refolded by rapid dilution (lanes 9, 10). The material for refolding was extracted from inclusion bodies by washing with 1.5 M guanidine HCl (lanes 2, 3), 2.0 M guanidine HCl (lanes 4, 5, 9), or 6.0 M guanidine HCl (lanes 7, 8, 10). Lanes 1 and 6 contain *T. aquaticus* SCS.

extracted enzyme was refolded by two methods: either by dialysis overnight in benign buffer or by rapid dilution into 0.65 M arginine. Both the supernatant and any pellet fractions after refolding were subjected to SDS-PAGE. These results are shown in Figure 2-9. The greatest amount of SCS was extracted from the inclusion bodies by 2 M or 6 M guanidine HCl, although most of this precipitated after refolding by dialysis. Refolding by rapid dilution into arginine did not produce any precipitate, however there was a vast excess of the β -subunit over the α -subunit. All of the supernatant fractions were also assayed for SCS activity and the results are shown in Table 2-1. The most successful extraction using these methods gave approximately 25 U per liter of culture that was not thermostable. For comparison, the yield of pure protein from preparations of *E. coli* SCS is approximately 500 U per liter of culture. Even taking into account the difference in specific activity between purified *E. coli* SCS (40 U/mg) and purified *T. aquaticus* SCS (13 U/mg) (38),

this was still a poor yield of impure enzyme. In addition, the extracted T. aquaticus SCS did not retain any enzymatic activity after heating to 70 °C for 30 min, indicating that it was not thermostable. Refolding of T. aquaticus SCS using the methods for refolding E. coli (39, 40) and pig heart (41) SCS were not successful.

Given that the small amount of SCS in the supernatant fraction was thermostable (Table 2-1), it was concluded that there was a problem with the folding of *T. aquaticus* SCS originally *in vivo* and subsequently *in vitro*. The *in vivo* folding problem may have been due to the unequal and rapid expression of the subunits of *T. aquaticus* SCS, or to the differences in amino acid sequence between this clone and the published sequence. To resolve these problems, I first addressed the question of whether these changes in sequence were due to strain to strain variation, or to errors in the cloning.

Direct Sequencing of PCR Products from the T. aquaticus SCS Genes. Two independent PCR reactions of the T. aquaticus SCS genes were carried out and the PCR products were sequenced directly. Both of these products matched the published sequences (Fig 1-2 and 1-3) and niether had the changes in sequence that were observed in the original clone. This indicated that the changes were due to misincorporation of nucleotides by the *T. aquaticus* polymerase and not to strain to strain variation.

Fractions:		Μ	lethod of Re	folding				
	No Re	folding	Dialy	′sis⁵	Rapid Dilution ^e			
70 °C for 30 min ^a	-	+	-	+	-	+		
Supernatant	4.3 U/L	4.3 U/L	1.6 U/L	ND	ND	ND		
Triton X-100	0.25 U/L	ND	0 U/L	ND	ND	ND		
1.5 M Guanidine	0 U/L	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND		
2.0 M Guanidine	10.5 U/L	0 U/L	1.1 U/L	ND	9.3 U/L	0 U/L		
6.0 M Guanidine	25 U/L	0 U/L	0.3 U/L	ND	5.5 U/L	0 U/L.		

Table 2-1. SCS Activity During the Purification of Inclusion Bodies.^a

A total of 6 L of E. coli TK3D18 cells were induced for 4 h and the cells harvested, lysed and the inclusion bodies were purified as described in Materials and Methods. Each fraction during this purification was assayed for the production of succinyl-CoA at 22 °C using ATP as described in Materials and Methods. 1 U is 1 µmole of succinyl-CoA formed in 1 min.

^b Refolded by dialysis for 18 h at 22 °C against 50 mM Tris HCl, 5 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, and 0.1 % (v/v) glycerol, pH 7.5.

^c Refolded by dilution 1:20 (v/v) into 0.67 M L-arginine, 50 mM potassium phosphate, pH 7.4 with constant vortexing, followed by incubation for 18 h at 22 °C.

^d The fractions were heated to 70 °C for 30 min prior to the assay for SCS activity, in order to assess the heat stability of the enzyme.

ND not done.

Independent Cloning and Expression of the Subunits of T. aquaticus SCS. To address the rate of expression of each of the subunits of T. aquaticus SCS, expression vectors were made which expressed each subunit separately. The effect of temperature on the production of soluble protein was also examined. Using the primers that were used for the mutagenesis of the ribosome binding site, the genes for the α - and β - subunits of T. aquaticus SCS were amplified by PCR from genomic DNA. They were then cloned into the TA cloning vector pCR2.1 and subsequently into separate pT7-7 expression vectors (Fig. 2-1A, B). The resulting plasmids were called $pT7-7Taq\alpha$ and $pT7-7Taq\beta$. These clones were sequenced, and none of the changes that were observed in the original clones

were observed in these clones.

When the tailspike protein of phage P22 was overexpressed in E. coli, it was found that the tendency of this protein to aggregate depended on the rates of expression and refolding (42). If the rate of expression exceeds the rate of refolding, the proteins come into contact with each other before they have completely folded and thus aggregate. To investigate the effect of the rate of expression of the α - and β -subunits on the production of T. aquaticus SCS, each subunit was expressed at 22 and 37 °C in BL-21(DE-3) and the supernatant and pellet fractions were separated and analyzed by SDS-PAGE as described before (Fig. 2-10). Consistent with the observations for the tailspike protein (42), the expression of both subunits of T. aquaticus SCS produced more soluble protein at 22 °C than at 37 °C. In addition, the α -subunit was expressed to a much greater extent than the β -subunit. This is consistent with the results of expression of individual subunits of E. coli and pig heart SCS (43), indicating that the β -subunit of SCS more prone to aggregation than the α -subunit. Note that even at 37 °C, the production of soluble β subunit is much greater than the levels that were observed in the original clones, indicating that the amino acid differences in the original clone were responsible for the malfolding of the β -subunit. This conclusion can be rationalized using sequence comparisons of T. aquaticus SCS with E. coli and pig heart SCS and the crystal structures of SCS. The first two changes, Ala 36 β (in this clone) to Val (in the original clone) and Ile 44 β to Thr, occur in the hydrophobic core of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit, and the second two changes, Ala 369 β to Val and Ile 370 β to Thr, occur near the end of the C-terminal α helix, where it packs against the β -sheet in C-terminal domain. Thus, the changes that were observed in the original clones disrupt the folding of the β -subunit of SCS by interfering with the packing in the hydrophobic core. When the α -subunit was expressed independently, again there was a much greater amount of soluble protein then in the

102

original clone. Unlike the β -subunit, the α -subunit was never expressed to high levels, and the observed increase in soluble protein expression may simply be due to the proximal promoter and an improved ribosome binding site.

Expression of Active, Thermostable, and Soluble T. aquaticus SCS. To address the problem of unequal expression of the subunits of T. aquaticus SCS, an expression vector was constructed in which each subunit had its own promoter. This vector was called pT7-7Taq β/α (Fig. 2-1C). The effect of temperature on expression of whole enzyme from this vector in BL-21(DE-3) cells was investigated. As described for previous experiments, protein production was induced for various times at 22 and 37 °C. Again the supernatant and pellet fractions were separated and then analyzed by SDS-PAGE (Fig. 2-11). In addition, the SCS activity present in the soluble fractions was assayed both at room temperature and at 70 °C (Fig. 2-12). Similar to the expression of individual subunits, more soluble enzyme was produced when protein expression was carried out at 22 °C. Furthermore as seen in Figure 2-12, the activity of the expressed protein began to decline after 13 h when

expressed at 37 °C, whereas the activity of protein expressed at 22 °C continued to rise. The expressed enzyme was active when the assay was conducted at 70 °C. This demonstrated that the enzyme was thermostable. There was a greater increases in activity of the enzyme when the assays were conducted at 70 °C than when the assays were conducted at 22 °C. This is due to the greater specific activity of the enzyme at elevated temperatures, thus, the production of a certain amount of enzyme leads to a greater amount of succinyl-CoA production at 70 °C than at 22 °C.

The subunits of *T. aquaticus* SCS were subjected to mass spectrometry, following purification by heating to 70 °C and reverse phase HPLC. The measured mass of the β -subunit was 40641 Da. The predicted mass for the β -subunit is 40636 Da. The mesured mass of the α -subunit was 30510 Da, which is consistent with predicted mass of 30517 Da for the α -subunit missing the N-terminal methionine residue. Edman degradation of the α -

Fraction
Pellet

Temp
 $22 \degree C$ $37 \degree C$

Time (hr)
 $525 \degree G$ $62 5 8 13 22 0 2 5 8 \frac{5}{66} G$



B

A

Fraction							Pe	llet					5	Sup	em	atar	nt			
Temp				2	2°	С			37 '	°C			22 °	°C				37	°C	
Time (hr)	E. coli SCS	T ay. SCS	0	2	58	13	22	0	2 5	813	0 ^E s	est 2	5	8	13	22	0	2	5	8
3-subunit →																				
lane:	1	2	3	4	5	6	78	9	1011	12 13	14 1	5 16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24

Figure 2-10. Expression of the α -subunit (A) and β -subunit (B) of *T. aquaticus* SCS. A. SDS-PAGE of the pellet and supernatant fractions of a time course of α -subunit expression at 22°C (lanes 3-8, 16-21) and at 37 °C (lanes 9-12, 15, 22-26). As standards, Lanes 1 and 13 contain purified *E. coli* SCS, and lanes 2 and 14 contain purified *T. aquaticus* SCS. B. SDS-PAGE of the pellet and supernatant fractions of a time course of β -subunit expression at 22°C (lanes 3-8, 14, 16-20) and 37 °C (lanes 9-13, 21-24). Lanes 1 and 15 contain purified *E. coli* SCS, and lane 2 contains purified *T. aquaticus* SCS.

Supernatant

22 °C

37 °C



B



Figure 2-11. Time course for the expression of soluble *T. aquaticus* SCS. A. SDS-PAGE of the supernatant fractions following expression at 22°C (lanes 3-8) and at 37 °C (lanes 9-13). As standards, lane 1 contains purified *E. coli* SCS, and lane 2, purified *T. aquaticus* SCS. B. SDS-PAGE of the pellet fractions following expression at 22 °C (lanes 3-8) and at 37 °C (lanes 9, 12-15). Again, as standards, lanes 1 and 10 contain *E. coli* SCS, and lanes 2 and 11 contain *T. aquaticus* SCS.



Figure 2-12. Expression of soluble, active, and thermostable *T. aquaticus* SCS. The supernatant fractions of a time course of whole enzyme expression at 22 °C (\blacksquare , \Box) and 37 °C (\bigcirc , \bigcirc) were assayed for SCS activity using ATP either at 22 °C (\square , \bigcirc) or at 70 °C (\blacksquare , \bigcirc). The activity is measured as µmoles of succinyl-CoA production per minute per ml of culture. Note: no correction was made for the increase in the number of cells at later time points.

SCS also lacks the N-terminal methionine (Chapter 4).

Labeling of T. aquaticus SCS with $[^{35}S]$ -Methionine. To determine the half-life of whole enzyme and individual subunits in vivo, pulse chase experiments were performed. The whole enzyme or individual subunits were labeled with ³⁵S-methionine, followed by a chase with unlabeled methionine. To get approximately equal amounts of ³⁵S-methionine labeled protein, the labeling reaction at 22 °C was carried out for 11 min, while the labeling at 37 °C was carried out for 5 min. Samples of cells were then taken at various times after the addition of unlabeled methionine, the cells were lysed, and the supernatant and pellet fractions separated. The proteins in these fractions were then analyzed by SDS-PAGE, visualized by autoradiography (Fig. 2-13) and quantified by phosphorimagery. The results of quantification of the labeling reactions after correction for the length of time of labeling, the specific activity of ³⁵S methionine, and the number of methionines in the α - and β subunits, are shown in Figure 2-14. Whole enzyme was stable in both the supernatant and pellet fractions; there was little degradation over the entire six hour time course. In whole enzyme expression, the ratio of β -subunit to α -subunit is 3.8 to 1 at 22 °C and 6.8 to 1 at 37 °C. The lower rate of protein expression at 22 °C may have led to more efficient termination of transcription of the β -subunit (and thus less read-through), allowing relatively more RNA polymerase to initiate transcription of the α -subunit.

Previous experiments by Haase-Pettinggell and King (42) indicated that the rate of protein production was dependent on the temperature of induction. Consistent with those experiments, there was approximately 2 times more whole enzyme produced at 37 °C than at 22 °C (Fig 2-14A and B). It was assumed that a minimal amount of degradation occurred during the labeling reaction. This assumption may not be correct in the case of the individually expressed subunits. For example, there was approximately 2.3 times more β -subunit at 22 °C than at 37 °C (Fig 2-14C and D). This correlates with the rate of degradation of the β -subunit from the cytosol: half life of 3.5 h at 22 °C, and 1.5 h at 37 °C

Temp		22 °C			37 °C	
Protein	α-subunit	β-subunit	SCS	α-subunit	β-subunit	SCS
Time (hr)	.08.5136	.08.5136	.08.5136	.08.5136	.08.51 3 6	.08.513 k
β-subunit α-subunit						- 9 6 4
						- 2
lane:	1 2 3 4 5	6 7 8 9 10	11 12 13 14 15	512345	6 7 8 9 10	11 12 13 14

Β



Figure 2-13. Time course of degradation of [35 S]-methionine labeled subunits and whole *T. aquaticus* SCS. A. SDS-PAGE of labeled α -subunit (lanes 1-5), β -subunit (lanes 6-10), and whole enzyme (lanes 11-15) in the supernatant fraction. Labeling and degradation was carried out either at 22 °C or 37 °C. B. SDS-PAGE of the pellet fractions of the same time course. The positions of the molecular weight standards are shown in the right.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 2-14. Quantification of the degradation of [35 S]-methionine labeled subunits and whole *T. aquaticus* SCS. A and B represent quantification of whole enzyme in the supernatant and pellet fractions, respectively. C and D represent quantitation of individual subunits in the supernatant and pellet fractions, respectively. Labeling and degradation were carried out at 22 °C (O, \Box) or 37 °C (\oplus , \blacksquare), and the levels of α -subunit (\blacksquare , \Box) and β -subunit (\oplus , \bigcirc) were determined by phosphorimagery.

(Fig. 2-14C). Unexpectedly, the rate of degradation of the individually expressed α - and β -subunits in the cell debris fraction was greater at 22 °C than 37 °C (Fig. 2-14D). When the individual subunits were expressed at 37 °C, there was a degradation product of approximately 14 kDa was observed in the supernatant fractions, which increased over the course of the reaction (Fig. 2-13A). Despite the increase in the rate of degradation at 22 °C, the degradation product is not present at 22 °C.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

References:

- 1. Murakami, K., Mitchell, T., & Nishimura, J. S. (1972) J. Biol. Chem. 247, 6247-6252.
- 2. Bailey, D. L., Wolodko, W. T., & Bridger, W. A. (1993) Protein Sci. 2, 1255-1262.
- 3. Johnson, J. D., Muhonen, W. W., & Lambeth, D. O. (1998) J. Biol. Chem. 273, 27573-27579.
- 4. McClellan, J. A., & Ottaway, J. H. (1980) Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 67B, 679-684.
- 5. Ottaway, J. H., McClellan, J. A., & Saunderson, C. L. (1981) Int. J. Biochem. 13, 401-410.
- 6. Weitzman, P. D. J., & Kinghorn, H. A. (1978) FEBS Lett. 88, 255-258.
- 7. Cha, S., Cha, C. J. M., & Parks, R. E. J. (1967) J. Biol. Chem. 242, 2577-2581.
- 8. Brownie, E. R., & Bridger, W. A. (1972) Can. J. Biochem. 50, 719-724.
- 9. Murakami, Y., & Nishimura, J. S. (1974) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 336, 252-263.
- Bailey, D. L., Fraser, M. E., Bridger, W. A., James, M. N. G., & Wolodko, W. T. (1998), J. Mol Biol 285, 1655-1666.
- 11. Brownie, E. R., & Bridger, W. A., personal communication.
- 12. Johnson, J. D., Mehus, J. G., Tews, K., Milavetz, B. I., & Lambeth, D. O. (1998) J. Biol. Chem. 273, 27580-27586.
- 13. Hamilton, M. L., & Ottaway, J. H. (1981) FEBS Lett. 123, 252-254.
- 14. Jenkins, T. M., & Weitzman, P. D. J. (1986) FEBS 205, 215-218.
- 15. Jenkins, T. M., Eisenthal, R., & Weitzman, P. D. J. (1988) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 151, 257-261.
- 16. Jenkins, T. M., & Weitzman, P. D. J. (1988) FEBS Lett. 230, 6-8.
- 17. Ryan, D. G., Lin, T., Brownie, E., Bridger, W. A., & Wolodko, W. T. (1997) J. Biol. Chem. 272, 21151-21159.
- 18. Wolodko, W. T., Kay, C. M., & Bridger, W. A. (1986) Biochemistry 25, 5420-5425.
- 19. Laemmli, U. K. (1970) Nature 227, 680.
- 20. Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E. F., & Maniatis, T. (1989) Molecular Cloning: a laboratory manual, 2 Ed., CSH Laboratory Press

- 21. Sanger, F., Nicklen, S., & Coulson, A. R. (1977) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 74, 5463-5467.
- 22. Davis, D. G., Dibner, M. D., & Battey, J. F. (1986) Basic Methods in Molecular Biology, 1 Ed., Elsevier Science Publishing Co., Inc., New York
- 23. Nishiyama, M., Horinouchi, S., & Beppu, T. (1991) Molecular & General Genetics 226, 1-9.
- 24. Nicholls, D. J., Sundaram, T. K., Atkinson, T., & Minton, N. P. (1988) Nucleic Acids Res. 16, 9858-9858.
- 25. Tabor, S. (1990) in *Current Protocols in Molecular Biology* (Ausubel, F. A., Brent, R., Kingston, R. E., Moore, D. D., Seidman, J. G., Smith, J. A., & Struhl, K., eds), pp. 16.2.1-16.2.11, Greene Publishing and Wiley Interscience, New York
- 26. Studier, F. W., & Moffatt, B. A. (1986) J. Mol. Biol. 189, 113.
- 27. Ho, S. N., Hunt, H. D., Horton, R. N., Pullen, J. K., & Pease, L. R. (1989) Gene 77, 51-59.
- 28. Buck, D., & Guest, J. R. (1989) Biochem. J. 260, 737-747.
- 29. Froehlich, B., & Epstein, W. (1981) J. Bacteriol. 147, 1117-1120.
- 30. Mukhopadhyay. (1997) Biotechnology 56, 61-106.
- Garboczi, D. N., Utz, U., Ghosh, P., Seth, A., J., K., VanTienhoven, E. A. E., Biddison, W. E., & Wiley, D. (1996) J. Immunol 157, 5403-5410.
- 32. Horwich, A. L., Low, K. B., Fenton, W. A., Hershfield, I. N., & Furtak, K. (1993) Cell 74, 909-917.
- 33. Smith, R. F., & Smith, T. F. (1992) Protein Engineering 5, 35-41.
- 34. Harkness, T., personal communication.
- 35. Weitzman, P. D. J., Jenkins, T. M., Else, A. J., & Holt, R. A. (1986) FEBS 199, 57-60.
- 36. Buck, D., Spencer, M. E., & Guest, J. R. (1985) Biochemistry 24, 6245-6252.
- 37. Gold, L., & Stormo, G. (1990) Methods Enzymol. 185, 89-93.
- 38. Brownie, E., personal communication.
- 39. Pearson, P. H., & Bridger, W. A. (1975) J. Biol. Chem. 250, 4451-4455.
- 40. Khan, I. A., & Nishimura, J. S. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263, 2152-2158.
- 41. Nishimura, J. S., Ybarra, J., Mitchell, T., & Horowitz, P. M. (1988) Biochem. J. 250, 429-434.
- 42. Haase-Pettinggell, & King, J. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263, 4977-4983.

43. Ryan, D., personal communication.

Page intentionally left blank for note taking.

Chapter Three Folding of *T. aquaticus* SCS Introduction

The question of how a polypeptide "matures" from a simple one dimensional sequence of amino acids to a complex three dimensional protein has been called the protein folding problem, and has a been basic question in biology for over 30 years (reviewed in (1-5)). The early work of Anfinsen and co-workers showed that proteins can fold reversibly (6, 7). This implied that the native structures of at least some small, globular proteins were in thermodynamically stable states, in conformations that were a global minimum of all of their accessible free energy states. It was later pointed out that there were far too many conformations of unfolded or partially folded polypeptides for the native conformation to be reached in a reasonable amount of time (8). To alleviate the long time required for the polypeptide to search all of conformational space to find the native conformation, Levinthal proposed the existence of protein folding pathways which directed protein folding to the native state in a reasonable amount of time (8). This proposal led to the search for relevant protein folding intermediates, and to the question of whether the intermediates were on or off the folding pathway. Due to new experimental approaches and to statistical models of protein folding, a 'new view' of protein folding has emerged. This new view takes into account both the presence of many conformations of the polypeptide and the search for the global minimum energy conformation in a reasonable amount of time (9-11). The analogy of energy landscapes has been used to describe this process. The landscape is shaped like a funnel with two horizontal axes representing conformational space and one vertical axis representing the energy of those conformations. The folding process is likened to skiers going down a mountain, each starts from a different point and may encounter different gullies and hills (representing folding intermediates and transition states, respectively), but all paths eventually lead to the bottom of the hill (the native conformation) (11). Thus, using the analogy of the energy landscape, the folding intermediates that were formerly off the folding pathway (e.g. aggregation) are simply intermediates trapped in a gully with a particularly high energy transition state on the way to the native conformation.

Until recently it has been generally accepted that the early stages of protein folding are driven by the hydrophobic effect (2), that is, the clustering of hydrophobic residues away from the aqueous solvent into a hydrophobic core. For small proteins the unfolding and refolding data fit a two state kinetic model ($D \rightleftharpoons N$), where denatured protein folds into the native form in a single step (12, 13). A recent model for protein folding, that is based on steric considerations of the polypeptide chain and the propensity for certain sidechains to favor the formation of specific secondary structures, has succeeded in simulating the local structures that form during the very early stages of folding without the involvement of nonlocal, hydrophobic, interactions (5). This implies that even a two state folding pathway proceeds in a stepwise manner, however intermediates cannot be detected. For larger proteins, a multistep process has been proposed where the first step may involve the collapse of the hydrophobic core, followed at some point by the rearrangement of residues to optimize their packing interactions (reviewed in (1, 2)). The examination of protein structures in the PDB, indicated that a polypeptide that is greater than 250 residues is just able to fold as one cooperative unit (14). Analysis of the PDB, using the existence of a domain and buried non-polar surface area as criteria, Nussinov and co-workers have defined a set of hydrophobic folding units (15). If the local residues in the polypeptide determine the initial secondary structures formed in folding, as Baldwin and Rose propose, and if there are discrete folding units in proteins, as Tsai and Nussinov propose, then this implies that proteins that have the same fold (secondary and tertiary structure) also follow the same folding pathway (or have similar energy landscapes). This seems to be the case for the cold shock protein CspB, a small all β -structure protein (13). This protein from B. subtilis is only marginally stable and folds by a rapid two state reaction. More stable homologous proteins from *B. caldolyticus* and *T. martima* fold by the same mechanism and with the same rates (13).

Given the similarity between the crystallographic structures of the E. coli and pig heart SCS (Fig. 1-13), and the extent of the similarity of the amino acid sequences between T. aquaticus SCS and these enzymes (57 and 47 % identity, respectively), the overall structure of the T. aquaticus enzyme is likely to resemble that of the E. coli and pig heart enzymes. If the proposals of Baldwin and Tsai are correct, the folding of the thermostable enzyme from T. aquaticus should be identical to the folding of the non-thermostable E. coli and pig heart enzymes. Thus, in this part of my studies, the folding of T. aquaticus SCS was investigated and compared to that of E. coli SCS. Toward this end, T. aquaticus SCS was characterized with respect to its equilibrium unfolding and its kinetics of refolding, and these results were compared to the unfolding and refolding of E. coli and pig heart SCS that have been done previously (16-18). In addition, an investigation of the basis for the relative stability of the E. coli, pig heart, and T. aquaticus enzymes was carried out by comparison of the amino acid differences between these enzymes. The structure of the E. coli enzyme, and the amino acid sequence alignment of known SCS enzymes (Fig. 1-2 and 1-3) were used to predict ion pairs in T. aquaticus SCS, and to evaluate their potential in stabilizing the enzyme. Moreover, the secondary structure in the model of E. coli SCS was also used as a basis to examine if the substitutions that occurred in the T. aquaticus enzyme might stabilize its secondary structure.

Materials and Methods

Purification of T. aquaticus SCS. E. coli strain BL-21(DE-3) cells containing the plasmid pT7-7Taq β/α were grown at 22 °C to a cell density absorbance at 600 nm before the addition of IPTG to a final concentration of 0.5 mg/ml (to induce protein production from the expression vector) and further growth for 10 hours. The cells were harvested by centrifugation, resuspended in sonication buffer (100 mM KCl, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM

PMSF, 1 mM benzamidine, 10 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 1 % (v/v) glycerol, and 100 mM potassium phosphate, pH 7.4), and frozen at -70 °C. They were then thawed, sonicated two times for 3 min each at 4 °C using a Biosonic IV sonicator (Brownwill Scientific) set at an intensity of 70 and equipped with the large probe. The cell debris was then removed by centrifugation for 30 min at 4200 x g, and the crude supernatant was heated at 70 °C for 30 min with occasional stirring. The suspension was allowed to cool to 22 °C and then clarified by centrifugation at 4 °C for 30 min at 4200 x g. The pellet was discarded, $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ was added to a final concentration of 20 % (w/v) and the resulting suspension was allowed to stand overnight at 4 °C. The next day the precipitate was collected by centrifugation for 30 min at 4200 x g. The pellet fraction containing T. aquaticus SCS was dissolved in Buffer A (10 mM potassium phosphate, 10 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM PMSF, 1.0 mM benzamidine, pH 7.4) and the protein solution desalted by gel filtration through a Sephdex G-50 column prior to anion exchange chromatography. For anion exchange chromatography, the protein was bound to a Q-Sepharose fast flow column (diameter 2.5 cm, height 50 cm) which was first eluted with one liter of Buffer A, and then with a 1.5 liter linear gradient from 0 to 0.75 M KCl in Buffer A. The T. aquaticus SCS in fractions that eluted 0.39 and 0.42 M KCl were precipitated using 20 % (w/v) $(NH_4)_2SO_4$. The precipitate was then dissolved in 100 mM potassium phosphate, 10 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, pH 7.4, and T. aquaticus SCS further purified by gel filtration chromatography with the same buffer. For gel filtration chromatography, a Bio-Gel A 0.5M column (diameter 2.5 cm, height 120 cm) was used, and T. aquaticus SCS eluted between 410 and 428 ml. These fractions were pooled and the enzyme stored as a suspension in 20 % (w/v) $(NH_4)_2SO_4$. SDS-PAGE of samples taken at various stages of the purification of T. aquaticus SCS are shown in Figure 3-1.


Figure 3-1. SDS-PAGE analysis of the purification of *T. aquaticus* SCS. Lane 1, cell lysate; lane 2, supernatant after heating to 70 °C for 30 min; lane 3, pellet fraction after a 20 % $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ precipitation; lane 4, pooled fractions from the Q-sepharose column; lane 5, pooled fractions after gel filtration chromatography.

Analysis of the pH Profile of T. aquaticus SCS. For pH profile analysis, an aliquot of the enzyme suspension in $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ was centrifuged (15 x 10³ x g, 30 min, 4 °C), and the pellet was dissolved in 500 µl of 50 mM KCl, 0.1 mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4. The resultant solution was clarified by centrifugation (15 x 10³ x g, 30 min, 4 °C), and dialyzed for 16 h with three changes of the same buffer at 4 °C. The ability of T. aquaticus SCS to catalyze the formation of succinyl-CoA from ATP, CoA and succinate was tested over a range of pH from 6.2 to 9.6. A 1.9 µg sample of T. aquaticus SCS was placed in 1 ml of a buffer containing 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM KCl, 0.1 mM DTT, 10 mM succinate, 0.1 mM CoA, 0.4 mM ATP and 50 mM of either MOPS (pH 6.2 - 8.2) or Tris HCl (pH 8.0 - 9.6), and the formation of the thioester bond in succinyl-CoA was measured spectrophotometrically at 235 nm. When conducted at pH 7.4 and 22 °C, this is the standard assay for SCS activity (19).

Steady State Kinetic Analyses of T. aquaticus SCS. For kinetic analyses, an aliquot of the enzyme suspension in $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ was centrifuged at 15 x 10³ x g, for 30 min, at 4 °C), and the pellet was dissolved in 500 µl of 50 mM KCl, 0.1 mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4. The resultant solution was clarified by centrifugation $(15 \times 10^3 \times g, 30 \text{ min}, 4 °C)$, and dialyzed for 16 h with three changes of the same buffer at 4 °C. The concentrations of the nucleotides and CoA were determined using their standard extinction coefficients for a 1 cm pathlength (ATP: $E_{259 \text{ nm}} = 15.4 \text{ mM}^{-1}$, GTP: $E_{252 \text{ nm}} = 13.7 \text{ mM}^{-1}$, CoA: $E_{260 \text{ nm}} = 14.6 \text{ mM}^{-1}$). SCS enzymatic activity was measured spectrophotometrically in the direction of succinyl-CoA formation at 22 °C. For each substrate, the initial velocity was measured at various concentrations and at a constant concentration of the other substrates (where appropriate, 114 µM CoA, 10 mM succinate or 405 µM ATP or GTP) in a total volume of 1 ml containing 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 8.0. Initial rates were measured in duplicate at each concentration of substrate, and the initial velocity data were analyzed for the $K_{m(opp)}$ and V_{max} values using the ENZYME KINETICS 1.11 program for a Macintosh computer (20). Oxaloacetate, acetoacetate, and malic acid

were also tested for their ability to substitute for succinate as a substrate for SCS by using 20 mM of each and 3.4 μ g of *T. aquaticus* SCS in the spectrophotometric assay.

Activity of T. aquaticus, E. coli and Pig Heart SCS at Different Temperatures and Denaturant Concentrations. The stability of SCS was investigated by measuring the activity of all three enzymes at different temperatures. The activity measurements for the temperature versus activity profile of the three enzymes were carried out with similar solutions as given above, except that 10 mM potassium phosphate , pH 7.4 ,was used as the buffer in the assay media because of the small variation in pK_{u} with temperature (-0.01 pH unit from 25 to 50 °C). The amounts of enzyme used for each assay of the profile were: 3.8 µg of T. aquaticus SCS, 0.87 mg of E. coli SCS, and 0.82 mg of pig heart SCS. The enzymes, assay media, and cuvettes were incubated in a water bath for a minimum of 15 min at each temperature. The temperature of the cuvette holders on a Varian Cary 219 spectrophotometer was kept constant at each temperature by a Polyscience Polytemp circulating water bath. The temperature was increased incrementally for each temperature point throughout the profile.

The stability of SCS was also investigated by measuring the activity of all three SCS enzymes after incubation in 60 mM potassium phosphate , pH 7.4, and different concentrations of urea (0 M - 10 M) or guanidine HCl (GuHCl) (0 M - 4.0 M) at 22 °C for 24 hours.

Gel Filtration Chromatography of T. aquaticus SCS. To study the quaternary structure of T. aquaticus SCS in the presence and absence of GuHCl, and to separate the subunits, gel filtration chromatography was performed using a Sepharose 12 HR 10/30 FPLC column, and a Varian Vista 5500 liquid chromatograph. The flow rate was 0.5 ml/min, and where needed one fraction was collected each minute. First, to study the quaternary structure of T. aquaticus SCS a mixture of 5 mg/ml T. aquaticus and 5 mg/ml pig heart SCS in 60 mM potassium phosphate, 5 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.1 mM EDTA, pH 7.4 was separated by gel filtration chromatography. Next, to study the quaternary

structure of *T. aquaticus* SCS just after it has lost activity in GuHCl, 5 mg/ml *T. aquaticus* SCS was incubated for 24 hours in 1.8 M GuHCl, 60 mM potassium phosphate, 5 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.1 mM EDTA, pH 7.4, and then chromatography was performed in the same buffer. To study the quaternary structure of the *T. aquaticus* SCS in 3.0 M GuHCl, 5 mg/ml *T. aquaticus* SCS was incubated for 24 hours in 3.0 M GuHCl, 60 mM potassium phosphate . 5 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.1 mM EDTA, pH 7.4, and then chromatography was performed in the same buffer.

Far UV-CD of T. aquaticus Whole Enzyme and Isolated Subunits in Guanidine The stability of the secondary structure of T. aquaticus SCS in different HCl. concentrations of GuHCl was investigated using far UV circular dichroism. The buffer for UV-CD was 60 mM potassium phosphate, 5 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.1 mM EDTA, pH 7.4, and various concentrations of Guanidine HCl between 0 and 7.5 M. The subunits were separated at 3.0 M GuHCl, and were then dialyzed in 60 mM potassium phosphate, 5 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.1 mM EDTA, pH 7.4, and far UV-CD in different concentrations of GuHCl was performed. The concentration of whole enzyme was 9.0 μ M or 2.2 μ M, the concentration of α -subunit was 16.2 μ M, and the concentration of β subunit was 10.0 µM. UV-CD measurements were made using a Jasco J-720 spectropolarimeter (Jasco Inc., Easton MD) interfaced with an Epson Equity 386/25 computer and controlled by Jasco software. The thermostatted cell holder was maintained at 25 °C with a Lauda RMS circulating water bath. The instrument was routinely calibrated with ammonium d-(+)-10 camphor sulfonate at 290.5 nm and 192 nm, and with d-(-)pantoyllactone at 219 nm. Each sample was scanned ten times from 180 to 255 nm and data were measured every 0.05 nm and averaged. Noise reduction was then applied to remove the high frequency noise prior to calculating molar ellipticities. A cuvette with a calibrated pathlength of 0.02 cm was used for all measurements. Molar ellipticities in $deg \cdot cm^2/dmol$ were calculated with the following equation:

$$[\Theta] = \Theta_{obs} \times MRW/(10 \times 1 \times c)$$

where Θ_{obs} is the ellipticity measured in millidegrees, MRW is the mean residue weight (molecular weight divided by the number of residues), l is the optical pathlength in cm, and c is the protein concentration in mg/ml.

Sedimentation Equilibrium Analysis. To study the quaternary structure of T. aquaticus SCS before and after the loss of activity in Guanidine HCl, sedimentation equilibrium experiments were performed in the absence and in the presence of two different concentrations of GuHCl. Prior to centrifugation, samples of T. aquaticus SCS were dialyzed for 16 hours at 20 °C with three changes of the appropriate buffer. For analysis of the quaternary structure of T. aquaticus SCS in the absence of GuHCl, 20 mM potassium phosphate, 2 mM dithiothreitol, pH 7.4, was used as buffer, and three separate loading concentrations of 1.77 mg/ml, 1.31 mg/ml, and 0.8 mg/ml were used for centrifugation. For analysis in the presence of GuHCl, two concentrations of guanidine were used, one slightly before the enzyme started to lose activity (0.9 M GuHCl, 60 mM potassium phosphate, 5 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.1 mM EDTA, pH 7.4), and the other slightly after the enzyme lost activity (1.8 M GuHCl, 60 mM potassium phosphate, 5 mM 2mercaptoethanol, 0.1 mM EDTA, pH 7.4). The loading concentrations for these runs were 5 mg/ml, 3 mg/ml, and 1 mg/ml. All sedimentation equilibrium experiments were carried out at 20 °C using a Beckman XL-1 Ultracentrifuge and interference optics according to procedures outlined by the manufacturer. Sample aliquots of 110 μ l were loaded into 6 sector-CFE sample cells. This allows for the three different loading concentrations of protein to be run simultaneously. The runs at two different speeds were continued until there was no difference in scans that were taken 3 h apart.

The sedimentation equilibrium data was analyzed using a nonlinear least-squares curve-fitting algorithm (21) contained in the NonLin analysis program (22). The following equation, which is based on a single ideal species, was used to fit the data:

$$C_{r} = e[\ln (C_{r_{o}}) + \frac{(1 - v\rho)\varpi}{2RT}M(r^{2} - r_{0}^{2}) - BM(C_{r} - C_{r_{o}})]$$

where C_r is the concentration at radius, r; C_{r_e} is the concentration at the reference radius, r_o ; $\overline{\nu}$ is the partial specific volume; ρ is the density of the solvent ; $\overline{\omega}$ is the angular velocity; R is the universal gas constant; T is the temperature in degrees Kelvin; M is the molecular weight; and B is a second virial coefficient term associated with non-ideality. The convergence of each variable was considered complete when the change in the variance was less than 1 x 10⁻⁶. The program Sednterp (23) was used to calculate the partial specific volume of the *T. aquaticus* SCS using the method of Cohn and Edsall (24). For the runs that contained GuHCl, the method of Laue was used to apply a correction to $\overline{\nu}$ for the binding of GuHCl to the enzyme and the change in hydration (25).

Refolding of T. aquaticus SCS. The native enzyme was first denatured by incubation in 6 M GuHCl for 24 hours. Refolding was carried out by rapid dilution (1:20 v/v) into one of three solutions: benign buffer (60 mM potassium phosphate, 50 mM KCl, pH 7.4), or pH 7.4 arginine refold buffer (0.67 M L-arginine HCl, 60 mM potassium phosphate, pH 7.4), or pH 8.0 arginine refold buffer (0.67 M L-arginine HCl, 60 mM potassium potassium phosphate, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 8.0). Samples were then taken after 5 hours and assayed for their ability to catalyze the formation of succeinyl-CoA at pH 8.0 in the standard manner.

The kinetics of refolding *T. aquaticus* SCS was followed in the same manner using the pH 7.4 arginine refold buffer, except that samples were taken at various times. The temperature dependence of the kinetics of refolding *T. aquaticus* SCS was investigated by rapid dilution into pH 7.4 arginine refold buffer at 12 °C, 22 °C or 37 °C. Samples were then taken at various times and assayed for the ability catalyze the formation of succinyl-CoA. The concentration dependence of the kinetics of refolding at 22 °C was investigated by the same procedure (including the dilution factor) using final protein concentrations in the refolding mixtures of 0.59 mg/ml, 0.24 mg/ml, and 0.059 mg/ml.

Correlation Between Relative Stability and Amino Acid Substitutions in Pig heart, E. coli and T. aquaticus SCS. SCS from pig heart, E. coli and T. aquaticus had different relative stabilities as judged by the loss of activity with increasing temperature, and increasing concentrations of urea or GuHCl. The substitutions within the amino acid sequences between these enzymes were examined for a correlation with stability. A count was made of the number of times an amino acid in an enzyme of lower stability was changed to any other amino acid in an enzyme of higher stability. This was considered a 'more stable' substitution. The reverse was also counted, that is, the number of times an amino acid in an enzyme of lower stability. This was considered a 'more stable' substitution. The reverse was also counted, that is, the number of times an amino acid in an enzyme of lower stability. This was considered a 'less stable' substitution. Thus, the substitution is judged based on the enzyme species being compared, not on any intrinsic property of the amino acids involved. For example, a Ser in pig heart SCS changed to a Thr in *E. coli* SCS changed to a Thr in *T. aquaticus* SCS. But in the opposite direction, a Ser in *T. aquaticus* SCS changed to a Thr in pig heart or *E. coli* SCS, or a Ser in *E. coli* SCS changed to a Thr in pig heart SCS was counted as a 'less stable' substitution.

Potential Ion Pairs in Pig heart, E. coli and T. aquaticus SCS. The number of ion pairs in E. coli, pig heart and T. aquaticus SCS were compared to see if they correlated with the stability of these enzymes. The ion pairs in E. coli and pig heart SCS were identified by examining the crystallographic structures of these enzymes (26-28). An ion pair was postulated to exist when the NZ of Lys, or the NH1 or NH2 of Arg, were within 4.0 Å of the OD1 or OD2 of Asp, or the OE1 or OE2 of Glu. These distances were measured using the program CONTACT from the CCP4 package (29).

To predict the potential ion pairs in *T. aquaticus* SCS, the sequence alignments of *E. coli* and *T. aquaticus* SCS shown in Figures 1-2 and 1-3 were examined in conjunction with the crystal structure of *E. coli* SCS. The distances between the α -carbons of the residues in *E. coli* SCS that were thought to participate in an ion pair were found to be between 4.0 Å and 12 Å. A plot of the distances between all α -carbon atoms in *E. coli* SCS was constructed using the PLOTDIST set of programs written by Joe Parish (30)



Figure 3-2. Initial evaluation of potential ion pairs in the α -subunit of *T. aquaticus* SCS. The distances between all α -carbon atoms in *E. coli* SCS were measured, and those that were between 4.0 and 12 Å were plotted on the graph above. The sequence alignment in Figure 1-2 was used to place the *T. aquaticus* amino acids in the *E. coli* numbering system. The positions of basic residues in *T. aquaticus* SCS (Arg, and Lys) were then marked by lines on the x-axis, and the positions of acidic residues were marked on the y-axis. The intersection between a basic and an acidic residue in *T. aquaticus* SCS in an area where the α -carbons in *E. coli* SCS were separated by 4 - 12 Å, was further inspected for the possibility of an ion pair using the crystallographic structure of *E. coli* SCS (28).

within the package INSIGHT II (31). The amino acid alignment of *E. coli* and *T. aquaticus* SCS was used to place the *T. aquaticus* residues on this plot. Positions of the basic residues (Arg and Lys) and the acidic residues (Glu and Asp) in *T. aquaticus* SCS were marked on the x and y axes, respectively (Fig. 3-2). The criteria for initial selection of two residues that may form an ion pair was that the α -carbon of a basic residue must be between 4 and 12 Å from the α -carbon of an acidic residue. For one ion pair in Figure 3-2, this is where the two lines that mark the positions of the acidic and basic residues intersect with the x which denotes the residues that have α -carbons spaced between 4 and 12 Å apart. After the initial selection, all of the ion pairs were visually inspected using the *E. coli* structure (28) for the possibility of an ion pair at this position. An ion pair was deemed possible if rotation of the side chain could bring the NZ of Lys, or the NH1 or NH2 of Arg, to within 4.0 Å of the OD1 or OD2 of Asp, or the OE1 or OE2 of Glu, and there were no obvious steric clashes. Only one orientation of a side chain was allowed.

Comparison of the Pig Heart, E. coli and T. aquaticus Amino Acid Sequences for Residues that Stabilize Secondary Structure. The amino acid sequences of these three enzymes were compared to see if there was a correlation between more stable enzymes and substitutions that potentially stabilize the appropriate secondary structure. That is, were there substitutions in corresponding α -helices that would potentially lead to the additional stabilization of those α -helices? Furthermore, were there substitutions in β -sheets that would stabilize β -strands? The criteria used to judge the potential of a residue to stabilize either α -helix or β -strand was based on the survey of the PDB conducted by Levitt (32), who found that there was a bias in the type of amino acids found in helices or stands. The residues A, C, L, M, E, Q, H, and K were found more often in α -helices (in this order of frequency). The residues V, I, F, Y, W, and T were found more often in β -strand (in this order of frequency). The propensity for residues to be in turns was not examined. The secondary structure of the *E. coli* enzyme was used to determine if a residue was in either β -sheet or in α -helix. A count was made of the number of times an amino acid in an enzyme of lower stability, and in a specific secondary structure (helix or strand), was changed to a different amino acid, which had a higher propensity for the appropriate secondary structure, in an enzyme of higher stability. This was considered a stabilizing substitution. A count was also made of the number of times an amino acid in an enzyme of lower stability, and in a specific secondary structure (helix or strand), was changed to a different amino acid, which had a lower propensity for the appropriate secondary structure, in an enzyme of higher stability. This was considered a destabilizing substitution. It was not counted if a residue, which had β -strand propensity, and was found in an α -helix was changed to another residue with β -strand propensity. Neither was it counted if a residue, which had α -helix propensity, and was found in a β -strand was changed to another residue with α -helix propensity.

Results

Characterization of the Quaternary Structure of T. aquaticus SCS. SCS enzymes exhibit either a dimeric quaternary structure, consisting of one α -subunit and one β subunit, as seen in pig heart SCS, or a tetrameric structure consisting of a dimer of $\alpha\beta$ dimers, as seen in *E. coli* SCS. The quaternary structure of *T. aquaticus* SCS was evaluated by both gel filtration chromatography and sedimentation equilibrium (Fig. 3-3). A mixture of purified *T. aquaticus* SCS and pig heart SCS was run on a gel filtration column and the elution profile revealed two separate peaks (Fig. 3-3A). The first, peak, eluting at 11.5 ml was *T. aquaticus* SCS, and the second, peak eluting at 12.5 ml was pig heart SCS (Fig. 3-3A). The identity of SCS in each peak was confirmed by its ability to catalyze the formation of succinyl-CoA from succinate, CoA, and either ATP or GTP. Pig heart SCS can only utilize GTP, whereas *T. aquaticus* SCS can use either. This elution profile closely resembled the elution profile of a mixture of *E. coli* and pig heart SCS observed using the same column (33). Since the differences in molecular weight between the subunits of *E. coli*, *T. aquaticus*, and pig heart were small on the scale examined by gel filtration, these results indicated that *T. aquaticus* SCS was probably a tetramer.

The quaternary structure of *T. aquaticus* SCS was also elucidated by sedimentation equilibrium. Sedimentation equilibrium runs were conducted using three initial loading concentrations and two separate rotor speeds (Fig. 3-3B). The results fit a model where *T. aquaticus* SCS was a non-dissociating species with a molecular weight of 1.35×10^5 . As calculated from the amino acid sequence, the weight for tetrameric *T. aquaticus* SCS would be 142970. Thus, it was concluded that the quaternary structure of *T. aquaticus* SCS is a tetramer.

Enzymology of T. aquaticus SCS. The ability of *T. aquaticus* SCS to catalyze the formation of succinyl-CoA from ATP, CoA and succinate was measured at various pH values, and the results are shown in Figure 3-4. The pH profile for *T. aquaticus* SCS was essentially a symmetrical peak with the maximal activity occurring between pH 8.0 and 8.4. The maximal activity of *E. coli* and pig heart SCS occurs at pH 7.4 (34).

The kinetic parameters of *T. aquaticus* SCS were evaluated by steady state analysis of initial rates of succinyl-CoA formation at 22 °C and the results were plotted using Hanes-Wolf plots (35, 20) (Fig. 3-5). These plots were used because they gave better correlation coefficients than the more commonly used double reciprocal plots. The $K_{m(app)}$ values for all of the substrates except GTP are well within an order of magnitude of the values that have been determined for *E. coli* SCS (reviewed in (36)). The value of $K_{m(app)}$ for GTP was approximately 15 times less than the value of *E. coli* SCS for the same substrate. Like other SCS enzymes, *T. aquaticus* could not use oxaloacetate, acetoacetate, or malic acid as substrates. As would be expected for a thermophilic enzyme, operating well below its optimal temperature, the maximum velocity of succinyl-CoA production at room temperature was considerably lower than that which has been measured for the *E. coli* and pig heart enzymes at room temperature.

To evaluate the thermal stability, and to estimate the maximal velocity of T. aquaticus SCS, the formation of succinyl-CoA catalyzed by T. aquaticus SCS was measured at elevated temperatures. The severe dependence of the pH of Tris buffer on temperature necessitated the use of phosphate, as the buffering species. Unfortunately, as a consequence, the rate of reaction was reduced both by product inhibition, and by a nonoptimal pH of 7.4. The enzyme aliquot for each assay was taken from a stock solution that was incubated at each assay temperature (raised incrementally) for a minimum of 15 min. For comparison, the ability of pig heart and E. coli SCS to catalyze the formation of succinyl-CoA at elevated temperatures was also measured (Fig. 3-6). Pig heart SCS ceased to function at 49 °C, slightly lower than E. coli SCS at 55 °C, and both enzymes were observed to precipitate from the stock solution at these temperatures. In contrast, T. aquaticus SCS remained soluble and continued to function at all of the temperatures that could be measured. The increase in the activity of T. aquaticus SCS approached a plateau at approximately 66 °C, consistent with the optimal growth temperature reported for T. aquaticus of 70 - 80 °C (37). Although this would seem to indicate that the enzyme had reached its maximal velocity, the spontaneous hydrolysis of succinyl-CoA becomes significant at these temperatures, and thus these values of enzymatic activity may have been anomalously low. The rate of hydrolysis of succinyl-CoA at 75 °C was not dependent on its own concentration at approximately 40 µM (data not shown). If the rate of hydrolysis of succinyl-CoA is not at all dependent on concentration, the maximum rate of synthesis of succinyl-CoA by T. aquaticus SCS in the presence of 10 mM phosphate was 28.8 U/mg, which is consistent with the values that were observed for E. coli and pig heart SCS at room temperature.

Equilibrium Unfolding of T. aquaticus SCS. To compare the stabilities of T. aquaticus, E. coli, and pig heart SCS, to chemical denaturation, the activity of each enzyme was measured after incubation for 24 hours in various concentrations of either urea or



Figure 3-3. Determination of the quaternary structure of *T. aquaticus* SCS. A. Gel filtration of a mixture of *T. aquaticus* SCS and pig heart SCS. B. Sedimentation equilibrium of *T. aquaticus* SCS. The three sectors of the ultracentrifugation cell were loaded, each with a different initial protein concentration, 1.77 (\Box , \bigcirc), 1.31 (\Box , \bigcirc), and 0.8 mg/ml (\Box , \bigcirc) run at two speeds 12 x 10³ (circles) and 15 x 10³ rpm (squares). The data were best fit to a single-species model, represented by the lines drawn through the data points. The residuals for this fit are plotted in the upper panel, and the square root of the variance was 0.0156.



Figure 3-4. The pH profile of the activity of T. aquaticus SCS. The activity of T. aquaticus SCS was measured at different pH values in either (\square) MOPS or (\bigcirc) Tris HCl. The buffers are described in Materials and Methods.



Figure 3-5. Hanes-Wolf plots for *T. aquaticus* SCS. The 1 mL reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 8.0, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (114 μ M CoA, 10 mM succinate, and 405 μ M ATP or GTP) except for ATP in panel A, GTP in panel B, CoA in panel C, and succinate in panel D. The data were analyzed using the program ENZYME KINETICS (20). The y-intercept of the least squares line indicates the value of K_{m(app)}/V_{max}, and the slope indicates the value of 1/V_{max}. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated, as is the estimated error in the values of K_{m(app)} and V_{max}.



Figure 3-6. Temperature profile of SCS. The ability of *T. aquaticus* (\bigcirc), *E. coli* (\triangle), and pig heart (\square) SCS to catalyze the formation of succinyl-CoA was assayed at incremental temperatures following incubation in a water bath for a minimum of 15 min at each temperature. The activity plotted is relative to the activity at 22 °C, which was set at 100 %.



Figure 3-7. Denaturation of SCS. The ability of *T. aquaticus* (\bigcirc), *E. coli* (\triangle), and pig heart (\square) SCS to catalyze the formation of succinyl-CoA in various concentrations of urea (A) and guanidine HCl (B) was assayed following incubation for 24 hours at 22 °C in each concentration of denaturant.

guanidine HCl (Fig. 3-7). Pig heart SCS was most sensitive to denaturants, *T. aquaticus* SCS was most resistant and *E. coli* SCS was intermediate. In urea, *T. aquaticus* SCS was observed to lose activity between 4 M and 5.5 M where, remarkably, it regained activity with increasing concentrations of urea until reaching 70 % of its original activity in 8.5 M urea (Fig. 3-7A). This behavior may have been due to aggregation at the intermediate concentrations of urea, although no precipitation was observed. Lactate dehydrogenase from the thermophile *Thermotoga maritima* has been shown to aggregate at intermediate concentrations of guanidine HCl (38).

When the equilibrium unfolding of E. coli SCS in GuHCl was studied, the activity of E.coli SCS was lost prior to the denaturation of the protein as monitored by far-UV CD (39). In addition, there were two transitions in the denaturation of E. coli SCS by GuHCl with a marked plateau between. The existence of distinct intermediates in the unfolding process was indicated by the presence of two transitions as monitored by far-UV CD, and the fact that the loss of activity did not correspond to the loss of secondary structure. To see if the equilibrium unfolding of the thermophilic enzyme from T. aquaticus followed the same pattern, the changes in ellipticity at 220 and 222 nm were measured as a function of denaturant concentration using either 2.2 or 9.0 µM enzyme (Fig. 3-8). Unfolding was reversible at all GuHCl concentrations, and was not dependent on the concentration of enzyme. This is consistent with a very small dissociation constant for the dissociation of whole enzyme into subunits (recall that the sedimentation experiments indicated that the enzyme was a non-dissociating tetramer). Reminiscent of the observations with the E. coli enzyme (39), there were two transitions in the denaturation curve. The first (labeled 1 in Fig. 3-8) occurred at a [GuHCl]_{1/2} value of 2.2 M and the second (labeled 2 in Fig. 3-8) at a [GuHCl]_{1/2} value of 3.7 M. As would be expected for a more stable enzyme, the transitions occurred at higher GuHCl concentrations than those observed for the E. coli enzyme (39). Similar to the results with the E. coli enzyme, the activity of T. aquaticus SCS was lost prior to the loss of secondary structure. The T. aquaticus enzyme had lost all SCS activity in 1.8 M GuHCl, while the changes in the molar ellipticity did not even begin until 2.0 M, indicating the presence of multiple intermediates in the unfolding process.

To investigate the nature of the intermediates in the unfolding of T. aquaticus SCS, sedimentation equilibrium, gel filtration, SDS-PAGE, and far-UV circular dichroism were used. First, sedimentation equilibrium experiments were performed on T. aquaticus SCS in either 0.9 or 1.8 M GuHCl (Figures 3-9 and 3-10, respectively). Recall: in 0.9 M GuHCl, T. aquaticus SCS had lost little activity (Fig 3-7B). In 1.8 M GuHCl T. aquaticus SCS had lost all of its activity (Fig. 3-7B), however the secondary structures (monitored by changes in the ellipticity at 220 and 222 nm) were still intact (Fig. 3-8). Similar to the results observed earlier in benign buffer (Fig. 3-3), the data for sedimentation equilibrium of T. aquaticus SCS in 0.9 M GuHCl fit a model of a non-dissociating species with a molecular weight of 1.44×10^5 . However the results were more complicated in 1.8 M GuHCl. Moreover, the sedimentation equilibrium data did not fit any of the models for self-associating or dissociating species. The best fit of the data for 1.8 M GuHCl was a single species with an apparent molecular weight of 3.51×10^5 . However this fit is not good, as can be seen by the plot of the residuals and the best fit line drawn through the data points in Figure 3-10. By visual inspection, the protein concentrations in the bottom of the centrifuge cell looked much higher than those in 0.9 M GuHCl did, there was no precipitate or large scale aggregation evident at the bottom of the cell. The only valid conclusion that may be drawn is that in 1.8 M GuHCl, T. aquaticus SCS behaves as a high molecular weight oligomer.

The results of gel filtration chromatography in the presence of 1.8 M GuHCl are shown in Figure 3-11A (for comparison the elution profiles of *T. aquaticus* and pig heart SCS in benign buffer are also shown). In 1.8 M GuHCl, there was one major peak that eluted around 8 ml and one minor peak that eluted at approximately 9.7 ml. The exclusion volume for this column was 6.2 ml. SDS-PAGE analyses of the proteins in each of these



Figure 3-8. Denaturation of *T. aquaticus* SCS monitored by CD. Either 2.2 μ M (\odot), or 9.0 μ M (\odot) *T. aquaticus* SCS was incubated for 24 hours in solutions containing various concentrations of guanidine HCl, and the ellipticity was measured at 220 and 222 nm. The best fit line for each transition (labeled 1 and 2) was calculated separately according to y=a+b/(1+exp(c-x)/d) using the SIGMA PLOT program (61). The values of the correlation coefficients were 0.987, and 0.998 for the lower and upper transitions, respectively. The values for $\Delta G_u^{H_2O}$ and m (as defined in the footnote to Table 3-1) were obtained from replots of the data in each transition, and are given in Table 3-1.



Figure 3-9. Quaternary structure determination of *T. aquaticus* SCS in 0.9 M guanidine HCl, pH 7.4. Sedimentation equilibrium of *T. aquaticus* SCS. The three sectors of the ultracentrifugation cell were loaded each with a different initial protein concentration, 5 mg/ml (\Box , \bigcirc), 3 mg/ml (\Box , \bigcirc), and 1 mg/ml (\Box , \bigcirc) and the rotor run at two speeds 6 x 10³ (circles) and 10 x 10³ rpm (squares). The data were best fit a single-species model, represented by the lines drawn through the data points. The residuals for this fit are plotted in the upper panel. The square root of the variance was 0.0177.



Figure 3-10. Quaternary structure determination of *T. aquaticus* SCS in 1.8 M guanidine HCl, pH 7.4. Sedimentation equilibrium of *T. aquaticus* SCS. The three sectors of the ultracentrifugation cell were loaded each with a different initial protein concentration, 5 mg/ml (\Box , \supset), 3 mg/ml (\Box , \bigcirc), and 1 mg/ml (\Box , \bigcirc), and the rotor run at two speeds, 6 x 10³ (circles) and 10 x 10³ rpm (squares). The data were best fit a single-species model, represented by the lines drawn through the data points. The residuals for this fit are plotted in the upper panel.



Figure 3-11. Gel filtration chromatography of *T. aquaticus* SCS in 1.8 and 3 M guanidine HCl. A. The solid line represents elution profile of *T. aquaticus* SCS in the presence of 1.8 M GuHCl, carried out as described in Materials an Methods. The inset shows SDS-PAGE analysis of proteins in each of the two peak fractions, labeled peak 1 and 2. For reference, the elution profile of a mixture of *T. aquaticus* and pig heart SCS carried out in benign buffer on the same column is indicated by the dashed line. B. The elution profile from gel filtration chromatography performed on *T. aquaticus* SCS in the same buffer as in A, except the GuHCl concentration was 3.0 M. The inset shows SDS-PAGE analysis of various fractions collected from the column. The exclusion volume of the column was 6.2 ml.

peaks revealed that the major peak consisted of a mixture of α - and β -subunits, with the β subunit predominating (Fig. 3-11A, inset). The minor peak consisted of primarily α subunit. Thus, the loss of at least some of the α -subunit of SCS in 1.8 M GuHCl is consistent with the loss of SCS activity (Fig. 3-7), as neither of the subunits can catalyze the formation of succeinyl CoA alone. These results are consistent with the results of sedimentation equilibrium experiments if some the α -subunit has dissociated from the tetramer and left $\alpha\beta_2$ which forms a higher molecular weight oligomer.

The denaturation studies of *T. aquaticus* SCS in GuHCl (Fig. 3-8), showed that there were two transitions in the plot of molar ellipticity *versus* the concentration of GuHCl. To investigate the nature of the intermediate that exists between these two transitions, gel filtration chromatography of *T. aquaticus* SCS was performed in 3 M GuHCl. Two peaks were observed in the elution profile (Fig. 3-11B), the first eluted around 10 ml, and the second eluted around 13.1 ml. The proteins in various fractions were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and the results are shown in the inset of Figure 3-11B. The first peak consisted of essentially β -subunit, and the second of α -subunit alone. This raised the possibility that the first transition seen in the denaturation studies corresponded to the dissociation/unfolding of α -subunit from the tetramer of *T. aquaticus* SCS, and that the second transition reflected the unfolding of the remaining enzyme.

To see if each subunit retained its native structure in the absence of the other subunit, the α - and β -subunits were separated, and far-UV circular dichroism was carried out on individual subunits in benign buffer (Fig. 3-12A). The summation of the two spectra for the individual subunits resulted in a spectrum which closely resembled the spectrum of native enzyme in the same buffer (Fig. 3-12B). This indicated that the subunits can adopt a native fold independently, and thus major conformational changes are not required to form whole enzyme from the subunits.



Figure 3-12. Separated subunits of *T. aquaticus* retain their native conformation in benign buffer. A. Far UV-CD spectra of the α -subunit (dashed line) and β -subunit (solid line) of *T. aquaticus* SCS collected at 22 °C (see Materials an Methods for experimantal details). B. Far UV-CD spectrum of *T. aquaticus* SCS whole enzyme (solid line) and the spectrum obtained by summing those in panel A (dashed line).

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 3-13. Denaturation of *T. aquaticus* SCS subunits monitored by far-UV CD. Purified α -subunit (\blacksquare) or β -subunit (Δ) was incubated individually for 24 hours in solutions containing various concentrations of GuHCl, and ellipticity at 222 nm was measured. See Materials and Methods for experimental details) The best fit line for each transition is shown and was calculated according to y=a+b/(1+exp(c-x)/d) using the SIGMA PLOT program (61). The values for $\Delta G_u^{H_2O}$ and m were obtained from replots of the transitions and are given in Table 3-1.

To investigate the possibility that the denaturation of whole enzyme was simply a sum of the denaturation of the subunits, the denaturation of each of the subunits alone in GuHCl was monitored by far-UV CD. The changes in molar ellipticity at 222 nm were measured as a function of denaturant concentration and the results plotted in Figure 3-13. The unfolding transitions for both the α - and β -subunits were cooperative and were reversible at all denaturant concentrations. When the denaturation curves for the two separate subunits were added together, they did not resemble the denaturation curve for the whole enzyme, indicating that the denaturation of whole enzyme is not simply a sum of the

	$[\Delta G_u^H 2^O]_{app}^a$	mª	Correlation	[GuHCl] _{1/2} ^b
Protein	(kJ/mol)	kJ/mol/M	coefficient	(M)
Whole enzyme first transition	29 ± 4	13 ± 2	0.986	2.2
Whole enzyme second transition	25 ± 1	7.1 ± 0.4	0.998	3.7
α-subunit	6.7 ± 0.4	3.1 ± 0.2	0.998	2.19
β-subunit	10.0 ± 0.8	5.4 ± 0.4	0.997	1.95

Table 3-1 Thermodynamic Parameters for the Unfolding of T. aquaticus SCS.

^a These values were calculated by extrapolation of a replot of the molar ellipticities using the equation $\Delta G = -RTInK$, where $K = (\Theta_N - \Theta_{obs})/(\Theta_{obs} - \Theta_U)$; Θ_N is the molar ellipticity observed at 0 M GuHCl, and Θ_U is the molar ellipticity observed at the maximum concentration of GuHCl, and Θ_{obs} is the observed molar ellipticity (40). In the vicinity of the transition the resulting plot was fit to the equation $\Delta G = \Delta G_u^{H_2O} - m[GuHCl]$ (reviewed in (12)) with the correlation coefficient listed.

^b These values were obtained by interpolation from the graphs, and are consistent with the values obtained by the calculation $[GuHCl]_{1/2} = [\Delta G_u^{H_2O}]_{app}/m$.

denaturation of the individual subunits. Values of $[\Delta G_u^{H_2 0}]_{app}$ and m for the transitions of the individual subunits and of the whole enzyme were calculated from replots using the molar ellipticity data (40, 12). These are summarized in Table 3-1. The value for $[\Delta G_u^{H_2 0}]_{app}$ is the free energy of unfolding which represents the stability of the protein in water, and the value for m is proportional to the amount of surface area that is exposed upon denaturation (12). All of the thermodynamic parameters associated with the transitions for the individual subunits were lower than those for the whole enzyme, indicating that the complex of the subunits (native enzyme) is more stable than the isolated subunits. Thus, the denaturation of whole enzyme is not simply a sum of the denaturation of individual subunits, even though the subunits retain most of their native conformation when isolated. It should be noted that for whole enzyme, the calculation of $[\Delta G_u^{H_2O}]_{app}$ assumed a two state transition for a monomer, which was obviously not correct. However, the proper calculation for a heterotetramer requires knowledge of the various association constants, and was thus not possible. In addition, the prevalent species just prior to the beginning of the first transition in the denaturation of *T. aquaticus* SCS was observed to be a high molecular weight oligomer (Fig. 3-11A) of uncertain composition with unknown association constants.

Refolding of T. aquaticus SCS. The experimental conditions for refolding both denatured pig heart and E. coli SCS have been reported (16, 18). Refolding of E. coli SCS from separated subunits has been well characterized with respect to its dependence on pH, temperature, and protein concentration (16). Since the T. aquaticus enzyme has the same oligomeric structure as the E. coli enzyme, I wished to investigate whether the refolding of T. aquaticus SCS follows the same path as does E. coli SCS.

Initially, the refolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS was attempted by rapid dilution into 60 mM potassium phosphate, 50 mM KCl, pH 7.4, in which denatured *E. coli* SCS refolds well. This buffer is called "Benign" in Figure 3-14. However in the case of *T. aquaticus* SCS, precipitate formed in the refolding solution, and less than 50 % of the original activity was recovered after refolding in this buffer. In addition, when heated to 75 °C for one hour, or to 86 °C for 20 min, the enzymatic activity that was recovered at room temperature was not stable (Fig. 3-14). Denatured *T. aquaticus* SCS did not refold under the conditions that were used for refolding pig heart SCS (18) (data not shown). The refolding

of T. aquaticus SCS was successful when refolding was carried out by rapid dilution into 0.67 M arginine, 60 mM potassium phosphate, pH 7.4 (41). 100 % of the original activity was recovered when the refolding was conducted in arginine pH 7.4 (Fig. 3-14). However this activity was not stable after heating. As can also be seen in Figure 3-14, only 50 % of the original activity was recovered from refolding conducted at a higher pH, 0.67 M arginine, 60 mM potassium phosphate, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 8.0, and this activity was also not stable to heating. No precipitate was observed in either the pH 7.4 or pH 8.0 refolding mixtures. The thermostability of T. aquaticus SCS was restored by exchanging the arginine buffer for benign buffer (using a Millipore spin filter) after refolding in the arginine buffer was complete (Fig 3-14). Two conclusions can be drawn from these results. 1. Since T. aquaticus SCS cannot be refolded in buffers used for E. coli and pig heart SCS, the refolding of denatured T. aquaticus SCS does not follow the same path as these enzymes. This conclusion is reinforced by the observation that the E. coli and pig heart enzymes cannot be refolded by rapid dilution into the arginine refolding buffer (data not shown). 2. Although there was full recovery of activity from the arginine refolding buffer, pH 7.4, when assayed at 22 °C, the refolding is not complete and T. aquaticus SCS remains only partially folded in this solution.

The Kinetics of Refolding T. aquaticus SCS. To further investigate the refolding of T. aquaticus SCS, the dependence of the kinetics of refolding on the temperature and protein concentration was examined. Denatured T. aquaticus SCS was refolded by rapid dilution into 0.67 M arginine, 60 mM potassium phosphate, pH 7.4, at 12, 22 and 37 °C. Samples were taken and assayed for SCS activity at 22 °C (Fig. 3-15A). The results indicated that the refolding of T. aquaticus SCS was temperature dependent, and the rate of refolding followed apparent first order kinetics. Omission of phosphate from the buffer did not affect the rate of refolding (data not shown). The data for the refolding was fit to first order kinetics, and the rate constants for the recovery of activity were obtained using the program



Figure 3-14. The refolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS requires high concentrations of arginine and buffer exchange. Denatured *T. aquaticus* SCS was refolded (labeled R) by rapid dilution (1:20) into benign buffer, or into pH 7.4 arginine buffer, or into pH 8.0 arginine buffer, or first by rapid dilution into pH 7.4 arginine refold buffer followed by buffer exchange into benign buffer. Following dilution, the refolding solutions were incubated for 5 hours at 22 °C, and the SCS activity was either measured immediately at 22 °C (shown in blue), or after incubation for one hour at 75 °C (shown in orange), or after incubation for 20 min at 80 °C (shown in red). Control samples of native enzyme (labeled C) were not denatured prior to rapid dilution. The recovered activity was calculated as a percentage based on the activity of the control sample that had not been heated.



Figure 3-15. Temperature and concentration dependence of the kinetics refolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS. Denatured *T. aquaticus* SCS in 6 M Guanidine HCl was refolded by rapid dilution (1:20) into pH 7.4 arginine buffer. Samples were taken at various times after the initiation of refolding and assayed for SCS activity. In panel A, denatured *T. aquaticus* SCS at a final concentration of 0.59 mg/ml, was refolded at 12 °C (\bigcirc), 22 °C (\square), or 37 °C (\triangle). The first order rate constants were evaluated at 12 °C (8.06 x 10⁻⁴ s⁻¹, r = 0.996), 22 °C, (3.00 x 10⁻³ s⁻¹, r = 0.990), and 37 °C, (7.53 x 10⁻³ s⁻¹, r = 0.980); and were plotted against the respective temperatures as shown in the inset. The slope and the correlation coefficient of the linear fit are indicated. In panel B, denatured *T. aquaticus* SCS at a final concentration of 0.59 mg/ml (\square), 0.24 mg/ml (\triangle), or 0.059 mg/ml (\bigcirc) was refolded at 22 °C.

KALIDAGRAPH (42), and replotted using an Arrhenius plot (see inset in Figure 3-14A). From this plot, the energy of activation (E_a) associated with the refolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS estimated to be 64.7 kJ/mol.

The concentration dependence of refolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS was also examined with a final protein concentration of 0.59, 0.23, and 0.059 mg/ml in the refolding mixture. Denatured *T. aquaticus* SCS was refolded in the same manner as described for the temperature dependence study, but assayed for activity only at 22 °C (Fig. 3-15B). Consistent with the results of the equilibrium unfolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS, the kinetics of refolding also were not dependent on the concentration of protein tested.

Characterization of the Partially Folded T. aquaticus SCS. Despite the high recovery of activity after refolding, the initial experiments had indicated that refolded T. aquaticus SCS was not thermostable (see above). To asess the stability of the "refolded" form of T. aquaticus SCS, its ability to catalyze the formation of succinyl-CoA at different temperatures was measured in the same manner used initially for the E. coli, pig heart and T. aquaticus enzymes (Fig. 3-16). The "refolded" form is much less thermostable than the native form of T. aquaticus SCS, and only slightly more stable than the E. coli enzyme (compare Fig. 3-6 and 3-16). Nevertheless, refolded T. aquaticus SCS appeared to have full activity at 22 °C when assayed in the standard manner under saturating conditions of substrates.

The kinetic parameters of refolded *T. aquaticus* SCS were evaluated by steady state analysis of initial rates of succinyl-CoA formation at 22 °C. Differences in the apparent kinetic parameters as compared to the native enzyme, could indicate an area of the enzyme that is perturbed in the refolded enzyme. The results of the kinetic analysis were plotted using Hanes-Wolf plots (Fig. 3-17). The apparent kinetic parameters were essentially the same as those of the native enzyme. Remarkably, the instability of refolded *T. aquaticus* SCS did not disturb substrate binding or catalysis at 22 °C.



Figure 3-16. Temperature dependence profile of native and refolded *T. aquaticus* SCS. The ability of native (\bigcirc) , and refolded (\bigcirc) *T. aquaticus* SCS to catalyze the formation of succinyl-CoA at various temperatures was assayed following incubation in a water bath for a minimum of 15 min at each temperature. See Materials and Methods for experimental details



Figure 3-17. Hanes-Wolf plots for refolded T. aquaticus SCS. The 1 mL reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 8.0, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (115 µM CoA, 10 mM succinate, and 405 µM ATP or GTP) except for ATP in panel A, GTP in panel B, CoA in panel C, and succinate in panel D. The data were analyzed using the program ENZYME KINETICS (20). The y-intercept of the least squares line indicates the value of $K_{m(app)}/V_{max}$, and the slope indicates the value of $1/V_{max}$. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated, as is the estimated error in the values of $K_{m(app)}$ and V_{max} .

 $K_{m(app)} = 2.0 \pm 0.7 \,\mu M$

 $V_{max} = 4.7 \pm 0.2$ U/mg

80

6000

100

8000

60



Figure 3-18. Gel filtration chromatography of refolded *T. aquaticus* SCS. The solid line represents the elution profile of refolded *T. aquaticus* SCS in the pH 7.4 arginine refold buffer. For reference, the gel filtration of a mixture of native *T. aquaticus* and pig heart SCS in benign buffer is indicated by the dashed line. See Materials and Methods for experimental details.

For the dimeric form of *E. coli* SCS, the kinetic parameters remained the same as the wild-type enzyme, however the dimer was less soluble and less stable than the wild-type tetramer (33). In addition, studies on the conformational stability of dimeric proteins has indicated that dimerization (from monomers) leads to a substantial increase in stability (43). To investigate the possibility that the instability of *T. aquaticus* SCS was due to the formation of dimeric and not tetrameric enzyme, gel filtration chromatography of refolded enzyme was performed (Fig. 3-18). The peak of refolded *T. aquaticus* SCS eluted around 11.2 ml, essentially where native *T. aquaticus* SCS eluted from the same column, and well before dimeric pig heart SCS. This result indicated that refolded *T. aquaticus* SCS was tetrameric.

Comparison of the Pig Heart, E. coli and T. aquaticus SCS Amino Acid Sequences. The basis for the relative stabilities of pig heart, E. coli, and T. aquaticus SCS was examined comparing amino acid sequences in conjunction with structural information from the pig heart and E. coli SCS structures (26-28). Direct comparison of the amino acid composition of the three enzymes is shown in Figure 3-19. The two relative trends observed going from pig heart SCS to E. coli SCS to T. aquaticus SCS: first, a decrease in the number of Ser, Asn, Gln, Cys, and Phe, and second, an increase in the number of Arg, Ala, Val, and Met.

Analysis of the general amino acid composition only counts the net change in the number of each amino acid, and ignores the context dependence of the substitutions. That is, specific amino acids may be lost (e.g. Leu and Ile) in favor of other similar amino acids (e.g. Val). This deficiency was addressed by looking at the nature of the amino acid substitutions between the three enzymes using the sequence alignments shown in Figures 1-2 and 1-3. In Figure 3-20, the substitutions of any amino acid for every other amino acid are compiled in a frequency chart. The values listed are the number of times a given amino acid from a less stable protein is substituted with a specific amino acid in a more stable protein. Recall that pig heart SCS was less stable than *E. coli* SCS which, in turn, was




154

					Unchar	aed Pa	olar			Char	ged					Моп	-Polar					
			S	т	N	Q	С	н	D	E	R	к	G	Α	V	L	I	М	F	Y	w	Ρ
es	æ	8	.	9		0	0	2	0	6	1	3	2	14	1	0	0	2	1	1	0	0
Ę	õ	т	9		1	2	0	2	2	6	4	6	1	6	6	7	5	0	0	4	0	0
N	b	Ň	3	5	-	1	Ō	1	5	9	~	11	2	4	3	2_	A 0	0	0	2	0	1
5	ğ	ö	10	5	2	-	Ō	3	6	H	9	5	1	2	3	5	68	2	0	1	0	2
~	Å	ō	0	5	õ	0	-	0	0	0	-0	1	0	7	3	4	3	1	0	0	0	0
ő	Š	Ĥ	0	Ō	0	0	0	-	L o	3	1	3	0	1	4	0	0	1	2	0	0	0
С) ()	σ	D	1	A	2	2	0	3	<u></u>	8	4	5	4	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	3
Ē	ĝ	5	2	3	3	- 6	Ő	0	6	-	3	11	7	14	3	5	20	2	2	0	0	3
Ĩa	hai	6		1	5	5	õ	Õ	1	8	-	8	1	2	3	2	J 0	0	0	1	0	1
ດ ຮ	O	ĸ	2	8	6	-8	Õ	1	4	10	11	•	7	8	8	1	0	4	0	1	0	8
Se.		G			1	0	0	0	1	4	4	2) -	12	3	1	0	0	0	2	0	0
		Δ	5	1	i	1	3	2	9	10	1	4	14	-	12	7	3	5	1	4	1	4
.=	-	v	1	3	1	1	Ō	Õ	1	3	1	4	3	14	-	9	27	5	1	1	0	4
õ	ola	Ť	2	2	1	ò	Ō	3		10	_3	3	1	9	21	•	26	4	10	1	0	0
Ū.	_	ī	10	ō	A	A	0	1	0	Q	Q	2	0	8	35	19	-	1	4	1	1	3
A	P	M	lo	Õ	- 1 ⁻	Y	0	0	1		4	0	0	0	2	2	3	-	1	0	1	0
ĕ		F	lo	0	1	Ó	0	2	0	0	1	4	2	6	1	15	4	1	•	6	1	0
Ē		Ŷ	lo	Ō	Ó	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	0	2	2	2	0	1	4	•	2	0
Ā		Ŵ	0	Ō	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	•	0
		P	0	3	2	0	0	0	2	0	2	9	2	4	2	1	1	1	1	0	0	-

Amino Acids in More Stable SCS Enzymes

Figure 3-20. Amino acid replacements in more stable SCS enzymes. The number of times an amino acid from a less stable enzyme in each row was replaced by an amino acid in a more stable enzyme in the column is shown. Amino acids that showed a directional bias are indicated in bold print. For example, there were more Leu_{less stable enzyme} substituted for Val_{more stable enzyme} (21) than there were Val_{less stable enzyme} substituted for Leu_{more stable enzyme} (9). A directional bias was deemed to exist when there were at least 4 more substitutions in one direction than in the other, and the ratio of the number of substitutions in each direction was greater than 2. The totals for each grouping of amino acids is shown in large print in the boxes, red indicates changes in the less stable to more stable direction (e.g. Uncharged Polar_{less stable} \rightarrow Polar_{more stable}) and blue represents changes in the opposite direction (e.g. Polar_{less stable} \rightarrow Uncharged Polar_{more stable}). The total number of conservative substitutions is indicated in yellow. less stable than *T. aquaticus* SCS (see for example Fig 3-6 and 3-7). For discussion, the amino acids are grouped into three categories based on their side chains: uncharged polar, charged polar, and nonpolar (44). Conservative substitutions (substitutions for amino acids within the same group) were by far the largest number of substitutions. This was especially evident for Val, Ile, and Leu. The other trend observed was the substitution of uncharged polar amino acids in "less stable" SCS for any others in "more stable" SCS. This is consistent with what Haney *et al.* found in a comparison of genes from a thermophilic and a mesophilic *Methanococcus* species (45). It has been suggested that an increase in the volume of hydrophobic residues is one way proteins can increase their stability (46-48). In more stable SCS there is a slight tendency for a greater number of hydrophobic amino acids that have smaller side chains. The most biased substitutions in the non-polar group are $L_{less stable} \rightarrow V_{more stable}$, $I_{less stable} \rightarrow A_{more stable} \rightarrow A_{more stable}$ all of which effectively decrease the size of the side chain.

Comparison of the amino acid sequences of several enzymes that have thermophilic and mesophilic counterparts revealed that helix stabilizing residues were favored in the thermophilic proteins (46). The SCS sequences were examined to see if there was a tendency for substitution of residues that would potentially stabilize the appropriate secondary structures in the more stable proteins. The pig heart, *E. coli*, and *T. aquaticus* SCS amino acid sequences were compared using the secondary structure from the *E. coli* enzyme as a reference (28). The substitutions from a less stable protein to a more stable protein were counted based on whether the substitutions in the more stable protein stabilized or destabilized the secondary structure in which it resided. Only α -helices or β sheets were considered. The list of residues that stabilized each secondary structure was taken from the survey of the PDB done by Levitt (32). There were 220 substitutions that stabilized their corresponding secondary structure in the more stable SCS, and there were 193 substitutions that destabilized their corresponding secondary structure. Thus, there was only a slight "improvement" in the stabilization of secondary structures in the more stable SCS sequences. In addition, in the amino acid sequence of *T. aquaticus*, there are two proline residues that would occur in the center of α -helices based on *E. coli* SCS, indicating that these α -helices in T. aquaticus SCS are either shortened or broken in the center.

Comparison of the crystal structures of mesophilic and thermophilic enzymes has revealed several features that were correlated with thermophilicity (46, 49, 47, 50, 48). One of these was an increase in the number of intrasubunit ion pairs. The ion pairs between side chains in *E. coli* and pig heart SCS were identified using the crystallographic structures of these enzymes (26, 28). The potential ion pairs in *T. aquaticus* were predicted using the amino acid sequence alignment of *E. coli* and *T. aquaticus* SCS shown in Figures 1-2 and 1-3 as described in Materials and Methods. Tabulation of the ion pairs in *E. coli* SCS, and pig heart SCS, and the potential ion pairs in *T. aquaticus* SCS are tabulated in Table 3-2 below. There are more intrasubunit ion pairs in the *E. coli* enzyme than in the pig heart enzyme, and even more potential ion pairs in the *T. aquaticus* enzyme. Furthermore, there is also an additional number of potential intersubunit ion pairs in *T. aquaticus* SCS.

	Intrasubunit Ion l	Pairs	Intersubunit Ion Pairs				
Enzyme Source	α-subunit	β-subunit	α,/β,	α_1/β_2			
Pig Heart	8	13	3	na ^c			
E. coli	11	20	3	4			
T. aquaticus	18	27	7	7			

Table 3-2. Ion Pairs in SCS from Pig Heart^a, E. coli^a, and T. aquaticus^b.

* Evaluated using the program CONTACT form the CCP4 package and the crystallographic structures of either pig heart of *E. coli* SCS (26, 28).

^b Evaluated using the structure of *E. coli* SCS and the sequence alignment in Figures 1-2 and 1-3 as outlined in Materials and Methods.

c Not applicable, because pig heart SCS is a dimeric enzyme that consists of only one α -subunit and one β -subunit. The *T. aquaticus* and *E. coli* enzymes are heterotetramers with two of each subunit.

Discussion

It has been proposed that the folding of polypeptides follows an energy landscape that is shaped like a funnel with the most stable (native) form at the bottom (9-11). If folding intermediates exist for a given protein, then they are represented by valleys in this landscape. The transitions states on the way to the native state are represented by peaks in this landscape. Thus, the energy landscape for a protein that shows a two state transition between folded and unfolded forms is a smooth funnel. In addition, it has been proposed that discrete folding units exist (15). Taken together these would imply that proteins having the same protein fold should also fold in the same manner. This has been shown to be the case for the cold shock protein Csp B, which undergoes a two state transition (13). To consider this implication in a system that has a "rough" energy landscape, the folding of a thermophilic enzyme, *T. aquaticus* SCS, was compared to that of a previously investigated mesophilic enzyme, *E. coli* SCS.

Equilibrium Unfolding of T. aquaticus SCS, and Comparison to E. coli SCS. The equilibrium unfolding of E. coli SCS has a number of intermediates (17) and thus has a "rough" energy landscape. The activity of E. coli SCS in increasing concentrations of GuHCl was lost prior to any observed changes in optical measurements (fluorescence, or far-UV CD), and two transitions were evident in measurements by far-UV circular dichroism (17), reflecting changes in secondary structure. These results implied the existence of multiple intermediates during the unfolding of E. coli SCS. In similar ways the equilibrium unfolding of T. aquaticus SCS also implied a number of intermediates. Like E. coli SCS, the whole enzyme lost all catalytic activity prior to any changes in secondary structure, and measurements of the ellipticity in different concentrations of GuHCl revealed two transitions. As would be expected for a thermophilic enzyme, these transitions occurred at higher GuHCl concentrations ([GuHCl]_{1/2} of 2.2 M and 3.7 M) than the corresponding transitions for the E. coli enzyme ([GuHCl]_{1/2} of 0.75 M, and 1.68 M). Re-analysis of the Nishimura and Kahn data for the denaturation of E. coli SCS in GuHCl

as monitored by CD (39) produced values for $[\Delta G_u^H 2^O]_{app}$ and m associated with E. coli SCS. The $[\Delta G_u^{H_2 0}]_{app}$ is an estimate of the stability of the protein in the absence of denaturant, and m is proportional to the increase in solvent accessible surface area upon unfolding (40, 51, 12). The $[\Delta G_u^{H_2O}]_{app}$ values for the unfolding of *E. coli* SCS were, 10.9 kJ/mol, and 12.3 kJ/mol, for the first and second transitions, respectively. Consistent with the relative values observed for the [GuHCl]_{1/2} these values for $[\Delta G_u^{\ H}2^o]_{_{app}}$ are 2-3 times less than those determined for the T. aquaticus enzyme (Table 3-1). The m values for the denaturation of E. coli SCS (14.6 kJ/mol/M for the first transition, and 7.3 kJ/mol/M for the second) compare favorably to the values of m for the T. aquaticus enzyme (13 and 7.1 kJ/mol/M, respectively), indicating that the domains being denatured in T. aquaticus SCS expose approximately the same surface area to the solvent as those in E. coli SCS. This would imply that the intermediates in the equilibrium unfolding of T. aquaticus SCS resemble those in the unfolding of E. coli SCS. Further investigation of the changes in fluorescence of the T. aquaticus enzyme and of the intermediates present in the unfolding of the E. coli enzyme in various concentrations of guanidine should be completed prior to the assertion of equivalence between these pathways.

The analysis of the intermediates in the equilibrium unfolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS revealed two intermediates. First after the enzyme had lost catalytic activity in GuHCl, but before there were any changes in the molar ellipticity, the results from gel filtration chromatography and sedimentation equilibrium indicated the presence of high molecular weight species deficient in the α -subunit. Thus, the loss in activity was either due to oligomerization or due to the dissociation of some of the α -subunit. Second, at concentrations of GuHCl between the two transitions observed by far-UV CD, the intermediate species of SCS present were partially folded and separated subunits, and the first transition reflected the partial denaturation of part of at least one of the subunits. This was concluded because gel filtration chromatography had shown that the subunits were

separated, and equilibrium denaturation of the isolated subunits had shown that denaturation of whole enzyme was not simply the sum of the denaturation of each subunit.

Thermodynamic Constants Derived from the Equilibrium Unfolding. The equilibrium denaturation of either separated subunits or whole T. aquaticus SCS in various concentrations of GuHCl was used to calculate the corresponding values of $[\Delta G_u^{H_2O}]_{app}$, and m. Neither of these values for the individual subunits coincided with the values for either transition associated with unfolding the whole enzyme, indicating that neither of these transitions corresponded solely to the denaturation either subunit. The values of $[\Delta G_{\mu}^{H_2 o}]_{and}$ for the isolated subunits were significantly lower than those for the whole enzyme, indicating that in the heterotetramer, the subunits are stabilized by association with each other. The m value for the isolated α -subunit was 1.35 times less than the m value for the β -subunit, consistent with 1.7, the ratio of the mass of the β -subunit to the mass of the α -subunit, and an approximate estimation of surface exposed. Summation of the m values for the two transitions in the whole enzyme gives a value of 20.1 kJ/mol·M for the denaturation of whole enzyme. Within experimental error this is consistent with a value of 17 kJ/mol·M derived by summation of m values for the isolated subunits times 2 (two of each subunit make up the tetramer). This indicated that the surface area exposed by denaturation of the individual subunits was approximately the same as that exposed by denaturation of the native enzyme. The 3 kJ/mol·M difference may reflect the surface area between the subunits. This implied that the isolated subunits retain most of their native structure, which is consistent with the results of far-UV CD of the isolated subunits (Fig 3-12).

The values of $[\Delta G_u^{H_2 0}]_{app}$ for *T. aquaticus* SCS (29 and 25 kJ/mol), although higher than those for the *E. coli* enzyme, are in the mid-range of the values that have been measured for other, primarily mesophilic proteins (20-60 kJ/mol) (52). This indicates that the thermal stability of *T. aquaticus* SCS does not arise from an increase in the $[\Delta G_u^{H_2 0}]_{app}$, but rather from a change in the dependence of the $\Delta G_u^{H_2 0}$ on temperature. For proteins,



Figure 3-21. Models for the dependence of free energy on temperature. Curve M (solid line) represents the relationship between the free energy of unfolding, ΔG_u , and temperature for a typical mesophilic protein. Curve 1 (dashed line), the thermophilic protein has greater stability over all temperatures. Curve 2 (dashed and dotted line), the magnitude of ΔG_u depends less on temperature. Curve 3 (dotted line) the relationship between ΔG_u and temperature is the same as that for the mesophilic protein, but is shifted to a higher temperature. This figure was taken from Beadle *et al.*(54).

the dependence of the free energy of unfolding, ΔG_u , on temperature graphically describes a parabola (40), and several models have been proposed to explain the thermal stability of thermophilic proteins (53, 54) (Fig. 3-21). A thermophilic enzyme could have a greater ΔG_u over all temperatures (Fig. 3-21, curve 1), or the dependence of ΔG_u on temperature could be either flattened or shifted to higher temperatures (Fig. 3-21, curves 2 or 3, respectively). The thermal stability of *T. aquaticus* SCS likely does not arise entirely from the model represented by curve 1 because its ΔG_u is no higher than that of other mesophilic proteins. However, it also does not arise entirely from either of the other models, because they predict that the ΔG_u should be lower or equal to that for the *E. coli* protein at room temperature. Thus, the thermal stability of *T. aquaticus* SCS arises from a combination of these models. It is more stable than *E. coli* SCS at 22 °C, and is either less dependent on temperature or its optimal stability is shifted to a higher temperature. These possibilities can be distinguished by repeating the denaturation of *T. aquaticus* SCS in GuHCl at different temperatures.

Kinetics of Refolding T. aquaticus SCS. To extend the comparison between the folding of the thermophilic T. aquaticus SCS, and mesophilic SCS from E. coli, the kinetics of refolding of T. aquaticus SCS was examined. The conditions under which pig heart SCS (18) or E. coli SCS (16, 39) were refolded could not be used for the refolding of T. aquaticus SCS, nor could the conditions developed for the refolding of T. aquaticus SCS be used for the refolding of pig heart or E. coli SCS. This indicated that the refolding of these enzymes in vitro were quite different from one another. Further investigation of the kinetics of refolding of T. aquaticus SCS required the use of arginine in the refolding solution. It has been proposed that co-solvents such as glycerol, sorbitol, trehalose, lysine and arginine facilitate refolding by preferentially increasing the solvation of the native form of the protein of interest (55-57). Studies on RNAse A have indicated that arginine also bound protein lowering its stability (57). Thus, the mechanism of the arginine mediated refolding of T. aquaticus SCS likely involves both of these effects, 1. an increase in the

solvation of the native form of *T. aquaticus* SCS, and 2. by providing a scaffold for the folding.

The rates of refolding *T. aquaticus* SCS in solutions containing arginine followed apparent first order kinetics (Fig 3-15), indicating that the rate limiting step in refolding was a unimolecular conformational change. An Arrhenius plot of the apparent first order rate constants of the refolding reactions at the different temperatures showed that the energy of activation for this conformational change was 65 kJ/mol. The corresponding value for *E. coli* SCS is 21.8 kJ/mol (16). These relative values are consistent with the respective growth temperatures for *E. coli* and *T. aquaticus*. The *T. aquaticus* enzyme can have a higher activation energy for folding than the *E. coli* enzyme because there is more thermal energy at the optimal growth temperature for *T. aquaticus*.

Consistent with the conclusion that the rate limiting step in refolding T. aquaticus SCS was a unimolecular conformational change, the rate of refolding was not concentration dependent over a 10 fold range in concentration. This is in contrast to the refolding of the *E. coli* enzyme, which is concentration dependent over the same concentration range (16).

An Intermediate in the Refolding of T. aquaticus SCS. The efficiency of refolding of a denatured enzyme is generally judged by the recovery of catalytic activity. However for a few proteins the recovery of activity does not correlate with recovery of the native structure (58-60). Refolding of T. aquaticus SCS in arginine buffer resulted in full recovery of enzymatic activity when measured at 22 °C, however the protein was no longer thermostable. To investigate the source of this instability, a full set of kinetic experiments, and gel filtration chromatography were conducted. All of the results with the refolded protein were indistinguishable from those of native T. aquaticus SCS. In fact, the $K_{m(app)}$ values for substrates were slightly lower for refolded T. aquaticus SCS than for the native enzyme, implying intact and functional active sites. Thus, the source of the instability in T. aquaticus SCS is likely to be in the protein core. This has been shown to be the case in two other proteins that have been examined. Refolded β -lactoglobulin also exhibited a complete recovery of its ligand binding activity, but was less stable than wild type enzyme. Significantly, both the binding of monoclonal antibodies and the lifetime of tryptophan phosphorescence were altered by refolding (58, 60). In the case of *E. coli* alkaline phosphatase, maximal enzymatic activity was regained after only one hour, while the lifetime of tryptophan phosphorescence did return to native values for several days (59). Refolded SCS from *T. aquaticus* does not recover its thermal stability in arginine buffers after 2 weeks. It does however recover its thermal stability after approximately 5 hours when the buffer is changed to a minimal phosphate/KCl buffer. There is one tryptophan in each of the α - and β -subunits that could be used to monitor phosphorescence to investigate the possibility that the instability is due to poor packing in the hydrophobic core.

Sequence Analysis of Three SCS Enzymes of Increasing Stability. A number of comparison studies have examined the sequences and crystallographic structures of mesophilic proteins and their thermophilic counterparts, and have concluded that several factors contribute to the thermophilicity of proteins (46, 49, 47, 50, 48, 45). These include the following: 1) an increase in the number of α -helix stabilizing residues, 2) an increase in the volume of buried hydrophobic residues, 3) an increase in ion pairs and hydrogen bonds between a charged residue and a neutral residue, and 4) a decrease in the surface to volume ratio of the protein. Examination of the amino acid sequences of the pig heart, E. coli and T. aquaticus SCS revealed that a number of seemingly minor changes in sequence are responsible for the increased stability of E. coli SCS when compared to pig heart SCS and of T. aquaticus SCS when compared to E. coli. SCS. Consistent with the extensive survey of amino acid sequences from mesophilic and thermophilic proteins from Methanococcus species conducted by Haney et al. (45), the uncharged polar residues in less stable SCS were predominantly changed to almost any other residue in sequences of the more stable enzymes. In the amino acid sequences of the more stable enzymes, there was also a slight increase in the number of residues that would potentially stabilize the secondary structures in which they reside. There was also an increase in the number of ion pairs or potential ion pairs in the more stable enzymes. In contrast to previous studies, the volume of the hydrophobic residues decreased because the conservative substitutions were in favour of residues with smaller side chains. However there was an increase in the total number of hydrophobic residues, which may lead to an increase in the total volume buried non-polar residues. Overall, these changes are not major since the thermodynamic parameters that were determined for *T. aquaticus* SCS indicated that although the *T. aquaticus* enzyme was more stable than the *E. coli* enzyme, it was still in the mid range of mesophilic proteins.

To summarize, the results of equilibrium unfolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS implied that the intermediates present at equilibrium may be similar to those present during the equilibrium unfolding of *E. coli* SCS. This supported the hypothesis that the folding of proteins with similar protein structures should be similar, as is the case for the folding of CspB (13). However, when the recovery of activity was monitored, the refolding of denatured *T. aquaticus* SCS did not even remotely resemble that of *E. coli* SCS, indicating that the paths that these enzymes take to reach those equilibrium intermediates are different. To further investigate those paths, it would be interesting to see if the recovery of secondary structure was the same in *T. aquaticus* SCS as in *E. coli* SCS.

References:

- 1. Jaenicke, R. (1991) Biochemistry 30, 3147-3161.
- 2. Levitt, M., Gerstein, M., Huang, E., Subbiah, S., & Tsai, J. (1997) Annu. Rev. Biochem. 66, 549-579.
- 3. Callender, R. H., Dyer, R. B., Gilmanshin, R., & Woodruff, W. H. (1998) Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 49, 173-202.
- 4. Baldwin, R. L., & Rose, G. D. (1999) Trends Biochem. Sci. 24, 26-33.
- 5. Baldwin, R. L., & Rose, G. D. (1999) Trends Biochem. Sci. 24, 77-83.
- 6. Anfinsen, C. B., Haber, E., Sela, M., & White, F. H. J. (1961) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.47 USA 47, 1309-1314.
- 7. Anfinsen, C. B. (1973) Science 181, 223-230.
- 8. Levinthal, C. (1968) J. Chim. Phys. 65, 44-45.
- 9. Baldwin, R. L. (1994) Nature 369, 183-184.
- 10. Baldwin, R. L. (1995) J. Biomolec. NMR 5, 103-109.
- 11. Dill, K. A., & Hue, S. C. (1997) Nature Struct. Biol. 4, 10-19.
- 12. Myers, J. K., Pace, N. C., & Scholtz, M. J. (1995) Prot. Sci 4, 2138-2148.
- 13. Perl, D. e. a. (1998) Nat. Struct. Biol. 5, 229-235.
- 14. Garel, J. R. (1992) Folding of large proteins: Multidomain and multisubunit proteins (Creighton, T. E., Ed.), W. H. Freeman and Company, New York
- 15. Tsai, C., & Nussinov, R. (1997) Prot. Sci. 6, 24-42.
- 16. Wolodko, W. T., & Bridger, W. A. (1987) Biochem. Cell Biol. 65, 452-457.
- 17. Khan, I. A., & Nishimura, J. S. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263, 2152-2158.
- 18. Nishimura, J. S., Ybarra, J., Mitchell, T., & Horowitz, P. M. (1988) Biochem. J. 250, 429-434.
- 19. Moffet, F. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1970) J. Biol. Chem. 245, 2758-2762.
- 20. Stanislawski, J. (1991), ENZYME KINETICS v1.11, Trinity Software, Campton, NH.
- 21. Johnson, M. L., Corriea, J. J., Yphantis, D. A., & Halvorson, H. R. (1981) Biophys. J. 36, 575-588.
- 22. Yphantis, D. A. (1991), NONLIN, Mansfield Center, Connecticutt.

- 23. Hayes, D. B., Laue, T., & J., P. (1995-1998), SEDENTERP v1.01 University of New Hqmpshire, NH.
- 24. Cohn, E. J., & Edsall, J. T. (1943) in Proteins, Amino acids and Peptides as Ions and Dipolar Ions (Rheinhold, ed), pp. 157, New York
- 25. Laue, T. M., Shah, B. D., Ridgeway, T. M., & Pelltier, S. L. (1992) Computer-aided interpertation of analytical sedimentation data for proteins. Analytical Ultracentrifugation in Biochemistry and Polymer Science. (Harding, S. E., Rowe, A. J., & Horton, J. C., Eds.), Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge
- 26. Fraser, M. E. personal communication.
- 27. Wolodko, W. T., Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., & Bridger, W. A. (1994) J. Biol. Chem. 269, 10883-10890.
- 28. Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., Bridger, W. A., & Wolodko, W. T. (1999) J. Mol. Biol. 285, 1633-1653.
- 29. Collaborative Computational Project, (1994) Acta Cryst. D50, 760-763.
- 30. Parish, J. (1999) personal communication.
- 31. Insight II Ed., MSI, Sandiego, CA
- 32. Levitt, M. (1978) Biochemistry 17, 4277-4285.
- 33. Bailey, D. L., Fraser, M. E., Bridger, W. A., James, M. N. G., & Wolodko, W. T. (1998), J. Mol Biol 285, 1655-1666.
- 34. Wolodko, personal communication.
- 35. Hanes, C. (1932) Biochem. J. 26, 1406-1421.
- Bridger, W. A. (1974) in *The Enzymes* (Boyer, P. D., ed) Vol. X, 3 Ed., pp. 581-606, Academic Press Inc., New York
- 37. Brock, T. D., & Freeze, H. (1969) J. Bacteriol. 98, 289-297.
- 38. Dams, T., Ostendrop, R., Ott, M., Rukat, K., & Jaenicke, R. (1996) Eur. J. Biochem 240, 274-279.
- 39. Kahn, I. A., & Nishimura, J. S. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263, 2152-2158.
- 40. Pace, C. N. (1975) Crit. Rev. Biochem. 3, 1-43.
- 41. Garboczi, D. N., Utz, U., Ghosh, P., Seth, A., J., K., VanTienhoven, E. A. E., Biddison, W. E., & Wiley, D. (1996) J. Immunol 157, 5403-5410.
- 42. KALIDAGRAPH v3.0, Synergy Software, Reading PA
- 43. Neet, K. E., & Timm, D. E. (1994) Protein Sci. 3, 2167-2174.

- 44. Voet, D., & Voet, J. G. (1995) Biochemistry, 2nd Ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York
- 45. Haney, P. J., Badger, J. H., Buldak, J. L., Reich, C. L., Woese, C. R., & Olsen, G. J. (1999) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 96, 3578-3583.
- 46. Argos, P., Rossman, M. G., Grau, U. M., Zuber, H., Frank, G., & Tratschin, J. (1979) *Biochemistry* 18, 5698-5703.
- 47. Davies, G., J., Gamblin, S. J., Littlechild, J. A., & Watson, H. C. (1993) Proteins 15, 283-289.
- 48. Tanner, J. J., Hecht, R. M., & Krause, K. L. (1996) Biochemistry 35, 2597-2609.
- 49. Lim, H. M., & Pene, J. J. (1988) Gene Anal. Techniques 5, 32-39.
- 50. Krino, H., Aoki, M., Aoshima, M., Hayashi, Y., Ohba, M., Yamagishi, A., Wakagi, T., & Oshima, T. (1994) Eur. J. Biochem. 220, 275-281.
- 51. Strotle, D. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264, 5315-5318.
- 52. Pace, C. N. (1990) Trends Biotechnol. 8, 93-98.
- 53. Nojima, H., Ikai, A., Oshima, T., & Noda, H. (1977) J. Mol. Biol. 116, 429-442.
- 54. Beadle, B. M., Base, W. A., Wilson, D. B., Gilkes, N. R., & Shoichet, B. K. (1999) Biochemistry 38, 2570-2576.
- 55. Lin, T., & Timasheff, S. N. (1996) Prot. Sci. 5, 372-381.
- 56. Cacace, M. G., Landau, E. M., & Ramsden, J. J. (1997) Quant. Rev. Biophys. 30, 241-277.
- 57. Guife, X., & Timasheff, S. N. (1997) Prot. Sci. 6, 211-221.
- 58. Hattori, M., Ametani, A., Katakura, Y., Shimizu, M., & Kaminogawa, S. (1993) J. Biol. Chem. 268, 22414-22419.
- 59. Subramaniam, V., Bergenham, N., Gafni, A., & Steel, D. G. (1995) *Biochemistry* 34, 1133-1136.
- 60. Subramaniam, V., Steel, D. G., & Gafni, A. (1996) Prot. Sci. 5, 2089-2094.
- 61. Norby, J., Rubenstein, S., Tuerke, T., Schwallie Farmer, C., Forood, R., Bennington, J. (1983) SIGMA PLOT v4.11, Jandel Scientific.

Page intentionally left blank for note taking.

Chapter FourPhotoaffinity Labeling of E. coliSCS with 8-N3-ATP1

Introduction

Previous work had implied that the nucleotide binding site is located in the β subunit of SCS. The cloning and characterization of the ATP- and GTP-specific isozymes from pigeon breast and liver revealed that they consist of the same α -subunit but different β -subunits (1, 2). This implies that the nucleotide specificity of SCS resides with the β subunit. Although this implication contradicts an earlier study that suggested that the nucleotide-binding site was present in the α -subunit (3), it is consistent with the crystal structure of the *E. coli* enzyme. Both of the two nucleotide-binding (Rossmann) folds in the α -subunit are occupied, one by bound CoA, and the other by the loop that contains the active-site phosphohistidine (4). However, there are two unoccupied potential nucleotidebinding sites in the β -subunit: a third Rossmann fold in the C-terminal domain (4), and the "ATP-grasp" fold in the N-terminal domain (5, 6). The residues lining each of these sites are well conserved amongst known amino acid sequences of SCS. Figures 4-1 and 4-2 show nucleotide modeled into each of these domains.

The location of each of these potential nucleotide-binding sites relative to the bound CoA and the active-site phosphohistidine would have direct and different consequences to our understanding of the catalytic mechanism of SCS. If the nucleoside triphosphate were bound in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit (Fig. 4-1), no substantial conformational change would be required for phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of the active-site histidine (partial reaction (1), in Chapter 1). If the nucleotide were bound in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit, then the active-site phosphohistidine is 35 Å away (Fig. 4-2B), and a major conformational change would therefore be required to bring the phosphohistidine into proximity with the nucleoside diphosphate (6).

¹ A version of this chapter has been published: Joyce, M. A., Fraser, M. E., Brownie, E. R., James, M. N. G., Bridger, W. A., Wolodko, W. T. (1999) *Biochemistry* 38, 7273-7283.



Figure 4-1. Stereo ribbon diagram of an $\alpha\beta$ -dimer of SCS with ATP modeled into the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit. The α -subunit is shown in yellow, the β -subunit in green, the active site phosphohistidine is displayed as a mauve ball and stick model. The molecules of CoA and ATP are displayed as stick models in cyan and red, respectively.



Figure 4-2. Modeling of ADP into the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS. (A) Ribbon diagram of a superposition of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit (shown in green) of SCS on D-ala:D-ala ligase (shown in grey). The superposition was based on the c- α positions of 101 atoms with an rms deviation of 2.286 Å. (Appendix 3) (B) Stereo ribbon diagram of ADP modeled into the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of an $\alpha\beta$ -dimer of SCS based on the superposition shown in (A). The α -subunit of SCS is shown in yellow, the β -subunit in green, the active site phosphohistidine and the CoA molecule are displayed as stick models in mauve and cyan, respectively. The ADP molecule is shown in red. The model has been rotated by approximately 180° with respect to that shown in Figure 3-1.

The location of the nucleotide binding site was investigated by using the photoaffinity analogue $8-N_3$ -ATP. This avoids the pitfalls of experiments using oxidized CoA disulfide, where the ability of oxidized CoA disulfide to bind to the substrate binding site was investigated indirectly using desulfo-CoA (7). These characteristics led to specific incorporation of $8-N_3$ -ATP into the nucleotide binding site.

The focus of the present study was to determine the location of the nucleotidebinding site in *E. coli* SCS using the photoaffinity analogue $8-N_3$ -ATP. $8-N_3$ -ATP was chosen for two related reasons. First, $8-N_3$ -ATP is stable in the dark, and this allowed for the investigation of its suitability as a substrate for SCS. Second, a free radical is thought to be generated upon the irradiation of $8-N_3$ -ATP, and thus the reactive species should react with any proximal groups, and not be dependent on the presence of a specific side chain. A free radical reactive species is also expected to have a relatively short lifetime reducing the amount of non-specific labeling of the protein. To investigate the suitability of $8-N_3$ -ATP as an affinity analogue for use with SCS, a number of studies were carried out. The ability of $8-N_3$ -ATP to label SCS in a manner consistent with its behavior as a substrate was investigated. In addition, the inactivation of SCS by $8-N_3$ -ATP, the kinetic relationship between ATP and $8-N_3$ -ATP, and the stoichiometry of $8-N_3$ -ATP photolabeling of SCS were evaluated. The photoaffinity analogue, $8-N_3$ -ATP, was then used to label SCS, and the location of the bound label was determined by the isolation of photolabeled tryptic peptides.

Materials and Methods

Photolabeling of E. coli SCS by $[\alpha^{-3^2}P]$ -8-N₃-ATP. Wild-type E. coli SCS was over-expressed and purified according to the methods of Wolodko *et al.* (8, 4). The ATP analogue, 8-N₃-ATP, was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd., and $[\alpha^{-3^2}P]$ -8-N₃-ATP (2-10 Ci/mmol) from ICN Pharmaceuticals, Inc. For the saturation studies, 5 µg of SCS in 30 µl of a solution containing 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 1 µM succinate, 0.12 µM CoA, and 50 mM MOPS, pH 7.4 was incubated for 15 s on ice with the appropriate concentration of $[\alpha$ -³²P]-8-N₃-ATP (0.1-0.3 Ci/mmol). Conditions were identical for the pH range studies, except that either 50 mM MOPS, pH 7.8 or 50 mM MES, pH 6.4 were used in place of 50 mM MOPS, pH 7.4. The sample was then irradiated for 30 s, 2 min., or 5 min. using a hand-held UV6L Mineralight UV lamp (I= 360 μ W/cm², λ = 254 nm) from a distance of 2 cm. The reaction was quenched by the addition of 1 µl of 0.25 M Next, 20 µl of SDS-PAGE loading buffer (2.5% (w/v) SDS, 1 mM 2-DTT. mercaptoethanol, 35% (v/v) glycerol, and 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 6.6) was added to the samples, which were then heated to 96 °C for 5 min prior to analysis by SDS-PAGE using a 12% (w/v) polyacrylamide gel (9). Phosphorimaging of the photolabeled SCS was carried out using a Fujix BAS 1000 phosphorimager. Exposure of the imaging plate was usually complete in 2-3 hours. For inhibition of the photolabeling, 2 mM ATP or 3 mM GTP was included in the buffer during the photolabeling procedure. Apparent dissociation constants were determined by analysis of the labeling data using the program ENZYME KINETICS 1.11 (10).

Inactivation of SCS Activity by $8-N_3$ -ATP. The procedure was identical to the procedure for the saturation of photolabeling, except that 2.6 µg of SCS and non-radioactive $8-N_3$ -ATP were used. After quenching, 8 µl of each sample was assayed for SCS activity using a spectrophotometric assay that measures the formation of the thioester bond of succinyl-CoA at 235 nm (11). To study the protection of SCS from inactivation by $8-N_3$ -ATP, 2 mM ATP or GTP was included in the buffer.

Determination of the $K_{m (app)}$ of SCS for 8-N₃-ATP. Kinetic reactions were conducted at 22 °C and started by the addition of 16.5 µg of SCS in 10 µl to 1 ml of a buffer containing 10 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM succinate, 100 µM CoA, 20 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4 and various concentrations of 8-N₃-ATP. The rate of formation of succinyl-CoA was monitored spectrophotometrically at 235 nm in duplicate at each concentration. The data were analyzed using the program SIGMA PLOT (12). The curve was fitted using the Hill equation: $v = V_{max}[S]^n/(K + [S]^n)$, where v is the velocity of SCS in µmoles/min/mg, V_{max} is the maximum velocity, [S] is the concentration of 8-N₃-ATP, K is a constant, and n is the Hill coefficient (13).

Investigation of the Kinetic Relationship between $8-N_3$ -ATP and ATP. Kinetic measurements were carried out to determine whether $8-N_3$ -ATP was competitive with ATP in the synthesis of succinyl-CoA by SCS. The buffers used for these reactions were identical to those used for the determination of the $K_{m(app)}$ of SCS for $8-N_3$ -ATP. The reactions were initiated using 0.12 - 0.24 µg of SCS. The rate of formation of succinyl-CoA in reactions containing various concentrations of ATP (ranging from 5 µM to 400 µM) and $8-N_3$ -ATP (0, 29, 58, and 100 µM) was monitored. The velocity data were analyzed using the program ENZYME KINETICS 1.11 (10).

Photolabeling and Mass Spectrometry of SCS Subunits. Photolabeled SCS for mass spectrometry was prepared by irradiation of 30 µg of SCS in 400 µl of a buffer containing 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM MOPS, pH 7.4, and either 400 µM or 724 µM 8-N₃-ATP. Irradiation was carried out in a Southern New England Ultraviolet Co. RPM200 UV box (reactor $\lambda = 350$ nm) for 7 min at 4 °C. The α- and β-subunits were then separated by reverse phase HPLC using a Vydac 4.6 x 250 mm C₈ column on a Varian Vista series 5000 liquid chromatography system equipped with a Hewlett Packard 1040 HPLC diode array detector. The mobile system consisted of 0.05% (v/v) trifluoroacetic acid in water (A) and 0.05% (v/v) trifluoroacetic acid in acetonitrile (B). The gradient for HPLC was either 2% (v/v) B/min, or 2% (v/v) B/min for 20 min followed by 0.5% (v/v) B/min for 40 min, at a flow rate of 1 ml/min. Fractions containing the separated subunits were analyzed using a Fisons VG Quatro triple quadrapole mass spectrometer with an electrospray ionization source running in positive mode. The running buffer for the mass spectrometry was 50% (v/v) acetonitrile/water, and 0.1% (v/v) trifluoroacetic acid flowing at a rate of 10 µl/min. The quadrapoles were scanned 10-15 times at a rate of 10s/scan, and summed to produce the final spectrum. Several multiply charged species in a series were then used to calculate the mean molecular mass.

Photolabeling of SCS by 8-N₃-ATP for Purification and Sequencing or Mass Spectrometry of Labeled Peptides. Photolabeled SCS was prepared by irradiation for 1 min of a total of 566 μ g SCS in 500 μ l split into three similar aliquots containing 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 400 μ M [α ³²P]-8-N₃-ATP (30 Ci/mol), and 50 mM MOPS, pH 7.4, on ice. Irradiation (λ = 254 nm) was carried out from a distance of 2 cm. The aliquots were pooled, and the photolabeling quenched by the addition of 3 μ l of 1 M DTT. Labeled protein was separated from free analogue in the reaction mixture on a 20 ml Sephadex G-50 column previously equilibrated with 20 mM Tris HCl, pH 8.0. The labeled SCS eluted after the first 8 ml in a total volume of 3 ml. Labeled SCS was digested at 37 °C with 20 μ g of modified sequencing grade trypsin (Boehringer Mannheim). After 12 hours, the pH was adjusted to pH 6.0 with 3 μ l of 11.6 M HCl to stop the reaction, and 3 ml of 5 mM DTT, 100 mM ammonium acetate, pH 6.0 was added.

An Al^{*3} affinity column (Chelating Sepharose Fast Flow, purchased from Pharmacia Biotech Inc.) was prepared and chromatography performed according to the methods of Jayaram and Haley (14): 5 ml of iminodiacetic acid Chelating Sepharose Fast Flow was washed successively with 3 x 25 ml volumes of water, buffer A (5 mM DTT, 100 mM (NH_4)₂SO₄, pH 6.0), buffer B (5 mM DTT, 0.5 mM NaCl, 100 mM (NH_4)₂SO₄, pH 6.0), buffer A, buffer C (5 mM DTT, 5 M urea, 100 mM (NH_4)₂SO₄, pH 6.0) and buffer A. A 5 ml portion of the "washed" resin was then placed in a column, the flow rate was adjusted to approximately 0.5 ml/min, and the digested SCS was loaded onto this column. The labeled peptides associated with the Al⁺³ column because of the charges on the phosphates of the analogue. The column was then washed successively with 2 x 30 ml of each of buffer A, buffer B, buffer A, buffer C, and buffer A. The final elution step was carried out with 100 mM ammonium acetate, 10 mM sodium pyrophosphate, pH 8.0. The radiolabeled peptides eluted in the final step. Aliquots of 5 µl of each fraction were assayed for radioactivity using a Beckman LS 7800 liquid scintillation counter. The fractions containing radioactivity were pooled and further purified by reverse phase HPLC using the same column and HPLC system that was used for purification of the subunits. The HPLC gradient was isocratic for 30 min at 0% (v/v) B to allow elution of the flowthrough. This was followed by a gradient of 1% (v/v) B/min with a flow rate of 0.5 ml/min. Fractions of 0.5 ml were collected and aliquots assayed for radioactivity using a Beckman LS 7800 liquid scintillation counter. The peptides containing radioactivity were sequenced by Edman degradation with a Hewlett Packard 1005A peptide sequencer. Mass spectrometry was performed using a VG Quatro electrospray mass spectrometer in the same manner as for the subunits. The fractions that eluted from the Al⁺³ column during the washes where also assayed by reverse phase HPLC using the same system and gradient as for the radioactive fractions except that there was no isocratic gradient and the flow rate was 1 ml/min.

Results

Several methods were used to determine if $8-N_3$ -ATP was an appropriate photoaffinity analogue of ATP for studies with SCS. It was shown that $8-N_3$ -ATP labels SCS in a saturable manner that was coincident with the inactivation of SCS. It was also shown that $8-N_3$ -ATP was a substrate for SCS and, upon irradiation, labeled the β -subunit with a stoichiometry of one $8-N_3$ -ATP per β -subunit.

Photolabeling of SCS by 8-N₃-ATP. Irradiation of SCS in the presence of [α-³²P]-8-N₃-ATP resulted in the photolabeling of SCS at pH 6.4 and 7.8 (Fig. 4-3). Control samples of SCS were not labeled by $[\alpha-^{32}P]$ -8-N₃-ATP when incubations were carried out in the dark, nor when the irradiation step was carried out prior to the addition of SCS (Fig. 4-3, lanes 1 and 2). Irradiation of SCS for 30 s at pH 7.4 resulted in saturable labeling of SCS with $[\alpha-^{32}P]$ -8-N₃-ATP (Fig. 4-4). As evident from the autoradiograms, photolabeling occurred predominantly in the β-subunit (Fig. 4-4A). Some labeling of the



FIGURE 4-3. Autoradiogram of SCS photolabeled at pH 6.4 and 7.8 as analyzed by SDS-PAGE. The sample in lane 1 was incubated in the dark in the presence of $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ -8-N₃-ATP for 2 min. prior to the addition of DTT (to stop the reaction). The sample in lane 2 was irriadated prior to the addition of SCS. Lanes 3-6 contain SCS irradiated for 2 min. in the presence, respectively, of 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, and 0.8, mM [$\alpha^{-32}P$]-8-N₃-ATP in 50 mM MES, pH 6.4. In lanes 6-10, 50 mM MOPS, pH 7.8 was used. The positions of molecular weight standards are indicated to the right of the autoradiogram.



FIGURE 4-4. Saturation of photolabeling of SCS by $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ -8-N₃-ATP, and prevention of photolabeling by ATP and GTP. A. Autoradiogram of photolabeled SCS analyzed by SDS-PAGE. Lanes 1-5 contain SCS irradiated for 30 seconds in the presence, respectively, of 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 0.8, and 1.6 mM $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ -8-N₃-ATP. In lanes 6-10, 3 mM GTP was included during irradiation. In lanes 11-15, 2 mM ATP was included during irradiation. B. Quantitation of the incorporation of $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ -8-N₃-ATP into the β subunit of SCS by phosphorimagery: **a**, with 8-N₃-ATP alone (corresponding to lanes 1-5 in panel A); **b**, plus 3 mM GTP (corresponding to lanes 6-10); **b**, plus 2 mM ATP (corresponding to lanes 11-15).

 α -subunit was observed at the highest concentrations of analogue tested (at $\lambda = 254$ nm) and may have resulted from low affinity for nucleotide leading to non-specific labeling (15). Labeling was inhibited by the addition of 2 mM ATP or 3 mM GTP (Fig. 4-4), indicating that the binding of 8-N₃-ATP was specific for the nucleotide-binding site of SCS. The extent of labeling by $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ -8-N₃-ATP was dependent on the concentration of the analogue, and saturation of labeling of the β -subunit was observed at approximately 0.5 mM (Fig. 4-4B). Photolabeling of SCS is slightly greater in the presence of succinate and CoA (Fig. 4-5). From a Hanes-Wolf plot of the data from labeling in the presence of substrates, the value of $K_{d (app)}$ for 8-N₃-ATP was estimated to be 54 μ M (Fig. 4-5B). A better estimate of K_d for 8-N₃-ATP would require that the analogue not be altered by the enzyme. Although the labeling was carried out on ice to retard catalysis by the enzyme, there may still have been some turnover of analogue. This is likely to be the reason for the increase in labeling that is observed in the presence of substrates. The value of the $K_{d(app)}$ derived from labeling experiments carried out in the absence of succinate and CoA was 90 μ M (Fig. 4-5B). These K_{d(app)} values for 8-N₃-ATP were consistent with the values of K_m $_{(app)} = 70 \ \mu M$ (this study) and $K_{d(app)} = 68 \ \mu M$ (16) determined at 25 °C for ATP and ADP, respectively, and were therefore considered reasonable.

Is 8-N₃-ATP a Substrate for SCS? In order to determine if 8-N₃-ATP behaves as a substrate for SCS, in a manner consistent with the labeling, a kinetic analysis of the associated enzymatic activity was performed. Initial rates of formation of succinyl-CoA were measured in solutions containing various concentrations of 8-N₃-ATP and saturating concentrations of succinate and CoA. The plot of velocity of SCS activity versus concentration of 8-N₃-ATP was sigmoidal (Fig. 4-6), and a Hill plot was used to determine the kinetic constants. The value of $K_{0.5Vmax}$ extrapolated from the graph was 210 µM, and the V_{max} was 0.074 µmoles/min/mg. This value for $K_{0.5Vmax}$ is comparable to the value of

A



Figure 4-5. Photolabeling of SCS by in the absence and presence of substrates. A. Autoradiogram of photolabeled SCS analyzed by SDS-PAGE. Lanes 1-5 contain SCS irradiated in the presence, respectively, of 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 0.8, 1.6 mM [α -³²P]-8-N₃-ATP, and in the absence of other substrates. In lanes 6-10, 1 µM succinate and 0.12 µM CoA were included. (B) A Hanes plot of the quantitation of the incorporation of [α -³²P]-8-N₃-ATP into the β -subunit of SCS: (\Box), in the absence of substrates (corresponding to lanes 1-5), and (\blacksquare), in the presence of substrates (corresponding to lanes 6-10). The correlation coefficients for the two plots were 0.986 and 0.996. The error in the K_{m(app)} values is approximately 30 µM. The data were plotted and analysed using the program ENZYME KINETICS (10).



Figure 4-6. Plot of the initial velocity of SCS activity versus concentration of 8-N₃-ATP. The reaction mixtures contained: 10 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM succinate, 100 mM CoA, 20 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and various concentrations of 8-N₃-ATP (\bullet). Also shown is the best fit curve calculated by the program SIGMA PLOT (12) using the Hill equation (v=V_{max}[8-N₃-ATP]ⁿ/(K + [8-N₃-ATP]ⁿ). The derived constants were V_{max} = 0.074 µmoles/min/mg, n = 1.7, and K = 12000. The correlation coefficient was 0.980. The interpolation of the value for K_{0.5Vmax} is indicated by the arrows.

90 μ M for K_{d(app)} obtained from the labeling experiments, and consistent with 8-N₃-ATP acting as a substrate. The value of V_{max} was approximately 500 times less than that observed using ATP.

Does 8- N_3 -ATP Compete with ATP for Binding to SCS? Because SCS has a low value for V_{max} when using 8- N_3 -ATP as a substrate, 8- N_3 -ATP can be treated as an "inhibitor" of SCS in order to qualitatively assess whether it is competitive with respect to ATP. Double reciprocal plots of the velocity of SCS versus the concentration of ATP indicated that the maximum velocity of SCS at high concentrations of ATP is the same for presence of 8- N_3 -ATP ranging from 0 to 100 μ M (Fig. 4-7). This suggests that 8- N_3 -ATP and ATP compete for the same form of the enzyme. The inhibition of SCS by 100 μ M 8- N_3 -ATP resembled the product inhibition of SCS by ADP that was observed by Moffet and Bridger (17).

Inactivation of SCS by 8-N₃-ATP. Irradiation of SCS in the presence of 8-N₃-ATP resulted in the loss of SCS activity (Fig. 4-8). This inactivation was concentration dependent and the activity of SCS was inversely related to the degree of photoincorporation of $[\alpha^{32}P]$ -8-N₃-ATP into the β -subunit of SCS. The presence of ATP or GTP protected SCS from both photoincorporation and inactivation. When samples were irradiated for 30 s, inhibition to 45% of the initial activity was observed at the highest concentrations of analogue tested (Fig. 4-8A). Irradiation for longer lengths of time (for example, 5 min) in the presence of 8-N₃-ATP resulted in greater labeling and total inactivation of SCS, and both were inhibited by the addition of ATP or GTP (Fig. 4-8B).

Mass Spectrometry of SCS Subunits Labeled by $8-N_3$ -ATP. To determine the stoichiometry of labeling, electrospray mass spectrometry was performed on photolabeled α - and β -subunits separated by HPLC. The results of reverse phase HPLC are shown in Figure 4-9. The α - and β -subunits are clearly resolved with the β -subunit eluting later than the α -subunit. In untreated samples the β -subunit has greater absorbance at 210 nm,



Figure 4-7. Reciprocal plots showing the "inhibition" of SCS by 8-N₃-ATP with ATP as the variable substrate. The reaction mixtures contained: 10 mM MgCl₂, 10mM succinate, 100 mM CoA, and 20 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and various concentrations of ATP plus, no 8-N₃-ATP (\bigcirc), or 29 μ M 8-N₃-ATP (\blacksquare), or 58 μ M 8-N₃-ATP (\square), or 100 μ M 8-N₃-ATP (\bigcirc). The correlation coefficients for both the plots of 29 μ M and 58 μ M 8-N₃-ATP was 0.976. The data were plotted and analyzed using the program ENZYME KINETICS (10).



FIGURE 4-8. Correlation of photolabeling of the β -subunit with inhibition of SCS. Irradiation was carried out for 30 s (panel A) or 5 min (panel B). Open symbols represent measurements of the enzymatic activity of SCS after irradiation in the presence of various amounts of 8-N₃-ATP. Closed symbols represent photoincorporation of 8-N₃-ATP into the β -subunit as assayed by phosphorimagery after photolabeling with [α -³²P] 8-N₃-ATP and separation by SDS-PAGE. \Box , \blacksquare represent irradiation in the presence of only 8-N₃-ATP (0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 0.8, and 1.6 mM). Δ , \blacktriangle represent SCS irradiated in the presence of 8-N₃-ATP and ATP (Δ , 2 mM; \bigstar , 2 mM in A and 1 mM in B). \bigcirc , \bigcirc represent SCS irridadiated in the presence of 8-N₃-ATP and 2 mM GTP.

consistent with the relative molecular weight of the subunits (Fig. 4-9A). Irradiation of SCS at 350 nm resulted in a decrease in the relative absorbance of the β -subunit when compared to the α -subunit (compare Fig 4-9A with B). The results of mass spectrometry of the isolated subunits are shown in Figure 4-10. When irradiation at 350 nm was carried out in the absence of 8-N₃-ATP, there were two species present in HPLC fractions containing the α -subunit and one in the fractions containing the β -subunit (Fig. 4-10A and B). In the case of the α -subunit the major species had a mass of 29645 Da, corresponding to the predicted mass of 29647 Da for purified α -subunit that lacks the N-terminal methionine (18, 19). The major species was 82 Da smaller than the minor species (Fig. 4-10A), corresponding to the mass of H_2PO_3 (81 Da) and indicating that the major portion of the population of the α -subunit was dephosphorylated. In the case of the β -subunit (Fig. 4-10B), the only species present had a mass of 41397 Da, that of the unmodified β -subunit (41394 Da). When 400 µM 8-N₃-ATP was added to the reaction mixture, again two species were observed in the case of the α -subunit (Fig. 4-10C); however, the species of higher mass was now prominent. This indicated that the α -subunit was phosphorylated during the course of the labeling reaction, in keeping with the conclusion that 8-N₃-ATP was acting as a substrate. Two species were also observed in HLPC fractions containing

the β -subunit when SCS was irradiated in the presence of 8-N₃-ATP (Fig. 4-10D). The smaller of the two had a mass of 41404 Da and the larger species had a mass of 41985 Da. The difference between the two masses corresponds to one 8-N₃-ATP (520 Da) and an extra 61 Da. The extra mass may be due to one Mg^{2+} ion (24 Da) and one K⁺ ion (39 Da) chelating to the 8-N₃-ATP or it may be due to two molecules of NO (60 Da, total). The NO molecules may have arisen from the liberation of N₂• during irradiation, which could have reacted with oxygen, and subsequently attached to the protein. The reaction of oxygen with nitrophenyl azides has been shown to occur during low power irradiation of these compounds (20). When irradiation was carried out in the presence of a saturating concentration of 8-N₃-ATP (800 µM), the mass spectra of both subunits contained more



FIGURE 4-9. Reverse phase HPLC of SCS photolabeled by 8-N₃-ATP. SCS protein shown in panel A was not treated, and that in panel B was irradiated in the presence of 400 mM 8-N₃-ATP. The separation shown in panel A was carried out with a linear gradient of 2% (v/v) acetonitrile-TFA/min with a flow rate of 1 ml/min as described in Materials and Methods. The solid lines represent absorbance at 210 nm, as well as, in panel B, at 255 nm. The separation shown in panel B was carried out with a linear gradient of 2% (v/v) B/min for 20 min, followed by a gradient of 0.5% (v/v) B/min, all with a flow rate of 1ml/min.



FIGURE 4-10. Electrospray mass spectra of the subunits of SCS. SCS was irradiated either in the absence (A and B) or presence (C and D) of $8-N_3$ -ATP. The subunits were separated by reverse phase HPLC, shown in Figure 4-9, followed by mass spectrometry of the isolated subunits (see Materials and Methods for specific details). The results for the α -subunit are shown in (A) and (C), and those for the β -subunit in (B) and (D).





FIGURE 4-11. Electrospray mass spectra of the subunits of SCS irradiated in the presence of a saturating concentration of 8-N₃ATP. SCS was irradiated in the presence of 724 μ M 8-N₃-ATP, and the subunits were separated by reverse phase HPLC. This was followed by mass spectrometry of the isolated subunits (see Materials and Methods for specific details). The α -subunit is shown in panel A, and the β -subunit is shown in panel B.
"noise". However, there was no evidence of α -subunit which had been modified by even one 8-N₃-ATP (Fig 4-11A), and there was an increase in the relative amount of the β subunit species labeled with one 8-N₃-ATP (Fig. 4-11B). These observations support the earlier interpretation that under the harsher conditions of the initial experiments (Fig. 4-3), the labeling of the α -subunit was non-specific. Note: irradiation at 350 nm gave rise to a limited number of products and therefore an easily interpretable mass spectrum, whereas irradiation at 254 nm led to the complex production of multiple products. The large decrease in the relative absorbance of the β -subunit after irradiation at 254 nm observed during reverse phase HPLC (data not shown) also indicated that damage was induced by irradiation at this wavelength.

Isolation of 8-N₃-ATP Photolabeled Peptides from SCS. To determine the location of the 8-N₃-ATP binding site, peptide fragments of photolabeled SCS were generated by tryptic digestion, purified and then analyzed by amino acid sequencing and mass spectrometry. Photolabeling of SCS was carried out by irradiation of SCS at 254 nm for 1 min in the presence of 400 μ M [α -³²P]-8-N₃-ATP. As a compromise, the wavelength of 254 nm was used to maximize the yield of labeled peptides, and the mid-range concentration of 400 µM analogue to minimize non-specific labeling. Typically 0.42 moles of $[\alpha$ -³²P]-8-N₃-ATP were incorporated per mole of SCS. Following digestion, labeled peptides were separated from unlabeled peptides by Al⁺³ affinity chromatography (14). After washing the loaded column with buffers containing low salt, high salt, and urea to disrupt non-specific electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions that may cause unlabeled peptides to be retained on the column, 85% of the radioactivity initially bound to the column remained bound (Fig. 4-12). Reverse phase HPLC of the of the flowthrough and wash fractions from this column revealed no labeled peptides in these washes. In addition, two peptides were depleted from the flowthrough fraction (data not shown). The bound radioactivity was eluted from the affinity column using 10 mM pyrophosphate, and pooled. Subsequent reverse phase HPLC analysis of these pooled fractions revealed three major peaks with radioactivity (Fig. 4-13). The first peak, containing most of the total radioactivity, appeared in the HPLC flow through fractions which eluted before the beginning of the chromatogram (data not shown). No peptide was found in these fractions. Similar losses of radioactive label have been observed in other studies that have used azido analogues (21, 14). The other two peak fractions containing significant radioactivity eluted at 37 and 42 minutes (at a flow rate of 0.5 ml/min), respectively (Fig. 4-13). Although the yields of the purified peptides were low (approximately 20 pmol), these peptides displayed a ratio of $A_{210 \text{ nm}}/A_{255 \text{ nm}}$ close to one, consistent with the presence of the aromatic adenine moiety. Edman degradation analysis of the peptide in the peak that eluted at 42 minutes gave the following sequence: VVFMASTEGGVEAEKVAEETPHLLH K. This corresponds to a tryptic peptide from amino acid residue 121 to 146 of the β subunit of SCS. The mass of the material in this fraction was 3368 Da as determined by mass spectrometry (Fig. 4-14B). This corresponds to the mass of the peptide (2850.5 Da) plus the mass of the analogue (520 Da). There was an additional mass of 3416 in this fraction, which may be the same peptide with two bound Al⁺³ ions. In SCS, there are no tryptic peptides with a mass of 3416, either with or without the analogue. The material in the peak that eluted at 37 minutes was also subjected to mass spectrometry and revealed two major species of mass 1466 (Fig. 4-14A) and 520 Da. This corresponds to a tryptic peptide from amino acid residue 107 to 119 of the β -subunit and a detached analogue. Obviously, the ionization of the labeled peptide during mass spectroscopy had caused the photoinsertion bond to break. Unfortunately we were unable to sequence this peptide. Nevertheless both of these results are consistent with a nucleotide-binding site being located in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit.



FIGURE 4-12. Purification of photolabeled peptides of SCS by Al⁺³ affinity chromatography. The Al⁺³ affinity column was loaded with the tryptic digest of SCS photolabeled with 8-N₃-ATP and washed sequentially with the solutions indicated: A (5 mM DTT, 100 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, pH 6.0), B (5 mM DTT, 0.5 M NaCl, 100 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, pH 6.0), C (5 mM DTT, 8 M urea, 100 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, pH 6.0), and D (5 mM DTT, 10 mM pyrophosphate, 100 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, pH 8.0). The ³²P-levels were determined as described in Materials and Methods.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



FIGURE 4-13. Purification of photolabeled peptides of SCS reverse phase HPLC.

Separations were carried out with a linear gradient of 1% (v/v) acetonitrile-TFA/min with a flow rate of 0.5 ml/min as described in Materials and Methods. The solid lines represent absorbance at 210 or 255 nm, and the dashed line represents the radioactivity associated with of 0.5 ml fractions as assayed by liquid scintillation counting.



FIGURE 4-14. Electrospray mass spectra of tryptic peptides from photolabeled SCS. SCS was irradiated in the presence of $8-N_3$ -ATP, digested with trypsin, and the peptides were purified by Al⁺³ affinity chromatography and reverse phase HPLC. This was followed by mass spectrometry of the isolated peptides (see Materials and Methods for specific details). The peptide that eluted from reverse phase HPLC at 37 min is shown in panel A, and the peptide that eluted at 42 min is shown in panel B.

Discussion

This study was undertaken to determine the location of the nucleotide-binding site of *E. coli* SCS by using 8-N₃-ATP to specifically label peptides from the β -subunit. From the labeling results it was concluded that the nucleotide likely binds in the ATP-grasp fold of the N-terminal domain and not in the Rossmann fold of the C-terminal domain. Binding of the nucleotide in the N-terminal domain requires that the catalytic His 246 α interacts alternately at two sites, site I where CoA and, presumably, succinate bind, and site II where the nucleotide binds. NMR spectroscopy presented evidence for a "flip" between two conformations of the phosphorylated histidine (Fig. 1-10) (22). His 246 α is part of a loop that could swing to shuttle the histidine residue between the two sites during each catalytic cycle.

A number of methods were used to show that $8-N_3$ -ATP was a suitable analogue of ATP for use with SCS. The photolabeling of SCS by $8-N_3$ -ATP occurred over a range in pH, was saturable and inhibited by the nucleotide substrates of *E. coli* SCS. The addition of substrates to the photolabeling reaction resulted in a slight improvement in the amount of label incorporated. In view of the inability of phosphorylated SCS to bind ATP (23), the increase in labeling is likely due to catalytic turnover by the enzyme. In addition, the activity of SCS decreased reciprocally in conjunction with photolabeling. The K_{d (app)} observed for 8-N₃-ATP from photolabeling was within one order of magnitude the K_m for ATP and to the K_{d(app)} for ADP (Table 4-1).

	K _{m (app)} (μM)	K _{d (αρρ)} (μM)	K _{0.5 Vmax} (μM)	
ATP	70	-	-	
ADP	12	68	-	
8-N ₃ -ATP	-	+substrates 54, -substrates 90	210	

Table 4-1: Summary of Kinetic Parameters of SCS for ATP, ADP or 8-N₃-ATP

* Obtained from the work of Moffet et al. (17, 24)

In only one respect the behavior of SCS with 8-N3-ATP did not reflect the natural substrate, ATP. The velocity versus concentration of substrate plots for 8-N₃-ATP were sigmoidal, not the typical rectangular hyperbola that was observed with ATP (17). This could be indicative of a cooperative mechanism where the binding of the first 8-N₃-ATP induces a change in the enzyme structure that favors the binding of subsequent molecules of 8-N₃-ATP. However, a cooperative mechanism for nucleotide binding has not been observed for SCS. Mass spectrometry of whole subunits indicated that there was only one molecule of 8-N₃-ATP bound per β -subunit when the concentration of 8-N₃-ATP was 4 times $K_{0.5Vmax}$. Thus, it is unlikely that there is an allosteric site which may have given rise to a sigmoidal curve. A functional dimer of E. coli SCS, created by mutagenesis of ion pair residues at the tetramer interface, showed no significant changes in kinetic parameters when compared to the wild-type tetramer (25). This indicated that the two active sites in the tetramer do not interact, and thus cooperatively cannot arise via "cross-talk" between the two active sites in the tetramer. A sigmoidal curve can be manifest in other ways. The first possibility is the presence of a contaminant which modifies the substrate irreversibly (26). The DTT that was used during the purification of SCS could have modified the 8-N₃-ATP, however extensive dialysis in the absence of reductant prior to kinetic and photolabeling experiments should have removed any residual DTT. The second explanation for a sigmoidal curve is the presence of multiple orders of substrate addition and product release (27, 26). An extensive mathematical treatment of this phenomenon has been done for a two substrate system by Sweeny et al. Detailed kinetic measurements of E. coli SCS carried out by Moffet et al. (17) concluded that the major reaction pathway is the addition of ATP to free enzyme followed by the random addition of succinate or CoA, before the release of products. However, there were indications that other minor pathways exist (16, 24, 4). Thus the comparatively low k_{cat} observed for 8-N₃-ATP may allow minor pathways to become more significant. This could lead to the manifestation of a sigmoidal curve through the competition of multiple reaction pathways.

Photolabeling with 8-N₃-ATP marked two tryptic peptides that are part of the nucleotide binding site in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit (Figure 4-15). In the crystal structure, residues 121-146 β include a loop that corresponds to the loop that closes over the nucleotide-binding site in DD-ligase. Residues 107-119 β lie under this loop in SCS, and residue Glu 107 β has a counterpart in DD-ligase that forms hydrogen bonds with the ribose hydroxyl groups of ADP. Based on the structure of ADP in complex with DD-ligase, the 8-N₃-ATP analogue could not bind in the *anti* conformation without the azido group clashing with the ribose. Rotation of the adenine ring toward the *syn* conformation would allow the analogue to fit, albeit poorly (recall: K_{0.5Vmax} = 210 μ M). Moreover, such a rotation would present the azido group to residue Glu 107 β and toward residue Gly 130 β of the loop (the closest residues within the two peptide segments), thus facilitating the observed photolabeling. In keeping with this argument, the preferred conformation of ATP analogues with substituents at the 8-position is *syn* in solution (28-30).



Figure 4-15. Ribbon diagram of one $\alpha\beta$ -dimer of *E. coli* SCS. The α -subunit is shown in yellow, and the β -subunit is shown in green. The active site phosphohistidine is shown in black and the CoA molecule is shown in red. The two peptides that were labeled by $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ 8-N₃-ATP, 107-119 and 121-143, are shown in light blue and dark blue, respectively. Residues 107 β and 130 β within these peptides are closest to the proposed site of nucleotide binding.

References:

- 1. Johnson, J. D., Mehus, J. G., Tews, K., Milavetz, B. I., & Lambeth, D. O. (1998) J. Biol. Chem. 273, 27580-27586.
- Johnson, J. D., Muhonen, W. W., & Lambeth, D. O. (1998) J. Biol. Chem. 273, 27573-27579.
- 3. Pearson, P. H., & Bridger, W. A. (1975) J. Biol. Chem. 250, 8524-8529.
- 4. Wolodko, W. T., Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., & Bridger, W. A. (1994) J. Biol. Chem. 269, 10883-10890.
- 5. Murzin, A. G. (1996) Curr. Opin. in Struct. Biol. 6, 386-394.
- Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., Bridger, W. A., & Wolodko, W. T. (1999) J. Mol. Biol. 285, 1633-1653.
- 7. Collier, G. E., & Nishimura, J. S. (1978) J. Biol. Chem. 253, 4938-4943.
- 8. Wolodko, W. T., Kay, C. M., & Bridger, W. A. (1986) Biochemistry 25, 5420-5425.
- 9. Laemmli, U. K. (1970) Nature 227, 680.
- 10. Stanislawski, J. (1991) Vol. 63, ENZYME KINETICS v1.11, Trinity Software, Campton, NH
- 11. Bridger, W. A., Ramaley, R. F., & Boyer, P. D. (1969) Methods Enzymol. 13, 70-75.
- 12. Norby, J., Rubenstein, S., Tuerke, T., Schwallie Farmer, C., Forood, R., & Bennington, J. (1993), 4.11 Ed., Jandel Scientific
- 13. Hill, A. V. (1910) Journal of Physiology 40, 4-7.
- 14. Jayaram, B., & Haley, B. E. (1994) J. Biol. Chem. 269, 3233-3242.
- 15. Potter, R. L., & Haley, B. E. (1983) Methods Enzymol. 91, 613-633.
- 16. Moffet, F. J., Wang, T., & Bridger, W. A. (1972) J. Biol. Chem. 247, 8139-8144.
- 17. Moffet, F. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1970) J. Biol. Chem. 245, 2758-2762.
- 18. Bridger, W. A. (1974) in *The Enzymes* (Boyer, P. D., ed) Vol. X, 3 Ed., pp. 581-606, Academic Press Inc., New York
- 19. Buck, D., Spencer, M. E., & Guest, J. R. (1985) Biochemistry 24, 6245-6252.
- 20. Liang, T., & Schuster, G., B. (1987) J. Am. Chem. Soc. 109, 7803-7810.
- 21. King, S. M., Kim, H., & Haley, B. E. (1991) Methods Enzymol. 196, 449-466.

- 22. Vogel, H. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1983) Biochem. Soc. Trans. 11, 315-323.
- 23. Bowman, C. M., & Nishimura, J. S. (1975) J. Biol. Chem. 250, 5609-5613.
- 24. Moffet, F. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1973) Can. J. Biochem. 51, 44-55.
- 25. Bailey, D. L., Fraser, M. E., Bridger, W. A., James, M. N. G., & Wolodko, W. T. (1998), J. Mol. Biol 285, 1655-1666.
- 26. Westley, J. (1969) Enzymic Catalysis, 1 Ed. (Halvorson, H. O., Roman, H. L., & Bell, E., Eds.), Harper and Row, New York
- 27. Sweeny, J. R., & Fisher, J. R. (1968) Biochemistry 7, 561-565.
- 28. Tavale, S. S., & Sobel, H. M. (1970) J. Mol. Biol. 48, 109-123.
- 29. Ikehara, M., Uesugi, S., & Yoshida, K. (1972) Biochemistry 11, 830-836.
- 30. Ikehara, M., Uesugi, S., & Yoshida, K. (1972) Biochemistry 11, 836-842.

Page intentionally left blank for note taking.

Chapter FiveMutagenesis of Residues in TwoPotential Nucleotide Binding Sites in E. coli SCS1Introduction

In order further to probe the location of the nucleotide binding site on SCS, sitedirected mutagenesis of *E. coli* SCS was carried out in parallel with the investigations that used the photoaffinity analogue 8-N₃-ATP. Based on the x-ray crystallographic structure of SCS, there were two potential nucleotide binding sites to be considered for investigation. One was the Rossmann fold in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit (1), and the other was the ATP grasp fold in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit (2, 3).

Indirect support for a nucleotide-binding site being possibly in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit is two-fold. First, previous studies have indicated that oxidized CoA disulfide forms a disulfide bond with Cys 325 β and inactivates SCS (4, 5). The relative levels of protection of E. coli SCS from this modification afforded by ATP and GTP were consistent with the relative affinity of the enzyme for ATP and GTP (data not Furthermore examination of a 2F_o-F_c electron density map of the x-ray shown). crystallographic model of *E. coli* SCS revealed density trailing from Cys 325β to a position between Phe 22 α and Ile 322 β (3). This density was discontinuous and had been modeled using water molecules, However it may represent a CoA molecule bound to Cys 325β and present at low occupancy. There is similar more continuous density trailing from Cys 325 β in a 2F_o-F_c electron density map of the dephosphorylated form of E. coli SCS (Chapter 6). Second, an ATP molecule can be modeled into this Rossmann fold with the γ -phosphate of ATP superimposed on the phosphate of the phosphohistidine, and the adenosine ring positioned in a hydrophobic patch between the side chains of Ile 322 β and Phe 22 α (Fig. 5-1). Binding of ATP in this location would thus provide a reason for the protection of SCS from inactivation by oxidized CoA disulfide, that is observed with

¹ A version of this chapter has been published: Joyce, M. A., Fraser, M. E., Brownie, E. R., James, M. N. G., Bridger, W. A., Wolodko, W. T. (1999) *Biochemistry* 38, 7273-7283.

nucleotide triphosphates. The loop containing Ile 322 β may be anchored by an ion pair formed between Arg 324 β and Asp 326 β . In addition, these two residues are conserved amongst SCS enzymes that use ATP, whereas they are Asn and Ala, respectively, in SCS enzymes that are specific for GTP (6, 7).

The original prediction that a nucleotide-binding site resides in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of *E. coli* SCS was based on structural similarity between the ATP-grasp fold in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit and the nucleotide-binding fold found in glutathione synthetase (8) and D-ala:D-ala ligase (DD-ligase) (9). Many of the residues that contact the ADP molecule in the nucleotide-binding folds of both glutathione synthetase and DD-ligase are also found in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit (Fig. 5-2A) (3). In addition, there is a sulfate ion bound in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit in the crystal structure of *E. coli* SCS (1). This sulfate ion is 1.4 Å from the β -phosphate of the ADP in DD-ligase, when the structure of DD-ligase is superimposed onto the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit (3). The amino acid sequence of the loop which binds the sulfate ion (51-AGGRGKXGGV-60) is conserved in all known SCS sequences.

The focus of the present study was to differentiate between the two potential locations of the nucleotide-binding site in *E. coli* SCS. Towards this end, site-directed mutagenesis studies of conserved residues within each of the potential nucleotide-binding sites were carried out. The possible roles of these residues in catalysis by SCS were evaluated by measuring the kinetic parameters of the mutant proteins, and determining their ability to catalyze the partial phosphorylation reactions involving either nucleotide (partial reaction (1) in Chapter 1) or succinyl-CoA and P_i (partial reactions (2) and (3) in Chapter 1). In addition, mutation of a single residue in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit altered the nucleotide specificity of *E. coli* SCS.



Figure 5-1. Stereo diagram of ATP modeled into the C-terminal domain of the β subunit of SCS showing some of the residues that may effect nucleotide binding. The α -subunit is shown in yellow, the β -subunit in green, and the active site phosphohistidine is displayed as a mauve ball and stick model. The molecules of CoA and ATP are drawn as stick models in cyan and red, respectively. The side chains of Ile 322β , Arg 324β , and Asp 326β which were mutated, as well as Phe 22 α , are depicted as ball and stick models.



Figure 5-2. Modeling of ADP into the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS. (A) Stereo view of the superposition of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS (backbone shown in green) on D-ala:D-ala ligase (backbone shown in grey). This diagram is based on two superpositions, one with residues from the small sub-domain of the N-terminal domain (shown on the left in this diagram) and one with residues from the large sub-domain (shown on the right). The residues used in the superpositions are given in Appendices 4 and 5. (B) Convergent stereo ribbon diagram of an ADP moleculephodeled into the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS based on the superposition of the small sub-domain. The α -subunit of SCS is shown in yellow, the β -subunit in green, and the active site phosphohistidine (His 246 α) and the CoA molecule are displayed as stick models in mauve and cyan, respectively. The ADP molecule is coloured red, and the side chains of the mutated residues are labeled.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Materials and Methods

Construction of Site-directed Mutants in the β -subunit of SCS. Site-directed mutants were made in three steps using standard protocols for the PCR and overlap extension (10). The reaction buffer for PCR was identical to that used for PCR in Chapter 2, except that 0.25 μ M of each primer was used, and 100 ng of pGS202 was used as template DNA (11). The primers used for construction of the mutant plasmids are shown in Table 5-1.

Table 5-1. Primers for Mutagenic PCR^a.

Mutations in the N-terminal Domain of the β -subunit:

5' flanking primer: (located in the λ Pr promoter) 5' TTTTACCTCTGGCGGTGATA 3'

3' flanking primer (597) 5' GGGTTGATTTCGATCAACGC 3' (577)

Internal Mutagenic Primers:

P20βQ Mutant: (49) 5' TACCAGCACAGGTGGGTTATG 3' (69) and its complement

Mutations in the C-terminal Domain of the β -subunit

5' flanking primer: (411) 5' AAGAAACTCCGCACCTGATC 3' (431)

3' flanking primer: (1157) 5' CCTCCACTGCGGCAACAACC 3' (1137)

Internal Mutagenic Primers:

I322βA Mutant:^b (954) 5' CTTCGGCGGTg/cCCGTTCGTTGC 3' (976) and complement

R324βN-D326βA Double Mutant: (959) 5' GCGGTATCGTTA A CTGCGCTCTGATCGCTG 3' (988) and complement

^a The nucleotides that are different from the wild-type sequence are shown in bold, and the numbers in parentheses denote the position of the first and last nucleotide of the primer. The abbreviations used for naming the mutants are: the first letter is one letter code for the wild-type amino acid, the number denotes the position of the amino acid, greek symbol denotes the α - or β -subunit, and the second letter is the one letter code for the mutant amino acid.

^b The primer for the I322 β A mutation was actually a mixture of two primers which differed by one nucleotide, shown in lower case.

Each PCR reaction was initially heated at 96 °C for 5 min to denature the template DNA, followed by 30 cycles of annealing for 30 s at a temperatures between 57 °C and 67 °C, polymerase extension for 45 s at 72 °C and denaturation for 30 s at 96 °C using a Techne PHC-2 thermocycler. The mutant fusion product for the mutations P20BQ and G53BV-R54 β E and the vector pGS202 were digested with Nde I (which cleaves at position 1) and Bst XI (which cleaves at position 557) according to the manufacturer's specifications (New England Biolabs Inc.). The fragments were separated by electrophoresis in 1% (w/v) agarose in TAE buffer (12), excised and purified using glass milk (13). Each mutant fragment was ligated to the vector fragment using T4 DNA ligase (15 °C, 8 h). The resulting mutant plasmids were then used to transform competent JM103 E. coli cells (12). The procedures for preparing the mutants I322 β A and R324 β N-D326 β A were identical to those described above except that the restriction enzyme Bpu 1102 I (which cleaves at position 1132) was used instead of Nde I. The mutants G53_βV-R54_βE-I322_βA and G53_βV-R54_βE -R324_βN were constructed by ligating the Nde I - Bst XI fragment from the G53BV-R54BE mutant into identically digested vectors from the I322BA and R324BN mutants. The presence of mutations in all constructs was verified by DNA sequencing using an Applied Biosystems Model 373 Automated Sequencer. The mutations I322 β G-R324BP and I322BA-D326BN arose serindipidously in the PCR reaction mixture for the generation of the I322BA mutation because of low annealing temperatures during PCR.

Expression and Purification of SCS Mutants. Cells of the SCS null strain TK3D18 (14) were transformed with the mutant plasmids. Mutant proteins were expressed and purified by methods described previously (15, 1). All mutant proteins were produced in high yields (approximately 30 to 100 mg/l of culture), and were purified to homogeneity as evaluated by SDS-PAGE and staining with coomassie blue (Fig. 5-3). During purification using chromatographic methods, the elution profiles of all mutant proteins were identical to those of wild-type enzyme. The mutant proteins were stored as suspensions in solutions containing 50% (w/v) (NH₄)₂SO₄ at 4 °C. The purified mutant proteins did not appear to

have any changes in secondary structure compared to wild-type SCS as determined by UV-CD from 180 to 255 nm (Fig. 5-4). For UV-CD, each mutant protein was centrifuged (15 x 10^3 x g, 30 min, 4 °C), and the pellet was dissolved in 500 µl of 50 mM KCl, 0.1 mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4. The resultant solution was clarified by centrifugation (15 x 10^3 x g, 30 min, 4 °C), and dialyzed for 16 h with three changes of the same buffer at 4 °C. The protein concentrations were approximately 1.1 - 1.7 mg/ml. The far-UV CD measurements were carried out essentially as described in Chapter 2. The mean residue weight for wild-type SCS was 105.080, for P20 β Q 105.033, for G53 β V-R54 β E 105.141, for I322 β A 105.018, for R324 β N 105.018, for I322 β A-R324 β N 104.910, for I322 β G-D326 β N 105.016, and for R324 β N-D326 β A 104.953.

Steady State Kinetic Analyses of SCS Mutants. For kinetic analyses, an aliquot of the appropriate $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ suspension was centrifuged (15 x 10³ x g, 30 min, 4 °C), and the pellet was dissolved in 500 µl of 50 mM KCl, 0.1 mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4. The resultant solution was clarified by centrifugation (15 x 10^3 x g, 30 min, 4 °C), and dialyzed for 16 h with three changes of the same buffer at 4 °C. The concentration of the protein was determined spectrophotometrically using the extinction coefficient determined for wild-type SCS at 280 nm ($E_{los}^{1\%} = 5.0$) (16). The concentrations of the nucleotides and CoA were determined using their standard extinction coefficients for a 1 cm pathlength (ATP: $E_{259 \text{ nm}} = 15.4 \text{ mM}^{-1}$, GTP: $E_{252 \text{ nm}} = 13.7 \text{ mM}^{-1}$, CoA: $E_{260 \text{ nm}} = 14.6 \text{ mM}^{-1}$). The $K_{m(app)}$ and k_{cat} values in the direction of succinyl-CoA formation were determined at 22 °C. For each substrate, the initial velocity was measured at various substrate concentrations and at a constant concentration of the other substrates (where appropriate, 115 µM CoA, 60 mM succinate or 510 µM ATP or GTP) in a total volume of 1 ml containing 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4. Initial rates were measured in duplicate at each concentration of substrate, and the initial velocity data were

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 5-3. SDS-PAGE of purified mutants of *E. coli* SCS. Lane 1, wild -ype SCS; lane 2, protein with the mutation P20 β Q; lane 3, G53 β V-R54 β E; lane 4, I322 β A; lane 5, R324 β N; lane 6, I322 β G-R324 β P; lane 7, I322 β A-D326 β N; lane 8, G53 β V-R54 β E-I322 β A; and lane 9, G53 β V-R54 β E-R324 β N.



Figure 5-4 Analysis of wild-type and mutant SCS by far-UV circular dichroism. Wild-type SCS (-) and SCS proteins with the mutations P20 β Q (-), G53 β V-R54 β E (--), I322 β A (-), R324 β N (--), I322 β G-R324 β P (--), I322 β A-D326 β N (--), and R324 β A-D326 β N (--) were analyzed by far-UV CD as described in Materials and Methods.

210

analyzed using the ENZYME KINETICS 1.11 program for a Macintosh computer (17). The k_{est} values were obtained by division of the value for V_{max} by the molar concentration of active sites (i.e. per $\alpha\beta$ -dimer) used in the experiments.

Phosphorylation Reactions Catalyzed by SCS Mutants. Phosphorylation of SCS by ATP or GTP (partial reaction (1)), was carried out at 22 °C in 30 µl of a buffer containing 10 mM MgCl₂ 50 mM KCl, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4 with 1 mM [γ -³²P]-ATP or [γ -³²P]-GTP (approximately 0.3 Ci/mmol). Reactions were started by the addition of 5 µg of SCS in 2 µl, and incubated for various lengths of time before the addition of 15 µl of SDS-PAGE loading buffer to stop the reactions. Phosphorylation of SCS in the opposite direction by succinyl-CoA and P_i (partial reactions (2) and (3)), was done in the same buffer except that [γ -³²P]-ATP or [γ -³²P]-GTP was replaced by 0.3 mM succinyl-CoA and 1 mM ³²P_i (approximately 0.3 Ci/mmol). The results were analyzed via SDS-PAGE (12% (w/v) polyacrylamide gels) and autoradiography, with the radioactively labeled bands quantified by phosphorimaging. Exposure of the image plate was complete in 1 to 2 hours.

Results

Site-Directed Mutagenesis of Residues in the N-terminal Domain of the β -Subunit. Residues Gly 53 β and Arg 54 β in the N-terminal domain were chosen for mutation. These residues are present in the conserved A51 β -V60 β loop: Gly 53 β has hydrogen bonding and Arg 54 β ionic interactions with the sulfate ion in the crystal structure of *E. coli* SCS (Fig. 5-2A) (3). It was reasoned that mutation of these residues would disrupt their interactions with the terminal phosphates of the nucleotide if nucleotide were bound at this site. The location of the mutated residues in relation to a molecule of ADP modeled into the N-terminal domain is shown in Figure 5-2B.

The kinetic parameters for the G53 β V-R54 β E double mutant were determined by steady-state analysis of initial rates of succinyl-CoA formation, and the results were plotted



Figure 5-5. Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for SCS with the mutation G53 β V-R54 β E. The 1 ml reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (115 μ M CoA, 60 mM succinate, and 510 μ M ATP or GTP) except: ATP in panel A; GTP in panel B; CoA in panel C; succinate in panel D. The data were analyzed using the program ENZYME KINETICS (17). The y-intercept of the least squares line gives the value of $1/V_{max}$, and the slope has the value of $K_{m(app)}/V_{max}$. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated, as is the estimated error in the values of $K_{m(app)}$ and V_{max} .



Figure 5-6. Time course of the phosphorylation by NTP of wild-type and one mutant of SCS with changes in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit. Wild-type and mutant SCS were incubated in the presence of (A) $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ ATP, (B) $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ GTP. Samples were taken at various times, and the subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE. The gels were then analyzed by phosphorimagery, and the results are shown on the left: wild-type SCS (**■**), and protein with the mutation G53 β V-R54 β E (**●**). Autoradiograms of the gels are shown on the right.



Figure 5-7. Time course of the phosphorylation by succinyl-CoA and P_i of wild-type and one mutant of SCS with changes in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit. Wild-type and mutant SCS were incubated in the presence of succinyl-CoA and ${}^{32}P_i$. Samples were taken at various times, and the subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE. Autoradiograms of the gels are shown in panel (A). The gels were analyzed by phosphorimagery, and the results are shown in panel (B): wild -ype SCS (\blacksquare), and protein with the mutation G53 β V-R54 β E (\bullet).

Protein	Succinate K _{m(upp)}	CoA K _{m(app)}	ATP K _{m(app)}	ATP k _{cat}	ATP k _{cat} / K _{m(app)}	GTP K _{ny(add)}	GTP k _{cat}	GTP k _{cat} / K _{m(app)}
	(mM)	(μM)	(µM)	(min ⁻¹)	$(x 10^{-3} M^{-1} s^{-1})$	(µM)	(min ⁻¹)	$(x10^{-3} M^{-1} s^{-1})$
Wild-type	0.25	4.0	70	2684	639	394	1471	62.2
Mutations in the N-terminal	Domain of	the β-sub	unit					
Ρ20βQ	1.6	3.7	131	1065	135	73	807	184
G53βŶ-R54βE	1.0	4.3	126	7.8	1.03	354	5.0	0.235
Mutations in the C-terminal	Domain of	the β -sub	unit					
1322BA	14	17	90	533	98.7	239	521	36.3
R324BN	1	10	20	852	710	106 ^b	ND ^c	-
I3226G-R3246P	80	19	12	284	411	60	72	20.0
1322BA-D326BN	20	16	30	494	273	149	271	30.4
R324βN-D326βA	3.6	13	95	3124	548	374 ⁶	ND	-
Mutations in both the N- and	I C-terminal	Domain	s of the β-	subunit				
G538V-R548E-I3228A	0.70	0.15	83 [•]	0.92	0.18	5.8	0.36	1.0
G53βV-R54βE-R324βN	0.29	2.7	82	2.6	0.53	17	0.92	0.92

	Table 5-2:	Apparent	Kinetic Paramete	rs of Wild-Type	and Mutant	SCS Proteins ^a
--	------------	----------	-------------------------	-----------------	------------	---------------------------

⁴ Measured by following the production of succinyl-CoA spectrophotometrically at 235 nm. See Materials and Methods for specific details. ^b An estimate based on measurements using a single GTP concentration (300 μ M) which is comparable to the K_{mtapp} value for the wild-type enzyme. ^e not determined

using a weighted double reciprocal plot (Fig. 5-5). Kinetic analysis of the G53 β V-R54 β E mutant protein revealed one major difference when compared to wild-type SCS, an approximate 300-fold decrease in k_{cat} with either ATP or GTP (Table 5-2). The values of K_{m (app)} for the other substrates remained comparable to those of wild-type enzyme.

To determine which partial reactions for phosphorylation of SCS were impaired by these mutations, single turnover experiments were performed with $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -ATP, or $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -GTP (partial reaction (1)), or succinyl-CoA and ${}^{32}P_i$ (partial reactions (2) and (3)). The α subunit of the G53 β V-R54 β E mutant protein was not phosphorylated by either $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -ATP or $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -GTP (Fig. 5-6A and 5-6B, respectively), but was fully phosphorylated by succinyl-CoA and ${}^{32}P_i$ (Fig. 5-7). These results are consistent with Gly 53 and/or Arg 54 of the β -subunit playing a role during transfer of the γ -phosphate of ATP or GTP (bound in the N-terminal domain) to the active-site histidine of the α -subunit.

Two residues that may be involved in determining the nucleotide specificity of SCS were predicted from the superposition of the N-terminal domain of *E. coli* and pig heart SCS on DD-ligase (3), in combination with sequence comparisons of SCS enzymes (Fig. 1-3) with different nucleotide specificities. One residue, Glu 99 β of *E. coli* SCS superimposes with Glu 180 of DD-ligase, the residue that makes a hydrogen bond with the amino group at the 6 position of the adenine ring of ADP (Fig. 5-2A). GTP has a keto group at the 6 position of the guanine ring, and SCS specific for GTP contains an alanine residue at the corresponding location (Fig. 5-8) (6, 7). The second residue that can provide specificity is located at position 20 β . The GTP-specific enzymes have a glutamine residue postulated to form a hydrogen-bond with the O6 of GTP (Fig. 5-8). However, *E. coli* SCS and the ATP-specific enzymes (7) have a proline residue at this position. To investigate one of these possible determinants of nucleotide specificity, the proline residue was mutated to glutamine, reasoning that the change should increase the affinity of the *E. coli* enzyme for GTP.



Figure 5-8. Stereo view of the superposition of residues from the N-terminal domains of *E. coli* and pig heart SCS on the ADP from DD-ligase. The superposition of *E. coli* SCS (shown with green backbone atoms) on the ADP and Mg^{2+} ion from DD-ligase (shown as a red ball and stick model and a blue sphere, respectively). This view is approximately the same as that shown in Figure 5-2A. The residues used for the superposition of *E. coli* and pig heart SCS (shown with grey backbone atoms) are given in Appendix 6.



Figure 5-9. Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for protein with the mutation P20 β Q. The 1 ml reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (115 μ M CoA, 60 mM succinate, and 510 μ M ATP or GTP) except: ATP in panel A; GTP in panel B; CoA in panel C; succinate in panel D. The data were analyzed using the program ENZYME KINETICS (17). The y-intercept of the least squares line gives the value of 1/V_{max}, and the slope has the value of K_{m(app)}/V_{max}. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated.

The mutant P20 β Q was prepared and analyzed in a similar manner to the G53 β V-R54 β E mutant. The results of the kinetic analyses (shown in Fig. 5-9, and summarized in Table 5-2) revealed that while the K_{m(app)} for ATP had increased slightly, that for GTP had decreased by over five times. Furthermore, a comparison of the k_{cat}/K_{m(app)} ratios for ATP and GTP clearly demonstrated that GTP was a better substrate than ATP for the P20 β Q mutant, which was opposite to that observed for wild-type SCS. This result supports the hypothesis that Gln 20 β forms a hydrogen bond with the O6 of GTP in the mutant protein, and that this residue is involved in determining the nucleotide specificity of SCS.

Site-directed Mutagenesis of Residues in the C-terminal Domain of the β -subunit. Given that a large conformational change in SCS would be required if nucleotide was bound in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit, it was important to consider the evidence from modeling and separate studies using oxidized CoA disulfide that indicated that the Rossmann fold in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit may also bind nucleotide. In this light, three conserved residues in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit that were implicated by modeling studies were chosen for mutation. The residues Ile 322 β , Arg 324 β and Asp 326 β were mutated (singly and in combination) to probe this potential site (Fig. 5-1). It was reasoned that mutation of these residues would disrupt a loop in the Rossmann fold, and thus disrupt any putative nucleotide binding in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit.

The mutant proteins were prepared and analyzed in a similar manner to that described earlier. Steady-state kinetic analyses of the proteins with mutations in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit (Figures 5-10 to 5-13) revealed few differences in kinetic parameters when compared to wild-type SCS (summarized in Table 5-2). The major changes observed were increases in the values of $K_{m(app)}$ for succinate and CoA. For example, the I322 β G-R324 β P mutant protein had an increase in the value of $K_{m(app)}$ for succinate of approximately 320 times that of wild-type SCS. Together these results implied

219



Figure 5-10. Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for protein with the mutation I322 β A. The 1 ml reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (115 μ M CoA, 60 mM succinate, and 510 μ M ATP or GTP) except: ATP in panel A; GTP in panel B; CoA in panel C; succinate in panel D. The data were analyzed using the program ENZYME KINETICS (17). The y-intercept of the least squares line gives the value of $1/V_{max}$, and the slope has the value of $K_{m(app)}/V_{max}$. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated.



Figure 5-11. Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for protein with the mutation I322 β G-R324 β P. The 1 ml reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (115 μ M CoA, 60 mM succinate, and 510 μ M ATP or GTP) except: ATP in panel A; GTP in panel B; CoA in panel C; succinate in panel D. The data were analyzed using the program ENZYME KINETICS (17). The y-intercept of the least squares line gives the value of $1/V_{max}$, and the slope has the value of $K_{m(app)}/V_{max}$. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated.



Figure 5-12. Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for protein with the mutation I322 β A-D326 β N. The 1 ml reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (115 μ M CoA, 60 mM succinate, and 510 μ M ATP or GTP) except: ATP in panel A; GTP in panel B; CoA in panel C; succinate in panel D. The data were analyzed using the program ENZYME KINETICS (17). The y-intercept of the least squares line gives the value of 1/V_{max}, and the slope has the value of K_{m(app)}/V_{max}. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated.



Figure 5-13. Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for protein with the mutation R324 β N-D236 β A. The 1 ml reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (115 μ M CoA, 60 mM succinate, and 510 μ M ATP or GTP) except: ATP in panel A; CoA in panel B; succinate in panel C. The data were analyzed using the program ENZYME KINETICS (17). The y-intercept of the least squares line gives the value of 1/V_{max}, and the slope has the value of K_{m(app)}/V_{max}. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated.

that Ile 322 β , Arg 324 β and Asp 326 β are proximal to the succinate/CoA binding sites. However, it is interesting to note that there was a decrease in the value of $K_{m(app)}$ for nucleotides when either Arg 324 β and Asp 326 β were changed (these two residues form an ion pair in *E. coli* SCS). Changing both residues to those found in pig heart SCS (R324 β N-D326 β A) returned the values of $K_{m(app)}$ for nucleotides to those found in wildtype SCS.

To determine which of the phosphorylation reactions may be impaired by these mutations, single turnover experiments were performed with $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -ATP or $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -GTP (partial reaction (1)), or succinyl-CoA and ${}^{32}P_i$ (partial reactions (2) and (3)). The rate of phosphorylation of mutant proteins by $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -ATP (Fig. 5-14A) or $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -GTP (Fig. 5-14B) was equal to or faster than wild-type SCS. The increase in the rate of phosphorylation of mutant proteins by GTP was greater than the rate increase observed for ATP when both are compared to wild-type enzyme. This may be due to the use of a subsaturating level of GTP at $2xK_m$, whereas that of ATP was $10xK_m$. Thus, this rate increase may reflect the changes in the $K_{m(app)}$ for GTP and not k_{cat} . The rate of phosphorylation by succinyl-CoA and ${}^{32}P_i$ (partial reactions (2) and (3)) had decreased when compared to wild-type SCS (Fig. 5-15). These results were opposite to those observed for the mutations tested in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit, and consistent with the conclusion that Ile 322 β , Arg 324 β and Asp 326 β are not involved with binding nucleotide.

These results demonstrated the pleiotropic effect of mutations in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit. The major effect was an increase in the value of $K_{m(app)}$ for succinate, and a decrease in the rate of partial reactions involving P_i and succinyl-CoA. However, the value of $K_{m(app)}$ for nucleotide decreased and the rate of the partial reaction involving nucleotide increased. Given the hypothesis that the nucleotide binding site resides in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit, and given the long distance of these mutations in the C-terminal domain from the N-terminal domain, the effect of these mutations on the kinetic parameters involving nucleotide was unexpected, and prompted



Figure 5-14. Time course of the phosphorylation by NTP of wild-type SCS and mutants with changes in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit. Wild-type and mutant SCS were incubated in the presence of $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ ATP (A), or $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ GTP (B). Samples were taken at various times, and the subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE. The gels were then analyzed by phosphorimagery and the results are shown on the left: wild-type SCS(**I**), protein with the mutation I322 β A(**O**), R324 β N(**A**), I322 β G-R324 β P (**A**), and I322 β A-D326 β N(**O**). Autoradiograms of the gels showing the α -subunit are on the right.


Figure 5-15. Time course of the phosphorylation by P_i and succinyl-CoA of wildtype SCS and mutants with changes in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit. Wild-type and mutant SCS were incubated in the presence of ${}^{32}P_i$ and succinyl-CoA. Samples were taken at various times, and the subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE. Autoradiograms of the gels are shown in panel A. The gels were analyzed by phosphorimagery and the results are shown in panel B: wild-type SCS (\blacksquare), protein with the mutation I322 β A (\bullet), R324 β N (\blacktriangle), I322 β G-R324 β P (\blacklozenge), and I322 β A-D326 β N (O).

further investigation.

Site-Directed Mutagenesis of Residues in Both Domains of the β -Subunit. Constructs containing the changes G53_BV-R54_BE-I322_BA and G53_BV-R54_BE-R324_BN were made, and the mutant proteins were expressed, purified, and analyzed as before. The results of the kinetic analyses of these proteins are shown in Figures 5-16 and 5-17. The data for the G53_βV-R54_βE-I322_βA mutant protein were plotted using Hanes-Wolf plots because the correlation coefficients were significantly better than in weighted double reciprocal plots. This may be due to the low rates of reaction observed with this mutant protein. When the data for the G53 β V-R54 β E-R324 β N mutant protein was plotted using both types of plots, the results were sufficiently similar that although the Hanes-Wolf plots gave better correlation coefficients, the more common double reciprocal plots were used. If the mutations in the N-terminal domain are absolutely independent from those in the Cterminal domain, then the changes observed in the values of $K_{m(app)}$ and k_{cat} between the triple mutant proteins (e.g. G53 β V-R54 β E-R324 β N) and the corresponding single Ndomain mutant protein (e.g. $G53\beta V-R54\beta E$) should correspond to the changes in the values of $K_{m(app)}$ and k_{cat} observed between wild-type SCS and the corresponding single domain mutant protein (e.g. $R324\beta N$). Consistent with this idea, the k_{cat} for protein with the changes G53 β V-R54 β E-R324 β N was 3 times less than the k_{cat} for protein with the changes G53 β V-R54 β E, and the k_{cat} for protein with the change R324 β N was 3 times less than the k_{ext} for wild type SCS (Table 5-2). In the case of mutant protein with the changes G35 β V-R54 β E-I322 β A, the relationships were similar, 8 times as compared to 5 times. The mutant protein with the changes G35 β V-R54 β E-R324 β N had values of the K_{m(app)} for substrates that were within one order of magnitude of the corresponding $K_{m(app)}$ values for the mutant proteins G53 β V-R54 β E, and R324 β N. However, the mutant protein with the changes G35 β V-R54 β E-I322 β A had values of K_{m(app)} for substrates that were significantly lower than those of proteins with the changes G35 β V-R54 β E and I322 β A.



Figure 5-16. Hanes-Wolf plots for protein with the mutation G53 β V-R54 β E-I322 β A. The 1 ml reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (115 μ M CoA, 60 mM succinate, and 510 μ M ATP or GTP) except: ATP in panel A; GTP in panel B; CoA in panel C; succinate in panel D. The data were analyzed using the program ENZYME KINETICS (17). The y-intercept of the least squares line gives the value of K_{m(app)}/V_{max}, and the slope is equal to the value of 1/V_{max}. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated, as is the estimated error in the values of K_{m(app)} and V_{max}.



Figure 5-17. Double reciprocal plots of the rate of succinyl-CoA formation versus substrate concentration for protein with the mutation G53 β V-R54 β E-R324 β N. The 1 ml reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (115 μ M CoA, 60 mM succinate, and 510 μ M ATP or GTP) except: ATP in panel A; GTP in panel B; CoA in panel C; succinate in panel D. The data were analyzed using the program ENZYME KINETICS (17). The y-intercept of the least squares line gives the value of 1/V_{max}, and the slope has the value of K_{m(app)}/V_{max}. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated, as is the estimated error in the values of K_{m(app)} and V_{max}.

A



Figure 5-18. Time course of the phosphorylation by NTP of wild-type and mutant SCS with changes in both domains of the β -subunit. Wild-type and mutant SCS were incubated in the presence of $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ ATP (A), or $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ GTP (B). Samples were taken at various times, and the subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE. The gels were then analyzed by phosphorimagery and the results are shown on the left: wild-type SCS (II), protein with the mutation G53 β V-R54 β E-I322 β A (\blacktriangle), and G53 β V-R54 β E-R324 β N (\bullet) Autoradiograms of the gels showing the α -subunit are on the right.



Figure 5-19. Time course of the phosphorylation by succinyl-CoA and P_i of wild-type and mutant SCS with changes in both domains of the β -subunit. Wild-type and mutant SCS were incubated in the presence of ${}^{32}P_i$, and succinyl-CoA. Samples were taken at various times, and the subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE. Autoradiograms of the gels are shown in panel A. The gels were then analyzed by phosphorimagery and the results are shown in panel B: wild-type SCS (\blacksquare), protein with the mutation G53 β V-R54 β E-I322 β A (\blacktriangle), and G53 β V-R54 β E-R324 β N (\bullet).

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

If the mutations in the C- and N-terminal domain are completely independent, the partial reactions catalyzed by the proteins containing mutations in both domains of the Bsubunit (e.g. G35BV-R54BE-R324BN) should be a combination of the partial reactions catalyzed by proteins containing mutations in each of the domains (e.g. G35BV-R54BE and R324 β N). Consistent with the behavior of the G35 β V-R54 β E mutant protein, neither of the triple mutants were phosphorylated by $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -ATP (Fig. 5-18A) or $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -GTP (Fig. 5-18B). When compared to wild-type protein, the phosphorylation of both the G35BV-R54βE-I322βA and G35βV-R54βE-R324βN mutant proteins by succinyl-CoA and ³²P, was impaired (Fig. 5-19). The rate of phosphorylation of G35BV-R54BE-R324BN mutant protein by succinyl-CoA and ³²P, was comparable to that observed for protein with the mutation R324BN. The phosphorylation of G35BV-R54BE-I322BA mutant protein by succinyl-CoA and ³²P, was not detected in purified preparations of this mutant. When lysates of the SCS null strain containing constructs that expressed this mutant were made and tested for their ability to be phosphorylated by succinyl-CoA and P_i, phosphorylation was observed (Fig. 5-19A). The results indicate that the effects of mutations in the Nterminal domain of the β -subunit are essentially independent from the effects of mutations in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit.

Discussion

This study was undertaken to differentiate between two possible locations of the nucleotide-binding site in the β -subunit of *E. coli* SCS. The results of this study support and extend the results of the affinity labeling study that used 8-N₃-ATP (Chapter 4). Mutation of residues in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit affected predominantly kinetic parameters involving nucleotide and partial reaction (1), indicating that these residues were proximal to the nucleotide binding site. Mutations in the C-terminal domain primarily affected the kinetic parameters involving succinate and CoA and partial reactions

(2) and (3), indicating that these residues were proximal to the CoA and succinate binding sites. Therefore it was concluded that the nucleotide binds in the ATP-grasp fold of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit and not in the Rossmann fold of the C-terminal domain. Binding of the nucleotide in the N-terminal domain requires that the catalytic His 246 α interacts alternately at two sites, site I where CoA and, presumably, succinate bind, and site II where the nucleotide binds. NMR spectroscopy presented evidence for a "flip" between two conformations of the phosphorylated histidine (18). His 246 α is part of a loop that is postulated to swing and shuttle the histidine residue between the two sites during each catalytic cycle.

The specific mutations that were made in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit affected the partial reactions involving CoA and succinate, but not nucleotide. From the relative increase in the kinetic parameters observed for these two substrates (Table 5-2) succinate and CoA are poorer substrates for the mutants than for the wild-type enzyme. It was thus not surprising that the mutants were more slowly phosphorylated by succinyl-CoA and P_i (Fig. 5-15). The effect of these mutations can be rationalized from examination of the x-ray crystallographic structure of E. coli SCS (3). The effects on the CoA binding site are likely to arise from the interaction between the loop which contains Ile 322β and the α -helix that contains Phe 22 α . This helix is part of the Rossmann fold in the α -subunit that binds CoA. The effects on the $K_{m(app)}$ for succinate may arise because the loop containing Ile 322 β is adjacent to a conserved glycine rich loop that is proximal to the phosphohistidine. This loop contains a series of glycine residues whose main chain amino groups could stabilize the negative change on the non-reactive carboxyl group succinate. Furthermore, the disruption of the succinate and CoA binding sites would indirectly affect the movement of the phosphohistidine loop. If the conformation of SCS with the phosphohistidine loop bound in the α -subunit (as seen in the crystal structure) were destabilized, the rate of phosphorylation by succinyl-CoA and P, at site I would be reduced while the rate of phosphorylation by nucleotide at site II would be increased. These are the

effects observed with the proteins with mutations in the C-terminal domain (Figures. 5-14 and 5-15). Similar, but more pronounced effects, were observed by Luo and Nishimura for protein with the mutation H142αN (19). This mutant protein was "practically devoid of enzyme activity", but was thiophosphorylated and de-thiophosphorylated by ATP_γS and ADP, respectively, at a rate much greater than that for wild-type enzyme. However, when succinate and CoA were used for de-thiophosphorylation, the rate was much slower than that for wild-type enzyme. The kinetic parameters of the mutant protein R324 β N-D326 β A, which are similar to those of wild-type SCS, can also be rationalized by examination of the crystal structures of both *E. coli* (3) and pig heart SCS (20). In the structure of *E. coli* SCS, there is an ion pair between R324 β (which is part of the I322 β loop) and D326 β (which is in the adjacent helix). In the structure of pig heart SCS, the side chain of Asn 324 β is a helix capping residue in the adjacent α -helix. Thus mutation of both residues restored the stabilization of the loop containing I322 β .

The mutagenesis of selected residues in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit affected the binding of nucleotide or the catalysis of partial reaction (1) involving nucleotide, but not the binding of the other substrates or catalysis of partial reactions ((2) and (3)) involving succinyl-CoA and P_i. The positions of these mutated residues are shown as ball and stick models in Figure 5-2. As demonstrated by the significant changes observed in the catalytic efficiency of the mutant proteins compared to the wild-type enzyme (Table 5-2), the residues Gly 53 β and Arg 54 β are likely to be involved in transfer of the γ -phosphate of nucleotide triphosphate to and from the active site histidine, and the residue at position 20 β has a role in determining the nucleotide specificity of SCS.

References:

- 1. Wolodko, W. T., Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., & Bridger, W. A. (1994) J. Biol. Chem. 269, 10883-10890.
- 2. Murzin, A. G. (1996) Curr. Opin. in Struct. Biol. 6, 386-394.
- Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., Bridger, W. A., & Wolodko, W. T. (1999) J. Mol. Biol. 285, 1633-1653.
- 4. Collier, G. E., & Nishimura, J. S. (1978) J. Biol. Chem. 253, 4938-4943.
- 5. Mann, C. J., Hardies, S. C., & Nishimura, J. S. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264, 1457-1460.
- 6. Bailey, D. L., Wolodko, W. T., & Bridger, W. A. (1993) Protein Sci. 2, 1255-1262.
- 7. Johnson, J. D., Mehus, J. G., Tews, K., Milavetz, B. I., & Lambeth, D. O. (1998) J. Biol. Chem. 273, 27580-27586.
- 8. Hara, T., Kato, H., Katsube, Y., & Oda, J. (1996) Biochem. 35, 11967-11974.
- 9. Fan, C., Moews, P. C., Walsh, C. T., & Knox, J. R. (1994) Science 266, 439-443.
- 10. Ho, S. N., Hunt, H. D., Horton, R. N., Pullen, J. K., & Pease, L. R. (1989) Gene 77, 51-59.
- 11. Buck, D., & Guest, J. R. (1989) Biochem. J. 260, 737-747.
- 12. Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E. F., & Maniatis, T. (1989) Molecular Cloning: a laboratory manual, 2 Ed., CSH Laboratory Press
- 13. Davis, D. G., Dibner, M. D., & Battey, J. F. (1986) Basic Methods in Molecular Biology, 1 Ed., Elsevier Science Publishing Co., Inc., New York
- 14. Froehlich, B., & Epstein, W. (1981) J. Bacteriol. 147, 1117-1120.
- 15. Wolodko, W. T., Kay, C. M., & Bridger, W. A. (1986) Biochemistry 25, 5420-5425.
- 16. Krebs, A., & Bridger, W. A. (1974) Can. J. Biochem. 52, 594-598.
- 17. Stanislawski, J. (1991) Vol. 63, 1.11 Ed., Trinity Software, Campton, NH
- 18. Vogel, H. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1983) Biochem. Soc. Trans. 11, 315-323.
- 19. Lou, G.-X., & Nishimura, J. S. (1991) J. Biol. Chem. 266, 20781-20785.
- 20. Fraser, M. E. personal communication.

Page intentionally left blank for note taking.

Chapter SixStudies of the ADP-Bound Formof E. coli SCS1

Introduction

Succinyl-CoA synthetase (SCS) catalyzes the reversible interchange of purine nucleoside diphosphate, succinyl-CoA and P, with purine nucleoside triphosphate, succinate and CoA via a phosphorylated histidine (His 246 α) intermediate (reviewed in (1)) and (2)). As with other enzymes that bind nucleotides, Mg^{2+} ions are required, and the "true" substrate is probably a nucleotide-Mg²⁺ complex. Universally, SCS consists of two subunit types designated α and β ; the catalytic unit carrying out the interchange is an $\alpha\beta$ dimer. This is true even for SCS from E. coli, a heterotetramer, which has been shown to consist of two $\alpha\beta$ -dimers that are catalytically independent (3). In the crystal structure of E. coli SCS, the α -subunit is seen to bind one of the substrates, CoA, and has a loop that includes the histidine residue (H246 α) phosphorylated during catalysis (4). Based on the sequences of different β -subunits from isoforms of SCS in pigeon, Johnson et al. proposed that the β -subunit confers the nucleotide specificity (5), implying that the β subunit binds the nucleotide. Consistent with this implication, evidence from the recognition of a new structural motif (6), from the comparison of SCS with other enzymes possessing this motif (7), and from the results of studies using a photoactivated ATP analogue and site-directed mutagenesis (8) delimited the nucleotide binding site to an ATPgrasp fold in the β -subunit. The CoA-binding site and the proposed nucleotide binding ATP-grasp fold are located approximately 35 Å apart in SCS, and have been designated site I and site II, respectively (8). Catalysis of the full reaction would necessitate the movement of His 246 between these two sites, thus explaining why the formation of an active catalytic unit requires both α - and β -subunits.

¹ A version of this chapter has been accepted for publication: Joyce, M. A., Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., Bridger, W. A., Wolodko, W. T. (1999) accepted for publication in *Biochemistry*.

G., Bridger, W. A., Woldako, W. I. (1999) accepted for publication in *Diochemistry*.

Similar to other enzymes that contain a phosphohistidine, His 246 α of SCS has been shown to be phosphorylated on the N ϵ 2 atom of the histidine sidechain (9, 4, 7), . However, in solution, the prevalent isomer of histidine has the lone pair of electrons on N δ 1 (10). This pair of electrons presumably initiates the nucleophilic attack on either nucleoside triphosphate or succinyl phosphate, creating the phosphohistidine. Vogel and Bridger predicted that an anionic group could stabilize the minor tautomeric form of His 246 α with the proton on N δ 1, thus facilitating the production of the N ϵ 2 isomer of phosphohistidine (11, 12). In site I, Glu 208 α is positioned to fulfill this role (4, 7).

In this chapter, the x-ray crystallographic results of soaking crystals of *E. coli* SCS with high concentrations of ADP and Mg²⁺ ions are reported, proving that the ADP·Mg²⁺ complex binds in the ATP-grasp fold of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit. The specific interactions of the nucleotide-Mg²⁺ complex with SCS are described in some detail and compared to other ATP binding proteins. In addition, a hypothetical model of the histidine-containing loop in the "down" position where it can interact with the nucleotide in site II is presented. Evidence for the participation of two glutamate residues in the phosphoryl transfer reactions that occur at each site (those involving succinate and CoA, at site I, and those involving nucleotide, at site II) is also presented. The participation of the glutamate residue in site II was predicted by the hypothetical model and by Fraser *et al.* (7).

Materials and Methods

Protein Purification and Crystallization. SCS was overexpressed in the *E. coli* strain JM103 transformed with the expression plasmid pGS202 (4) and purified as previously described (13). Crystals of phosphorylated SCS were grown by microdialysis from precipitant solutions consisting of 1.93 M ammonium sulfate, 50 mM potassium phosphate and 0.5 mM CoA, pH 7.3 (14).

Soaking of ADP into Crystals of SCS. Several experiments were carried out with the design of successive trials based on the results of the preceding ones, before achieving a complex of nucleotide and the enzyme in the crystals.

In the first experiment, the membrane surrounding the dialysis button was cut away to allow excess protein to diffuse away from the crystals. After 4.5 h, the open buttons were transferred to freshly prepared precipitant solutions containing 1 mM ADP (greater than 15 times K_d (15)). Magnesium ions were not added since they would have formed an insoluble precipitate with the phosphate and ammonium ions. The crystals were left to soak for 48 h at room temperature prior to data collection.

The successful experiment was inspired by the work of Ray, Jr. *et al.*, who presented stratagems to lower the salt concentration prior to conducting a substrate soak (16). The dialysis buttons were transferred to a solution containing 1.85 M ammonium sulfate in 50 mM MOPS, pH 7.3 to lower the concentrations of the sulfate and phosphate ions. After approximately 24 h, the buttons were transferred to a solution containing 1.85 M ammonium sulfate, 50 mM MOPS, 5 mM MgCl₂ and 0.53 mM ADP, pH 7.2. The crystals were allowed to soak for an additional 24 h before the buttons were transferred to a solution containing 1.8 M ammonium sulfate, 50 mM MOPS, 10 mM MgCl₂ and 4.7 mM ADP, pH 7.2. After 20 h, the membrane was removed, and the buttons were transferred to the final soaking solution containing 1.8 M ammonium sulfate, 50 mM MOPS, 50 mM MgCl₂ and 10.5 mM ADP, pH 7.2 for 5 h prior to mounting the crystals for data collection.

Data Collection, Processing and Refinement. The data were collected on beamline 6A2 at the Photon Factory in Japan using 1.0 Å x-rays with the screenless Weissenberg camera (17). The methods for data collection and processing using the program WEISS have been previously described (4). The statistics for two data sets, the first experiment and the successful experiment, are presented in Table 6-1.

	First Experiment	Successful Experiment
Space group	P4 ₃ 22	P4 ₃ 22
tetramers/asymmetric unit	2	2
Number of crystals	6	6
Resolution	2.9 Å	3.3 Å
Observations	258739	195264
at high resolution (range)	19746 (3.02Å - 2.89Å)	15389 (3.54 - 3.33Å)
Unique reflections	45002	31753
at high resolution (range)	6283 (3.08 - 2.90Å)	4445 (3.51 - 3.30Å)
Data completeness	98.7%	99.0%
at high resolution (range)	96.9% (3.08 - 2.90Å)	98.4% (3.51 - 3.30Å)
R _{merge} ^a	9.2%	16.4%
at high resolution (range)	35.0% (3.02Å - 2.89Å)	37.8% (3.54 - 3.33Å)

Table 6-1. Statistics for the Two X-ray Diffraction Data Sets.

* $R_{merge} = (\sum I_i - I_i) / \sum I_i$, where I_i is the measured intensity of an individual reflection, and I is the mean value for all equivalent measurements of this reflection.

Each data set was scaled to the high resolution data set for native SCS (7), and SIGMAA-weighted electron density maps (18) were calculated using programs from the BIOMOL package (Gröningen, Holland). The program TOM (ALBERTA/CALTECH version 3.0) (19) was used to view the electron density maps and to build the molecular models into the electron density peaks. The atomic coordinates and B-factors were refined using the CNS suite of programs with standard protocols (20-26) over several rounds. Both torsion angle simulated annealing refinement and conjugate gradient minimization refinement were performed with maximum likelihood targets. Non-crystallographic symmetry restraints were applied to all atoms except those of residues at the crystal contacts. The programs PROCHECK (27) and WHATCHECK (28) were used to judge

the stereochemistry and the weights for the restraints. WHATCHECK was also used to improve the unit cell dimensions. Changes in R free were used to judge the refinement protocol. For the 3.3 Å data, no water molecules were included in the final mode and two B-factors were used for each residue, one for the main chain atoms and one for the side chain atoms.

Table 6-2. Primers for Mutagenesis via PCR^a.

Mutations of Glu 2080:

5' flanking primer: (37) 5' GCCCGCTATGGCTTACCAGC 3' (57)

^b3' flanking primer (in the mcs of pGS202) 5' GGTCGACGAATTCCGGACA 3'

Internal Mutagenic primers:

E208aD:

(1778) 5' CGTGATGATCGGTGATATCGGCGGTAGCG 3' (1807) and its complement

E308αQ: (1778) 5' CGTGATGATTGGCCAGATCGGCGGTA 3' (1804) and complement

Mutations of Glu 197 β :

5' flanking primer: (37) 5' GCCCGCTATGGCTTACCAGC 3' (57)

3' flanking primer: (1157) 5' CCTCCACTGCGGCAACAACC 3' (1137)

Internal Mutagenic primers:

E197βA and E197βD: ^c(580) 5' GCGTTGATC(a/g/c)(a/c)(g/c)ATCAACCCG 3' (601) and complement

E197βQ: (579) 5' GGCGTTGATCCAAATCAACC 3' (599) and complement

- ^a The nucleotides that are different from the wild-type sequence are shown in bold, and the numbers in parentheses denote the position of the first and last nucleotide of the primer. Position 1 is the A of the start codon, ATG, for the β -subunit.
- ^b The 3' flanking primer was in the multiple cloning site (MCS) of pGS202, downstream of the α -subunit.
- ^c The primer for the E197βA and E197βD mutations was actually a mixture of primers, shown in lower case.

Site Directed Mutagenesis of Glu 208 α and Glu 197 β . Site-directed mutants were

made in three steps using standard protocols for the PCR and overlap extension (29)

similar to that used in Chapters 2 and 5. The primers for mutagenesis are given in Table 6-2. The mutant fusion product for the mutation E208 α Q and the vector pGS202 were digested according to the manufacturer's specifications (New England Biolabs Inc.) with *Ava* I (which cleaves at position 1715) and *Eco* RI (which cleaves in the multiple cloning site, downstream of the α -subunit). The fragments were separated and ligated using the methods described in Chapter 3, and then used to transform competent JM103 *E. coli* cells (30). The plasmid construct containing the mutation E208 α D was obtained from Dr. David Ryan (31). The mutant fusion product for the mutations E197 β A, E197 β D, E197 β Q and the vector pGS202 were digested with *Bst* XI (which cleaves at position 557) and *Bpu* 1102 I (which cleaves at position 1132). The fragments were then treated in the same manner as was done for the E208 α mutant constructs. The presence of mutations in all constructs was verified by DNA sequencing using an Applied Biosystems Model 373 Automated Sequencer.

Expression and Purification of SCS Mutants. The mutant proteins were expressed and purified by the same methods that were used in Chapter 5. The purity of the mutant proteins was evaluated by SDS-PAGE and staining with coomassie blue.

Steady State Kinetic Analyses of SCS Mutants. The kinetic analyses of these mutant proteins were conducted and analyzed using the methods described in Chapter 5, except for the saturating concentrations of the substrates. The concentrations used here were: 129μ M CoA, 10 mM succinate, and 441 μ M ATP.

Phosphorylation Reactions Catalyzed by SCS Mutants. The mutant proteins were tested for their ability to catalyze the partial reactions involving either nucleotide (partial reaction (1) in Chapter 1) or succinyl-CoA and P_i (partial reactions (2) and (3) in Chapter 1). Phosphorylation of these mutant proteins by ATP, GTP, or by succinyl-CoA and P_i were conducted using the same buffers and conditions as in Chapter 5, except that lysates of cells that expressed the mutant proteins were used instead of pure protein. Protein expression from the cells containing the mutant constructs was synchronized. The amount

242

coomassie blue and analyzing the extent of expression of the β -subunit of SCS using a Bio-Rad Gel Doc 1000 and the accompanying software.

Results

Crystallographic Structures of SCS Soaked with ADP. The differences from the native data ($R_{diff} = 100\% \times \sum ||F_{o(native)}| - k |F_{o(soak)}|| / \sum |F_{o(native)}|$) were 10.8% and 23.6% for the data from the first and successful experiments, respectively. Initial difference maps in the first experiment showed clearly that the active site histidine residue was not phosphorylated, and that there was electron density for a phosphate (or sulfate) ion bound nearby in site I (Fig. 6-1). In the successful experiment, in addition to the dephosphorylated enzyme, there was electron density for the nucleotide and a Mg²⁺ ion in the N-terminal domain of each β -subunit, site II (Fig. 6-2). Moreover, in the 2 | $F_{o(sonk)}$ | - | $F_{o(native)}$ I, $\alpha_{(native)}$ maps, the electron density of the surrounding protein and each molecule of coenzyme A was well defined¹. The models were modified to include the observed conformational differences in the protein and the β -phosphate of the ADP molecule was substituted for the sulfate ion, then refined. The results of the refinement are outlined in Table 6-3. A sample of the electron density from the refined model of dephosphorylated enzyme from the first experiment, around the vicinity of the active site histidine is shown in Figure 6-3. The electron density associated with the ADP-Mg²⁺ complex in the refined model of the successful experiment is shown in Figure 6-4.

In both dephosphorylated models of SCS, the hydroxyl group of Ser 153 α had rotated to form a hydrogen bond (3 Å) with one oxygen atom of the phosphate ion (Fig. 6-5). This is the only change common to the two structures in the vicinity of the active site

¹ During refinement of the model of dephosphorylated SCS, additional density from Cys 325 β became evident, reminiscent of that observed in the native structure of SCS (4). This represents anomalous binding of CoA. Only the panthenoic acid and β -mercaptoethylamine portion of a CoA molecule could be modeled into this density on chain B and refined.



Figure 6-1. Stereo diagrams of difference electron density in the α -subunit. Panel A, chain A; panel B, chain D of the SCS tetramer. The data were from the first experiment, and the vicinity of the active site phosphohistidine, His 246 α , is shown. Shown is the initial difference electron density from the $|F_{o(soak)}| - |F_{o(native)}|$ map generated using phases from the native structure of SCS and contoured at -3.3 σ (red lines) and +3.3 σ (green lines). Amino acid residues of the native model are yellow, with nitrogen atoms in blue and oxygen in red. Figures 6-2 to 6-5 were drawn using the program O (46).



Figure 6-2. Stereo diagrams of difference electron density in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit. The data were from the successful experiment toaking crystals of SCS with ADP and Mg²⁺ ions. Panel A, chain B; panel B, chain E of the SCS tetramer. Shown is the initial difference electron density from the $|F_{o(soak)}| - |F_{o(native)}|$ map generated using phases from the native structure of SCS and contoured at -3.3 σ (red lines) and +3.3 σ (green lines) is abown. Amino acid residues of the native model are yellow, with nitrogen atoms in blue and oxygen in red.



Figure 6-3. Stereo diagrams of electron density in the α -subunit. Panel A, chain A; panel B, chain D of the SCS tetramer. The vicinity of the active site histidine, His 246 α , is shown. Shown is electron density (contoured at 1.5 σ) from the 2 | F_o | - | F_c | map generated using the calculated phases from the final model of dephosphorylated SCS from the first experiment. Amino acid residues within the density are from the final model, and are depicted in yellow, with nitrogen atoms in blue and oxygen atoms in red.



B



Figure 6-4. Stereo diagrams of electron density in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit. The data were from the successful experiment soaking crystals of SCS with ADP and Mg²⁺ ions. Panel A, chain B; panel B, chain E of the SCS tetramer. Shown is electron density of the ADP-Mg²⁺ complex (contoured at 1.5 σ) from the 2 | F_o | - | F_c | map generated using the phases from the final model of ADP-Mg²⁺ complex bound to the dephosphorylated SCS. Amino acid residues from the final model are yellow, with nitrogen atoms in blue, and oxygen atoms in red, and the Mg²⁺ ion is shown as a black dot.

histidine residue, other than the dephosphorylation, that is greater than the lower limit of significance of the experiment. The His 246α loop is still associated with the C-terminal domain of the α -subunit, site I.

	First Experiment	Successful Experiment	
Cell dimensions	a = b = 98.82 Å	a = b = 99.86 Å	
	c = 404.68 Å	c = 407.15	
	$\alpha = \beta = \gamma = 90^{\circ}$	$\alpha = \beta = \gamma = 90^{\circ}$	
Number of data	45002 (20 - 2.9Å)	31753 (20 - 3.3Å)	
R-factor ^a	17.2 % (20 - 2.9Å)	19.1 % (20 - 3.3Å)	
R _{free} ^b	22.8 % (20 - 2.9Å)	24.7 % (20 - 3.3Å)	
Number of protein atoms	9892	9892	
Number of water molecules	330	0	
Number of ligand atoms	133	168	
Rms deviations from ideal geometry:			
Bond lengths	0.016 Å	0.017 Å	
Bond angles	1.9°	1.9°	
Ramachandran plot statistics for 1110 non-proline and non-glycine residues:			
Number in most favored regions	1008 (90.8%)	946 (85.2%)	
Number in additional allowed regions	100 (9.0%)	158 (14.2%)	
Number in generously allowed regions	0 (0%)	4 (0.4%)	
Residues in disallowed regions	2 (0.2%)	2 (0.2%)	

Table 6-3. Refinement Statistics.

^a R = $\sum || F_o | -| F_c || / \sum |F_o |$ ^b R-factor based on data excluded from the refinement (11 %)

The refined model of the ADP molecule bound to SCS is shown in Figure 6-6A. The ADP molecule lies in the cleft between the two subdomains that constitute the Nterminal domain of the β -subunit. The smaller subdomain includes a four-stranded β -sheet and two α -helices. The larger subdomain has as its core a six-stranded β -sheet. In the

structure of the ADP molecule, the adenine ring is oriented anti to the ribose ring with a γ angle (O4*-C1*-N9-C4) of -154° (Figure 6-6A). The observed conformation of the ADP molecule complexed with the Mg²⁺ ion is depicted in Figure 6-6B. Residues of the protein that interact with this complex are presented schematically. The adenine ring is sandwiched between the hydrophobic side chains of Val 44ß and Leu 212B. The amino group at C6 of the adenine moiety forms hydrogen bonds with one carboxyl oxygen atom of Glu 99ß (interatomic distance of 3.1 Å) and the main chain carbonyl oxygen atom of Ala 100B (3.3 Å). The N1 nitrogen atom of the adenine base accepts a hydrogen bond from the main chain amide nitrogen atom of Thr 102 β (2.9 Å). The ribose sugar is held by a hydrogen bond from the 2'-hydroxyl group to one oxygen atom of the carboxyl group of Glu 107B (3.2 Å). The ε -amino group of Lys 46 β forms ionic interactions with the α -phosphate group and the guanidino group of Arg 54 β interacts with both the α - and the β -phosphate groups. Two of the terminal oxygen atoms of the β -phosphate group form hydrogen bonds with the main-chain amide nitrogen atoms of residues 53-55 β . The Mg²⁺ ion is coordinated by five oxygen atoms, one from each of the α - and β -phosphate groups, one from each of the side chains of Asp 213 β and Asn 199 β , and the fifth from the main chain carbonyl group of Asn 199 β (see Figure 6-7 and the Discussion).

One important difference between the two dephosphorylated structures is located far from the nucleotide binding site. In site I of the SCS model derived from the successful experiment, the electron density showed that the side chains of Cys 123 α and Pro 124 α have "flipped" so that the side chain of the proline residue now packs into the protein interior in the space previously occupied by the sulfhydryl group of the cysteine residue (Fig. 6-8). The cysteine side chain is exposed and forms a disulfide bond with the sulfhydryl group of the CoA molecule. We do not know the relevance of the Cys-Pro flip.

Modeling of the Active Site Loop into Site II. Since the nucleotide binds in the Nterminal domain of the β -subunit (site II) and the phosphorylated His 246 α is observed ~35 Å away at site I, we postulated that the loop containing this histidine residue must



Figure 6-5. Superposition of native and dephosphorylated SCS around the phosphohistidine. The backbone of the ADP-bound model of SCS is yellow, with nitrogen atoms in blue. The side chains are coloured according to residue type, the phosphate from this model is shown in red, and the water molecule, W62, is blue. The residues, phosphate ion and water W65 from the refined model of the first experiment are shown in magenta. The residues and a water, Q246, from the native SCS model are shown in grey. The residues used in these superpositions are given in Appendix 7.



Figure 6-6. Nucleotide binding site of SCS. A. Stereo ribbon diagram of one $\alpha\beta$ -dimer (chains A and B) of *E. coli* SCS with the bound ADP shown as a red ball and stick model. The α -subunit is coloured yellow (except for the side chain of His 246 α and the phosphate ion which are red), the β -subunit is green, and the molecule of CoA is shown as a cyan ball and stick model. B. Ball and stick model of the ADP-Mg²⁺ complex showing its conformation when bound to SCS. Surrounding residues of SCS that interact with this complex are presented schematically. The long dashed lines show possible hydrogen bonding interactions. Val 44 β and Leu 212 β have hydrophobic interactions with the adenine ring. The Mg²⁺ ion is depicted by a magenta sphere, and is chelated by five ligands as shown by short dashed lines.

Α



Figure 6-7. Stereo diagrams showning the coordination of the Mg^{2+} ion in the β subunits of SCS. In panel A the coordination observed in chain B is shown, and in panel B the coordination in chain E is shown. The Mg^{2+} ion is coloured magenta, and the phosphates from the ADP molecule are shown as a red ball and stick model. The side chains are coloured according to residue type, and the the backbone of residues that interact with the Mg^{2+} ion are green with the oxygen atoms in red.



Figure 6-8. Superposition of native and dephosphorylated SCS around the CoA. The backbone from the ADP-bound model of SCS is yellow, and the phosphate, and CoA are shown in red. The water molecule from this model, W62, is shown as a blue dot. The residues, CoA, phosphate ion, and water W65 from the refined model of the first experiments are magenta. The residues, CoA, and water Q246 from the model of native SCS are grey. The residues used in these superpositions are given in Appendix 7.

"swing" between the two sites during catalysis (7). Now, presuming that the γ -phosphate group of ATP has the same orientation relative to the imidazole ring as does the phosphate ion in the dephosphorylated structure, the oxygen atom O4 of the phosphate ion can be positioned on one of the terminal oxygen atoms of ADP to model ATP². The terminal oxygen atom chosen as the β_{γ} -bridging atom of ATP was the one that allowed the modeled γ -phosphate group to coordinate the Mg²⁺ ion. This choice is consistent with the structures of ATP analogues bound to carbamoyl phosphate synthetase (32) and synapsin I (33). This positioning orients as well a possible conformation of the His 246 α loop prior to phosphorylation at site II. For this modeling, the loop was detached from the rest of the α -subunit by breaking the C α -C bond of residue 241 α and the N-C α bond of residue 253 α , and the loop was rotated about the position of the C α atom of residue 253 α so that the angle at the β , γ -bridging oxygen atom of ATP was approximately 109°. The movement orients the imidazole ring so that N\delta1 is directed towards Glu 197 β . We had predicted earlier that Glu 197 β would form a hydrogen bond with N δ 1 of the imidazole ring when His 246α is bound at site II (7). To improve the model, the torsion angles along the polypeptide chain were adjusted so that the hydrophobic side chains of residues Met 244 α , Ile 250 α and Ile 251 α interacted with Leu 195 β and Val 113 β , and so that the termini of the loop were directed toward residues 240α and 254α . The loop was reattached, and the geometry of residues $239\alpha - 242\alpha$ and residues $251\alpha - 256\alpha$ was regularized. This model of the His 246 α loop in site II is depicted in Figure 6-9. It must be emphasized that this conformation of the loop is purely hypothetical, based only on the knowledge that His 246 must move from where it is seen in the structure to where the nucleotide binds. Lending credence to this model is the fact that residues of the β -subunit that would interact with the active site loop are conserved in known sequences of SCS. For example, residues equivalent to 113 β and 195 β are usually hydrophobes; 115 β is usually Asp, but can be Glu; 134 β and 197 β are Glu; and 215 β is predominantly Lys, but

254

² The modeling was done using the program TOM (19).



C-termina Domain C-termina Domain ß -termina Domain Domain B Asp 115

Figure 6-9. Model of the His 246 α loop at site II. A. Stereo ribbon diagram of an $\alpha\beta$ dimer of SCS with the hypothetical model of the His 246 α loop at site II. The ATP molecule is represented by a red ball and stick model, and the CoA by a cyan ball and stick model. B. Stereo diagram of the residues that may interact when the His 246 α loop is at site II. The residues of the His 246 α loop are shown with yellow backbone atoms with selected nitrogen atoms shown in blue. The residues of the β -subunit which may interact with the loop are shown with green backbone atoms. The side chains are coloured according to residue type, and the ATP molecule is red.

can be Arg. This model in the complete $\alpha\beta$ -dimer is shown in Figure 6-9A. A comparison of Figure 6-9A with Figure 6-6A points out that there is space for the loop to move unencumbered by any other part of SCS.

Site-Directed Mutagenesis of a Glutamate Residue in Each of Site I and II. Vogel and Bridger predicted that an anionic group would be required to stabilize one tautomeric form to ensure the presence of the lone pair of electrons on the N ϵ 2 position of the active site histidine (11, 12). In site I, Glu 208 α is positioned to fulfill this role (4, 7). In site II, Glu 197 β may fulfill this role (7). In the absence of these sidechains, the lone pair of electrons would preferentially reside on the N δ 1 of the histidine as it does when histidine is free in solution (10). Consequently the N ϵ 2 would be protonated, and thus unable to initiate nucleophilic attack on the phosphorus atom of either succinyl-phosphate (at site I), or ATP (at site II).

To assess the role of Glu 208 α (in site I), it was mutated to Asp to shorten the sidechain by one methylene group, or to Gln to eliminate the charge on the sidechain. The kinetic parameters for both of the Glu 208 α mutants were determined by steady-state analyses of initial rates of succinyl-CoA formation, and the results were plotted using Hanes-Wolf plots (Fig. 6-10 and 6-11). Kinetic analyses of the E208 α D and E208 α Q mutant proteins revealed that $K_{m(app)}$ and k_{cat} values for succinate and CoA that were comparable to those of wild-type enzyme (Table 6-4). However for the E208 α D mutant, the $K_{m(app)}$ values for ATP and GTP were 4 and 6 times lower, respectively, than those of wild-type enzyme; and for the E208 α Q mutant, the corresponding $K_{m(app)}$ values were 2 and 35 times less, respectively (Table 6-4). Such parallel changes were not observed for the E208 α D mutant protein were comparable to those for wild-type SCS, kinetic analyses of the E208 α Q mutant protein revealed a reduction in the k_{cat} value of approximately 5000 times.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 6-10. Hanes-Wolf plots for the *E. coli* SCS mutant E208 β D. The 1 ml reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (129 μ M CoA, 10 mM succinate, and 441 μ M ATP or GTP) except for ATP in panel A, GTP in panel B, CoA in panel C, and succinate in panel D. The y-intercept of the least squares line gives the value of K_{m(app)}/V_{max}, and the slope has the value of 1/V_{max}. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated.



Figure 6-11. Hanes-Wolf plots for the *E. coli* SCS mutant E208 β Q. The 1 ml reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (129 μ M CoA, 10 mM succinate, and 441 μ M ATP or GTP) except for ATP in panel A, GTP in panel B, CoA in panel C, and succinate in panel D. The y-intercept of the least squares line gives the value of K_{m(app)}/V_{max}, and the slope has the value of 1/V_{max}. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated.







Figure 6-12. Time course of the phosphorylation by NTP of wild-type SCS and the Glu 208 β mutant protein. Wild-type and mutant SCS were incubated in the presence of $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ ATP, panel A or $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ GTP, panel B. Samples were taken at various times, and the subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE. The gels were then analyzed by phosphorimagery and the results are shown on the left: wild-type SCS (O), protein with the mutation E208 β D (\bullet), and E208 β Q (\blacktriangle). Autoradiograms of the gels are shown on the right.





Figure 6-13. Time course of phosphorylation by succinyl-CoA and P_i of wild-type SCS and the Glu 208 β mutant protein. Wild-type and mutant SCS were incubated in the presence of ${}^{32}P_i$ and succinyl-CoA. Samples were taken at various times, and the subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE. Autoradiograms of the gels are shown in panel A. The gels were analyzed by phosphorimagery, and the results are shown in panel B: wild-type SCS (O), protein with the mutation E208 β D (\bullet), and E208 β Q (\blacktriangle).

To determine which partial reactions for phosphorylation of SCS were impaired by these mutations, single turnover experiments were performed with $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -ATP, or $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -GTP (partial reaction (1)), or succinyl-CoA and ${}^{32}P_i$ (partial reactions (2) and (3)). Consistent with the results of the steady state kinetic analysis, the rate of phosphorylation of the α -subunit of the E208 α D mutant by ATP, GTP, or succinyl-CoA and P_i was comparable to that of wild-type protein (Figures 6-12 and 6-13). However, the α -subunit of the E208 α Q mutant protein was only phosphorylated by ATP or GTP (Fig. 6-12), but not by P_i and succinyl-CoA (Fig. 6-13). These results are consistent with the participation of Glu 208 α in partial reactions (2) and/or (3), which are thought to occur at site I.

To assess the role of Glu 197 β (in site II), it was mutated to Asp to shorten the sidechain by one methylene group, to Gln to eliminate the charge on the sidechain, or to Ala to eliminate the sidechain. Protein with the mutation E197 β A was inactive. The kinetic parameters for the remaining Glu 197 β mutants were determined by steady-state analysis of initial rates of succinyl-CoA formation, and the results were plotted using Hanes-Wolf plots (Fig. 6-14 and 6-15). Kinetic analysis of the E197 β D mutant protein revealed that k_{cat} values and K_{m(app)} values for all substrates were comparable to those of wild-type enzyme (Table 6-4). Similar to the results for the E208 α Q mutant, kinetic analysis of the E197 β Q mutant revealed a decrease in the value of k_{cat} of 3000 fold using ATP, and 7000 fold using GTP when compared to the values of wild-type enzyme. The K_{m(app)} values for all of the substrates were comparable to those of TP which had decreased by approximately 18 times.

The rates of phosphorylation of the Glu 197 β mutants with ATP, GTP or succinyl-CoA and P_i were determined, and the results are shown in Figures 6-16 and 6-17. The E197 β A mutant was not phosphorylated by ATP, GTP, or P_i and succinyl-CoA. Consistent with the steady state kinetic analysis, and similar to the E208 α D mutant, the rate of phosphorylation of the E197 β D mutant by ATP, GTP, or succinyl-CoA and P_i was

261


Figure 6-14. Hanes-Wolf plots for the *E. coli* SCS mutant E197 β D. The 1 ml reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (129 μ M CoA, 10 mM succinate, and 441 μ M ATP or GTP) except for ATP in panel A, GTP in panel B, CoA in panel C, and succinate in panel D. The y-intercept of the least squares line gives the value of K_{m(app)}/V_{max}, and the slope has the value of 1/V_{max}. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated.



Figure 6-15. Hanes-Wolf plots for the *E. coli* SCS mutant E197 β Q. The 1 ml reaction mixtures contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, and saturating concentrations of all substrates (129 μ M CoA, 10 mM succinate, and 441 μ M ATP or GTP) except for ATP in panel A, GTP in panel B, CoA in panel C, and succinate in panel D. The y-intercept of the least squares line gives the value of K_{m(app)}/V_{max}, and the slope has the value of 1/V_{max}. The correlation coefficient of the line is indicated.



Figure 6-16. Time course of phosphorylation by NTP of wild-type SCS and the Glu 197 β mutant protein. Wild-type and mutant SCS were incubated in the presence of [γ -³²P] ATP in panel A, or [γ -³²P] GTP in panel B. Samples were taken at various times, and the subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE. The gels were then analyzed by phosphorimagery and the results are shown on the left: wild-type SCS (O), protein with the mutation E197 β A (\blacksquare), E197 β D (\oplus), and E197 β Q (\blacktriangle). Autoradiograms of the gels are shown on the right.



B



Figure 6-17. Time course of phosphorylation by succinyl-CoA and P_i of wild-type SCS and the Glu 197 β mutant protein. Wild-type and mutant SCS were incubated in the presence of ${}^{32}P_i$ and succinyl-CoA. Samples were taken at various times, and the subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE. Autoradiograms of the gels are shown in panel A. The gels were analyzed by phosphorimagery, and the results are shown in panel B: wild-type SCS (O), protein with the mutation E197 β A (\blacksquare), E197 β D (\bullet), and E197 β Q (\blacktriangle).

similar to that of wild-type protein. The E197 β Q mutant was not phosphorylated by either ATP or GTP, but was phosphorylated by succinyl-CoA and P_i at rates that were similar to those of wild-type protein. These results are the reciprocal to those of the E208 α Q mutant, and are consistent with the participation of Glu 197 β in the partial reaction involving nucleotide at site II.

Protein	Succinate K _{m(app)}	CoA K _{m(app)}	ATP K _{m(app)}	ATP k _{cat}	GTP K _{m(app)}	GTP k _{cat}	
	(mM)	(µM)	(µM)	(min ⁻¹)	(µM)	(min ⁻¹)	
Wild-type	0.25	4.0	70	2684	394	1471	
Mutations of Glu 208 α (site I)							
E208aD	0.26	2.2	116	2343	63.3	539.6	
Ε208αQ	0.27	1.3	41.2	0.57	11	0.28	
Mutations of Glu 197 β (site II)							
E1978D	0.87	2.7	138	1775	311	1775	
E197βQ	0.40	1.8	106	0.85	20.2	0.21	

Table 6-4: Kinetic Parameters of Wild-type and Mutant SCS Proteins^a

^a Measured by following the production of succinyl-CoA spectrophotometrically at 235 nm (See Materials and Methods of specific details).

Discussion

Crystallographic Structures of SCS Soaked with ADP. The results of the first experiment are relevant to the idea that ADP causes dephosphorylation. Since the phosphohistidine can be hydrolyzed nonenzymatically at low pH, it is possible that a drop in pH during the ADP soak was responsible for the dephosphorylation. However, in control experiments, it was verified that the pH did not drop below neutrality upon the addition of ADP. Furthermore, as a negative control, trials with nonhydrolyzable nucleotide analogues under identical conditions did not result in dephosphorylation of the enzyme, demonstrating that ADP is responsible for the dephosphorylation. The fact that ADP was not observed bound in the crystal structure can be attributed to low occupancy.

At the concentration of ADP used in this experiment, ADP would not be a good competitor for the sulfate and phosphate ions present at high concentration in the precipitant solution. A sulfate or phosphate ion is seen in both this and the native structure (7) bound to the Nterminal domain of the β -subunit. As proved by the structure of the ADP-complex with SCS in the successful experiment, the β -phosphate of the nucleotide replaces the sulfate or phosphate ion at this location. Hence, in addition to nonspecific ionic effects, there would be direct competition for the binding site by sulfate and phosphate ions.

Based on the results of the first soaking experiment, several modifications were made to the protocols for subsequent experiments culminating in success. The significant changes were lowering as much as possible the concentration of competing ions (e.g. the precipitant sulfate ions), exchanging the buffer (i.e. removing the phosphate ions) so that magnesium ions could be added, and increasing the concentrations of the substrates, ADP and Mg²⁺ ions. The requirement for the excessively high concentration of nucleotide was also demonstrated by an experiment in which the ADP in the final step was replaced by 10 mM β , γ -methyleneadenosine 5'-triphosphate (AMPPCP). This nonhydrolyzable analogue of ATP has a K_i value of 0.38 mM (11), more than an order of magnitude higher than the K_m for ATP or ADP (34, 15). The enzyme was dephosphorylated by ADP in the preceding steps but the concentration of AMPPCP was not sufficiently high for it to compete with the sulfate ion and bind in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit.

Although the binding site for the ADP-Mg²⁺ complex has been identified, full details of the binding cannot be described due to the limited resolution of the data. The soaking experiments caused a deterioration in the crystals. The data to 2.9 Å resolution were used in the analysis of the first experiment, but data to only 3.3 Å resolution were used in the successful experiment. It is likely that the crystals are less well ordered after the soaking experiments because the enzyme must change conformation to bind better the ADP-Mg²⁺ complex. Figure 6-18 shows a superposition of the nucleotide-bound structure with the native structure. Parts of the smaller subdomain have moved relative to the rest of

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

the enzyme, however the helices of this subdomain have not. These helices are constrained because they pack against a second tetramer in the crystals (cf. Figure 7(a) in reference (7)). However, even these helices can eventually move, since the crystals shattered when left to soak longer than 48 h. Due to the low resolution of the data, the coordinate errors for the well-ordered atoms in the two models are rather high, estimated as 0.6-0.7 Å (35, 18). In the final refinement of the model from the successful experiment, no water molecules were included. So although it might have been expected that the Mg²⁺ ion would be octahedrally coordinated by six oxygen atoms, in the structure of the complex with SCS, the ion is coordinated by five oxygen atoms of the protein (Fig. 6-7). In this model, the sixth position is open to the solution and presumably it would be filled by an oxygen atom from a water molecule. Likewise, although a phosphate ion has been modeled next to His 246 α , this ion may be a sulfate.

The observed changes in the structure of the protein that accommodate the binding of the ADP-Mg²⁺ complex are relatively small. The inner loop (residues 48 β to 59 β) that complexes the free sulfate ion in the native structure is shifted in towards the cleft to bind the β -phosphate of ADP. The neighboring loop (residues 82 β to 90 β) also shifts so that its interactions with the inner loop can be maintained (Fig. 6-18). The side chain carboxylate group of Asp 213 β provides one ligand for the Mg²⁺ ion. In so doing, the hydrogen bond observed in the native structure between one carboxylate oxygen atom and the nitrogen atom of Gly 214 β must be broken (Fig. 6-19). The plane of the peptide bond between Asp 213 β and Gly 214 β is rotated in the complex relative to the native structure, and the carbonyl oxygen atom adopts a position more favorable to accept a hydrogen bond (3.2Å)from the amide nitrogen atom of Asn 199 β . The use of the side chain oxygen atom, O δ 1, of Asn 199 β to coordinate the Mg²⁺ ion disrupts hydrogen bonding interactions in the



Figure 6-18. Stereo diagram superposing the ADP-bound and native models of an $\alpha\beta$ -dimer to show the conformational shift. The ball and stick model of the ADP molecule and the corresponding C α -trace are coloured red. The C α -trace of the native enzyme and the ball and stick model of the bound sulfate ion are green, while the side chain of His 246 α is blue. The residues used in this superposition are given in Appendix 7.



Figure 6-19. Changes in the vicinity of the Mg^{2+} ion. The native model and the ADPbound model are superimposed. The native model is shown in grey. The potential hydrogen bonds in the native model are shown as long dashed lines. The ADP-bound model is green, and the potential hydrogen bonds and Mg^{2+} coordination is indicated by short dashed lines. The Mg^{2+} ion is coloured magenta, and the phosphates from the ADP molecule are shown as a red ball and stick model. The oxygen atoms are coloured red and the nitrogen atoms blue.

native structure between the side chain amido group of Asn 199 β and the amide nitrogen atom of Gly 130 β (Fig 6-19). Residues Gly 130 β and Val 131 β are part of one tryptic peptide labeled by 8-N₃-ATP (8). The location of these residues in a ribbon diagram of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit is indicated by an asterix in Figure 6-20A. The loop containing these residues is structurally analogous to the "lid" over the nucleotide in DDligase (36) and glutathione synthetase (37), two other enzymes possessing the ATP-grasp fold (6). Primarily due to the absence of a "lid", 47% of the ADP molecule when bound by SCS is accessible to solvent, in contrast to 2% when bound by DD-ligase.³ Surprisingly, there is very little change in the position of Glu 107 β . By analogy to DD-ligase, the carboxylate group of this side chain was expected to form hydrogen bonds with the 2'- and 3'-hydroxyl groups of the ribose moiety (7). Instead, only one oxygen atom of the carboxylate group interacts with the 2'-hydroxyl group, and this with the long distance of 3.2 Å (Fig 6-20B). This is similar to the binding in synapsin I (33).

The ADP-Mg²⁺ complex is bound, with only these small changes, by residues of both subdomains of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit. This contrasts with the earlier hypothesis that the two subdomains would close, so that each would superpose with its counterpart of DD-ligase (7). Instead, when the superposition of the two structures is based on the ADP molecules⁴, the β -strands of the smaller subdomain superpose quite well, while those of the larger subdomains do not (Fig. 6-20A). Instead, the β -strands of this subdomain of SCS are in the same plane as those of DD-ligase, but there is an angle of about 20° between the directions of the strands. It may be that the orientation of one subdomain with respect to the other need not be identical among structures possessing the ATP-grasp fold. However one may be left to wonder if SCS is in the conformation it would adopt when binding the ADP-Mg²⁺ complex in solution.

³ The surface areas of the molecules accessible to solvent were calculated using the program MS (38).

⁴ The superposition was done using the program SUPPOS from the BIOMOL package (Gröningen, Holland).



B



Figure 6-20. Stereo diagram of the superposition of the ADP in SCS with that in DD-ligase. A. Ribbon diagram of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS (shown in green) superimposed on DD-ligase (shown in grey) based on bound ADP molecule. The ADP in SCS is shown as a red ball and stick model, while that in DD-ligase is grey. B. Close-up view of the nucleotide binding sites of SCS and DD-ligase from the superposition shown in panel A. The backbone of SCS is shown in green, and that of DD-ligase is grey. The sidechains are coloured according to residue type. The Mg²⁺ ion in SCS is magenta while those in DD-ligase are grey. The phosphoramidate inhibitor from DD-ligase is also shown.

These are the first structures observed of dephosphorylated SCS. In the native, phosphorylated structure, there was a water molecule bound to the phosphoryl group of chain A at site I (7). It was postulated that this water molecule was in the position that the oxygen atom of succinate might adopt prior to the transfer of the phosphoryl group from the phosphohistidine. This interpretation is supported by the dephosphorylated structures wherein one of the oxygen atoms of the phosphate ion (O4) adopts this position (Fig. 6-5). Interactions between the protein and the other three oxygen atoms are similar in the phosphorylated and dephosphorylated structures, with the exception of the previously mentioned change in χ_1 of Ser 153 α . This change allows the Oy atom of Ser 153 α to interact with oxygen atom O1 of the phosphorus atom could be maintained as the phosphoryl group is transferred from the phosphohistidine to form succinyl-phosphate and released as a phosphate ion at site I. These three oxygen atoms would be in the equatorial plane, while the nitrogen atom of the imidazole ring and the fourth oxygen atom would adopt the axial positions about the phosphorus atom in the trigonal bipyramidal transition state.

Comparison of the ADP-Bound Form of SCS to Other Nucleotide Binding Proteins. As noted before, the N-terminal domain of SCS is a member of the class of nucleotide binding folds called the ATP-grasp fold (4, 39, 6, 40-43, 7). As such, it displays remarkable similarity to other members of this group, the majority of the residues that make contacts with the ADP have equivalent residues in other proteins that contain the ATP-grasp fold. Table 6-5 lists the residues that are equivalent between SCS and a representative member of the ATP grasp family, DD-ligase (36). These residues are involved primarily in binding the adenosine moiety and α -phosphate.

Residue in SCS	Residue in DD-ligase	Function		
Val 44β	Ile 142	Hydrophobic interaction with adenine.		
Leu 212 β and Val 104 β	Met 259 and Leu 269	Hydrophobic interaction with adenine.		
Lys 46β	Lys 144	H-bond with N7 of adenine and ionic interaction with the α -phosphate group.		
Glu 99β, and the main chain carbonyl group of Ala 100β	Glu 180, and the main chain carbonyl group of Lys 181	H-bond with N6 of adenine.		
main chain amide of Thr 102β	main chain amide of Leu 183	H-bond with N1 of adenine		
Glu 107β	Glu 187	H-bond with the 2' OH of the ribose sugar.		
Asp 213β	Glu 270	Coordination of the Mg ²⁺ ion.		
main chain carbonyl of Asn 199 (precedes a cis-Pro bond)	side chain of Asp 257 (no cis-Pro)	Coordination of the Mg ²⁺ ion.		

Table 6-5. Equivalent Residues that Contact the ADP Mg²⁺ Complex in SCS and DD-ligase.^a

^{*} Judging the equivalence of these residues was based on the superposition of the ADP molecule in SCS with that in DD ligase, using the program SUPPOS from the BIOMOL package (Gröningen, Holland).

Equally interesting, are the residues that have different interactions. In DD-ligase, Trp 182 forms the part of the hydrophobic pocket where the adenine ring resides; the equivalent residue in SCS is Ala 101 β . This difference is likely to underlie the specificity of *E. coli* SCS to accommodate both ATP and GTP. A large hydrophobic residue at this position would sterically clash with the amino group on the C2 atom of guanine. In pig heart SCS specific for GTP, this residue is also Ala. Moreover, in mammalian SCS specific for ATP, this residue is Arg or Lys, whose side chains would also obstruct the amino group on the C2 atom of guanine. A second difference between SCS and DD-ligase is observed in the Mg²⁺ binding site. One of the coordination positions of the Mg²⁺ in SCS is formed by the main chain carbonyl oxygen of Asn 1998, which is involved in a cisproline bond with Pro 200 β . This cis-proline bond positions the carbonyl group to "substitute" for the side chain of the equivalent residue in DD-ligase, Asp 257. Furthermore, as a consequence of the cis-proline bond, the residue in SCS equivalent to Met 259 in DD-ligase is not in position to make hydrophobic interactions with the adenine ring. Instead, this role is fulfilled by $L212\beta$ in SCS. A third difference between SCS and DD-ligase is observed in the conformation of the inner loop, (residues 53 β to 55 β in SCS) that interacts with the α - and β -phosphate groups of ADP (Fig. 4-19B). Although Thoden et al. (32) postulated that the Type III' reverse turn seen to bind the nucleotide in carbamoyl phosphate synthetase (32), glutathione synthetase (37), and DD-ligase (36) may be common to all proteins of this family, SCS and pyruvate phosphate dikinase (44) are the current exceptions. Because pyruvate phosphate dikinase transfers the γ , β -pyrophosphate group of ATP as a single unit, the conformation of this loop would be expected to be different. In SCS, the guanidino portion of the side chain of Arg 54 β interacts with the phosphates of ADP, "replacing" Lys 97 of DD-ligase (36), Lys 125 of glutathione synthetase (37) or Arg 675 of carbamoyl phosphate synthetase (32), residues that are not part of the reverse turn.

The ATP-grasp fold, as represented by DD-ligase, displays remarkable structural similarity in the area around the nucleotide to an unrelated class of nucleotide binding proteins, represented by cAMP dependent protein kinase (cAPK) (40, 41, 43). Given the high degree of similarity observed between the nucleotide binding domains of SCS and DD-ligase, the structural similarity to cAPK extends to SCS, especially around the AMP portion of the ADP molecule. For both of these folds (the ATP-grasp and the cAPK fold), the binding site for nucleotide resides between two domains (in SCS these domains have been designated the smaller and larger subdomains of the nucleotide binding fold), one smaller, dominated by a 4-5 stranded antiparallel β -sheet, and one larger domain (43). In all there are 10 segments (103 residues) from these two domains (43) that are similar in the

ATP grasp and cAPK nucleotide binding folds. For six of the 10 segments, the connectivity is similar to that in SCS. The structural similarity extends throughout the bound nucleotide and the residues that interact with it, to the bound Mg^{2+} ions, several water molecules, and to a network of hydrophobic and electrostatic interactions (43). A superposition of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS and cAPK is shown in Figure 6-21.

These enzymes (DD-ligase and cAPK) also display some structural similarity to a third nucleotide binding fold, the allosteric effector site found in ribonucleotide reductase (RNR R1) (42). There are 23 equivalent residues in these proteins, some of which serve to orient the AMP portion of the ligand (42). Counterparts to these residues are observed in SCS. A superposition of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS and RNR R1 is shown in Figure 6-22. The main chain amide nitrogen of Thr 102β (corresponding to L183 in DD-ligase, V123 in cAPK, and N18 in RNR R1) forms a hydrogen bond with the N1 of the adenine, and the main chain carbonyl oxygen atom of Ala 100 β (corresponding to K181 in DD-ligase, E121 in cAPK, and R16 in RNR R1) forms a hydrogen bond with the N6 amino group of adenine. The side chain oxygen atom of Glu 99 β (corresponding to E180 in DD-ligase, and E15 in RNR R1) also forms a hydrogen bond with the N6 amino group of adenine, and Lys 46ß (corresponding to K144 in DD-ligase, K72 in cAPK, and K9 in RNR R1) makes ionic interactions with the α -phosphate group of the nucleotide. Val 44β (corresponding to 1142 in DD-ligase, A70 in cAPK, and V57 in RNR R1) packs against one side of the adenine ring, and Leu 212ß (corresponding to M154 in DD-ligase, and V57 in cAPK) packs against the other side of the purine ring. A third hydrophobic contact with the nucleotide that is present in DD-ligase, cAPK, and RNR R1 occurs where Ala 100 β is located in *E. coli* SCS. Presumably the absence of a large side chain at this position allows E. coli SCS to bind both ATP and GTP.

The nucleotide binding site of SCS also has some more limited similarity to the representative member of the small G-proteins, H-ras p21, where nucleotide is observed

bound on the edge of a parallel β -sheet (45). The conformation of Gly 53 β -Arg 54 β -Gly 55β in SCS is reminiscent of the conformation of three residues (Gly 15-Lys 16-Ser 17) of the phosphate-binding loop H-ras p21 (45). Each binds the β -phosphate of the nucleotide; however, if the three residues in the two proteins are superposed, the nucleotides are oriented in opposite directions, so that the α -phosphate of ADP bound to SCS superposes with the γ -phosphate of the nucleotide bound to H-ras p21. When the superposition is based on the nucleotide diphosphate molecules observed in these structures⁵, there are several specific residues that have equivalent positions, but unlike the previous examples, neither the secondary structure nor the connectivity is similar (Fig 6-23). For example, hydrophobic interactions are made between the nucleotide and residues on either side of the adenine or guanine ring. Hydrophobic contacts are made between one side of the purine ring and Leu 212 β in SCS, or Phe 28 in p21. On the other side of the purine ring, they are made by Val 44 β in SCS, and by the methylene portion of the sidechain of Lys 117 in p21. The hydrogen bond between the main chain amide nitrogen of Thr 102 β and the N1 of adenine in SCS is equivalent to a hydrogen bond between the N1 of guanine and the oxygen atom of the side chain of Asp 119 in p21. In SCS, glutamate 107β makes a hydrogen bond with the 2' hydroxyl group of the ribose, similar to the hydrogen bond between the main chain carbonyl oxygen atom of Asp 30 and the 2' OH of the ribose in p21. In SCS, the interaction between the guanidinium group of Arg 54 β and the β phosphate of ADP is equivalent to the interaction between the amino group of Lys 16 and the β -phosphate group in p21.

Thus, there exists considerable similarity between structures that bind nucleotide, regardless of the protein fold in which the nucleotide binds. This would indicate that convergent evolution produces different proteins that to fold in a variety of ways to produce similar local interactions with a specific ligand. The similarity in the chemical groups and

⁵ The superposition was done using the command lsq_explicit in the program O (46), specifying all common atoms between the ADP, and GMPPCP molecules. The RMSD between the NDP portion of the two nucleotides was 1.455 Å



Figure 6-21. Stereo diagram of the superposition of the ADP in SCS with that in cAMP dependant protein kinase (cAPK). A. Ribbon diagram of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS (shown in green) superimposed on cAPK (shown in grey) based on bound ADP molecule. The ADP in SCS is shown as a red ball and stick model, while that in cAPK is grey. B. Close-up view of the nucleotide binding sites of SCS and cAPK from the superposition shown in panel A. The backbone of SCS is shown in green, and that of cAPK is grey. The sidechains are coloured according to residue type. The Mg²⁺ ion in SCS is magenta while those in cAPK are grey. Hydrogen bonds from the nucleotide to the protein are coloured according to the nucleotide colour. The PDB accession number for cAPK is 1CDK.



Figure 6-22. Stereo diagram of the superposition of the ADP in SCS with that in Ribonucleotide reductase (RNR1). A. Ribbon diagram of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS (shown in green) superimposed on RNR1 (shown in grey) based on bound ADP molecule. The ADP in SCS is shown as a red ball and stick model, while that in RNR1 is grey. B. Close-up view of the nucleotide binding sites of SCS and RNR1 from the superposition shown in panel A. The backbone of SCS is shown in green, and that of RNR1 is grey. The sidechains are coloured according to residue type. The Mg²⁺ ion in SCS is magenta while those in RNR1 are grey. Hydrogen bonds from the nucleotide to the protein are coloured according to the nucleotide colour. The PDB accession number for RNR1 is 3R1R.



Figure 6-23. Stereo diagram of the superposition of the ADP in SCS with that in p21 ras. Close-up view of the nucleotide binding sites of SCS and p21 ras. The backbone of SCS is shown in green, and that of p21 ras is grey. The sidechains are coloured according to residue type. The Mg^{2+} ion in SCS is magenta while those in p21 ras are grey. Hydrogen bonds from the nucleotide to the protein are coloured according to the nucleotide colour. The PDB accession number for p21 ras is 6Q21.

structures that are used by nature to bind nucleotide likely reflect the limited number of productive interactions with nucleotide that are possible, while allowing for functionality. Thus, there is greater similarity (between different nucleotide binding proteins) in the amino acids which are proximal to the AMP portion of the nucleotide, than there is in the amino acids that bind the functional portion of the nucleotide, the β - and γ -phosphoryl groups.

Modeling and Mutagenesis of E. coli SCS. The mechanism for the reaction catalyzed by SCS has been envisioned as a series of nucleophilic attacks with phosphorylated histidine residue as an intermediate (1). The nucleophilic attack by the active site histidine on the phosphoryl group of either succinyl-phosphate (proposed to occur in site I), or on the γ -phosphoryl group of ATP (proposed to occur in site II) requires a free electron pair. In SCS, the phosphohistidine has been shown to be the N ε 2 isomer (47, 4, 7). This would imply that the free electron pair must have been on the Ne2 atom of the imidazole ring, despite the preference of free histidine in solution to have the electron pair on N δ 1 (10). Vogel and Bridger predicted that the presence of an ionic group proximal to No1 would favour the formation of the isomer of histidine with the free electrons on the Ne2 atom (48, 12). The identification of the nucleotide binding site in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit, 35Å from the active site histidine and the bound CoA molecule in the α -subunit, implyies that the partial reactions that involve succinyl-CoA and P_i and those that involve nucleotide are carried out at separate sites. These have been designated site I and site II, respectively (8). There is a relevant glutamate residue located in each of these two sites. In site I, Glu 208 α interacts with the N δ 1 atom of the active site phosphohistidine as seen in the crystal structure of SCS (4, 7). In other enzymes that have a covalent histidine intermediate, the presence of a hydrogen bond between the nonphosphorylated nitrogen atom (either N δ 1 or N ϵ 3) of an active site histidine and a hydrogen bond acceptor seems to be a common theme (49-53). In site II, Glu 197 β was predicted to interact with the N δ 1 atom of H246 α in a similar manner based on the hypothetical model shown in Figure 6-9. Mutagenesis of these glutamate residues in each site was carried out to examine their role in the phosphoryl transfer catalyzed by SCS. When these residues were mutated separately to glutamine, the activity of the mutant enzymes was reduced by approximately 3-4 orders of magnitude. In addition, the mutation E208aQ inhibited only phosphorylation by P, and succinyl-CoA in site I, and the mutation E197BQ inhibited only phosphorylation by nucleotide in site II (Figures 6-12, 6-13, 6-17 and 6-18). The effect of these mutations was not due to disruption of the substrate binding sites, because the $K_{m(app)}$ values resembled those of wild-type SCS (Table 6-4). Since the side chain of glutamine can still accept a hydrogen bond, the charge on the native glutamate residues must be important for the phosphorylation of SCS. This is consistent with the prediction that the lone pair of electrons reside on the N ϵ 2 atom of His 246 α in order to initiate nucleophilic attack on the phosphoryl group of succinyl-phosphate or the yphosphate of nucleotide triphosphate (11). When $E208\alpha$ and $E197\beta$ were mutated separately to aspartate, the activity of the mutant proteins was very similar to that of wildtype protein, indicating that shortening the side chain by one methylene group had no effect SCS. This can be explained by an accommodating movement of either the His 246 α loop, or the aspartate residue, or by the presence of an intervening water molecule that could make hydrogen bonds with the sidechain carboxylate group of the aspartate and the N $\delta 1$ of His 246 α . In the case of Glu 197 β , elimination of the side chain by mutation to alanine resulted in enzyme that was practically devoid of activity. The results of these mutagenesis experiments supported the prediction of Vogel and Bridger that production of the intermediate phosphohistidine requires the presence of an anionic group to stabilize the isomer of histidine with the lone pair of electrons on the NE2 atom (11, 12). Moreover, the results of the experiments with the E197 β mutants also provide some credence for the hypothetical model, and illustrate the usefulness of these types of models for predicting and testing the role of various residues in the enzyme mechanism. The validity of other possible interactions proposed by the hypothetical model must be tested by mutagenesis, or by the solution of a crystallographic structure of SCS with the His 246 α loop down in site II. In this vein, the ability of SCS to catalyze its dephosphorylation in the crystal without cracking the crystal, makes SCS a candidate for kinetic crystallography.

References:

- 1. Bridger, W. A. (1974) in *The Enzymes* (Boyer, P. D., ed) Vol. 10, 3rd Ed., pp. 581-606
- 2. Nishimura, J. S. (1986) in Advances in Enzymology (Meister, A., ed) Vol. 58, pp. 141-172, Wiley, New York
- 3. Bailey, D. L., Fraser, M. E., Bridger, W. A., James, M. N. G., & Wolodko, W. T. (1999) J. Mol. Biol. 285, 1655-1666.
- 4. Wolodko, W. T., Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., & Bridger, W. A. (1994) J. Biol. Chem. 269, 10883-10890.
- 5. Johnson, J. D., Muhonen, W. W., & Lambeth, D. O. (1998) J. Biol. Chem. 273, 27573-27579.
- 6. Murzin, A. G. (1996) Curr. Opin. in Struct. Biol. 6, 386-394.
- 7. Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., Bridger, W. A., & Wolodko, W. T. (1999) J. Mol. Biol. 285, 1633-1653.
- 8. Joyce, M. A., Fraser, M. E., Brownie, E. R., James, M. N. G., Bridger, W. A., & Wolodko, W. T. (1999) *Biochemistry* 38, 7273-7283.
- 9. Hultquist, D. E., Moyer, R. W., & Boyer, P. D. (1966) Biochemistry 5, 322-331.
- 10. Blomberg, F., Maurer, W., & Ruterjans, H. (1977) J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 8149-8159.
- 11. Vogel, H. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1982) J. Biol. Chem. 257, 4834-4842.
- 12. Vogel, H. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1983) Biochem. Soc. Trans. 11, 315-323.
- 13. Wolodko, W. T., Kay, C. M., & Bridger, W. A. (1986) Biochemistry 25, 5420-5425.
- 14. Wolodko, W. T., James, M. N. G., & Bridger, W. A. (1984) J. Biol. Chem. 259, 5316-5320.
- 15. Moffet, F. J., Wang, T., & Bridger, W. A. (1972) J. Biol. Chem. 247, 8139-8144.
- Ray, J., W.J., Bolin, J. T., Puvathingal, J. M., Minor, W., Liu, Y., & Muchmore, S. W. (1991) *Biochemistry 30*, 6866-6875.
- 17. Sakabe, N. (1991) Nucl. Instrum. Meth. in Phys. Res. A303, 448-463.

- 18. Read, R. J. (1986) Acta Cryst. A42, 140-149.
- 19. Jones, T. A. (1985) Methods Enzym. 115, 157-171.
- 20. Engh, R. A., & Huber, R. (1991) Acta Cryst. A47, 392-400.
- 21. Brunger, A. T. (1992) Nature 355, 472-474.
- 22. Kleywegt, G. J., & Brunger, A. T. (1996) Structure 4, 897-904.
- 23. Pannu, N. S., & Read, R. J. (1996) Acta Cryst. A52, 659-668.
- 24. Adams, P. D., Pannu, N. S., Read, R. J., & Brunger, A. T. (1997) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94, 5018-5023.
- 25. Brunger, A. T., Adams, P. D., & Rice, L. M. (1997) Structure 5, 325-336.
- 26. Brunger, A. T., Adams, P. D., Clore, G. M., Delano, W. L., Gros, P., Grosse-Kunstleve, R. W., Jiang, J.-S., Kuszewski, J., Jilges, N., Pannu, N. S., Read, R. J., Rice, L. M., Simonson, T., & Warren, G. L. (1998) Acta Cryst. D54, 905-921.
- 27. Laskowski, R. A., MacArthur, M. W., Moss, D. S., & Thornton, J. M. (1993) J. Appl. Cryst. 26, 283-291.
- 28. Hooft, R. W. W., Vriend, G., Sander, C., & Abola, E. E. (1996) Nature 381, 272.
- 29. Ho, S. N., Hunt, H. D., Horton, R. N., Pullen, J. K., & Pease, L. R. (1989) Gene 77, 51-59.
- 30. Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E. F., & Maniatis, T. (1989) *Molecular Cloning: a laboratory* manual, 2 Ed., CSH Laboratory Press
- 31. Ryan, D. personal communication.
- 32. Thoden, J. B., Wesenberg, G., Raushel, F. M., & Holden, H. M. (1999) Biochemistry 38, 2347-2357.
- Esser, L., Wang, C., Hosaka, M., Smagula, C. S., Sudhof, T. C., & Deisenhofer, J. (1998) EMBO J. 17, 977-984.
- 34. Moffet, F. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1970) J. Biol. Chem. 245, 2758-2762.
- 35. Luzzati, V. (1952) Acta Cryst. 5, 802-810.
- 36. Fan, C., Moews, P. C., Walsh, C. T., & Knox, J. R. (1994) Science 266, 439-443.
- 37. Hara, T., Kato, H., Katsube, Y., & Oda, J. (1996) Biochemistry 35, 11967-11974.
- 38. Connolly, M. L. (1983) Science 221, 709-713.
- 39. Fan, C., Moews, P. C., Shi, Y., Walsh, C. T., & Knox, J. R. (1995) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92, 1172-1176.
- 40. Kobayashi, N., & Go, N. (1997) Eur. Biophys. J. 26, 135-144.

- 41. Kobayashi, N., & Go, N. (1997) Nat. Struct. Biol. 4, 6-7.
- 42. Denessiouk, K. A., Lehtonen, J. V., & Johnson, M. A. (1998) Prot. Sci. 7, 1768-1771.
- 43. Denessiouk, K. A., Lehtonen, J. V., & Johnson, M. A. (1998) Prot. Sci. 7, 1136-1146.
- 44. McGuire, M., Huang, K., Kapadia, G., Herzberg, O., & Dunaway-Mariano, D. (1998) *Biochemistry* 37, 13463-13474.
- 45. Pai, E. F., Krengel, U., Petsko, G. A., Goody, R. S., & Kabsch, W. (1990) EMBO Journal 9, 2351-2359.
- 46. Jones, T. A., Zou, J. Y., Cowan, S. W., & Kjeldgaard, M. (1991) Acta Cryst. A47, 110-119.
- 47. Hildebrand, J. G., & Spector, L. B. (1969) J. Biol. Chem. 244, 2606-2613.
- 48. Vogel, H. J., Bridger, W. A., & Sykes, B. D. (1982) Biochemistry 21, 1126-1132.
- 49. Herzberg, O., Reedy, P., Sutrina, S., Saier, M. H., Reizer, J., & Kapadia, G. (1992) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 2499-2503.
- 50. Jia, Z., Quail, W., Waygood, B., & Dalbaere, L. T. J. (1993) J. Biol. Chem. 268, 22490-22501.
- 51. Moréra, S., Lascu, I., Dumas, C., LeBras, G., Brizzo, P., Véron, M., & Janin, J. (1994) Biochemistry 33, 459-567.
- 52. Herzberg, O., Chen, C. C. H., Kapadia, G., McGuire, M., Carroll, L., Noh, S. J., & Dunaway-Mariano, D. (1996) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93, 2652-2657.
- 53. Wedekind, J. E., Frey, P. A., & Rayment, I. (1996) Biochemistry 35, 11560-11569.

Page intentionally left blank for note taking.

Chapter Seven Conclusions and Final Discussion

Summary

The studies contained in this thesis revolved around the investigation of two major themes. The first theme of this thesis concerned the folding and stability of *T. aquaticus* SCS. The second and more prominent was an elucidation of the location of the nucleotide binding site, and evaluation of the role of some residues involved in substrate binding and catalysis by SCS.

Folding and Stability of T. aquaticus SCS. Comparison of the equilibrium unfolding of T. aquaticus SCS with that of E. coli SCS (1) indicated that the unfolding of the two enzymes was similar despite their differences in stability. Unlike equilibrium unfolding, the kinetics of the refolding of SCS from T. aquaticus were very different from those of E. coli or pig heart SCS (2-4). These results demonstrated that although the species present at equilibrium may be similar, the folding paths that the different enzymes take to reach those species are different (Chapter 3).

The thermodynamic parameters derived from studying the equilibrium unfolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS showed that although the *T. aquaticus* enzyme was more stable than the *E. coli* enzyme, it was still in the mid-range of the stability values of mesophilic proteins at room temperature (5). Thus, the stabilization of *T. aquaticus* SCS does not arise from a wholesale increase in the $\Delta G_u^{H_2O}$, but rather from a change in the dependence of the $\Delta G_u^{H_2O}$ on temperature. Consistent with this, the amino acid substitutions that were observed when sequences of SCS enzymes of increasing stability were aligned and examined were not changes which would intuitively be thought to lead to an increase in stability. For example, there was no increase in the size of hydrophobic residues. Only a slight increase in the number of residues that could stabilize the secondary structure in which they occur. There was an increase in the number of potential ion pairs. However,

in staphylococcal nuclease, elimination of existing ion pairs had only a minor effect on the $\Delta G_u^{H_2O}$ values (6). In addition, despite the recovery of activity and of quaternary structure, the refolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS in buffer containing arginine was not complete, and full recovery of enzymatic activity at high temperatures required a subsequent change in buffer (Chapter 3).

The Nucleotide Binding Site of SCS. The second and more prominent theme of this thesis concerned the location of the nucleotide binding site of SCS and the evaluation of residues involved in substrate binding and catalysis. To locate the nucleotide binding site, *E. coli* SCS was labeled with 8-N₃-ATP and following tryptic digestion, labeled peptides were isolated and identified. Reference to the x-ray crystallographic structure of *E. coli* SCS (7, 8) revealed that the labeled peptides were located in the larger subdomain of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit, far (approximately 35Å) from the location of the active site histidine (Chapter 4).

The nucleotide binding site in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit was further examined by investigation of the role of residues predicted to be involved in nucleotide binding in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit. Mutation of two residues (G53 β and R54 β), that in the crystallographic structure of native *E. coli* SCS were involved in binding a sulfate ion in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit, revealed that they were vital to the formation of a phosphorylated enzyme intermediate from nucleoside triphosphate, but were not required for the formation of phosphorylated enzyme from P_i and succinyl-CoA. Mutation of another residue in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit, Pro 20 β , demonstrated that residues at this position play an important role in determining the nucleotide specificity of SCS (Chapter 5). In addition, the roles of residues in the Cterminal domain of the β -subunit were also examined. It was important to examine the role of these residues for three reasons: 1. ATP was remarkably specific in protecting SCS from inactivation by oxidized-CoA disulfide (ATP 4-10 times better than ADP or GTP at protecting *E. coli* SCS from inactivation. data not shown). Oxidized CoA disulfide (oCoAS₂) binds to Cys 325 β , which is in a Rossmann fold in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit (9, 10). 2. ATP could be modeled into this domain with the γ -phosphate of ATP superimposed on the phosphate of the phosphohistidine. 3. At that time, crystals of phosphorylated SCS had been soaked with ADP and had resulted in the dephosphorylation of the enzyme without cracking the crystal (Chapter 6). At that point, it seemed probable that small conformational changes in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit could occur in the crystal form. Mutagenesis of I322 β , R324 β , D326 β , in the C-terminal domain (individually or in combination), was found to have a much more pleiotropic effect than those in the N-terminal domain. Mutations in the C-terminal domain affected primarily the substrate binding and/or catalysis of partial reactions involving succinyl-CoA and P_i (Chapter 5). These results reduced the likelihood that the Rossmann fold in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit was the nucleotide binding site of SCS.

Location of the nucleotide binding site in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit of SCS was proven by soaking *E. coli* SCS crystals with high concentrations of ADP and Mg²⁺ ions. Additional electron density observed in the N-terminal domain could be fitted and refined by an ADP·Mg²⁺ complex (Chapter 6). Subsequent comparison of the nucleotide binding site in SCS to the nucleotide binding sites in other proteins, based on the position of the bound nucleotide, revealed that seemingly unrelated protein folds often utilize similar residues in similar positions to bind the nucleotide.

In SCS, a consequence of the nucleotide binding in the N-terminal domain of the β subunit is that the phosphohistidine loop must swing between two sites during a catalytic cycle. Site I is delineated by the location of the CoA molecule and the active site histidine residue seen in the crystallographic structures of SCS (7, 8). Site I is located between the C-terminal domains of a β -subunit and α -subunit in an $\alpha\beta$ -dimer. This is where reactions involving CoA, P_i, and presumably succinate take place (partial reactions (2) and (3) from Chapter 1). Site II is 35Å away from site I in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit, delineated by the location of the nucleotide binding site. Site II is where the reaction involving nucleotide take place (partial reaction (1) from Chapter 1). A hypothetical model of the His 246 α loop down in site II was constructed. This model predicted a role for a number of conserved residues in stabilizing the loop in site II. Amongst these residues was Glu 197 β , which had been previously predicted to play a similar role in site II as Glu 208 α did in site I (8). In site I, the sidechain oxygen atom of Glu 208 α makes a hydrogen bond to the N δ 1 atom of the active site histidine, ensuring that the free pair of electrons reside on the N ϵ 2 atom (Fig. 1-7 and 6-2). In proteins that have a covalently modified histidine at the active site, the presence of a residue that makes a hydrogen bond with the unmodified nitrogen atom of the active site histidine seems to be a general requirement (11-15). As described in Chapter 6, mutagenesis of Glu 208 α in site I, or Glu 197 β in site II revealed each could fulfill this requirement on the formation of the phosphoenzyme intermediate from the appropriate substrates (P_i and succinyl-CoA, at site I, and ATP or GTP, at site II, Chapter 6).

Significance and Future Perspectives

Investigation of the Folding of T. aquaticus SCS. The folding process of oligometric proteins has been proposed to consist of three phases, the partial folding of monometric units preceding the assembly of these units into immature oligometrs, and the further folding of the immature oligometrs into the native state (16, 17). In the case of T. aquaticus SCS, the refolding (as measured by the recovery of enzymatic activity) is not concentration dependent. Thus, the first phase, the initial folding of the momometric units (the α - and β -subunits), must be the rate limiting step in the overall folding of T. aquaticus SCS. Therefore, the second phase, the assembly of the monometric units. This hypothesis is consistent with the observation that the secondary structure of isolated individual subunits (as measured by far-UV CD) closely resembles that of the subunits in whole enzyme. These results indicate that the third phase, the folding that is subsequent to the

assembly of the subunits is relatively minor. This may be a general characteristic of thermophilic proteins, because a protein that aquires most of its secondary structure after association has been predicted to be prone to aggregation (18). Aggregation is expected to be a greater problem in thermophiles than in mesophiles because of the higher growth temperature.

The incomplete refolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS in arginine buffers is of particular interest to those who are interested in refolding proteins that have been purified from inclusion bodies, some of which are used in clinical applications (reviewed in (19, 20)). Despite the full recovery of activity at room temperature and the recovery of the correct quaternary structure, *T. aquaticus* SCS was no longer thermostable. This is the third example of a protein that regains its activity prior to the recovery of the true native structure (21-23). These studies demonstrate the danger of using the recovery of enzymatic activity as a measure of the recovery of the native structure, and illustrates the need for complete characterization of refolded proteins prior to their use, especially in clinical applications.

Comparison of the Folding of Thermophilic and Mesophilic SCS. Recent proposals for the existence of discrete folding units and the mechanism for the early stages of protein folding have implied that proteins which have the same secondary and tertiary structure should also fold in the same manner, regardless of the final stability of the protein (24-26). Studies comparing the kinetics of unfolding and refolding of mesophilic and thermophilic Csp B have shown that this is indeed the case for this small, all β -structure protein (27). The equilibrium unfolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS resembles that of *E. coli* SCS, implying that the intermediates that are present at equilibrium are similar regardless of the stability of the protein. The nature of the intermediates that are present during the unfolding of *E. coli* and *T. aquaticus* SCS need to be further investigated to confirm this. When the kinetics of refolding were investigated using the recovery of activity as a measure of refolding, the refolding of *T. aquaticus* SCS was not in any way similar to that of either *E. coli* or pig heart SCS. These results indicated that, contrary to the implications of recent hypotheses about the mechanism of protein folding, the refolding of SCS was not determined by the secondary and tertiary structure of the enzyme (assuming that the structure of the *T. aquaticus* enzyme resembles that of the *E. coli* enzyme). However, the recovery of activity occurs very late in protein folding, and the early events of folding may yet be similar. The early kinetics of protein folding can be monitored using a stopped flow apparatus which measures either CD (secondary structure) or fluorescence (aromatic groups in the protein core).

The thermodynamic parameters that were derived from the unfolding studies of *T*. aquaticus SCS indicated that although the thermophilic enzyme was more stable than the mesophilic enzyme, the value for $\Delta G_u^{H} 2^0$ was still in the mid-range of values reported for protein stabilities. This observation has now been made for several thermophilic proteins (28-30, 27, 31), and indicated that the *T. aquaticus* SCS is stabilized not by a general increase in stability of the folded protein, but by a change in the temperature dependence of the $\Delta G_u^{H} 2^0$. In view of these findings, investigations which examine the effect of different amino acid substitutions on the stability of proteins and peptides should be expanded to examine the effects of these substitutions on the temperature dependence of $\Delta G_u^{H} 2^0$. The amino acid substitutions that are observed in thermophilic proteins could be used as a guide for these investigations.

The Substrate Binding Sites of SCS. The studies on the location of the nucleotide binding site in SCS have identified the second of three substrate binding sites. The binding site for the third substrate, succinate, has been not been found yet. To locate this binding site, the tetrahedral hemithioacetal formed from succinic semialdehyde and CoA could be used in place of CoA when growing crystals under the same conditions as for the native enzyme (7). This transition state analogue had a K_i of 4.3 μ M with SCS (32).

Comparison of the Catalytic Mechanism of SCS to that of Other Synthetases and Phosphotransferases. The location of the nucleotide binding site in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit, 35Å from site I requires that a conformational change occur during each

cycle of catalysis to shuttle the His 246 loop between sites I and II. This places SCS among a growing number of enzymes that require intermediates generated at one site to traverse large distances before reaction at a second site (14, 33). In SCS and pyruvate phosphate dikinase, a covalently linked histidine is used to transfer phosphoryl groups to other substrates, and in carbamoyl phosphate synthetase, the intermediates diffuse between active sites separated by 96Å. This is unlike other synthetases and ligases where the first substrate is either adenylated or phosphorylated directly, and the adenyl or phosphoryl group subsequently acts as a leaving group for the incoming substrate, all at a single active site (34-41). These enzymes often have a loop that shields the active site from bulk water, and prevents the intermediates from escape. Since the loop over the active site often interacts with the substrates, it is likely that the presence of all substrates in the active site is required for the formation of an active site conformation that can catalyze the initial phosphoryl transfer (34, 35). For example, in GMP synthetase each of the three substrates is bound in a separate domain, and substrate binding of one of the substrates (XMP) has been proposed to lead to the formation of a closed complex that is catalytically competent (37). In SCS, the formation of a stable phosphorylated intermediate (phosphohistidine) allows the enzyme to react in either direction with the availability of substrates. This is consistent with the proposed metabolic roles of SCS, functioning in one direction to generate NTP in the citric acid cycle, and in the other to generate succinyl-CoA in ketone body metabolism and in biosynthesis.

Investigation of the Proposed Conformational Change in SCS. The large conformational change that would be required to complete a catalytic cycle needs further investigation. Which residues are responsible for stabilizing the His 246 α loop in each of the two active sites? What is the "trigger" that induces this loop to move to its location in site II? Using the ability of NTP to phosphorylate SCS as an assay, the effect of mutations in site I and II either directly on the catalytic steps, or on the movement of the loop cannot be distinguished.

The solution of the structure of SCS with the His 246 loop down in site II by xray crystallography would identify the residues involved in the conformational change and those involved in the catalysis of partial reaction (1) at site II. Mutagenesis of specific residues that are thought to stabilize the His 2460 loop in site I, as seen in the crystallographic structures of SCS, may help to destabilize the loop in this position sufficiently for SCS to be crystallized with the loop down in site II. The co-crystallization of dephosphorylated SCS in the presence of non-hydrolyzable (AMPPNP or AMPPCP) and transition state analogues (ADP + AlF₄ or NO₃) of ATP may also favor the conformation of SCS with the loop in site II. However, crystals of SCS in the presence of ATP or ADP of sufficient quality have been difficult to obtain. In this vein, one of the original reasons for cloning SCS from T. aquaticus was to obtain sufficient quantities for crystallization. This has now been done (Chapter 2). It is thought that thermostable enzymes crystallize more readily than their mesophilic counterparts. Thus, suitable crystals of the thermophilic enzyme in the presence of analogues of ATP may be obtained. In addition, the ability of E. coli SCS to be dephosphorylated while in the crystal form (Chapter 6) makes it a good candidate for kinetic crystallography, perhaps using 'caged' ATP analogues (42, 43, 39).

In the absence of a crystallographic structure of the His 246 α loop down in site II, the questions posed at the beginning of this section can be answered in two ways. The first is using phosphorus NMR. Vogel and Bridger found NMR evidence for two exchanging conformations of the phosphohistidine in SCS (44). The addition of a competitive inhibitor of succinate, 2,2' difluorosuccinate, and CoA induced a single conformation (44). The second conformation alone could not be detected because the NMR signal from the terminal phosphate group of ATP or ADP overlapped with the phosphohistidine signal (44). This problem may be avoided by using the ADP analogue ADP- β S. ADP- β S is an inhibitor of SCS (assayed in the direction of succinyl-CoA synthesis) that is competitive with ATP, and has an associated value of K_{i(app)} of 137 μ M (data not shown). In addition, it is not a substrate for the enzyme in the direction of ATP synthesis (data not shown). The presence of a sulphur atom on the terminal phosphate group of ADP should shift the NMR signal sufficiently to allow detection of the second conformation of the phosphohistidine. In combination with site-directed mutagenesis the role of residues suggested by the hypothetical model in Chapter 6 can be ascertained.

The second method that could be used to investigate the conformational changes in SCS involves the use of synthetic peptides which resemble the His 246α loop. If a synthetic peptide that resembles the loop could by phosphorylated by SCS, the residues that are involved in the catalysis of phosphoryl transfer and those that are involved in binding the loop could be easily distinguished because peptide binding and phosphorylation could be examined separately. In order for SCS to be able to phosphorylate the synthetic peptide, the His 246a loop must be first removed. The His 246a loop of SCS does not have any definite secondary structure (7, 8), and resembles a forearm with each strand of the loop on either side of the arm, and the phosphohistidine located at the fingertips (Fig. 4-7). At the elbow of the forearm, the two strands of the active site loop are close together, and a deletion (actually a substitution of 2-4 glycine residues for the residues from 235α to 256α) of the active site loop could be made here without much disruption of the secondary structure. Synthetic peptides could then be made and the affinity of various peptides for the enzyme, and the ability of the enzyme to phosphorylate these peptides could be easily examined. In combination with site specific mutagenesis, this could provide a quick and easy method for the examination of residues involved in the conformational change.

Many of the residues that are implicated by the hypothetical model to stabilize the His 246 α loop in site II (Chapter 6) are candidates for mutagenesis, as are the residues that interact with the loop when it is up in site I as seen in the crystal structures. The effect of the E208 α Q and E197 β Q mutations on the conformation of the active site loop could be studied using either of the methods outlined above. Good candidates for residues involved in triggering the conformational change are Glu 134 β , and Asp 115 β which are well

conserved in all SCS species, but do not seem to be fulfilling any function in the nucleotide binding site. Glu 134 β resides in the loop in SCS that is analogous to the loop in DDligase which closes over the nucleotide binding site (Fig. 6-20) (34). In the hypothetical model with the His 246 α down in site II, the side chain of Glu 134 β can interact with the main chain nitrogen atoms of residues Ala 247 α and/or Gly 248 α . Asp 115 β resides at the end of a strand in the β -sheet that forms the core of the larger subdomain of the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit. In the hypothetical model Asp 115 β is approximately 5 Å from Lys 255 β which is conserved in SCS from eubacterial and mammalian species. This strand (that Asp 155 β is on) is next to the strand that contains cis-proline 200 β , the carbonyl of the preceding residue coordinates the Mg²⁺ and thus could respond to bound nucleotide triphosphate bringing it closer to Lys 255 β and thus stabilizing the loop in site II.

Investigation of Residues Directly Involved in Catalysis by SCS. The role of a number of residues in catalysis was examined by site-directed mutagenesis. Gly 53 β and/or Arg 54 β were shown to be essential to phosphoryl transfer from ATP to the active site histidine (Chapter 5). The structure of the ADP-bound form of SCS revealed that the main chain nitrogen atom of Gly 53 β made a hydrogen bond with an oxygen atom on the β -phosphate and the side chain of Arg 54 β made ionic interactions with the α - and β -phosphate groups of ADP (Chapter 6). When ATP and the active site histidine are in site II, the sidechain of Arg 54 β may move to aid in the transfer of the γ -phosphate of ATP to the histidine.

The role of a glutamate in each of site I (Glu 208 α) and site II (Glu 197 β) was also examined. An acidic sidechain was found to be essential for phosphoryl transfer at the appropriate site. Clearly, the role of other residues in catalysis should be examined. Specifically, the role of Ser 153 α , which changes conformation to form a hydrogen bond with the free phosphate in dephosphorylated enzyme (Chapter 6) can be examined by mutagenesis to alanine. The binding of phosphate can then be measured by equilibrium dialysis. The partial reactions catalyzed by SCS (see Chapter 1) can also be probed by phosphorylation of the mutant enzyme with either nucleoside triphosphate, or succinyl-CoA and P_i . The partial reactions can be further dissected by studying the phosphorylation of the mutant enzyme by succinyl-phosphate (45, 46), and the dephosphorylation by ADP (to make ATP), or by succinate and dethioCoA (to make succinyl-phosphate), or by succinate and CoA (to make succinyl-CoA) (47, 48).

Another candidate for examination is Cys 123 α , which is found in a covalent linkage to CoA in the ADP-bound form of SCS (Chapter 6). The final step in the reaction of SCS in the direction of succinyl-CoA formation is the displacement of the phosphoryl group from succinyl-phosphate by the thiol group of CoA (Fig. 1-7) (49). Nucleophilic attack of the thiol group of CoA on the carbonyl group of succinyl-phosphate requires deprotonation of the thiol, and Cys 123α is the only appropriate residue in a position to perform this role. A coordinated six atom reaction scheme can be envisioned (Fig 7-1), where the sidechain of Cys 123a removes the proton from the thiol of CoA, the sulphur atom of CoA attacks the carbonyl oxygen of succinyl-phosphate, and the oxyanion so generated abstracts the proton from Cys 123a. When the oxyanion collapses, the proton is taken by the departing phosphate group. This scheme explains the conservation of Cys 235 a in different species of SCS. Amino acid sequence alignments show that this residue is usually cysteine but can be serine or threonine. Thus, the covalent bond between Cys 123 and the thiol of the CoA molecule in the ADP-bound form of SCS is an artifact due to the lack of reducing agent in the soak conditions, but is reflective of the proximity and reactivity of Cys 123 α . If Cys 123 α is important in the last step of the reaction mechanism, then phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of the enzyme by succinyl-CoA and P, and by succinate and CoA, respectively should be the only partial reactions that are inhibited by mutation of this residue to alanine. Phosphorylation of mutant enzyme by NTP or succinyl-phosphate should not be affected, nor should the dephosphorylation of the enzyme by desulfo-CoA and succinate (forming succinyl-phosphate).


.

Figure 7-1. Proposed mechanism of the nucleophilic attack of the thiol group of CoA on succinyl-phosphate. The arrows indicate the direction of electron flow.

Investigation of the Function of the Rossmann Fold in the C-terminal Domain of the β -subunit. The location of the catalytic nucleotide binding site in the N-terminal domain of the β -subunit leaves open the following question: What is the function, if any, of the Rossmann fold in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit? The first experiments that were conducted to investigate the nucleotide binding site of SCS used oxidized CoA disulfide, and were not included in this thesis. These experiments provided hints that the nucleotide binding site was not in the Rossmann fold in the C-terminal of the β -subunit, proximal to the phosphohistidine. Furthermore they indicated that this Rossmann fold may have a function.

Previous investigations had shown that oxidized CoA disulfide (o-CoAS₂) inhibits SCS by binding in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit (9, 10). In E. coli SCS, ATP protected the enzyme from this inactivation by o-CoAS₂. In addition, this protection was very specific for ATP: the presence of ATP in the inactivation reaction reduced the initial rate of inactivation by 20 times, while the presence of ADP or GTP at the same concentrations only reduced the initial rate of inactivation by 5 or 2 times, respectively (data not shown). Although the relative degree of protection provided by ATP and GTP reflected the relative values of the K_m for ATP and GTP, the relative degree of protection provided by ATP and ADP was not consistent with the relative K_m values for ATP and ADP, which are approximately the same (Table 1-2). When the same experiments were done using GDP/GTP-specific pig heart SCS, the pattern of protection was the same. ATP still protected the enzyme from inactivation by o-CoAS₂ to a much greater extent that GTP or ADP did. The protection of pig heart SCS by ATP was remarkable because, in specrophotometric assays of the activity of pig heart SCS, the inhibition of succinyl-CoA production by ATP could not be detected. These results indicated: 1. Since the protection of E. coli and pig heart SCS by ATP or GTP did not match the nucleotide specificity of the two enzymes, and o-CoAS₂ had been shown to bind in the C-terminal domain of the β subunit, the catalytic nucleotide binding site did not reside in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit. 2. ATP binds to GDP/GTP-specific pig heart SCS, possibly in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit.

Since there was an indication that ATP was binding to the GTP/GDP-specific pig heart enzyme, the question became: what was it doing? Some preliminary experiments were performed to answer this question. Since only relatively low concentrations of NTP can be used in the spectrophotometric assay (up to approximately 400 µM), the phosphorylation of pig heart SCS (by GTP or by succinyl-CoA and P_i) was used to examine the effect of higher concentrations of ATP on pig heart SCS. Phosphorylation of pig heart SCS by P, and succinyl-CoA was inhibited in a sigmoidal manner by ATP, with a complete loss in activity between 0.75 and 1.5 mM ATP (data not shown). Phosphorylation of pig heart SCS by GTP was inhibited more gradually by ATP concentrations between 0.75 and 3.0 mM (data not shown). This is the first indication that SCS is inhibited by non-substrate nucleotides, and should be investigated further by using kinetic studies and site directed mutagenesis. The inhibition of GDP/GTP-specific pig heart SCS by ATP is consistent with the proposed role for the enzyme in ketone body metabolism, shutting down the utilization of ketone bodies when the intracellular concentration of ATP reaches a sufficient level. To aid the investigation of the function of the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit in pig heart SCS, the mutations A326 β D, and N324BR-A326BD that were constructed in the Rossmann fold in the C-terminal domain of the β -subunit, should be studied further (the numbering system for the residues is that in E. coli SCS).

The End.

References:

- 1. Kahn, I. A., & Nishimura, J. S. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263, 2152-2158.
- 2. Pearson, P. H., & Bridger, W. A. (1975) J. Biol. Chem. 250, 4451-4455.
- 3. Wolodko, W. T., & Bridger, W. A. (1987) Biochem. Cell Biol. 65, 452-457.
- 4. Nishimura, J. S., Ybarra, J., Mitchell, T., & Horowitz, P. M. (1988) Biochem. J. 250, 429-434.
- 5. Pace, C. N. (1990) Trends Biotechnol. 8, 93-98.
- 6. Meeker, A. K., Garcia-Moreno, E., & Shortle, D. (1996) Biochemistry 35, 6443-6449.
- 7. Wolodko, W. T., Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., & Bridger, W. A. (1994) J. Biol. Chem. 269, 10883-10890.
- Fraser, M. E., James, M. N. G., Bridger, W. A., & Wolodko, W. T. (1999) J. Mol. Biol. 285, 1633-1653.
- 9. Collier, G. E., & Nishimura, J. S. (1978) J. Biol. Chem. 253, 4938-4943.
- 10. Mann, C. J., Hardies, S. C., & Nishimura, J. S. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264, 1457-1460.
- 11. Herzberg, O., Reedy, P., Sutrina, S., Saier, M. H., Reizer, J., & Kapadia, G. (1992) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 2499-2503.
- 12. Jia, Z., Quail, W., Waygood, B., & Dalbaere, L. T. J. (1993) J. Biol. Chem. 268, 22490-22501.
- 13. Moréra, S., Lascu, I., Dumas, C., LeBras, G., Brizzo, P., Véron, M., & Janin, J. (1994) *Biochistry* 33, 459-567.
- 14. Herzberg, O., Chen, C. C. H., Kapadia, G., McGuire, M., Carroll, L., Noh, S. J., & Dunaway-Mariano, D. (1996) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93, 2652-2657.
- 15. Wedekind, J. E., Frey, P. A., & Rayment, I. (1996) Biochemistry 35, 11560-11569.
- 16. Jaenicke, R. (1987) Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 49, 117-237.
- 17. Jaenicke, R. (1991) Biochemistry 30, 3147-3161.
- 18. Jaenicke, R., & Rudolf, R. (1986) Methods Enzymol. 131, 218-250.
- 19. Guise, A. D., West, S. M., & Chaudhuri, J. B. (1996) Mol. Biotech. 6, 53-63.
- 20. Mukhopadhyay. (1997) Biotechnology 56, 61-106.
- 21. Hattori, M., Ametani, A., Katakura, Y., Shimizu, M., & Kaminogawa, S. (1993) J. Biol. Chem. 268, 22414-22419.

- 22. Subramaniam, v., Bergenham, N., Gafni, A., & Steel, D. G. (1995) Biochemistry 34, 1133-1136.
- 23. Subramaniam, v., Steel, D. G., & Gafni, A. (1996) Prot. Sci. 5, 2089-2094.
- 24. Tsai, C., & Nussinov, R. (1997) Prot. Sci. 6, 24-42.
- 25. Baldwin, R. L., & Rose, G. D. (1999) Trends Biochem. Sci. 24, 26-33.
- 26. Baldwin, R. L., & Rose, G. D. (1999) Trends Biochem. Sci. 24, 77-83.
- 27. Perl, D. e. a. (1998) Nat. Struct. Biol. 5, 229-235.
- 28. Nojima, H., Ikai, A., Oshima, T., & Noda, H. (1977) J. Mol. Biol. 116, 429-442.
- 29. Knapp, S., Karsikoff, A., Berndt, K. D., Christova, P., Atanasov, B., & Ladenstein, R. (1992) J. Mol. Biol. 264, 1132-1144.
- 30. McCrary, B. S., Edmonstom, S. P., & Shriver, J. W. (1996) J. Mol. Biol. 264, 784-805.
- 31. Beadle, B. M., Base, W. A., Wilson, D. B., Gilkes, N. R., & Shoichet, B. K. (1999) Biochemistry 38, 2570-2576.
- 32. Schwartz, B., Vogel, K. W., & Drueckhammer, D. G. (1996) J. Org. Chem. 61, 9356-9361.
- 33. Thoden, J. B., Holden, H. M., Wesenberg, G., Raushel, F. M., & Rayment, I. (1997) *Biochemistry 36*, 6305-6316.
- 34. Fan, C., Moews, P. C., Walsh, C. T., & Knox, J. R. (1994) Science 266, 439-443.
- 35. Hara, T., Kato, H., Katsube, Y., & Oda, J. (1996) Biochem. 35, 11967-11974.
- Poland, B. W., Fromm, H. J., & Honzatko, R. B. (1996) J. Mol. Biol. 264, 1013-1027.
- 37. Tesmer, J. G., Klem, T. J., Deras, M. L., Davisson, V. J., & Smith, J. L. (1996) Nat. Struct. Biol. 3, 74-86.
- 38. Berry, M. B., & Phillips, G. N. (1998) Proteins 32, 276-288.
- 39. Kack, H., Gibson, K. J., Lindqvist, Y., & Schneider, G. (1998) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 5495-5500.
- 40. Rizzi, M., Bolognesi, M., & Coda, A. (1998) Structure 6, 1129-1140.
- 41. Schmitt, E., Moulinier, L., Fujiwara, S., Imanaka, T., Thierry, J. C., & Moras, D. (1998) *EMBO J.* 17, 5227-5237.
- 42. Schlichting, I., Almo, S. C., Rapp, G., Wilson, K., Kyriakos, P., Lentfer, A., Wittinghofer, A., Kabsch, W., Pai, E. F., Petsko, G. A., & Goody, R. S. (1990) Nature 345, 309-345.

- 43. Cepus, V., Ulbrich, C., Allin, C., Troullier, A., & Gerwert, K. (1998) Methods. Enzymol 291, 223-245.
- 44. Vogel, H. J., & Bridger, W. A. (1982) J. Biol. Chem. 257, 4834-4842.
- 45. Nishimura, J. S., & Meister, A. (1965) Biochemistry 4, 1457-1462.
- 46. Hildebrand, J. G., & Spector, L. B. (1969) J. Biol. Chem. 244, 2606-2613.
- 47. Grinnell, F., & Nishimura, J. S. (1969) Biochemistry 8, 4126-4130.
- 48. Wolodko, W. T., Brownie, E. R., O'Connor, M. D., & Bridger, W. A. (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 258, 14116-14119.
- 49. Bridger, W. A. (1974) in *The Enzymes* (Boyer, P. D., ed) Vol. X, 3 Ed., pp. 581-606, Academic Press Inc., New York

Abbreviation	Species	α-subunit	β-subunit
ARATHI	Arabidopsis thalinia 1	X69138	AJ001808
ARATH2	Arabidopsis thalinia 2	AJ001807	-
ARCFL1	Archaeoglobus flugidus 1	AE000996	AE000996
ARCFL2	Archaeoglobus fulgidus 2	AE000954	AE000954
AOUAE1	Aquifex aeolicus 1	AE000748	AE000748
AÕUAE2	Aquifex aeolicus 2	AE000761	AE000733
BACSU	Bacillus subtilis	P80865	P80886
CAEELI	Caenorhabditis elegans 1	M88968	Z68004
CAEEL2	Caenorhabditis elegans 2	AF003389	P53589
CHLTR	Chlamydia trachomatis	AE001354	AE001354
COXBU	Coxiella brunetii	P53591	X77919
DICDI	Dictvostelium discoiduem	S65966	-
ECOLII	Escherichia coli 1	AE000176	P07460
ECOLI2	Escherichia coli 2	P77187	-
HAEIN	Haemophilus influenzae	U32799	U32799
HUMAN-A	Human ADP/ATP	-	AF058953
HUMAN-G	Human GDP/GTP	-	AF058954
METTH	Methanobacterium	AE000839	AE000875
	thermoautotrophicum		
METJA	Methanococcus iannachii	E64455	O57663
Malate	Methylobacterium extorauens	C55230	P53594
	(Malate thickinase)		
MOUSE-A	Mouse ADP/ATP	-	AF058955
MOUSE-A	Mouse GDP/GTP	-	AF058956
MYCTU	Mycobacterium tuberculosis	P71558	P71559
NEOFR	Neocallimastix frontalis	-	X84222
PIG-A	Pig ADP/ATP	-	AF061966
PIG-G	Pig GDP/GTP	-	P53590
PIG57	Pig heart 57	AF008588	-
PIG108	Pig heart 108	AF008589	-
BIRD	Pigeon	AF035394	-
BIRD-A	Pigeon ADP/ATP	-	AF043540
BIRD-G	Pigeon GDP/GTP	-	AF043541
PYRHO	Pyrococcus horikoshii	AP000007	-
RAT	Rat	P13086	-
RICPR	Rickettsia prowazekii	008371	O05966
SACCE	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	S61696	P53312
SCHPO	Schizosaccharomyces pombe	Z98529	AL034491
STRCO	Streptomyces coelicolor	AL031013	AL031013
011100	Synechocystis sp	D90913	D90901
THEAO	Thermus aquaticus	X56033	S15950
тнеп	Thermus aquaticus flavus	X54073	X54073
TRIVAI	Trichomonas vaginalis 1	U87096	U87093
TRIVA?	Trichomonas vaginalis 2	U87097	U87094
TRIVAR	Trichomonas vaginalie 3	U87098	U87095
	TI TO TO THE THE THE THE T	001020	

Appendix 1. Table of Data Base Accession Numbers for Subunits of SCS^a

[™]Accession numbers are from the following data banks: begining in A or U, GenBank[™]; begining in P or O, Swiss-Prot; begining in M, X, or Z, EMBL; begining in C, E, or S, PIR.

Appendix 2.

Strains of E. coli

JM103 (endA1, hsdR, supE, sbcBC, thi-1, strA, Δ (lac-pro),F'[traD36, lacI^qZ Δ M15, proAB⁺])^a

BL21(DE3) (hsdS gal[λcIts857 ind1 Sam7 nin5 lacUV5-T7 gene1])^b

TK3D18 ($\Delta(kdp-suc)$ D18 $\Delta(gal-bio)^{c}$)

Y1090 (Δ(lac)U169, Δ(lon), araD139, strA, supF, mcrA, trpC22::Tn10, pMC9)

- XL1-Blue (recA1, endA1, gyrA96, thi-1, hsdR17, supE44, relA1, lac [F' proAB lacI^QZ ΔM15 Tn10 (tet')])
- INV α -F' (F' endA1, recA1, hsdR17 ($r_k^-m_k^+$), supE44, thi-1, gyrA96, relA1, Ø80lacz Δ M15, Δ (lacZYA-argF)U169)
- ^a Used for propagation and sequencing of plasmid DNA. [Hanrahan, D. (1983) J. Mol. Biol., 166, 557-580]
- ^b Used for expression of cDNA inserts cloned into expression vectors. [Studier, F. W., & Moffatt, B. A. (1986) J. Mol. Biol., 189, 113-130]

^c Used for expression of cDNA inserts cloned into expression vectors. [Froelich, B. & Epstein, W. (1981) J. Bacteriol., 147, 1117-1120]



Mutant fusion product

Diagram of site-directed mutagenesis by overlap extension. The site of mutagenesis is indicated by the small closed rectangle. The 3' ends of the DNA strands are indicated by the arrow heads. The primers are represented by short black arrows. In the first step, two separate PCR reactions are carried out. In the first reaction (1), the left half of the of the mutant fusion product is amplified. In the second reaction (2), the right half of the mutant fusion product is amplified. Following amplification, the two fragments are purified by agarose gel electrophoresis and used as the template for the third PCR reaction (3). The DNA strands which anneal to give the full length mutant fusion product are shown in blue.

Appendix 4.

Residues Used in the Structural Alignment of the Small Subdomain of the N-terminal

Domain of the β -subunit of *E. coli* SCS with DD-ligase.^{ab}

```
DD-ligase 2
                TDKI
                         5
E. coli SCS A206 IGEI A209
DD-ligase 45
                VDVTO
                         49
E. coli SCS B284 ANFLD B288
DD-ligase 95 MDKLRSKLLWQGAGLPVAPWVALTR 119
E. coli SCS B3 LHEYQAKQLFARYGLPAPVGYACT
                                       B27
DD-ligase 136 ALGLPVIVKPSR 147
E. coli SCS B38 IGAGPWVVKCQV B49
DD-ligase 153 GMSKVVAENALQDALRL 169
E. coli SCS B59 GVKVVNSKEDIRAFAEN B75
DD-ligase 174 DEEVLIEKWLSGP 186
E. coli SCS B93 VNOILVEAATDIA B105
DD-ligase 187 EFTV 190
E. coli SCS B107 ELYL B110
DD-ligase 256 IDVMLDSDGQFYLLEA
                                  271
E. coli SCS B199 NPLVITKQGDLICLDG B214
DD-ligase 281 SLVPM
                        285
E. coli SCS B132 EIEKV B136
```

^a The prefix A denotes residues from the α -subunit of *E*. *coli* SCS, while B denotes residues from the β -subunit.

^b The alignment was performed initially using the C- α positions of residues 139 to 146 from DD-ligase and residues 41 β to 48 β from SCS, and subsequently improved using the program O' with a distance cut-off of 3.8 Å. The root mean squared deviation of the C- α positions was 1.960 Å.

¹ Jones, T. A., Zou, J. Y., Cowan, S. W., & Kjeldgaard, M. (1991) Acta Cryst. A47, 110-119.

Appendix 5.

Residues Used in the Structural Alignment of the Large Subdomain of the N-terminal

Domain of the β -subunit of *E. coli* SCS with DD-ligase.^{ab}

DD-ligase 25 AVLA 28 E. coli SCS A254 GKGT A257 DD-ligase 91 SALS 94 E. coli SCS B2 NLHE B5 DD-ligase 183 LSGPEFTVAIL 193 E. coli SCS B103 DIAKELYLGAV B113 DD-ligase 200 SIRI 203 E. coli SCS B125 ASTE B128 DD-ligase 226 PAGLE 230 E. coli SCS B166 KLGLE B170 DD-ligase 233 QEANL 237 E. coli SCS B173 LVOOF B177 DD-ligase 251 KGWGRI 256 E. coli SCS B193 LALIEI B198 DD-ligase 257 DVMLDSDGQFYLLEANT 273 E. coli SCS B200 PLVITKQGDLICLDGKL B216

^a The prefix A denotes residues from the α -subunit of E. coli SCS, while B denotes

residues from the β -subunit. ^b The alignment was performed initially using the C- α positions of residues 187 to 191 from DD-ligase and residues 107B to 111B from SCS, and subsequently improved using the progran O with a distance cut-off of 3.8 Å. The root mean squared deviation of the C- α positions was 1.927 Å.

Appendix 6.

Residues Used in the Structural Alignment of E. coli and Pig Heart SCS.^{ab}

E. coli	A3	LIDKNTKVICQGFTGSQGTFHSEQAIAYGTKMVGGVTPGKGGTTHLGLPV
Pig heart	A11	YVDKNTKVICQGFTGKQGTFHSQQALEYGTNLVGGTTPGKGGKTHLGLPV
E. coli	A53	FNTVREAVAATGATASVIYVPAPFCKDSILEAIDAGIKLIITITEGIPTL
Pig heart	A61	FNTVKEAKEQTGATASVIYVPPPFAAAAINEAIDAEVPLVVCITEGIPQQ
E. coli	A103	DMLTVKVKLDEAG A115
Pig heart	A111	DMVRVKHRLLRQG A123
E. coli	A116	VRMIGPNCPGVITPGECKIGIQPGHIHKPGKVGIVSRSGTLTYEAVKQTT
Pig heart	A125	TRLIGPNCPGVINPGECKIGIMPGHIHKKGRIGIVSRSGTLTYEAVHQTT
E. coli	A166	DYGFGQSTCVGIGGDPIPGSNFIDILEMFEKDPQTEAIVMIGEIGGSAEE
Pig heart	A175	QVGLGQSLCVGIGGDPFNGTDFTDCLEIFLNDPATEGIILIGEIGGNAEE
E. coli	A216	EAAAYIKEHV A225
Pig heart	A225	NAAEFLKQHN A234
E. coli	A226	TKPVVGYIAGVTAPKGKRMGGAGAIIAGGKGTADEKFAALEAAGVKTVRS
Pig heart	A239	SKPVVSFIAGLTAPPGRRMGGAGAIIAGGKGGAKAKITALQSAGVVVSMS
E. coli	A276	LADIGEALKTV A286
Pig heart	A289	PAQLGTTIYKE A299
E. coli	B1	MNLHEYQAKQLFARYGLPAPVGYACTTPREA B31
Pig heart	B1	VNLQEYQSKKLMSDNGVKVARFFVASTAAAA B31
E. coli	в33	EAASKIG B39 B42 PWVVKCQV B49
Pig heart	B33	AAAKRLN B39 B42 EIVLKAQI B49
E. coli	B94	NQILVEAATDIAKELYLGAVVDRSSRRVVFMASTEGGVEIEKVAEETPHL
Pig heart	B101	NKVMVAEALDISRETYLAILMDRSCNGPVLVGSPQGGVDIEEVAASNPEL
E. coli	B144	IHKVALDPLTGPMPYQGRELAFKLGLEGKLVQQFTKIFMGLATIFLERDL
Pig heart	B151	IFKEQIDIIEGIKDSQAQRMAENLGFLGPLQNQAADQIKKLYNLFLKIDA
E. coli	B194	ALIEINPLVITKQGDLICLDGKLGADGNALFRQPDLREMRDQS B236
Pig heart	B201	TQVEVNPFGETPEGQVVCFDAKINFDDNAEFRQKDIFAMDDKS B243
E. çoli	B238	EDPREAQAAQWELNYVALDGNIGCMVNGAGLAMGTMDIVKLHGGEPANFL
Pig heart	B245	NEPIENEAAKSDLAYIGLDGNIACVVNGAGLAMATCDIIFLNGGKPANFL
E. coli	B288	DVG B290
Pig heart	B295	DLG B297
E. coli	B296	ERVTEAFKIILSDDKVKAVLVNIFGGIVRCDLIADGIIGAVAEVGVNVPV
Pig heart	B303	SAVYQAFKLLTADPKVEAILVNIFGGIVNNAIIANGITKAARELELKVPA
E. coli	B346	VVRLEGNNAELGAKKLADSGLNIIAAKGLTDAAQQVVAAV B385
Pig heart	B353	VVRLEGTNVHEAQNILTNSGLPITSAVDLEDAAKKAVASV B340

^a The prefix A denotes residues from the α -sumunit of SCS, while B denotes residues from

the β -subunit. ^b The alignment was preformed initially using the C- α positions of residues 11 α to 31 α from pig heart SCS and residues 3 α to 23 α from *E. coli* SCS, and subsequently improved using the program O with a distance cut-off of 3.8 Å. The root mean squared deviation of the \tilde{C} - α positions was 1.363 Å.

Appendix 7.

Residues Used in the Structural Alignment of the Model from the First Experiment and Native *E. coli* SCS.

Fragments used in the alignment:

Chain A: 1-129, 131-152, 157-284 Chain B: 1-138, 140-174, 176-319, 323-332, 335-384 Chain D: 1-27,31-63, 65-114, 116-138, 140-153,158-167, 169-218, 220-284 Chain E: 1-289, 293-309, 311-321, 323-354, 359-372, 374-382

The alignment was performed initially using the C α positions of residues 245 α to 247 α from *E. coli* SCS, and subsequently improved using the program O with a distance cut-off of 0.5 Å. The root mean squared deviation of the C α positions for these 1294 atoms was 0.217 Å.

Residues Used in the Structural Alignment of the Model from ADP-Bound and Native E. coli SCS.

Fragments used in the alignment:

Chain A: 1-41, 45-85, 87-122, 131-134, 148-160, 177-195, 198-201, 203-220, 227, 252, 259-263

Chain B: 1-17, 21-29, 47-50, 74-80, 94-98, 104-130, 132-141, 143-168, 173-204, 207-279, 282-288, 293-322, 325-333, 335-340, 342-346

Chain D: 95-98

Chain E: 1-8, 19-30, 32-35, 43-46, 48-52, 71-79, 93-94, 188-192, 198-201, 234-237

The alignment was performed initially using the C α positions of residues 245 α to 247 α from *E. coli* SCS, and subsequently improved using the program O with a distance cut-off of 0.5 Å. The root mean squared deviation of the C α positions for these 546 atoms was 0.324 Å.